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Forward-Looking Statements
Some of the information included in this annual report on Form 10-K contains “forward-looking” statements, as such term is defined in Section 27A of the
Securities Act of 1933 and Section 21E of the Exchange Act, and information relating to Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (the “Partnership”) that is based on the
beliefs of its management as well as assumptions made by and information currently available to management.
Forward-looking statements discuss expected future results based on current and pending business operations, and may be identified by words such as
“anticipates,” “believes,” “expects,” “planned,” “scheduled” or similar expressions. Although management of the Partnership believes these forward-looking
statements are reasonable, they are based upon a number of assumptions, any or all of which may ultimately prove to be inaccurate. Statements made regarding
future results are subject to numerous assumptions, uncertainties and risks that may cause future results to be materially different from the results stated or
implied in this document.
The following are among the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from any results projected, forecasted, estimated or
budgeted:
•

Our ability to successfully consummate announced acquisitions or expansions and integrate them into our existing business operations;

•

Delays related to construction of, or work on, new or existing facilities and the issuance of applicable permits;

•

Changes in demand for, or supply of, crude oil, refined petroleum products and natural gas liquids that impact demand for the Partnership’s pipeline,
terminalling and storage services;

•

Changes in the demand for crude oil we both buy and sell;

•

The loss of Sunoco R&M as a customer or a significant reduction in its current level of throughput and storage with the Partnership;

•

An increase in the competition encountered by the Partnership’s petroleum products terminals, pipelines and crude oil acquisition and marketing
operations;

•

Changes in the financial condition or operating results of joint ventures or other holdings in which the Partnership has an equity ownership interest;

•

Changes in the general economic conditions in the United States;

•

Changes in laws and regulations to which the Partnership is subject, including federal, state, and local tax, safety, environmental and employment
laws;

•

Changes in regulations concerning required composition of refined petroleum products, that result in changes in throughput volumes, pipeline tariffs
and/or terminalling and storage fees;

•

Improvements in energy efficiency and technology resulting in reduced demand for petroleum products;

•

The Partnership’s ability to manage growth and/or control costs;

•

The effect of changes in accounting principles and tax laws and interpretations of both;

•

Global and domestic economic repercussions, including disruptions in the crude oil and petroleum products markets, from terrorist activities,
international hostilities and other events, and the government’s response thereto;

•

Changes in the level of operating expenses and hazards related to operating facilities (including equipment malfunction, explosions, fires, spills and
the effects of severe weather conditions);

•

The occurrence of operational hazards or unforeseen interruptions for which the Partnership may not be adequately insured;
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•

The age of, and changes in the reliability and efficiency of the Partnership’s operating facilities;

•

Changes in the expected level of capital, operating, or remediation spending related to environmental matters;

•

Changes in insurance markets resulting in increased costs and reductions in the level and types of coverage available;

•

Risks related to labor relations and workplace safety;

•

Non-performance by or disputes with major customers, suppliers or other business partners;

•

Changes in the Partnership’s tariff rates implemented by federal and/or state government regulators;

•

The amount of the Partnership’s indebtedness, which could make the Partnership vulnerable to adverse general economic and industry conditions,
limit the Partnership’s ability to borrow additional funds, place it at competitive disadvantages compared to competitors that have less debt, or have
other adverse consequences;

•

Restrictive covenants in the Partnership’s or Sunoco, Inc.’s credit agreements;

•

Changes in the Partnership’s or Sunoco, Inc.’s credit ratings, as assigned by ratings agencies;

•

The condition of the debt capital markets and equity capital markets in the United States, and the Partnership’s ability to raise capital in a costeffective way;

•

Changes in interest rates on the Partnership’s outstanding debt, which could increase the costs of borrowing;

•

Claims of the Partnership’s non-compliance with regulatory and statutory requirements; and

•

The costs and effects of legal and administrative claims and proceedings against the Partnership or any entity in which it has an ownership interest,
and changes in the status of, or the initiation of new litigation, claims or proceedings, to which the Partnership, or any entity in which it has an
ownership interest, is a party.

These factors are not necessarily all of the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any of the
Partnership’s forward-looking statements. Other factors could also have material adverse effects on future results. The Partnership undertakes no obligation to
update publicly any forward-looking statement whether as a result of new information or future events.
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PART I
ITEM 1. BUSINESS
(a) General Development of Business
The Partnership is a publicly traded Delaware limited partnership that owns, operates and acquires a geographically diverse portfolio of complementary
pipeline, terminalling, and crude oil acquisition and marketing assets. The principal executive offices of Sunoco Partners LLC, the Partnership’s general partner
(the “General Partner”), are located at Mellon Bank Center, 1735 Market Street, Suite LL, Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103 (telephone (866) 248-4344). The
Partnership’s website address is www.sunocologistics.com.
Sunoco, Inc., and its wholly-owned subsidiaries including Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), owns approximately 43.4 percent of the partnership interests at
December 31, 2007, including a 2 percent general partner interest. Sunoco, Inc. and Sunoco, Inc. (R&M) are collectively referred to as “Sunoco”.
(b) Financial Information about Segments
See Part II, Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
(c) Narrative Description of Business
The Partnership is principally engaged in the transport, terminalling and storage of refined products and crude oil and the purchase and sale of crude oil in
12 states located in the Northeast, Midwest and Southwest United States. Sunoco accounted for approximately 23 percent of the Partnership’s total revenues for
the year ended December 31, 2007. The business comprises three segments:
•

The Eastern Pipeline System primarily serves the Northeast and Midwest United States operations of Sunoco and includes: approximately 1,650 miles
of refined product pipelines, including a two-thirds undivided interest in the 80-mile refined product Harbor pipeline, and 58 miles of interrefinery
pipelines between two of Sunoco’s refineries; approximately 140 miles of crude oil pipelines; a 9.4 percent interest in Explorer Pipeline Company, a
joint venture that owns a 1,881-mile refined product pipeline; a 31.5 percent interest in Wolverine Pipe Line Company, a joint venture that owns a 721mile refined product pipeline; a 12.3 percent interest in West Shore Pipe Line Company, a joint venture that owns a 652-mile refined product pipeline;
and a 14.0 percent interest in Yellowstone Pipe Line Company, a joint venture that owns a 750-mile refined product pipeline.

•

The Terminal Facilities consist of 36 refined product terminals with an aggregate storage capacity of 6.2 million barrels, primarily serving the
Partnership’s Eastern Pipeline System; the Nederland Terminal, a 14.7 million barrel marine crude oil terminal on the Texas Gulf Coast; a 2.0 million
barrel refined product terminal serving Sunoco’s Marcus Hook refinery near Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; one inland and two marine crude oil terminals
with a combined capacity of 3.4 million barrels, and related pipelines, which serve Sunoco’s Philadelphia refinery; a ship and barge dock which serves
Sunoco’s Eagle Point refinery; and a 1.0 million barrel liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”) terminal near Detroit, Michigan.

•

The Western Pipeline System gathers, purchases, sells, and transports crude oil principally in Oklahoma and Texas and consists of approximately 3,200
miles of crude oil trunk pipelines, including a 37.0 percent undivided interest in the 80-mile Mesa Pipe Line system, and approximately 500 miles of
crude oil gathering lines that supply the trunk pipelines; approximately 115 crude oil transport trucks; approximately 150 crude oil truck unloading
facilities; a 55.3 percent economic interest (50 percent voting interest) in the Mid-Valley Pipeline Company, a joint venture that owns a 994-mile
pipeline and a 43.8 percent interest in West Texas Gulf Pipe Line Company, a joint venture that owns a 579-mile crude oil pipeline.
3

Table of Contents
Revenues are generated by charging tariffs for transporting refined products, crude oil and other hydrocarbons through the pipelines and by charging fees
for storing refined products, crude oil, and other hydrocarbons, and for providing other services at the Partnership’s terminals. The Partnership also generates
revenue by purchasing domestic crude oil and selling it to Sunoco and other customers. Generally, as crude oil is purchased, corresponding sale transactions are
simultaneously entered into involving physical deliveries of crude oil, which enables the Partnership to secure a profit on the transaction at the time of purchase
and establish a substantially balanced position, thereby minimizing exposure to price volatility after the initial purchase. The Partnership’s practice is to not enter
into commodity derivative contracts.
The Partnership’s primary business strategies are to generate stable cash flows, increase pipeline and terminal throughput, pursue strategic and accretive
acquisitions that complement the Partnership’s existing asset base, improve operating efficiencies, and increase distributions to its unitholders.
For the year ended December 31, 2007, Sunoco accounted for approximately 62 percent of the Eastern Pipeline segment’s total revenues, approximately 65
percent of the Terminal Facilities segment’s total revenues, and approximately 21 percent of the Western Pipeline System segment’s total revenues.
Eastern Pipeline System
Refined Product Pipelines
The Partnership owns and operates approximately 1,650 miles of refined product pipelines in the Northeast and Midwest United States. The refined product
pipelines transport refined products from Sunoco’s Philadelphia and Marcus Hook, Pennsylvania, Toledo, Ohio and Eagle Point, New Jersey refineries, as well as
from third party locations, to markets in New York, New Jersey, Pennsylvania, Ohio, and Michigan. The refined products transported in these pipelines include
multiple grades of gasoline, middle distillates (such as heating oil, diesel and jet fuel), liquefied petroleum gas (“LPGs”) (such as propane and butane), refining
feedstocks, and other hydrocarbons. The Federal Energy Regulatory Commission (“FERC”) regulates the rates for interstate shipments on the Eastern Pipeline
System and the Pennsylvania Public Utility Commission (“PA PUC”) regulates the rates for intrastate shipments in Pennsylvania. The Partnership also leases to
Sunoco three bi-directional, 18-mile interrefinery pipelines and a four-mile pipeline spur extending to the Philadelphia International Airport.
The following table details the total shipments on the refined product pipelines in each of the years presented. Total shipments represent the total average
daily pipeline throughput multiplied by the number of miles of pipeline through which each barrel has been shipped. Management of the Partnership believes that
total shipments is a better performance indicator for the Eastern Pipeline System than barrels transported as certain refined product pipelines such as transfer
pipelines transport large volumes over short distances and generate minimal revenues. The following excludes amounts attributable to the interrefinery pipelines
and equity ownership interests in the corporate joint ventures:
2005

Total shipments (in thousands of barrel miles per day)

Year Ended December 31,
2006
2007

46,144

48,493

49,963

The mix of refined petroleum products delivered varies seasonally, with gasoline demand peaking during the summer months, and demand for heating oil
and other distillate fuels peaking in the winter. In addition, weather conditions in the areas served by the Eastern Pipeline System affect both the demand for, and
the mix of, the refined petroleum products delivered through the Eastern Pipeline System, although historically any overall impact on the total volume shipped
has been short term.
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Crude Oil Pipelines
The Eastern Pipeline system includes a 123-mile, 16-inch crude oil pipeline that runs from Marysville, Michigan to Toledo, Ohio. This pipeline receives
crude oil from the Enbridge pipeline system for delivery to Sunoco and BP refineries located in Toledo, Ohio and to Marathon’s Samaria, Michigan tank farm,
which supplies its refinery in Detroit, Michigan. Marysville is also a truck injection point for local production. During 2006, the Partnership completed an
expansion project on the Marysville pipeline that increased capacity by approximately 20 percent to approximately 190,000 barrels per day (“bpd”).
The table below sets forth the average daily number of barrels of crude oil transported through this crude oil pipeline in each of the years presented:
2005(1)

Crude oil throughput (in bpd)
(1)

Year Ended December 31,
2006
2007

92,778

124,512

146,200

Production issues at two third-party Canadian synthetic crude oil plants resulted in lower shipments on the Marysville to Toledo crude oil pipeline in 2005.
Explorer Pipeline

The Partnership owns a 9.4 percent interest in Explorer Pipeline Company (“Explorer”), a joint venture that owns a 1,881-mile common carrier refined
product pipeline. The system, which is operated by Explorer employees, originates from the refining centers of Lake Charles, Louisiana and Beaumont, Port
Arthur and Houston, Texas, and extends to Chicago, Illinois, with delivery points in the Houston, Dallas/Fort Worth, Tulsa, St. Louis, and Chicago areas. Explorer
charges market-based rates for all its tariffs.
Wolverine Pipe Line
The Partnership owns a 31.5 percent interest in Wolverine Pipe Line Company (“Wolverine”), a joint venture that owns a 721-mile common carrier
pipeline that transports primarily refined products. The system, which is operated by Wolverine employees, originates from Chicago, Illinois and extends to
Detroit, Grand Haven, and Bay City, Michigan with delivery points along the way. Wolverine charges market-based rates for tariffs at the Detroit, Jackson, Niles,
Hammond, and Lockport destinations.
West Shore Pipe Line
The Partnership owns a 12.3 percent interest in West Shore Pipe Line Company (“West Shore”), a joint venture that owns a 652-mile common carrier
refined product pipeline. The system, which is operated by CITGO employees, originates from the Chicago, Illinois refining center and extends to Madison and
Green Bay, Wisconsin with delivery points along the way. West Shore charges market-based tariff rates in the Chicago area.
Yellowstone Pipe Line
The Partnership owns a 14.0 percent interest in Yellowstone Pipe Line Company (“Yellowstone”), a joint venture that owns a 750-mile common carrier
refined product pipeline. The system, which is operated by ConocoPhillips employees, originates from the Billings, Montana refining center and extends to
Moses Lake, Washington with delivery points along the way. Tariff rates are regulated by the FERC for interstate shipments and the Montana Public Service
Commission for intrastate shipments in Montana.
Terminal Facilities
Refined Product Terminals
The Partnership’s 36 refined product terminals receive refined products from pipelines, barges, rail, and trucks and distribute them to Sunoco and to third
parties, who in turn deliver them to end-users and retail outlets.
5
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Terminals are facilities where refined products are transferred to or from storage or a transportation system, such as a pipeline, to another transportation system,
such as trucks or another pipeline. The operation of these facilities is called “terminalling.” Terminals play a key role in moving product to the end-user market by
providing the following services: storage; distribution; blending to achieve specified grades of gasoline; and other ancillary services that include the injection of
additives and the filtering of jet fuel. Typically, the Partnership’s terminal facilities consist of multiple storage tanks and are equipped with automated truck
loading equipment that is available 24 hours a day. This automated system provides for control of allocations, credit, and carrier certification. In 2007, the
Partnership acquired a 50 percent interest in a refined products terminal in Syracuse, NY.
The Partnership’s refined product terminals derive most of their revenues from terminalling fees paid by customers. A fee is charged for receiving refined
products into the terminal and delivering them to trucks, barges, or pipelines. In addition to terminalling fees, the Partnership generates revenues by charging
customers fees for blending, including ethanol blending, injecting additives, and filtering jet fuel. Refined product terminals generate the balance of their revenues
from the handling of other hydrocarbons. Sunoco accounts for a significant portion of the Partnership’s refined product terminal revenues. The Eastern Pipeline
System supplies the majority of the Partnership’s refined product terminals, with third-party pipelines and barges supplying the remainder.
The table below sets forth the total average daily throughput for the refined product terminals in each of the years presented:
2005

Refined products throughput (bpd)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

389,523

391,718

2007

433,797

The Partnership’s refined product terminals include the following assets acquired since December 31, 2004:
•

Syracuse Terminal Acquisition. On June 1, 2007, the Partnership purchased a 50 percent undivided interest in a refined products terminal located in
Syracuse, New York from Mobil Pipe Line Company, an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation for approximately $13.4 million. Total terminal storage
capacity is approximately 550,000 barrels.

The following table outlines the number of terminals and storage capacity in barrels (“bbls”) by state:
Number of
Terminals

State

Indiana
Maryland
Michigan
New Jersey
New York(1,2)
Ohio
Pennsylvania
Virginia
Total
(1)
(2)

1
1
2
4
4
7
16
1
36

Storage
Capacity
(bbls)

206,500
663,900
406,700
762,600
915,800
915,900
2,008,800
276,900
6,157,100

The Partnership has a 45 percent ownership interest in a terminal at Inwood, New York. The storage capacity included in the table represents the
proportionate share of capacity attributable to the Partnership’s ownership interest.
The Partnership has a 50 percent ownership interest in a terminal at Syracuse, New York. The storage capacity included in the table represents the
proportionate share of capacity attributable to the Partnership’s ownership interest.
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Nederland Terminal
The Nederland Terminal, which is located on the Sabine-Neches waterway between Beaumont and Port Arthur, Texas, is a large marine terminal that
provides storage and distribution services for refiners and other large transporters of crude oil. The terminal receives, stores, and distributes crude oil, feedstocks,
lubricants, petrochemicals, and bunker oils (used for fueling ships and other marine vessels). In addition, it also blends lubricants and is equipped with petroleum
laboratory facilities. The terminal currently has a total shell storage capacity of approximately 14.7 million barrels in 132 aboveground storage tanks with
individual capacities of up to 660,000 barrels. During 2007, the Partnership continued construction of seven new tanks with a capacity of 4.2 million shell barrels
of storage capacity, four of which were placed into service in 2007. Construction also continued around the Partnership’s agreement with Motiva Enterprises
LLC, which includes three crude oil storage tanks at the Partnership’s Nederland Terminal and a crude oil pipeline from Nederland to Motiva’s Port Arthur, Texas
refinery.
The Nederland Terminal can receive crude oil at each of its five ship docks and three barge berths, which can accommodate any vessel capable of
navigating the 40-foot freshwater draft of the Sabine-Neches Ship Channel. The five ship docks are capable of receiving over 1.0 million bpd of crude oil. The
terminal can also receive crude oil through a number of pipelines, including the Shell pipeline from Louisiana, the Cameron Highway pipeline, the ExxonMobil
Pegasus pipeline, the Department of Energy (“DOE”) Big Hill pipeline, the DOE West Hackberry pipeline, and the Partnership’s Western Pipeline System. The
DOE pipelines connect the terminal to the United States Strategic Petroleum Reserve’s West Hackberry caverns at Hackberry, Louisiana and Big Hill near
Winnie, Texas, which have an aggregate storage capacity of 370 million barrels. In the first quarter of 2006 ExxonMobil reversed the flow of crude oil on its
Pegasus pipeline from Patoka, Illinois to the Nederland Terminal, which resulted in the flow of Canadian crude oil to the Nederland Terminal beginning in April
2006.
The Nederland Terminal can deliver crude oil and other petroleum products via pipeline, barge, ship, rail, or truck. In the aggregate, the terminal is capable
of delivering over 1.9 million bpd of crude oil to 12 connecting pipelines. The connecting pipelines include the ExxonMobil pipeline to its Beaumont, Texas
refinery; the DOE pipelines to the Big Hill and West Hackberry Strategic Petroleum Reserve caverns; the Valero pipeline to its Port Arthur, Texas refinery; the
Total pipelines to its Port Arthur, Texas refinery; the Shell pipeline to Houston, Texas refineries; West Texas Gulf and the Partnership’s pipelines to the MidValley pipeline at Longview, Texas and to the CITGO pipeline at Sour Lake, Texas; the Partnership’s pipeline to Seabreeze, Texas; and the Partnership’s pipeline
to the Alon Big Spring, Texas refinery and Midland, Texas. In December 2006, the Partnership executed an agreement with Motiva Enterprises LLC to construct
three additional crude oil storage tanks, with a combined capacity of approximately 2.0 million shell barrels of storage capacity, and provide a new approximately
8 mile 30”crude oil pipeline connection from the Nederland Terminal to Motiva’s Port Arthur, Texas refinery. Construction of these assets is expected to be
completed on or before January 2010.
The table below sets forth the total average daily throughput for the Nederland Terminal in each of the years presented:
2005

Crude oil and refined products throughput (bpd)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

457,655

461,943

2007

507,312

Revenues are generated at the Nederland Terminal primarily by providing term or spot storage services and throughput capability to a number of
customers. The majority of the terminal’s revenues in 2007 were from unaffiliated third parties.
Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex
The Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex is located on the Delaware River in Philadelphia and supplies Sunoco’s Philadelphia refinery with all of its crude oil.
These assets include the Fort Mifflin Terminal, the Hog Island
7
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Wharf, the Darby Creek Tank Farm and connecting pipelines. Revenues are generated from the Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex by charging fees based on tank
capacity and throughput. Substantially all of the revenues from the Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex are derived from Sunoco.
The Fort Mifflin Terminal consists of two ship docks with 40-foot freshwater drafts and nine tanks with a total storage capacity of 570,000 barrels. Crude
oil and some refined products enter the Fort Mifflin Terminal primarily from marine vessels on the Delaware River. One Fort Mifflin dock is designed to handle
crude oil from very large crude oil carrier-class tankers and smaller crude oil vessels. The other dock can accommodate only smaller crude oil vessels.
The Hog Island Wharf is located next to the Fort Mifflin Terminal on the Delaware River and receives crude oil via two ship docks, one of which can
accommodate crude oil tankers and smaller crude oil vessels and the other of which can accommodate some smaller crude oil vessels.
The Darby Creek Tank Farm is a primary crude oil storage terminal for Sunoco’s Philadelphia refinery. This facility has 26 tanks with a total storage
capacity of 2.9 million barrels. Darby Creek receives crude oil from the Fort Mifflin Terminal and Hog Island Wharf via the Partnership’s pipelines. The tank
farm then stores the crude oil and pumps it to the Philadelphia refinery via the Partnership’s pipelines.
The table below sets forth the average daily number of barrels of crude oil and refined products delivered to Sunoco’s Philadelphia refinery in each of the
years presented:
2005

Crude oil throughput (bpd)
Refined products throughput (bpd)
Total (bpd)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

321,623
5,533
327,156

305,539
14,256
319,795

2007

296,976
13,972
310,948

Marcus Hook Tank Farm
The Marcus Hook Tank Farm stores substantially all of the gasoline and middle distillates that Sunoco ships from its Marcus Hook refinery. This facility
has 16 tanks with a total storage capacity of approximately 2.0 million barrels. After receipt of refined products from the Marcus Hook refinery, the tank farm
either stores or delivers them to the Partnership’s Twin Oaks terminal, to the Twin Oaks pump station, which supplies the Eastern Pipeline System or to a third
party terminal via pipeline.
The table below sets forth the total average daily throughput for the Marcus Hook Tank Farm in each of the years presented:
2005

Refined products throughput (bpd)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

149,934
8

151,093

2007

146,112
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Eagle Point Dock
The Eagle Point Dock is located on the Delaware River and is connected to the Sunoco Eagle Point refinery. It can accommodate three ships or barges and
supplies the Eagle Point refinery with all of its crude oil. The dock can also receive and deliver crude oil, intermediate products and refined products to outbound
ships and barges.
The table below sets forth the total average daily throughput for the Eagle Point Dock in each of the years presented:
2005

Crude oil throughput (bpd)
Refined products throughput (bpd)
Total (bpd)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

146,720
78,439
225,159

136,473
80,448
216,921

2007

138,159
100,649
238,808

Inkster Terminal
The Inkster Terminal, located near Detroit, Michigan, consists of eight salt caverns with a total storage capacity of 975,000 barrels. The Partnership uses
the Inkster Terminal’s storage in connection with its Toledo, Ohio to Sarnia, Canada pipeline system and for the storage of LPGs from Sunoco’s Toledo refinery
and from Canada. The terminal can receive and ship LPGs in both directions at the same time and has a propane truck loading rack.
Western Pipeline System
Crude Oil Pipelines
The Partnership owns and operates approximately 3,200 miles of crude oil trunk pipelines and approximately 500 miles of crude oil gathering pipelines in
Texas and Oklahoma. The Partnership also delivers crude oil and other feedstocks for Sunoco and other third parties from points in Texas and Oklahoma.
The Partnership’s pipelines also access several trading hubs, including the largest and most significant trading hub for crude oil in the United States located
in Cushing, Oklahoma (“Cushing”), as well as other trading hubs located in Midland, Colorado City and Longview, Texas. The Partnership’s crude oil pipelines
also deliver to and connect with other pipelines that deliver crude oil to a number of third-party refineries. The table below sets forth the average daily number of
barrels of crude oil and other feedstocks transported on the Partnership’s crude oil pipelines in each of the years presented:
2005(1)

Crude oil and other feedstocks throughput (bpd)
(1)
(2)
(3)

Year Ended December 31,
2006(2)(3)
2007(3)

356,129

526,014

527,491

Includes results from the Corsicana to Wichita Falls crude oil pipeline and the undivided interest in the Mesa pipeline from the acquisition date.
Includes results from the Millennium and Kilgore crude oil pipelines and the Amdel and White Oil crude oil pipelines from the acquisition dates.
Excludes results from the joint venture interests.
Texas

The Partnership owns and operates approximately 2,400 miles of crude oil trunk pipelines and approximately 300 miles of crude oil gathering pipelines in
Texas. The Texas system is connected to the Mid-Valley and West Texas Gulf pipelines which are 55.3 percent and 43.8 percent, respectively, owned by the
Partnership, other third-party pipelines, and the Partnership’s Nederland Terminal.
9

Table of Contents
Revenues are generated from tariffs paid by shippers utilizing the Partnership’s transportation services. These tariffs are filed with the Texas Railroad
Commission and the FERC.
The Partnership’s Texas crude oil pipeline system also includes the following assets acquired since December 31, 2004:
•

Corsicana to Wichita Falls Pipeline Acquisition. On August 1, 2005, the Partnership purchased, from an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation, a crude
oil pipeline system and storage facilities located in Texas for approximately $100.0 million. The pipeline system consists primarily of a 187-mile, 16inch pipeline with an operating capacity of 125,000 bpd. It originates at a crude oil terminal in Corsicana, Texas and terminates at Wichita Falls, Texas.
The storage facilities include the Corsicana terminal, which has 2.9 million barrels of shell capacity for crude oil, and the Ringgold, Texas terminal,
which consists of 0.5 million barrels of shell capacity for crude oil. In addition, the Partnership invested approximately $16.0 million to construct a
new 20-mile, 24-inch pipeline to connect the Corsicana terminal to the West Texas Gulf pipeline at Wortham, Texas, in which the Partnership has a
43.8 percent ownership interest. Construction of the new 20-mile pipeline was completed in December 2005.

•

Mesa Pipe Line Undivided Interest Acquisition. On December 5, 2005, the Partnership purchased a subsidiary of Sunoco, which owned a 7.2 percent
undivided interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system for approximately $1.3 million. The Mesa Pipe Line system consists of an 80-mile, 24-inch crude oil
pipeline from Midland, Texas to Colorado City, Texas, with an operating capacity of 316,000 bpd, and approximately 0.8 million barrels of shell
capacity at Midland. The Mesa pipeline connects to the West Texas Gulf pipeline, which supplies crude oil to the Mid-Valley pipeline as well as to the
Corsicana to Wichita Falls system and other West Texas Gulf delivery points. On December 29, 2005, the Partnership purchased an additional 29.8
percent interest in Mesa from Chevron for approximately $5.3 million, increasing the Partnership’s ownership to 37.0 percent. On April 21, 2006, the
Partnership and Plains All American Pipeline, L.P. agreed to extend the Mesa operating agreement, previously scheduled to expire on June 30, 2006,
until December 31, 2009.

•

Millennium and Kilgore Pipeline Acquisition. On March 1, 2006, the Partnership purchased a Texas crude oil pipeline system from affiliates of Black
Hills Energy, Inc. for approximately $40.9 million. The acquisition consists of (a) the Millennium Pipeline, a 200-mile, 12-inch crude oil pipeline with
approximately 65,000 bpd operating capacity, originating near the Partnership’s Nederland Terminal, and terminating at Longview Texas; (b) the
Kilgore Pipeline, a 190-mile, 10-inch crude oil pipeline with approximately 35,000 barrel per day capacity originating in Kilgore, Texas and
terminating at the Oil Tanking terminal in the Houston, Texas region; (c) approximately 0.9 million barrels of shell storage capacity at Kilgore, and
Longview, Texas, approximately 0.6 million of which were inactive; (d) a crude oil sales and marketing business; and (e) crude oil line fill and
working inventory.

•

Amdel and White Oil Pipeline Acquisition. On March 1, 2006, the Partnership acquired a Texas crude oil pipeline system from Alon USA Energy, Inc.
for approximately $68.0 million. The system consists of (a) the Amdel Pipeline, a 503-mile, 10-inch common carrier crude oil pipeline with
approximately 27,000 bpd operating capacity, originating at the Nederland Terminal, and terminating at Midland, Texas, and (b) the White Oil
Pipeline, a 25-mile, 10-inch crude oil pipeline with approximately 40,000 bpd operating capacity, originating at the Amdel Pipeline and terminating at
Alon’s Big Spring, Texas refinery. Alon has agreed to ship a minimum of 15,000 bpd on the pipelines under a 10-year, throughput and deficiency
agreement. The pipelines were idle at the time of purchase and were re-commissioned by the Partnership during the second quarter 2006. The pipelines
began making deliveries during the fourth quarter 2006. During the first quarter of 2007, the Partnership completed a project to expand the capacity on
the Amdel Pipeline from approximately 27,000 to 40,000 bpd. The Partnership also is constructing new tankage at the Nederland Terminal to service
these new volumes more efficiently and expects the project to be completed during 2008.
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•

Mid-Valley Pipeline Acquisition. On August 18, 2006, the Partnership purchased from Sunoco a 100 percent interest in Sun Pipe Line Company of
Delaware LLC, the owner of a 55.3 percent equity interest (50 percent voting rights) in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company (“Mid-Valley”) for $65 million,
subject to certain adjustments five years following the date of closing, based on the throughput of Sunoco. Mid-Valley owns a 994-mile pipeline,
which originates in Longview, Texas and terminates in Samaria, Michigan, and has operating capacity of approximately 238,000 bpd and 4.2 million
barrels of shell storage capacity. Mid-Valley provides crude oil to a number of refineries, primarily in the Midwest United States.

Oklahoma
The Partnership owns and operates a crude oil pipeline and gathering system in Oklahoma. This system contains approximately 800 miles of crude oil
trunk pipelines and approximately 200 miles of crude oil gathering pipelines. The Partnership has the ability to deliver substantially all of the crude oil gathered
on its Oklahoma system to Cushing. Additionally, deliveries are made on the Oklahoma system to Sunoco and other third-party refiners.
Revenues are generated on the Partnership’s Oklahoma system from tariffs paid by shippers utilizing the Partnership’s transportation services. The
Partnership files these tariffs with the Oklahoma Corporation Commission and the FERC. The Partnership is one of the largest purchasers of crude oil from
producers in the state, and is the primary shipper on its Oklahoma system.
West Texas Gulf Pipe Line
The Partnership owns a 43.8 percent interest in the West Texas Gulf Pipe Line Company (“West Texas Gulf”), a joint venture that owns a 579-mile
common carrier crude oil pipeline. The system originates from the West Texas oil fields at Colorado City and the Nederland crude oil import terminals and
extends to Longview, Texas where deliveries are made to several pipelines, including the Mid-Valley pipeline. On January 1, 2005, the Partnership became the
operator of this system.
Crude Oil Acquisition and Marketing
In addition to receiving tariff revenues for transporting crude oil on the Western Pipeline System, the Partnership generates most of its revenues through its
crude oil acquisition and marketing activities. These activities are primarily in Oklahoma and Texas and include: purchasing crude oil at the wellhead from
producers and in bulk from aggregators at major pipeline interconnections and trading locations; transporting crude oil on the Partnership’s pipelines and trucks
or, when necessary or cost effective, pipelines or trucks owned and operated by third parties; and marketing crude oil to major integrated oil companies,
independent refiners, including Sunoco for its Tulsa and Toledo refineries, and resellers in various types of sale and exchange transactions.
The crude oil acquisition and marketing operations generate substantial revenue and cost of products sold because they reflect the sales price and cost of
the significant volume of crude oil bought and sold. However, the absolute price levels for crude oil normally do not bear a relationship to gross margin, although
these price levels significantly impact revenue and cost of products sold. As a result, period-to-period variations in revenue and cost of products sold are not
generally meaningful in analyzing the variation in gross margin for the crude oil acquisition and marketing operations. The operating results of the crude oil
acquisition and marketing operations are dependent on its ability to sell crude oil at a price in excess of the aggregate cost. Management of the Partnership
believes gross margin, which is equal to sales and other operating revenue less cost of products sold and operating expenses and depreciation and amortization, is
a key measure of financial performance for the Western Pipeline System.
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The Partnership mitigates most of its pricing risk on purchase contracts by selling crude oil for an equal term on a similar pricing basis. The Partnership
also mitigates most of its volume risk by entering into sales agreements, generally at the same time that purchase agreements are executed, at similar volumes. As
a result, volumes sold are generally equal to volumes purchased. The Partnership does not acquire and hold crude oil futures contracts or enter into other
commodity derivative contracts.
Crude Oil Purchases and Exchanges
In a typical producer’s operation, crude oil flows from the wellhead to a separator where the petroleum gases are removed. After separation, the producer
treats the crude oil to remove water, sand, and other contaminants and then moves it to an on-site storage tank. When the tank is full, the producer contacts the
Partnership’s field personnel to purchase and transport the crude oil to market. The crude oil in producers’ tanks is then either delivered directly or transported via
truck to the Partnership’s pipeline or to a third party’s pipeline. The trucking services are performed either by the Partnership’s truck fleet or a third-party trucking
operation.
Crude oil purchasers who buy from producers compete on the basis of competitive prices and highly responsive services. Management of the Partnership
believes that its ability to offer competitive pricing and high-quality field and administrative services to producers is a key factor in its ability to maintain its
volume of lease purchased crude oil and to obtain new volume.
The Partnership also enters into exchange agreements to enhance margins throughout the acquisition and marketing process. When opportunities arise to
increase its margin or to acquire a grade of crude oil that more nearly matches its delivery requirement or the preferences of its refinery customers, the
Partnership’s physical crude oil is exchanged with third parties. Generally, the Partnership enters into exchanges to acquire crude oil of a desired quality in
exchange for a common grade crude oil or to acquire crude oil at locations that are closer to the Partnership’s end-markets, thereby reducing transportation costs.
In November 2007, the U.S. Department of Energy awarded a contract to the Partnership for the exchange of royalty oil produced from the Gulf Coast for
crude oil meeting the requirements of the Strategic Petroleum Reserve. The contract terms apply royalty-in-kind exchange provisions that require the Partnership
to: (1) take delivery of crude oil owed to the U.S. Government from offshore Gulf Coast federal leases; and (2) deliver to the Strategic Petroleum Reserve a
volume of crude oil that meets certain specifications. Under its contract, deliveries of royalty oil to the Partnership began in January, 2008, and will continue for a
period of six months, ending in June, 2008. The total volume of royalty oil so delivered is expected to be approximately three million barrels. Starting in
February, 2008, the Partnership, through its Nederland Terminal facility, began monthly deliveries of sweet crude oil into the Strategic Petroleum Reserve site in
West Hackberry, LA, for a period of six months, ending in July 2008. The Partnership’s performance obligations under its contract with the DOE are secured by
two standby letters of credit, each in the amount of $65.2 million.
The Partnership enters into contracts with producers at market prices generally for a term of one year or less, with a majority of the transactions on a 30day renewable basis. For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Partnership purchased 164,432 bpd from approximately 3,400 producers and from
approximately 34,000 leases, and undertook 400,084 bpd of exchanges and bulk purchases during the same period.
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The following table shows the Partnership’s average daily volume for crude oil lease purchases and sales and other exchanges and bulk purchases for the
years presented:
Year Ended December 31,
2005
2006
2007
(in thousands of bpd)

Lease purchases:
Available for sale
Exchanged
Other exchanges and bulk purchases
Total Purchases
Sales:
Sunoco refineries:
Toledo
Tulsa
Third parties
Exchanges:
Purchased at the lease
Other
Total Sales

164
22
237
423

176
16
295
487

164
14
400
578

27
62
96

32
78
103

20
50
166

22
216
423

16
256
485

14
330
580

Crude Oil Trucking
The Partnership owns approximately 125 crude oil truck unloading facilities in Oklahoma, Texas, and New Mexico, the majority of which are located on
the Partnership’s pipeline system. Approximately 225 crude oil truck drivers are used by a subsidiary of the general partner of the Partnership and approximately
115 crude oil transport trucks are owned. The crude oil truck drivers pick up crude oil at production lease sites and transport it to various truck unloading facilities
on the Partnership’s pipelines and third-party pipelines. Third-party trucking firms are also retained to transport crude oil to certain facilities.
Pipeline and Terminal Control Operations
Almost all of the Partnership’s refined products and crude oil pipelines are operated via satellite, microwave, and frame relay communication systems from
central control rooms located in Montello, Pennsylvania and Sugar Land, Texas. The Montello control center primarily monitors and controls the Partnership’s
Eastern Pipeline System, and the Sugar Land control center primarily monitors and controls the Western Pipeline System. The Nederland Terminal has its own
control center.
The control centers operate with Supervisory Control and Data Acquisition, or SCADA, systems that continuously monitor real time operational data,
including refined product and crude oil throughput, flow rates, and pressures. In addition, the control centers monitor alarms and throughput balances. The control
centers operate remote pumps, motors and valves associated with the delivery of refined products and crude oil. The computer systems are designed to enhance
leak-detection capabilities, sound automatic alarms if operational conditions outside of pre-established parameters occur, and provide for remote-controlled
shutdown of pump stations on the Partnership’s pipelines. Pump stations and meter-measurement points along the Partnership’s pipelines are linked by satellite or
telephone communication systems for remote monitoring and control, which reduces the requirement for full-time on-site personnel at most of these locations.
Acquisitions
The Partnership completed the following acquisitions in the three years ended December 31, 2007:
Syracuse Terminal Acquisition. On June 1, 2007, the Partnership purchased a 50 percent undivided interest in a refined products terminal located in
Syracuse, New York from Mobil Pipe Line Company, an affiliate of
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Exxon Mobil Corporation for approximately $13.4 million. For further information, see “Terminal Facilities” discussion above.
Mid-Valley Pipeline Acquisition. On August 18, 2006, the Partnership purchased from Sunoco a 100 percent interest in Sun Pipe Line Company of
Delaware LLC, the owner of a 55.3 percent equity interest (50 percent voting rights) in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company (“Mid-Valley”) for approximately $65
million, subject to certain adjustments five years following the date of closing, based on throughput by Sunoco. For further information, see “Western Pipeline
System” discussion above.
Amdel and White Oil Pipeline Acquisition. On March 1, 2006, the Partnership acquired a Texas crude oil pipeline system from Alon USA Energy, Inc. for
approximately $68.0 million. For further information, see “Western Pipeline System” discussion above.
Millennium and Kilgore Pipeline Acquisition. On March 1, 2006, the Partnership purchased a Texas crude oil pipeline system from affiliates of Black Hills
Energy, Inc. for approximately $40.9 million. For further information, see “Western Pipeline System” discussion above.
Mesa Pipe Line Undivided Interest Acquisition. On December 5, 2005, the Partnership purchased a subsidiary of Sunoco which owned a 7.2 percent
undivided interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system for approximately $1.3 million. On December 29, 2005, the Partnership purchased an additional 29.8 percent
interest in Mesa from Chevron for approximately $5.3 million, increasing its combined interest to 37.0 percent. For further information, see “Western Pipeline
System” discussion above.
Corsicana to Wichita Falls Pipeline Acquisition. On August 1, 2005, the Partnership purchased, from an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation, a crude oil
pipeline system and storage facilities located in Texas for approximately $100.0 million. For further information, see “Western Pipeline System” discussion
above.
Although the Partnership does not currently engage in business unrelated to the transportation or storage of crude oil and refined products and the other
businesses discussed above, management of the Partnership may, in the future, consider and make acquisitions in other business areas.
Competition
As a result of the physical integration with Sunoco, the Partnership believes that it will not face significant competition for crude oil transported to the
Philadelphia, Toledo, Tulsa, and Eagle Point refineries, or refined products transported from the Philadelphia, Marcus Hook, Toledo, and Eagle Point refineries.
For further information on this agreement, see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Agreements
with Sunoco.” For the year ended December 31, 2007, Sunoco accounted for approximately 23 percent of the Partnership’s total revenues.
Eastern Pipeline System
Nearly all of the Eastern Pipeline System is directly linked to Sunoco’s refineries. Sunoco constructed or acquired these assets as the most cost-effective
means to access raw materials and distribute refined products. Generally, pipelines are the lowest cost method for long-haul, overland movement of refined
products. Therefore, the most significant competitors for large volume shipments in the area served by the Eastern Pipeline System are other pipelines.
Management of the Partnership believes that high capital requirements, environmental considerations, and the difficulty in acquiring rights-of-way and related
permits make it difficult for other companies to build competing pipelines in areas served by the Partnership’s pipelines. As a result, competing pipelines are
likely to be built only in those cases in which strong market demand and attractive tariff rates support additional capacity in an area.
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Although it is unlikely that a pipeline system comparable in size and scope to the Eastern Pipeline System will be built in the foreseeable future, new
pipelines (including pipeline segments that connect with existing pipeline systems) could be built to effectively compete with it in particular locations.
In addition, the Partnership, including its interests in corporate joint ventures, faces competition from trucks that deliver refined products in a number of
areas that it serves. While their costs may not be competitive for longer hauls or large volume shipments, trucks compete effectively for incremental and marginal
volume in many areas that are served by trucks. The availability of truck transportation places a significant competitive constraint on the Partnership’s ability to
increase tariff rates.
Terminal Facilities
Historically, except for the Nederland Terminal, essentially all of the throughput at the Terminal Facilities segment has come from Sunoco. Under the terms
of the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreements and other agreements, the Partnership will continue to receive a significant portion of the
throughput at these facilities from Sunoco.
The 36 refined product terminals compete with other independent terminals regarding price, versatility, and services provided. The competition primarily
comes from integrated petroleum companies, refining and marketing companies, independent terminal companies, and distribution companies with marketing and
trading activities.
The primary competitors for the Nederland Terminal are its refinery customers’ docks and other terminal facilities, located in the Beaumont, Texas area.
The Inkster Terminal’s primary competition comes from other nearby facilities located in Michigan and Windsor, Canada.
Western Pipeline System
The Western Pipeline System faces competition from a number of major oil companies and smaller entities. Competition among common carrier pipelines
is based primarily on transportation charges and access to crude oil supply and demand. Management of the Partnership believes that high capital costs make it
unlikely that other companies will build new competing crude oil pipeline systems in the pipeline corridors served by the Western Pipeline System, however
changes in refiners’ supply sources may negatively impact existing throughput on the Western Pipeline System. Crude oil purchasing and marketing competitive
factors include price and contract flexibility, quantity and quality of services, and accessibility to end markets.
Partnership’s Option to Purchase Pipelines from Sunoco
The Partnership owns most of the pipeline, terminalling, storage, and related assets that support Sunoco’s refinery operations. Sunoco owns a 10.0 percent
interest in Inland Corporation, which owns and operates a 611-mile refined products pipeline from Lima and Toledo, Ohio to Canton, Cleveland, Columbus, and
Dayton, Ohio. This pipeline transports refined products for Sunoco from its Toledo, Ohio refinery and for the other owners.
Sunoco has granted the Partnership a ten-year option, which expires in 2012, to purchase its interest in Inland Corporation for fair market value at the date
of purchase. Sunoco’s interests in Inland Corporation is subject to agreements with the other interest owners that include, among other things, consent
requirements and rights of first refusal that may be triggered upon certain transfers. The exercise of the options with respect to this asset is subject to the terms
and conditions of those agreements.
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Sunoco has also granted the Partnership a ten-year option, which expires in 2012, to purchase an idled 370-mile 6-inch refined product pipeline from
Icedale, Pennsylvania to Cleveland, Ohio for fair market value at the date of purchase.
Both of the ten-year option agreements discussed above are contained in the Omnibus Agreement that was entered into with Sunoco and the general
partner. See Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Agreements with Sunoco”.
Safety Regulation
A majority of the Partnership’s pipelines are subject to United States Department of Transportation (“DOT”) regulations and to regulation under
comparable state statutes relating to the design, installation, testing, construction, operation, replacement and management of pipeline facilities. In addition, the
Partnership must permit access to and copying of records and must prepare certain reports and provide information required by the Secretary of Transportation.
DOT regulations, adopted in December 2000, require operators of hazardous liquid interstate pipelines to develop and follow a program to assess the
integrity of all pipeline segments that could affect designated “high consequence areas”, including high population areas, drinking water and ecological resource
areas that are unusually sensitive to environmental damage from a pipeline release, and commercially navigable waterways. The Partnership has prepared its own
written Risk Based Integrity Management Program, identified the line segments that could impact high consequence areas and developed Baseline Assessment
Plans. Management expects that it will complete the full assessment of the remaining segments by March 31, 2008, the timeframe prescribed by the regulations.
Management of the Partnership believes that its pipeline operations are in substantial compliance with applicable DOT regulations and comparable state
requirements. However, an increase in expenditures may be needed in the future to comply with higher industry and regulatory safety standards. Such
expenditures cannot be estimated accurately at this time, but management of the Partnership does not believe they would likely have a material adverse effect
relative to its financial position.
Environmental Regulation
General
The Partnership’s operations are subject to complex federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to the protection of health and the environment,
including laws and regulations which govern the handling and release of crude oil and other liquid hydrocarbon materials, some of which are discussed below.
Violations of environmental laws or regulations can result in the imposition of significant administrative, civil and criminal fines and penalties and, in some
instances, injunctions banning or delaying certain activities. Management of the Partnership believes it is in substantial compliance with applicable environmental
laws and regulations. However, these laws and regulations are subject to frequent change at the federal, state and local levels, and the clear trend is to place
increasingly stringent limitations on activities that may affect the environment.
There are also risks of accidental releases into the environment associated with the Partnership’s operations, such as releases of crude oil or hazardous
substances from its pipelines or storage facilities. To the extent not insured, such accidental releases could subject the Partnership to substantial liabilities arising
from environmental cleanup and restoration costs, claims made by neighboring landowners and other third parties for personal injury and property damage, and
fines or penalties for any related violations of environmental laws or regulations.
In connection with the February 2002 IPO, and the contribution of pipeline and terminalling assets to the Partnership by affiliates of Sunoco, Inc., Sunoco
agreed to indemnify the Partnership for 100 percent of all losses from environmental liabilities related to the transferred assets arising prior to, and asserted within
21 years of,
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February 8, 2002. There is no monetary cap on this indemnification from Sunoco. Sunoco’s share of liability for claims asserted thereafter will decrease by 10
percent each year through the thirtieth year following the February 8, 2002 date. In addition, this indemnification applies to the interests in the Mesa Pipeline
system and the Mid-Valley Pipeline purchased from Sunoco following the IPO. Any remediation liabilities not covered by this indemnity will be the Partnership’s
responsibility. The Partnership has agreed to indemnify Sunoco and its affiliates for events and conditions associated with the operation of the transferred assets
occurring after February 8, 2002, and for environmental and toxic tort liabilities related to these assets to the extent Sunoco is not required to indemnify the
Partnership. Total future costs for environmental remediation activities will depend upon, among other things, the extent of impact at each site, the timing and
nature of required remedial actions, the technology available, and the determination of the Partnership’s liability at multi-party sites. As of December 31, 2007, all
material environmental liabilities incurred by, and known to, the Partnership are either covered by the environmental indemnification or reserved for by the
Partnership within its financial statements.
Air Emissions
The Partnership’s operations are subject to the Clean Air Act, as amended, and comparable state and local statutes. The Partnership will be required to incur
certain capital expenditures in the next several years for air pollution control equipment in connection with maintaining or obtaining permits and approvals
addressing air emission related issues. Although no assurances can be given, management of the Partnership believes implementation of the 1990 Clean Air Act
Amendments will not have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.
The Partnership’s customers, including Sunoco, are also subject to, and affected by, environmental regulations. As a result of these regulations, Sunoco
could be required to make significant capital expenditures, operate these refineries at reduced levels, and pay significant penalties. It is uncertain what Sunoco’s
responses to these emerging issues will be. Those responses could reduce Sunoco’s obligations under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput
agreement, thereby reducing the Partnership’s throughput in its pipelines and terminals, cash flow, and ability to make distributions or satisfy its debt obligations.
Hazardous Substances and Waste
In the course of ordinary operations, the Partnership may generate waste that falls within the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and
Liability Act’s, referred to as CERCLA and also known as Superfund, definition of a “hazardous substance” and, as a result, may be jointly and severally liable
under CERCLA for all or part of the costs required to clean up sites at which these hazardous substances have been released into the environment. Costs for any
such remedial actions, as well as any related claims, could have a material adverse effect on the Partnership’s maintenance capital expenditures and operating
expenses to the extent not all are covered by the indemnity from Sunoco. For more information, please see “Environmental Remediation”.
The Partnership also generates solid wastes, including hazardous wastes that are subject to the requirements of the Federal Resource Conservation and
Recovery Act, referred to as RCRA, and comparable state statutes. The Partnership is not currently required to comply with a substantial portion of the RCRA
requirements because its operations generate minimal quantities of hazardous wastes. However, it is possible that additional wastes, which could include wastes
currently generated during the Partnership’s operating activities, will in the future be designated as “hazardous wastes.” Hazardous wastes are subject to more
rigorous and costly disposal requirements than are non-hazardous wastes. Any changes in the regulations could have a material adverse effect on the Partnership’s
maintenance capital expenditures and operating expenses.
The Partnership currently owns or leases, and the Partnership’s predecessor has in the past owned or leased, properties where hydrocarbons are being or
have been handled for many years. These properties and wastes disposed thereon may be subject to CERCLA, RCRA, and analogous state laws. Under these
laws, the
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Partnership could be required to remove or remediate previously disposed wastes (including wastes disposed of or released by prior owners or operators), to clean
up contaminated property (including contaminated groundwater), or to perform remedial operations to prevent future contamination.
The Partnership has not been identified by any state or federal agency as a potentially responsible party in connection with the transport and/or disposal of
any waste products to third party disposal sites.
Water
The Partnership’s operations can result in the discharge of regulated substances, including crude oil. The Federal Water Pollution Control Act of 1972, also
known as the Clean Water Act, and analogous state laws impose restrictions and strict controls regarding the discharge of regulated substances into state waters or
waters of the United States.
The Oil Pollution Act subjects owners of covered facilities to strict, joint, and potentially unlimited liability for removal costs and other consequences of a
release of oil, where the release is into navigable waters, along shorelines or in the exclusive economic zone of the United States. Spill prevention control and
countermeasure requirements of the Clean Water Act and some state laws require diking and similar structures to help prevent the impact on navigable waters in
the event of a release. The Office of Pipeline Safety of the DOT, the EPA, or various state regulatory agencies have approved the Partnership’s oil spill emergency
response plans, and management of the Partnership believes it is in substantial compliance with these laws.
In addition, some states maintain groundwater protection programs that require permits for discharges or operations that may impact groundwater
conditions. Management of the Partnership believes that compliance with existing permits and compliance with foreseeable new permit requirements will not
have a material adverse effect on its financial condition or results of operations.
Environmental Remediation
Contamination resulting from releases of refined products and crude oil is not unusual within the petroleum pipeline industry. Historic releases along the
Partnership’s pipelines, gathering systems, and terminals as a result of past operations have resulted in impacts to the environment, including soils and
groundwater. Site conditions, including soils and groundwater, are being evaluated at a number of properties where operations may have resulted in releases of
hydrocarbons and other wastes. Sunoco has agreed to indemnify the Partnership from environmental and toxic tort liabilities related to the assets transferred to the
extent such liabilities existed or arose from operation of these assets prior to the closing of the February 2002 IPO and are asserted within 30 years after the
closing of the IPO. This indemnity will cover the costs associated with performance of the assessment, monitoring, and remediation programs, as well as any
related claims and penalties. See “Environmental Regulation—General.”
The Partnership has experienced several petroleum releases for which it is not covered by an indemnity from Sunoco, and for which it is responsible for
necessary assessment, remediation, and/or monitoring activities. Management of the Partnership estimates that the total aggregate cost of performing the currently
anticipated assessment, monitoring, and remediation activities at these sites is not material in relation to its financial position at December 31, 2007. The
Partnership has implemented an extensive inspection program to prevent releases of refined products or crude oil into the environment from its pipelines,
gathering systems, and terminals. Any damages and liabilities incurred due to future environmental releases from the Partnership’s assets have the potential to
substantially affect its business.
Rate Regulation
General Interstate Regulation. Interstate common carrier pipeline operations are subject to rate regulation by the FERC under the Interstate Commerce Act,
the Energy Policy Act of 1992, and rules and orders promulgated pursuant thereto. The Interstate Commerce Act requires that tariff rates for petroleum pipelines
be
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“just and reasonable” and not unduly discriminatory. This statute also permits interested persons to challenge proposed new or changed rates and authorizes the
FERC to suspend the effectiveness of such rates for up to seven months and to investigate such rates. If, upon completion of an investigation, the FERC finds that
the new or changed rate is unlawful, it is authorized to require the carrier to refund revenues in excess of the prior tariff during the term of the investigation. The
FERC also may investigate, upon complaint or on its own motion, rates that are already in effect and may order a carrier to change its rates prospectively. Upon
an appropriate showing, a shipper may obtain reparations for damages sustained for a period of up to two years prior to the filing of a complaint.
The FERC generally has not investigated interstate rates on its own initiative when those rates, like the Partnership’s, have not been the subject of a protest
or a complaint by a shipper. However, the FERC could investigate the Partnership’s rates at the urging of a third party if the third party is either a current shipper
or has a substantial economic interest in the tariff rate level. Although no assurance can be given that the tariffs charged by the Partnership ultimately will be
upheld if challenged, management believes that the tariffs now in effect for the Partnership’s pipelines are within the maximum rates allowed under current FERC
guidelines.
Sunoco and its subsidiaries are the only current shippers on several of the pipelines. Sunoco has agreed not to challenge, cause others to challenge, or assist
others in challenging, the tariff rates for the term of the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreement. It is possible that any new shippers, current
shippers, or other interested parties, may decide to challenge the tariff rates. If any rate challenge or challenges were successful, revenues, cash flows, and the
cash available for distribution could be materially reduced.
During 2006 and 2007, the Partnership was granted permission by the FERC to charge market-based rates in most of the refined products markets it serves.
In those markets where market-based rates were approved, the Partnership is able to establish rates as the Partnership determines what the market will support.
Intrastate Regulation. Some of the Partnership’s pipeline operations are subject to regulation by the Texas Railroad Commission, the Pennsylvania Public
Utility Commission, and the Oklahoma Corporation Commission. The operations of the Partnership’s joint venture interests are also subject to regulation in the
states in which they operate. The applicable state statutes require that pipeline rates be nondiscriminatory and provide no more than a fair return on the aggregate
value of the pipeline property used to render services. State commissions generally have not been aggressive in regulating common carrier pipelines or
investigating rates or practices of petroleum pipelines in the absence of shipper complaints. Complaints to state agencies have been infrequent and are usually
resolved informally. Although management cannot be certain that the Partnership’s intrastate rates ultimately would be upheld if challenged, it believes that, given
this history, the tariffs now in effect are not likely to be challenged or, if challenged, are not likely to be ordered to be reduced.
Title to Properties
Substantially all of the Partnership’s pipelines were constructed on rights-of-way granted by the apparent record owners of the property and in some
instances these rights-of-way are revocable at the election of the grantor. Several rights-of-way for the pipelines and other real property assets are shared with
other pipelines and other assets owned by affiliates of Sunoco and by third parties. In many instances, lands over which rights-of-way have been obtained are
subject to prior liens that have not been subordinated to the right-of-way grants. The Partnership has obtained permits from public authorities to cross over or
under, or to lay facilities in or along, watercourses, county roads, municipal streets, and state highways and, in some instances, these permits are revocable at the
election of the grantor. The Partnership has also obtained permits from railroad companies to cross over or under lands or rights-of-way, many of which are also
revocable at the grantor’s election. In some cases, property for pipeline purposes was purchased in fee. In some states and under some circumstances, the
Partnership has the right of eminent domain to acquire rights-of-way and lands necessary for the common carrier pipelines. The previous owners of the applicable
pipelines may not have commenced or concluded eminent domain proceedings for some rights-of-way.
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Some of the leases, easements, rights-of-way, permits, and licenses acquired by the Partnership or transferred to it upon the closing of the February 2002
IPO require the consent of the grantor to transfer these rights, which in some instances is a governmental entity. The Partnership has obtained or is in the process
of obtaining third-party consents, permits, and authorizations sufficient for the transfer of the assets necessary to operate the business in all material respects. In
management’s opinion, with respect to any consents, permits, or authorizations that have not been obtained, the failure to obtain them will not have a material
adverse effect on the operation of the business.
The Partnership has satisfactory title to all of the assets contributed to it in connection with the February 2002 IPO, or is entitled to indemnification from
Sunoco under the Omnibus Agreement for title defects to these assets and for failures to obtain certain consents and permits necessary to conduct its business that
arise within ten years after the closing of the February 2002 IPO. Record title to some of the assets may continue to be held by affiliates of Sunoco until the
Partnership has made the appropriate filings in the jurisdictions in which such assets are located and obtained any consents and approvals that were not obtained
prior to the closing of the February 2002 IPO. Although title to these properties is subject to encumbrances in some cases, such as customary interests generally
retained in connection with acquisition of real property, liens for environmental contamination, taxes and other burdens, easements, or other restrictions,
management believes that none of these burdens materially detract from the value of the properties or will materially interfere with their use in the operation of
the Partnership’s business.
Employees
To carry out the Partnership’s operations, the general partner and its affiliates employed approximately 1,150 people at December 31, 2007 who provide
direct support to the operations. Labor unions or associations represent approximately 600 of these employees at December 31, 2007. The general partner
considers its employee relations to be good. The Partnership has no employees.
(d) Financial Information about Geographical Areas
The Partnership has no significant amount of revenue or segment profit or loss attributable to international activities.
(e) Available Information
The Partnership makes available, free of charge on its website, www.sunocologistics.com, all materials that it files electronically with the Securities
Exchange Commission, including its annual report on Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current reports on Form 8-K and amendments to those reports
as soon as reasonably practicable after such materials are electronically filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.
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ITEM 1A.

RISK FACTORS

The risks below may not be the only risks we face. Additional risks that we do not yet know of or that we currently think are immaterial also may impair our
business operations. If any of the following risks actually occur, our business, results of operations, cash flows and financial condition could be affected
materially and adversely.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR BUSINESS
We may not be able to generate sufficient cash from operations to allow us to make the required payments to our debt holders or to pay quarterly
distributions.
The amount of cash we can distribute on our common units principally depends upon the cash we generate from our operations. This, to a certain extent, is
subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and other factors that are beyond our control. Because the cash we generate from
operations will fluctuate from quarter to quarter, we may not be able to pay all the applicable interest and principal obligations on our debt, or to pay quarterly
distributions.
In the future, we may not be able to generate sufficient cash flow from operations, realize currently anticipated operating improvements or borrow amounts
under our revolving credit facility sufficient to fund our liquidity needs. We may need to refinance all or a portion of our indebtedness on or before maturity. We
may not be able to refinance any of our indebtedness on or before maturity on commercially reasonable terms, or at all.
Our ability to pay quarterly distributions depends primarily on cash flow, including cash flow from financial reserves and working capital borrowings, and
not solely on profitability, which is affected by non-cash items. As a result, we may pay cash distributions during periods when we record net losses and may be
unable to pay cash distributions during periods when we record net income.
We depend upon Sunoco for a substantial portion of the crude oil and refined products transported on our pipelines and handled at our terminals, and our
crude oil sales.
For the year ended December 31, 2007, Sunoco accounted for approximately 62 percent of our Eastern Pipeline System total revenues, 65 percent of our
Terminal Facilities total revenues, and 21 percent of our Western Pipeline System total revenues. The balance of our revenues was received from third parties, and
we will continue to remain dependent on third parties for these additional revenues. Our pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreements with Sunoco
provide for escalation of the fees charged to Sunoco, but the increased fees may be inadequate to cover increased costs in the future. We expect to continue to
derive a substantial portion of our revenues from Sunoco for the foreseeable future. If for any reason, Sunoco were to decrease the throughput transported on our
pipelines, the volumes of crude oil or refined products handled at our terminals or the amounts of crude oil purchased from us, it could materially and adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
Sunoco’s obligations to us under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreements and other arrangements may be reduced or suspended in
some circumstances.
Sunoco’s obligations to us under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreements may be permanently reduced in some circumstances. These
events include:
•

the inability of Sunoco and us to agree on the amount of any surcharge required to be paid by Sunoco to cover substantial and unanticipated costs that
may be incurred in complying with new laws or governmental regulations applicable to our Terminal Facilities; and

•

a decision by Sunoco to shut down or reconfigure one or more of its refineries if Sunoco reasonably believes in good faith that such event will
jeopardize its ability to satisfy its minimum revenue or throughput obligations.
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Depending on the ultimate cost of complying with existing and future environmental regulations or proceedings, Sunoco may determine that it is more
economical to reduce production at a refinery or shut down all or a portion of a refinery rather than make these capital expenditures. Sunoco’s obligations to us
under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreements would be reduced in this event.
Furthermore, Sunoco’s obligations to us would be temporarily suspended during the occurrence of an event that is outside the control of the parties, which
renders performance impossible with respect to an asset for at least 30 days. The occurrence of any of these events could materially and adversely affect our
financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
Sunoco actively manages its assets and operations, and therefore, changes of some nature, possibly material to our business relationship, may occur at some
point in the future.
If Sunoco satisfies only its minimum obligations to us under, or if we are unable to renew or extend the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput
agreements, it could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
Sunoco may reduce the volume it transports on our pipelines or delivers at our terminals to the minimum amounts it is obligated to transport or deliver
under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreements. In addition, the terms of Sunoco’s remaining obligations to us under the pipelines and
terminals storage and throughput agreements entered into at the time of our initial public offering will expire in 2009. If Sunoco reduces its use of our facilities
after expiration of this agreement or any other storage and throughput agreements between us and Sunoco, or if the terms under a new agreement are materially
changed in a way that reduces revenues, and we are unable to generate additional revenues from third parties, it could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
If Sunoco underutilizes the Partnership’s refined product terminals or the Marcus Hook Tank Farm, it could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
Effective March 1, 2007 Sunoco has no minimum throughput obligations at the Partnership’s refined product terminals or the Marcus Hook Tank Farm.
Because these facilities are well situated to Sunoco’s refining and marketing supply chain needs, management of the Partnership would expect Sunoco to continue
to use the Partnership’s refined products terminals and Marcus Hook Tank Farm. However, there can be no assurance that Sunoco will continue to use the
Partnership’s terminals and Marcus Hook Tank Farm or that additional revenues can be generated from third parties, which could materially and adversely affect
our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows.
A sustained decrease in demand for refined products in the markets served by our pipelines and terminals could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
Factors that could lead to a sustained decrease in market demand for refined products include:
•

a recession or other adverse economic condition that results in lower purchases of refined petroleum products;

•

higher refined product prices due to an increase in the market price of crude oil, changes in economic conditions, or other factors;

•

higher fuel taxes or other governmental or regulatory actions that increase, directly or indirectly, the cost of gasoline or other refined products;

•

a shift by consumers to more fuel-efficient or alternative fuel vehicles or an increase in fuel economy, whether as a result of technological advances by
manufacturers, pending legislation proposing to mandate higher fuel economy, or otherwise; and

•

a temporary or permanent material increase in the price of refined products as compared to alternative sources of refined products available to our
customers.
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A material decrease in crude oil available for transport through our Western Pipeline System could materially and adversely affect our financial position,
results of operations, or cash flows.
The volume of crude oil transported in our crude oil pipelines depends on the availability of attractively priced crude oil produced in the areas accessible to
our crude oil pipelines and received from other common carrier pipelines. If we do not replace volume lost due to a material temporary or permanent decrease in
supply, the volume of crude oil transported through our pipelines would decline. In addition, sustained low crude oil prices could lead to a decline in drilling
activity and production levels or the shutting-in or abandonment of marginal wells. Similarly, a temporary or permanent material increase in the price of crude oil
supplied from any of these sources, as compared to alternative sources of crude oil available to our customers, could cause the volume of crude oil transported in
our pipelines to decline.
Any reduction in the capability of, or the allocations to, our shippers in interconnecting, third-party pipelines would cause a reduction of volumes transported
in our pipelines and through our terminals.
Sunoco and the other users of our pipelines and terminals are dependent upon connections to third-party pipelines to receive and deliver crude oil and
refined products. Any reduction of capabilities of these interconnecting pipelines due to testing, line repair, reduced operating pressures, or other causes would
result in reduced volumes transported in our pipelines or through our terminals. Similarly, if additional shippers begin transporting volume over interconnecting
pipelines, the allocations to our existing shippers could be reduced, which also would reduce volumes transported in our pipelines or through our terminals.
If we are unable to complete capital projects at their expected costs and/or in a timely manner, or if the market conditions assumed in our project economics
deteriorate, our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows could be affected materially and adversely.
Delays or cost increases related to capital spending programs involving construction of new facilities (or improvements and repairs to our existing
facilities) could adversely affect our ability to achieve forecasted internal rates of return and operating results. Delays in making required changes or upgrades to
our facilities could subject us to fines or penalties as well as affect our ability to supply certain products we make. Such delays or cost increases may arise as a
result of unpredictable factors in the marketplace, many of which are beyond our control, including:
•

denial or delay in issuing requisite regulatory approvals and/or permits;

•

unplanned increases in the cost of construction materials or labor;

•

disruptions in transportation of modular components and/or construction materials;

•

severe adverse weather conditions, natural disasters, or other events (such as equipment malfunctions explosions, fires, spills) affecting our facilities,
or those of vendors and suppliers;

•

shortages of sufficiently skilled labor, or labor disagreements resulting in unplanned work stoppages;

•

market-related increases in a project’s debt or equity financing costs; and/or

•

nonperformance by, or disputes with, vendors, suppliers, contractors, or sub-contractors involved with a project.

Our forecasted internal rates of return also are based upon our projections of future market fundamentals which are not within our control, including
changes in general economic conditions, available alternative supply and customer demand.
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Potential future acquisitions and expansions, if any, may increase substantially the level of our indebtedness and contingent liabilities, and we may be unable
to integrate them effectively into our existing operations.
From time to time, we evaluate and acquire assets and businesses that we believe complement or diversify our existing assets and businesses. Acquisitions
may require substantial capital or the incurrence of substantial indebtedness. If we consummate any future acquisitions, our capitalization and results of
operations may change significantly.
Acquisitions and business expansions involve numerous risks, including difficulties in the assimilation of the assets and operations of the acquired
businesses, inefficiencies and difficulties that arise because of unfamiliarity with new assets and the businesses associated with them and new geographic areas.
Further, unexpected costs and challenges may arise whenever businesses with different operations or management are combined and we may experience
unanticipated delays in realizing the benefits of an acquisition. In some cases, we have indemnified the previous owners and operators of acquired assets.
Following an acquisition, we may discover previously unknown liabilities associated with the acquired business for which we have no recourse under
applicable indemnification provisions. An acquisition may require us to assume certain prior known or unknown liabilities.
Our operations are subject to operational hazards and unforeseen interruptions for which we may not be adequately insured.
Our operations and those of our customers and suppliers may be subject to operational hazards and unforeseen interruptions such as natural disasters
(including hurricanes), adverse weather, accidents, fires, explosions, hazardous materials releases, and other events beyond our control. These events might result
in a loss of equipment or life, injury, or extensive property damage, as well as an interruption in our operations. We may not be able to maintain or obtain
insurance of the type and amount desired at reasonable rates. In some instances, certain insurance could become unavailable or available only for reduced
amounts of coverage. If we were to incur a significant liability for which we were not fully insured, it could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
We are exposed to the credit and other counterparty risk of our customers in the ordinary course of our business.
There can be no assurance that we have adequately assessed the credit worthiness of our existing or future counterparties or that there will not be an
unanticipated deterioration in their credit worthiness, which could have an adverse impact on us. In those cases in which we provide division order services for
crude oil purchased at the wellhead, we may be responsible for distribution of proceeds to all parties. In other cases, we pay all of or a portion of the production
proceeds to an operator who distributes these proceeds to the various interest owners. There can be no assurance that we will not experience material losses in
dealings with other parties.
Competition with respect to our operating segments could ultimately lead to lower levels of profits and could materially and adversely affect our financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
We face competition from other pipelines, terminals and crude oil marketers, as well as from other means of transporting, storing and distributing
petroleum products. Our customers demand delivery of products on tight time schedules and in a number of geographic markets. If our quality of service declines
or we cannot meet the demands of our customers, they may utilize the services of our competitors. If a competing crude oil or refined product pipeline or other
crude oil marketer charged lower rates than we do, we could be forced to reduce our rates to remain competitive.
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Mergers among our customers and competitors could result in lower volumes being shipped on our pipelines or products stored in or distributed through our
terminals, or reduced crude oil marketing margins or volumes.
Mergers between existing customers could provide strong economic incentives for the combined entities to utilize their existing systems instead of ours in
those markets where the systems compete. As a result, we could lose some or all of the volumes and associated revenues from these customers and we could
experience difficulty in replacing those lost volumes and revenues, which could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, or
cash flows.
Rate regulation may not allow us to recover the full amount of increases in our costs. A successful challenge to our rates could materially and adversely
affect our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
The primary rate-making methodology of the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission, or FERC, is price indexing. We use this methodology in many of
our interstate markets. In an order issued February 24, 2003, the FERC announced that, effective July 1, 2003, the index would equal the change in the producer
price index for finished goods (previously, the index was equal to the change in the producer price index for finished goods minus 1 percent). If the index falls, we
would be required to reduce rates that are based on the FERC’s price indexing methodology if they exceed the new maximum allowable rate. In addition, changes
in the index might not be large enough to fully reflect actual increases in our costs. The FERC’s rate-making methodologies may limit our ability to set rates
based on our true costs or may delay the use of rates that reflect increased costs.
Under the Energy Policy Act adopted in 1992, certain interstate pipeline rates were deemed just and reasonable or “grandfathered.” Most of our revenues
are derived from grandfathered rates on our FERC-regulated refined products pipelines. A person challenging a grandfathered rate must, as a threshold matter,
establish a substantial change since the date of enactment of the Act, in either the economic circumstances or the nature of the service that formed the basis for the
rate. If the FERC were to find a substantial change in circumstances, then the existing rates could be subject to detailed review. There is a risk that some rates
could be found to be in excess of levels justified by our cost of service. In such event, the FERC would order us to reduce rates prospectively and could order us
to pay reparations to complaining shippers. Reparations could be required for a period of up two years prior to the date of filing the complaint in the case of rates
that are not grandfathered and for the period starting with the filing of the complaint in the case of grandfathered rates.
In addition, a state commission could also investigate our intrastate rates or terms and conditions of service on its own initiative or at the urging of a
shipper or other interested party. If a state commission found that our rates exceeded levels justified by our cost of service, the state commission could order us to
reduce our rates.
Sunoco has agreed not to challenge, or to cause others to challenge or assist others in challenging, our tariff rates in effect during the term of the pipelines
and terminals storage and throughput agreement. This agreement does not prevent other current or future shippers from challenging our tariff rates. At the end of
the term of the agreement, Sunoco will be free to challenge, or to cause other parties to challenge or assist others in challenging, our tariff rates in effect at that
time.
Potential changes to current rate-making methods and procedures may impact the federal and state regulations under which we will operate in the future. In
addition, if the FERC’s petroleum pipeline ratemaking methodology changes, the new methodology could materially and adversely affect our financial condition,
results of operations, or cash flows.
Our operations are subject to federal, state, and local laws and regulations relating to environmental protection and operational safety that could require
substantial expenditures.
Our pipelines, gathering systems, and terminal operations are subject to increasingly strict environmental and safety laws and regulations. The
transportation and storage of refined products and crude oil result in a risk that refined products, crude oil, and other hydrocarbons may be suddenly or gradually
released into the
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environment, potentially causing substantial expenditures for a response action, significant government penalties, liability to government agencies for natural
resources damages, personal injury, or property damage to private parties and significant business interruption. We own or lease a number of properties that have
been used to store or distribute refined products and crude oil for many years. Many of these properties also have been previously owned or operated by third
parties whose handling, disposal, or release of hydrocarbons and other wastes were not under our control, and for which, in some cases, we have indemnified the
previous owners and operators.
Failure to comply with these laws and regulations may result in assessment of administrative, civil and criminal penalties, imposition of cleanup and site
restoration costs and liens and, to a lesser extent, issuance of injunctions to limit or cease operations. We may be unable to recover these costs through increased
revenues.
Our business is subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations that govern the product quality specifications of the petroleum products that we store
and transport.
The petroleum products that we store and transport are sold by our customers for consumption into the public market. Various federal, state and local
agencies have the authority to prescribe specific product quality specifications to commodities sold into the public market. Changes in product quality
specifications could reduce our throughput volume, require us to incur additional handling costs or require the expenditure of capital. In addition, different
product specifications for different markets impact the fungibility of the system and could require the construction of additional storage. We may be unable to
recover these costs through increased revenues.
Terrorist attacks aimed at our facilities could adversely affect our business.
Since the September 11, 2001 terrorist attacks, the U.S. government has issued warnings that energy assets, specifically the nation’s pipeline and terminal
infrastructure, may be the future targets of terrorist organizations. Any terrorist attack at our facilities, those of our customers and, in some cases, those of other
pipelines, refineries, or terminals could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
Due to our lack of asset diversification, adverse developments in our businesses could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows.
We rely exclusively on the revenues generated from our businesses, and dividends from our equity investments. Due to our lack of asset diversification, an
adverse development in one of these businesses could have a significantly greater impact on our financial condition and results of operations than if we
maintained more diverse assets.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR PARTNERSHIP STRUCTURE
Our general partner’s discretion in determining the level of cash reserves may adversely affect our ability to make cash distributions to our unitholders.
Our partnership agreement provides that our general partner may reduce operating surplus by establishing cash reserves to provide funds for our future
operating expenditures. In addition, the partnership agreement provides that our general partner may reduce available cash by establishing cash reserves for the
proper conduct of our business, to comply with applicable law or agreements to which we are a party or to provide funds for future distributions to our unitholders
in any one or more of the next four quarters. These cash reserves will affect the amount of cash available for current distribution to our unitholders.
Even if unitholders are dissatisfied, they cannot remove our general partner without its consent, which could lower the trading price of the common units.
Unlike the holders of common stock in a corporation, unitholders have only limited voting rights on matters affecting our business and, therefore, limited
ability to influence management’s decisions regarding our business. Unitholders did not elect our general partner or its board of directors and will have no right to
elect our general
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partner or its board of directors on an annual or other continuing basis. The board of directors of our general partner is chosen by the members of our general
partner, all of which are subsidiaries of Sunoco. Furthermore, if the unitholders are dissatisfied with the performance of our general partner, they will have little
ability to remove our general partner. As a result of these limitations, the price at which the common units trade could be diminished because of the absence or
reduction of a control premium in the trading price.
The partnership agreement also contains provisions limiting the ability of unitholders to call meetings or to acquire information about our operations, as
well as other provisions limiting the unitholders’ ability to influence the manner or direction of management.
The control of our general partner may be transferred to a third party without unitholder consent.
The general partner may transfer its general partner interest to a third party in a merger or in a sale of all or substantially all of its assets without the consent
of the unitholders. Furthermore, there is no restriction in the partnership agreement on the ability of the owner of the general partner from transferring its
ownership interest in the general partner to a third party. The new owner of the general partner would then be in a position to replace the board of directors and
officers of the general partner with its own choices.
Sunoco and its affiliates have conflicts of interest and limited fiduciary responsibilities, which may permit them to favor their own interests to the detriment of
our unitholders.
Sunoco indirectly owns and controls our general partner, which holds the 2 percent general partner interest and holds a 42.2 percent limited partner interest
in us. Conflicts of interest may arise between Sunoco and its affiliates, including our general partner, on the one hand, and us and our unitholders, on the other
hand. As a result of these conflicts, the general partner may favor its own interests and the interests of its affiliates over the interests of our unitholders. These
conflicts include, among others, the following situations:
•

Sunoco, as a shipper on our pipelines, and a customer at our terminals, could seek lower tariff rates or terminalling fees, once the terms of Sunoco’s
obligations under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreements expire in 2009, or could determine not to utilize our facilities;

•

neither our partnership agreement nor any other agreement requires Sunoco to pursue a business strategy that favors us or utilizes our assets, including
whether to increase or decrease refinery production, whether to shut down or reconfigure a refinery, or what markets to pursue or grow. Sunoco’s
directors and officers have a fiduciary duty to make these decisions in the best interests of the shareholders of Sunoco;

•

our general partner is allowed to take into account the interests of parties other than us, such as Sunoco, in resolving conflicts of interest;

•

under our partnership agreement, our general partner has limited liability and restricted fiduciary duties with respect to actions that, without these
limitations and restrictions, might otherwise constitute breaches of fiduciary duty;

•

under our partnership agreement, the remedies available to our unitholders with respect to conduct by our general partner that may constitute a breach
of fiduciary duty have been limited;

•

our general partner determines the amount and timing of asset purchases and sales, capital expenditures, borrowings, issuance of additional partnership
securities, and reserves, each of which can affect the amount of cash available for distribution to our unitholders;

•

our general partner determines which costs incurred by Sunoco and its affiliates are reimbursable by us;

•

our partnership agreement does not restrict our general partner from causing us to pay it or its affiliates for any services rendered or from entering into
additional contractual arrangements with any of these entities on our behalf, so long as the terms of any additional contractual arrangements are fair
and reasonable to us; and

•

our general partner controls the enforcement of obligations owed to us by our general partner and its affiliates, including the pipelines and terminals
storage and throughput agreements with Sunoco.
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We are a holding company. We conduct our operations through our subsidiaries and depend on cash flow from our subsidiaries to service our debt
obligations.
We are a holding company. We conduct our operations through our subsidiaries. As a result, our cash flow and ability to service our debt is dependent upon
the earnings of our subsidiaries. In addition, we are dependent on the distribution of earnings, loans or other payments from our subsidiaries to us. Any payment
of dividends, distributions, loans or other payments from our subsidiaries to us could be subject to statutory or contractual restrictions. Payments to us by our
subsidiaries also will be contingent upon the profitability of our subsidiaries. If we are unable to obtain funds from our subsidiaries we may not be able to pay
interest or principal on our debt securities when due or to obtain the necessary funds from other sources.
Our general partner may cause us to borrow funds in order to make cash distributions, even where the purpose or effect of the borrowing benefits the general
partner or its affiliates.
In some instances, our general partner may cause us to borrow funds from affiliates of Sunoco or from third parties in order to permit the payment of cash
distributions.
Our general partner has a limited call right that may require our unitholders to sell their common units at an undesirable time or price.
If at any time our general partner and its affiliates own more than 80 percent of the common units, our general partner will have the right, but not the
obligation, which it may assign to any of its affiliates or to us, to acquire all, but not less than all, of the common units held by unaffiliated persons at a price not
less than their then-current market price. As a result, unitholders may be required to sell their common units at an undesirable time or price, may not receive a
return on the investment, and may incur a tax liability upon the sale.
We may issue additional common units without unitholder approval, which would dilute our unitholders’ ownership interests.
The Partnership may issue an unlimited number of limited partner interests of any type without the approval of our unitholders. Our partnership agreement
does not give our unitholders the right to approve our issuance of equity securities ranking junior to the common units at any time. The issuance of additional
common units, or other equity securities of equal or senior rank, will decrease the proportionate ownership interest of existing unitholders and may reduce the
amount of cash available for distribution and/or the market price of our common units.
Sunoco and its affiliates may engage in limited competition with us.
Sunoco and its affiliates may engage in limited competition with us. Pursuant to the Omnibus Agreement, Sunoco and its affiliates have agreed not to
engage in the business of purchasing crude oil at the wellhead or operating refined product or crude oil pipelines or terminals or LPG terminals in the continental
United States. The Omnibus Agreement, however, does not apply to:
•

any business operated by Sunoco or any of its subsidiaries at the closing of our initial public offering;

•

any logistics asset constructed by Sunoco or any of its subsidiaries within a manufacturing or refining facility in connection with the operation of that
facility;

•

any business that Sunoco or any of its subsidiaries acquires or constructs that has a fair market value of less than $5.0 million; and

•

any business that Sunoco or any of its subsidiaries acquires or constructs that has a fair market value of $5.0 million or more if we have been offered
the opportunity to purchase the business for fair market value, and we decline to do so with the concurrence of our conflicts committee.
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Upon a change of control of Sunoco or a sale of the general partner by Sunoco, the non-competition provisions of the Omnibus Agreement may terminate.
A unitholder may not have limited liability if a state or federal court finds that we are not in compliance with the applicable statutes or that unitholder action
constitutes control of our business.
The limitations on the liability of holders of limited partner interests for the obligations of a limited partnership have not been clearly established in some
states. A unitholder could be held liable in some circumstances for our obligations to the same extent as a general partner if a state or federal court determined
that:
•

we had been conducting business in any state without complying with the applicable limited partnership statute; or

•

the right or the exercise of the right by the unitholders as a group to remove or replace our general partner, to approve some amendments to the
partnership agreement, or to take other action under the partnership agreement constituted participation in the “control” of our business.

Under applicable state law, our general partner has unlimited liability for our obligations, including our debts and environmental liabilities, if any, except
for our contractual obligations that are expressly made without recourse to our general partner.
In addition, Section 17-607 of the Delaware Revised Uniform Limited Partnership Act provides that under some circumstances a unitholder may be liable
to us for the amount of a distribution for a period of three years from the date of the distribution.
RISKS RELATED TO OUR DEBT
Restrictions in our debt agreements and in Sunoco’s debt agreements may prevent us from engaging in some beneficial transactions or paying distributions to
unitholders.
As of December 31, 2007, our total outstanding long-term indebtedness was approximately $515.1 million. Our payment of principal and interest on the
debt will reduce the cash available for distribution on our units, as will our obligation to repurchase the senior notes upon the occurrence of specified events
involving a change in control of our general partner. In addition, we are prohibited by our credit facility and the senior notes from making cash distributions
during an event of default, or if the payment of a distribution would cause an event of default, under any of our debt agreements. The termination of our pipelines
and terminals storage and throughput agreements with Sunoco would constitute an event of default under our credit facility. Our leverage and various limitations
in our credit facility and our senior notes may reduce our ability to incur additional debt, engage in some transactions, and capitalize on acquisition or other
business opportunities. Since Sunoco owns and controls our general partner, we are not permitted to incur additional debt if the effect would be to cause an event
of default under Sunoco’s revolving credit agreements. Similarly a default by Sunoco on its debt agreement could cause a default under our debt agreements. Any
subsequent refinancing of Sunoco’s or our current debt or any new debt could have similar or greater restrictions.
We could incur a substantial amount of debt in the future, which could prevent us from fulfilling our debt obligations.
We are permitted to incur additional debt, subject to certain limitations under our revolving credit facility and, in the case of secured debt, under the
indenture governing the notes. If we incur additional debt in the future, our increased leverage could, for example:
•

make it more difficult for us to satisfy our obligations under our debt securities or other indebtedness and, if we fail to comply with the requirements of
the other indebtedness, could result in an event of default under our debt securities or such other indebtedness;
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•

require us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to required payments on indebtedness, thereby reducing the availability of
cash flow from working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate activities;

•

limit our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capital, capital expenditures and other general corporate activities;

•

limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business and the industry in which we operate;

•

detract from our ability to successfully withstand a downturn in our business or the economy generally; and

•

place us at a competitive disadvantage against less leveraged competitors.

Rising short-term interest rates could increase our financing costs and reduce the amount of cash we generate.
As of December 31, 2007, we had $91.0 million of floating-rate debt. As a result, we have exposure to changes in short-term interest rates. Rising shortterm rates could materially and adversely affect our financial condition, results of operations, or cash flows.
A down-grading in Sunoco’s credit rating could result in a down-grading in our credit rating, which could adversely affect our ability to obtain financing.
Due to our relationship with Sunoco, our credit rating is partly dependent on Sunoco’s credit rating. Any down-grading in Sunoco’s credit rating could
result in a down-grading in our credit rating, which could, among other things, limit our ability to obtain financing on the terms currently available to us, if at all.
TAX RISKS TO OUR COMMON UNIT HOLDERS
Our tax treatment depends on our status as a partnership for federal income tax purposes, as well as our not being subject to entity level taxation by
individual states. If the Internal Revenue Service, or IRS, treats us as a corporation or we become subject to entity level taxation for state tax purposes, it
would substantially reduce the amount of cash available for distribution to unitholders.
The anticipated after-tax economic benefit of an investment in the common units depends largely on our being treated as a partnership for federal income
tax purposes. We have not requested, and do not plan to request, a ruling from the IRS on this matter. The IRS may adopt positions that differ from the ones we
take. A successful IRS contest of the federal income tax positions we take may impact adversely the market for our common units, and the costs of any IRS
contest will reduce our cash available for distribution to unitholders.
If we were treated as a corporation for federal income tax purposes, we would pay federal income tax at the corporate tax rate, and likely would pay state
income tax at varying rates. Distributions to unitholders generally would be taxed again as corporate distributions. Treatment of us as a corporation would result
in a material reduction in anticipated cash flow and after-tax return to unitholders. Current law may change so as to cause us to be treated as a corporation for
federal income tax purposes or to otherwise subject us to entity-level taxation. States are evaluating ways to subject partnerships to entity level taxation through
the imposition of state income, franchise and other forms of taxation. If any of these states were to impose a tax on us, the cash available for distribution to
unitholders would be reduced. The partnership agreement provides that, if a law is enacted or existing law is modified or interpreted in a manner that subjects us
to taxation as a corporation or otherwise subjects us to entity-level taxation for federal, state, or local income tax purposes, the minimum quarterly distribution
amount and the target distribution amounts will be adjusted to reflect the impact of that law on us.
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The sale or exchange of 50 percent or more of our capital and profit interests during any twelve-month period will result in our termination as a partnership
for federal income tax purposes.
Our partnership will be considered to have terminated for federal income tax purposes if there is a sale or exchange of 50 percent or more of the total
interests in our capital and profits within a twelve-month period. Our termination would, among other things, result in the closing of our taxable year for all of our
unitholders and could result in a deferral of depreciation deductions allowable in computing our taxable income.
Our unitholders may be required to pay taxes on their share of our income even if they do not receive any cash distributions from us.
Because our unitholders will be treated as partners to whom we will allocate taxable income which could be different in amount than the cash we distribute,
our unitholders will be required to pay any federal income taxes and, in some cases, state and local income taxes on their share of our taxable income even if they
receive no cash distributions from us. Our unitholders may not receive cash distributions from us equal to their share of our taxable income or even equal to the
actual tax liability that result from that income.
Tax gain or loss on disposition of our limited partner units could be more or less than expected.
If our unitholders sell their limited partner units, they will recognize a gain or loss equal to the difference between the amount realized and their tax basis in
those limited partner units. Prior distributions to our unitholders in excess of the total net taxable income the unitholder was allocated for a unit, which decreased
their tax basis in that unit, will, in effect, become taxable income to our unitholders if the limited partner unit is sold at a price greater than their tax basis in that
limited partner unit, even if the price they receive is less than their original cost. A substantial portion of the amount realized, whether or not representing gain,
may be ordinary income. In addition, if our unitholders sell their units, they may incur a tax liability in excess of the amount of cash received from the sale.
Tax-exempt entities and foreign persons face unique tax issues from owning our common units that may result in adverse tax consequences to them.
Investment in common units by tax-exempt entities, such as individual retirement accounts (IRAs), and non-U.S. persons raises issues unique to them. For
example, virtually all of our income allocated to organizations that are exempt from federal income tax, including individual retirement accounts and other
retirement plans, will be unrelated business taxable income and will be taxable to them. Distributions to non-U.S. persons will be reduced by withholding taxes at
the highest applicable effective tax rate, and non-U.S. persons will be required to file United States federal tax returns and pay tax on their share of our taxable
income.
Our unitholders will likely be subject to state and local taxes and return filing requirements in states where they do not live as a result of investing in our
limited partner units.
In addition to federal income taxes, our unitholders will likely be subject to other taxes, including state and local taxes, unincorporated business taxes and
estate, inheritance or intangible taxes that are imposed by the various jurisdictions in which we do business or own property, even if they do not live in any of
those jurisdictions. Our unitholders will likely be required to file state and local income tax returns and pay state and local income taxes in some or all of these
various jurisdictions. Further, our unitholders may be subject to penalties for failure to comply with those requirements. We currently own assets and conduct
business in 12 states, most of which impose a personal income tax. As we make acquisitions or expand our business, we may own assets or conduct business in
additional states that impose a personal income tax. It is our unitholders’ responsibility to file all United States federal, state and local tax returns.
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ITEM 1B. UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
ITEM 2. PROPERTIES
See Item 1. (c) for a description of the locations and general character of the Partnership’s material properties.
ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS
Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P. (“SPMT”), which is wholly owned by the Partnership, has received a proposed penalty assessment from the
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) in the aggregate amount of $5.1 million based on a failure to timely file excise tax information returns relating to its terminal
operations during the calendar years 2004 and 2005. SPMT became current on its information return filings with the IRS in July of 2006. SPMT believes it had
reasonable cause for the failure to not file the information returns on a timely basis, and provided this information to the IRS on October 19, 2007 in a formal
filing. SPMT is currently awaiting a response from the IRS. The proposed penalties are for the failure to file information returns rather than any failure to pay
taxes due, as no taxes were owed by SPMT in connection with such information. The timing or outcome of this claim, and the total costs to be incurred by SPMT
in connection therewith, cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
Additionally, we have received notices for violations and potential fines under various federal, state or local provisions relating to the discharge of materials
into the environment or protection of the environment. While we believe that even if any one or more of the environmental proceedings listed below were decided
against us, it would not be material to the Partnership’s financial position, we are required to report environmental proceedings if we reasonably believe that such
proceedings will result in monetary sanctions in excess of $0.1 million.
In January 2007, the Pipeline Hazardous Materials Safety Administration proposed penalties totaling $0.2 million based on alleged violations of various
pipeline safety requirements relating to our meter facilities in the Western Pipeline System. In November 2007, we received notice of administrative fines from
the Delaware County Regional Water Control Authority totaling approximately $0.3 million relating to alleged non-compliance with monthly average arsenic
limits. We are currently in discussions with the government agencies to resolve these matters.
There are certain legal and administrative proceedings arising prior to the February 2002 IPO pending against the Partnership’s Sunoco-affiliated
predecessors and the Partnership (as successor to certain liabilities of those predecessors). Although the ultimate outcome of these proceedings cannot be
ascertained at this time, it is reasonably possible that some of them may be resolved unfavorably. Sunoco has agreed to indemnify the Partnership for 100 percent
of all losses from environmental liabilities related to the transferred assets arising prior to, and asserted within 21 years of February 8, 2002. There is no monetary
cap on this indemnification from Sunoco. Sunoco’s share of liability for claims asserted thereafter will decrease by 10 percent each year through the thirtieth year
following the February 8, 2002 date. Any remediation liabilities not covered by this indemnity will be the Partnership’s responsibility. In addition Sunoco is
obligated to indemnify the Partnership under certain other agreements executed after the February 2002 IPO.
There are certain other pending legal proceedings related to matters arising after the February 2002 IPO that are not indemnified by Sunoco. Management
believes that any liabilities that may arise from these legal proceedings will not be material to the Partnership’s financial position at December 31, 2007.
ITEM 4. SUBMISSION OF MATTERS TO A VOTE OF SECURITYHOLDERS
None.
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PART II
ITEM 5.

MARKET FOR REGISTRANT’S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED SECURITYHOLDER MATTERS AND PURCHASES OF EQUITY
SECURITIES

The Partnership’s common units were listed on the New York Stock Exchange under the symbol “SXL” beginning on February 5, 2002. Prior to
February 5, 2002, the Partnership’s equity securities were not traded on any public trading market. At the close of business on February 25, 2008, there were 89
holders of record of the Partnership’s common units. These holders of record included the general partner with 12,063,734 common units registered in its name,
and Cede & Co. with 16,505,564 common units registered to it.
The high and low closing sales price ranges (composite transactions) and distributions declared by quarter for 2006 and 2007 were as follows:
2006
Unit Price
Quarter

1st
2nd
3rd
4th
(1)

High

Low

$43.47
$44.00
$45.26
$50.88

$ 39.95
$ 39.60
$ 40.75
$ 43.84

2007
Declared
Distributions(1)

$
$
$
$

0.7500
0.7750
0.7875
0.8125

Unit Price
High

Low

$ 59.24
$ 62.84
$ 62.98
$ 58.81

$ 49.68
$ 55.54
$ 48.92
$ 48.69

Declared
Distributions(1)

$
$
$
$

0.8250
0.8375
0.8500
0.8700

Distributions were declared and paid within 45 days following the close of each quarter.

Within 45 days after the end of each quarter, the Partnership distributes all cash on hand at the end of the quarter less reserves established by the general
partner in its discretion. This is defined as “available cash” in the partnership agreement. The general partner has broad discretion to establish cash reserves that it
determines are necessary or appropriate to properly conduct the Partnership’s business. The Partnership will make minimum quarterly distributions of $0.45 per
common unit, to the extent there is sufficient cash from operations after establishment of cash reserves and payment of fees and expenses, including payments to
the general partner.
The Partnership issued 11,383,639 subordinated units to its general partner in connection with the initial public offering in February 2002. These
subordinated units were convertible to common units on a one-for-one basis provided the Partnership met applicable financial tests set forth in the Partnership
Agreement. Once converted, subordinated units are no longer subordinated to the rights of the holders of common units. The Partnership met the minimum
quarterly distribution requirements on all outstanding units for each of the four-quarter periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. As a result, the subordinated
units converted to common units during 2005 through 2007.
The Partnership will, in general, pay cash distributions each quarter in the following manner:
Percentage of Distributions
Unitholders
General Partner

Quarterly Cash Distribution Amount per Unit

Up to minimum quarterly distribution ($0.45 per Unit)
Above $0.45 per Unit up to $0.50 per Unit
Above $0.50 per Unit up to $0.575 per Unit
Above $0.575 per Unit up to $0.70 per Unit
Above $0.70 per Unit

98%
98%
85%
75%
50%

2%
2%
15%
25%
50%

If cash distributions exceed $0.50 per unit in a quarter, the general partner will receive increasing percentages, up to 50 percent, of the cash distributed in
excess of that amount. These distributions are referred to as “incentive distributions”. The amounts shown in the table under “Percentage of Distributions” are the
percentage interests of the general partner and the unitholders in any available cash from operating surplus that is
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distributed up to and including the corresponding amount in the column “Quarterly Cash Distribution Amount per Unit,” until the available cash that is distributed
reaches the next target distribution level, if any. The percentage interests shown for the unitholders and the general partner for the minimum quarterly distribution
are also applicable to quarterly distribution amounts that are less than the minimum quarterly distribution.
There is no guarantee that the Partnership will pay the minimum quarterly distribution on the common units in any quarter, and the Partnership is
prohibited from making any distributions to unitholders if it would cause an event of default, or an event of default is existing, under the credit facility or the
senior notes (Please see Item 7. “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Liquidity and Capital Resources”).
For equity compensation plan information, see Item 12. “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Securityholder
Information”.
ITEM 6.

SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA

For the periods presented, Sunoco was the primary or exclusive user of the refined product terminals, the Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex, and the Marcus
Hook Tank Farm.
Maintenance capital expenditures are capital expenditures made to replace partially or fully depreciated assets in order to maintain the existing operating
capacity of the assets and to extend their useful lives. Expansion capital expenditures are capital expenditures made to expand the existing operating capacity of
the assets, whether through construction or acquisition. The Partnership treats repair and maintenance expenditures that do not extend the useful life of existing
assets as operating expenses as incurred.
Throughput is the total number of barrels per day (“bpd”) transported on a pipeline system or through a terminal. Total shipments represent the total
average daily pipeline throughput multiplied by the number of miles of pipeline through which each barrel has been shipped. Management of the Partnership
believes that total shipments is a better performance indicator for the Eastern Pipeline System than throughput as certain refined product pipelines such as transfer
pipelines, transport large volumes over short distances and generate minimal revenues.
The following table should be read together with, and is qualified in its entirety by reference to, the financial statements and the accompanying notes of
Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data”. The table also should be read together with Item 7.
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”.
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SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
Year Ended December 31,
2004(2)
2005(3)
2006(4)
(in thousands, except per unit and operating data)

2003(1)

Income Statement Data:
Revenues:
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Other income(6)
Total revenues
Costs and expenses:
Cost of products sold and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Net interest cost and debt expense
Income before income tax expense
Income tax expense
Net Income

2007(5)

$1,383,090
1,274,383
16,730
2,674,203

$1,751,612
1,699,673
13,932
3,465,217

$1,986,019
2,496,593
14,295
4,496,907

$1,842,634
3,994,601
17,315
5,854,550

$1,682,042
5,695,413
28,381
7,405,836

2,519,160
27,157
48,412
2,594,729
79,474
20,040
59,434
—
$ 59,434

3,307,480
31,933
48,449
3,387,862
77,355
20,324
57,031
—
$ 57,031

4,326,713
33,838
53,048
4,413,599
83,308
21,599
61,709
—
$ 61,709

5,644,021
36,649
55,686
5,736,356
118,194
27,853
90,341
—
$ 90,341

7,156,142
37,341
56,198
7,249,681
156,155
35,280
120,875
—
$ 120,875

Net Income per limited partner unit:
Basic
Diluted

$
$

2.55
2.53

$
$

2.29
2.27

$
$

2.37
2.35

$
$

2.87
2.85

$
$

3.38
3.37

Cash distributions per unit to limited partners:(7)
Paid

$

1.99

$

2.32

$

2.56

$

3.03

$

3.33

$

2.05

$

2.40

$

2.65

$

3.13

$

3.38

Declared
Cash Flow Data:
Net cash provided by operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Capital expenditures:
Maintenance
Expansion
Total capital expenditures
EBITDA(8)
Distributable Cash Flow(8)

$ 97,212
$ (39,008)
$ (41,963)

$ 106,622
$ (95,583)
$ (8,460)

$ 90,835
$ (180,654)
$ 58,804

$ 141,480
$ (241,220)
$ 87,507

$ 207,499
$ (119,351)
$ (95,560)

$

$

$

31,194
149,460(3)
$ 180,654

$

29,872
209,135(4)
$ 239,007

$

$ 117,146
$ 72,378

$ 154,843
$ 102,844

$ 193,496
$ 134,467

$

30,850
10,226(1)
41,076

$ 106,631
$ 61,055
35

$

30,829
64,754(2)
95,583

$ 109,288
$ 65,182

24,946
94,666(5)
$ 119,612
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2003(1)

Balance Sheet Data (at period end):
Net properties, plants and equipment
Total assets
Total debt
Total Partners’ Capital
Operating Data (bpd):
Eastern Pipeline System total shipments (in thousands of barrel
miles per day)(9)
Terminal Facilities throughput (bpd)
Western Pipeline System throughput(9) (bpd)
Crude oil purchases at wellhead (bpd)
(1)
(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)
(6)

(7)

Year Ended December 31,
2004(2)
2005(3)
2006(4)
(in thousands, except per unit and operating data)

2007(5)

$ 583,164
$ 1,181,006
$ 313,136
$ 403,758

$ 647,200
$ 1,368,786
$ 313,305
$ 460,594

$ 814,836
$ 1,680,685
$ 355,573
$
523,411

$ 1,006,668
$ 2,082,077
$ 491,910
$
582,911

$ 1,089,262
$ 2,504,642
$
515,104
$
591,045

55,324
1,204,394
304,471
193,176

59,173
1,464,254
298,797
186,827

56,907
1,549,427
356,129
186,224

61,764
1,541,470
526,014
191,644

65,737
1,636,977
527,491
177,981

On September 30, 2003, the Partnership acquired an additional 3.1 percent ownership interest in West Shore for approximately $3.7 million. The purchase
price for this acquisition is included within the 2003 expansion capital expenditures.
During the year ended December 31, 2004, the Partnership completed the following acquisitions: the Eagle Point logistics assets were purchased for
approximately $20.0 million on March 30, 2004; two refined product terminals located in Baltimore, Maryland and Manassas, Virginia were purchased for
$12.0 million on April 28, 2004; an additional 33.3 percent undivided interest in the Harbor pipeline was acquired on June 28, 2004 for approximately $7.3
million; and a refined product terminal located in Columbus, Ohio was purchased for approximately $8.0 million on November 30, 2004. The aggregate
purchase price for these acquisitions is included within the 2004 expansion capital expenditures.
Expansion capital expenditures in 2005 includes approximately $100.0 million related to the August 1, 2005 acquisition of the Corsicana to Wichita Falls,
Texas crude oil pipeline system and storage facilities, and approximately $5.5 million related to the December 2005 acquisition of an undivided joint
interest in the Mesa Pipe Line. The total purchase price of the Mesa interest was approximately $6.6 million, however since a portion of the interest was
acquired from a related party, it was recorded by the Partnership at Sunoco’s historical cost and the $1.1 million difference between the purchase price and
the cost basis of the assets was recorded by the Partnership as a capital distribution.
Expansion capital expenditures in 2006 includes approximately $40.9 million related to the March 1, 2006 acquisition of the Millennium and Kilgore crude
oil pipeline system, approximately $68.0 million related to the March 1, 2006 acquisition of the Amdel and White Oil crude oil pipeline system and
approximately $12.5 million related to the August 18, 2006 acquisition of a 55.3 percent equity interest in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company. The total
purchase price of Mid-Valley was approximately $65.0 million, however since a portion of the interest was acquired from a related party, it was recorded by
the Partnership at Sunoco’s historical cost and the $52.5 million difference between the purchase price and the cost basis of the assets was recorded by the
Partnership as a capital distribution.
Expansion capital expenditures in 2007 include approximately $13.4 million related to the June 1, 2007 acquisition of the Syracuse Terminal.
Includes equity income from the investments in the following joint ventures: Explorer Pipeline Company, Wolverine Pipe Line Company, West Shore Pipe
Line Company, Yellowstone Pipe Line Company, West Texas Gulf Pipe Line Company, and Mid-Valley Pipeline Company. Equity income from these
investments has been included based on the Partnership’s respective ownership percentages of each, and from the dates of acquisition forward.
Cash distributions paid per unit to limited partners represent payments made per unit during the period stated. Cash distributions declared per unit to limited
partners represent distributions declared per unit for
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(8)

the quarters within the period stated. Declared distributions were paid within 45 days following the close of each quarter.
EBITDA and distributable cash flow provides additional information for evaluating the Partnership’s ability to make distributions to its unitholders and the
general partner. The following table reconciles the difference between net income, as determined under United States generally accepted accounting
principles, and EBITDA and distributable cash flow (in thousands):

Net income
Interest paid to affiliates
Capitalized interest
Interest expense
Interest income
Depreciation and amortization
EBITDA
Interest expense, net
Maintenance capital expenditures
Sunoco reimbursements
Distributable cash flow

(9)

2003

2004

Year Ended December 31,
2005

2006

2007

$ 59,434
15
(493)
20,981
(463)
27,157
106,631
(20,040)
(30,850)
5,314
$ 61,055

$ 57,031
439
—
20,476
(591)
31,933
109,288
(20,324)
(30,829)
7,047
$ 65,182

$ 61,709
468
(480)
21,999
(388)
33,838
117,146
(21,599)
(31,194)
8,025
$ 72,378

$ 90,341
1,411
(3,005)
30,392
(945)
36,649
154,843
(27,853)
(29,872)
5,726
$102,844

$120,875
2,287
(3,419)
36,723
(311)
37,341
193,496
(35,280)
(24,946)
1,197
$134,467

Management of the Partnership believes EBITDA and distributable cash flow information enhances an investor’s understanding of a business’s ability to
generate cash for payment of distributions and other purposes. In addition, EBITDA is also used as a measure in determining the Partnership’s compliance
with certain revolving credit facility covenants. However, there may be contractual, legal, economic or other reasons which may prevent the Partnership
from satisfying principal and interest obligations with respect to indebtedness and may require the Partnership to allocate funds for other purposes.
EBITDA and distributable cash flow do not represent and should not be considered alternatives to net income or cash flows from operating activities as
determined under United States generally accepted accounting principles and may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures of other businesses.
Excludes amounts attributable to the equity ownership interests in corporate joint ventures.

ITEM 7.

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

The following discussion should be read in conjunction with the financial statements of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. Among other things, those financial
statements include more detailed information regarding the basis of presentation for the following information.
Overview
The Partnership is a Delaware limited partnership formed on October 15, 2001 to acquire, own, and operate, a geographically diverse portfolio of
complementary pipeline, terminalling, and crude oil acquisition and marketing assets.
The Partnership is engaged in the transport, terminalling, and storage of refined products and crude oil and in the purchase and sale of crude oil in 12 states
located in the Northeast, Midwest and Southwest United States. Revenues are generated by charging tariffs for transporting refined products, crude oil and other
hydrocarbons through the Partnership’s pipelines as well as by charging fees for storing refined products, crude oil and other hydrocarbons in, and for providing
other services at, its terminals. Revenues are also generated by purchasing domestic crude oil and selling it to Sunoco and other customers. Generally, as the
Partnership purchases crude oil it simultaneously enters into corresponding sale transactions involving physical deliveries of crude oil, which enables it to secure
a profit on the transaction at the time of purchase.
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Strategic Actions
The Partnership’s primary business strategies are to generate stable cash flows, increase pipeline and terminal throughput, pursue strategic and accretive
acquisitions that complement the Partnership’s existing asset base, improve operating efficiencies, and increase its cash distributions to unitholders. As part of its
strategy, the Partnership has undertaken several strategic initiatives, including:
2007 Acquisition
•

Syracuse Terminal Acquisition. On June 1, 2007, the Partnership purchased a 50 percent undivided interest in a refined products terminal located in
Syracuse, New York from Mobil Pipe Line Company, an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation for approximately $13.4 million. Total terminal storage
capacity is approximately 550,000 barrels.

2006 Acquisitions
•

Mid-Valley Pipeline Acquisition. On August 18, 2006, the Partnership purchased from Sunoco a 100 percent interest in Sun Pipe Line Company of
Delaware LLC, the owner of a 55.3 percent equity interest (50 percent voting interest) in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company (“Mid-Valley”) for $65
million, subject to certain adjustments five years following the date of closing, based on throughput of Sunoco. Mid-Valley owns a 994-mile pipeline,
which originates in Longview, Texas and terminates in Samaria, Michigan, and has operating capacity of approximately 238,000 bpd and 4.2 million
barrels of shell storage capacity. Mid-Valley provides crude oil to a number of refineries, primarily in the Midwest United States.

•

Millenium and Kilgore Pipeline Acquisition. On March 1, 2006, the Partnership purchased a Texas crude oil pipeline system from affiliates of Black
Hills Energy, Inc. for approximately $40.9 million. The system consists of (a) the Millennium Pipeline, a 200-mile, 12-inch crude oil pipeline with
approximately 65,000 bpd operating capacity, originating near the Partnership’s Nederland Terminal, and terminating at Longview Texas; (b) the
Kilgore Pipeline, a 190-mile, 10-inch crude oil pipeline with approximately 35,000 barrel per day capacity originating in Kilgore, Texas and
terminating at refineries in the Houston, Texas region; (c) approximately 900,000 shell barrels of active storage capacity at Kilgore, and Longview,
Texas, approximately 550,000 of which are inactive; (d) a crude oil sales and marketing business; and (e) crude oil line fill and working inventory.

•

Amdel and White Oil Pipeline Acquisition. On March 1, 2006, the Partnership acquired a Texas crude oil pipeline system from Alon USA Energy, Inc.
for approximately $68.0 million. The system consists of (a) the Amdel Pipeline, a 503-mile, 10-inch common carrier crude oil pipeline with
approximately 27,000 bpd operating capacity, originating at the Nederland Terminal, and terminating at Midland, Texas, and (b) the White Oil
Pipeline, a 25-mile, 10-inch crude oil pipeline with approximately 40,000 bpd operating capacity, originating at the Amdel Pipeline and terminating at
Alon’s Big Spring, Texas refinery. The pipelines were idle at the time of purchase, were re-commissioned by the Partnership during the second quarter
2006 and began making deliveries during the fourth quarter 2006. During the first quarter of 2007, the Partnership completed a project to expand the
capacity on the Amdel Pipeline from approximately 27,000 to 40,000 bpd. Construction on new tankage at the Nederland Terminal to service these
new volumes more efficiently is expected to be completed during 2008.

2005 Acquisitions
•

Mesa Pipe Line System Acquisition. On December 5, 2005, the Partnership purchased a subsidiary of Sunoco which owned a 7.2 percent undivided
interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system for approximately $1.3 million. The Mesa Pipe Line system consists of an 80-mile, 24-inch crude oil pipeline
from Midland, Texas to Colorado City, Texas, with an operating capacity of 316,000 bpd, and approximately 800,000 shell barrels of tankage at
Midland. The Mesa pipeline connects to the West Texas Gulf pipeline, which supplies crude oil to the Mid-Valley pipeline. On December 29, 2005, the
Partnership
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purchased an additional 29.8 percent interest in Mesa from Chevron for approximately $5.3 million, increasing its combined interest to 37.0 percent.
•

Corsicana to Wichita Falls Pipeline Acquisition. On August 1, 2005, the Partnership purchased, from an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation, a crude
oil pipeline system and storage facilities located in Texas for approximately $100.0 million. The pipeline system consists primarily of a 187-mile, 16inch pipeline with an operating capacity of 125,000 bpd. It originates at a crude oil terminal in Corsicana, Texas and terminates at Wichita Falls, Texas.
The storage facilities include the Corsicana terminal, which has 2.9 million shell barrels of capacity for crude oil, and the Ringgold, Texas terminal,
which consists of 0.5 million barrels of shell capacity for crude oil. In addition, the Partnership invested approximately $16.0 million to construct a
new 20-mile pipeline to connect the Corsicana to Wichita Falls pipeline to the West Texas Gulf pipeline, in which the Partnership has a 43.8 percent
ownership interest.

Growth Capital Program
In December 2006, the Partnership announced that it had executed an agreement with Motiva Enterprices LLC to construct three additional crude oil
storage tanks, with a combined capacity of 2.0 million shell barrels of capacity, and a 12-mile 30” crude oil pipeline from the Nederland Terminal to Motiva’s
Port Arthur, Texas refinery. Construction of these assets is expected to be completed on or before January 2010 and cost in excess of $90 million. During 2008,
the Partnership expects to spend approximately $100 million on expansion capital expenditures related to organic growth, which includes the Motiva project.
Conservative Capital Structure
The Partnership’s goal is to maintain a conservative capital structure and substantial liquidity. On August 8, 2007, Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations
L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), a wholly-owned entity of the Partnership, entered into a new, five-year $400 million credit facility (“Credit Facility”). This
Credit Facility replaced the Operating Partnership’s previous credit facility agreement that was scheduled to mature on November 22, 2010. (See “Liquidity and
Capital Resources” for further information.). In May 2006, the Operating Partnership issued $175 million of 6.125 percent Senior Notes, due May 15, 2016, the
“2016 Senior Notes”, at 99.858 percent of the principal amount, for net proceeds of $173.3 million after the underwriter’s commission and legal, accounting and
other transaction expenses. The Partnership also completed a series of equity issuances during 2005 and 2006, through which it issued an aggregate of 7.1 million
limited partner units, generating $269.9 million of net proceeds. Proceeds from these equity issues were used to redeem 2.8 million limited partner units owned by
Sunoco, repay a portion of the debt incurred to fund its acquisitions and fund the Partnership’s organic growth program.
Cash Distribution Increases
As a result of the above initiatives, the general partner was able to increase or maintain equal the cash distributions to limited partners in all quarters during
each of the three years ended December 31, 2007. During the three year period ended December 31, 2007, the distribution increased to $0.87 per common unit,
($3.48 annualized), from $0.63 per common unit paid in February 2005. The distribution for the fourth quarter of 2007 will be paid in February 2008. This
increase represents a 7 percent increase over the fourth quarter 2006 distribution.
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Results of Operations
2005

Statements of Income
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Other income
Total revenues
Cost of products sold and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Net interest expense
Net income
Segment Operating Income:
Eastern Pipeline System
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliate
Unaffiliated customers
Other income
Total revenues
Operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Terminal Facilities
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Other income
Total revenues
Cost of products sold and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
Western Pipeline System
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Other income
Total revenues
Cost of products sold and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total costs and expenses
Operating income
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Year Ended December 31,
2006
2007
(in thousands)

$1,986,019
2,496,593
14,295
4,496,907
4,326,713
33,838
53,048
4,413,599
83,308
21,599
$ 61,709

$1,842,634
3,994,601
17,315
5,854,550
5,644,021
36,649
55,686
5,736,356
118,194
27,853
$ 90,341

$1,682,042
5,695,413
28,381
7,405,836
7,156,142
37,341
56,198
7,249,681
156,155
35,280
$ 120,875

$

75,570
21,096
11,773
108,439
47,046
10,509
18,560
76,115
$ 32,324

$

77,228
28,408
11,201
116,837
45,516
9,550
17,532
72,598
$ 44,239

$

$

78,885
34,880
79
113,844
48,571
15,054
14,429
78,054
$ 35,790

$

82,607
40,635
37
123,279
53,427
15,364
15,348
84,139
$ 39,140

$

$1,831,564
2,440,617
2,443
4,274,624
4,231,096
8,275
20,059
4,259,430
$ 15,194

$1,682,799
3,925,558
6,077
5,614,434
5,545,078
11,735
22,806
5,579,619
$ 34,815

$1,508,020
5,610,472
14,488
7,132,980
7,046,316
12,838
19,745
7,078,899
$ 54,081

81,866
35,475
13,932
131,273
52,298
9,165
20,404
81,867
$ 49,406

92,156
49,466
(39)
141,583
57,528
15,338
16,049
88,915
$ 52,668
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Operating Highlights
2005

Eastern Pipeline System(1):
Total shipments (barrel miles per day)(2)
Revenue per barrel mile (cents)
Terminal Facilities:
Terminal throughput (bpd):
Refined product terminals(3)
Nederland Terminal
Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex
Marcus Hook Tank Farm
Eagle Point Dock.
Western Pipeline System(1)(4):
Crude oil pipeline throughput (bpd)
Crude oil purchases at wellhead (bpd)
Gross margin per barrel of pipeline throughput (cents)(5)
(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

56,906,896
0.469

61,763,923
0.469

65,736,878
0.489

389,523
457,655
327,156
149,934
225,159

391,718
461,943
319,795
151,093
216,921

433,797
507,312
310,948
146,112
238,808

356,129
186,224
25.7

526,014
191,644
26.8

527,491
177,981
30.8

Excludes amounts attributable to equity ownership interests in the corporate joint ventures.
Represents total average daily pipeline throughput multiplied by the number of miles of pipeline through which each barrel has been shipped.
Includes results from the Partnership’s purchase of a 50 percent undivided interest in a refined products terminal in Syracuse, New York from the
acquisition date.
Includes results from the Partnership’s purchases of an undivided interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system, the Corsicana to Wichita Falls, Texas pipeline
system, the Millennium and Kilgore pipeline system and the Amdel pipeline system from acquisition dates.
Represents total segment sales and other operating revenue minus cost of products sold and operating expenses and depreciation and amortization divided
by crude oil pipeline throughput.

Analysis of Consolidated Net Income
Net income was $61.7 million, $90.3 million and $120.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 respectively.
The $30.6 million increase in net income from 2006 to 2007 was primarily the result of strong operating performance in our Terminal Facilities and
Western Pipeline segments, the August 2006 acquisition of an equity interest in the Mid-Valley Pipeline Company, and the March 2006 acquisitions of the
Kilgore and Millennium pipelines. Partially offsetting the increase in operating income was higher interest expense related to the Partnership’s organic growth
program, and 2006 and 2007 acquisitions.
The $28.6 million increase in net income from 2005 to 2006 was primarily the result of the operating results from the acquisitions completed in 2005 and
2006 in the Western Pipeline System, an increase in total shipments in the Eastern Pipeline System, increased revenues at the Partnership’s refined product
terminals associated with ethanol blending, higher lease acquisition results and the absence of non-recurring costs related to Hurricane Rita, described below.
These increases in net income were partially offset by higher interest expense related to financing the acquisitions completed in 2006 and the Partnership’s
internal expansion capital program.
On September 24, 2005, Hurricane Rita damaged the Partnership’s Nederland Terminal facility and a portion of the Western Pipeline System, impacting
several storage tanks, dock facilities, buildings and equipment. Although the Nederland Terminal resumed operations on October 3, 2005, the business was
impacted for a few weeks as a result of interruptions in customer and supplier business activities related to the Hurricane.
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The costs attributed to the Hurricane totaled approximately $7.5 million, of which we have recovered $4.4 million from the insurance carrier as of December 31,
2007. The Partnership does not expect to incur any material additional costs in 2008 to repair its damaged facilities, and expects to negotiate a final settlement
with its insurance carrier for reimbursement of the remaining unreimbursed costs during 2008.
Net interest expense was $35.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2007, a $7.4 million increase from the prior year primarily due to increased
borrowings related to financing the Partnership’s organic growth program, the previously mentioned 2007 acquisition and higher inventory levels during the first
half of the year.
Net interest expense was $27.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2006, a $6.3 million increase from the prior year. Interest expense increased due to
increased borrowings and higher interest rates, partially offset by an increase of $2.5 million in capitalized interest. The increased borrowings were used to
partially fund the previously mentioned 2006 acquisitions, as well as to fund organic growth projects.
Analysis of Segment Operating Income
Year Ended December 31, 2007 versus Year Ended December 31, 2006
Eastern Pipeline System
Operating income for the Eastern Pipeline System increased $5.2 million to $49.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $44.2 million
for the prior year. Sales and other operating revenue increased by $11.7 million to $117.3 million due to increased shipments on the expanded Marysville crude
oil line, and in the aggregate, higher volumes and fees across our refined products pipelines. A $2.7 million increase in other income was related to an increase in
equity income associated with the Partnership’s joint venture interests. Operating expenses increased by $6.8 million due to higher maintenance activity,
additional utility expense related to higher throughput, and environmental charges due to third party contractor pipeline damage, partially offset by an increase in
product operating gains. A $2.9 million increase in selling, general and administrative expenses was largely associated with a decrease in capitalized engineering
costs and higher employee costs.
Terminal Facilities
Operating income for the Terminal Facilities segment increased by $13.6 million to $52.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $39.1
million for the prior year. Total revenue increased $18.3 million to $141.6 million due primarily to increased throughput at the Partnership’s Nederland crude oil
terminal and refined product terminals as well as higher refined product additive fees. Cost of products sold and operating expenses increased $4.1 million for the
year ended December 31, 2007 to $57.5 million primarily due to increased maintenance activity and costs associated with the purchase of product additives. The
increase in selling, general and administrative expense of $0.7 million was largely due to higher employee costs and was partially offset by an insurance recovery
related to the 2005 hurricane loss.
Western Pipeline System
Operating income for the Western Pipeline System increased $19.3 million to $54.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2007 compared to $34.8
million for the prior year. The increase resulted from improved asset utilization and higher crude oil pipeline volume from the 2006 acquisitions previously
mentioned. Total revenue and cost of products sold and operating expenses increased compared with the year ended December 31, 2006 due principally to higher
crude prices and an increase in bulk purchase and sale activity. The average price of West Texas Intermediate crude oil at Cushing, Oklahoma increased to $72.40
per barrel for the year ended December 31, 2007 from $66.25 per barrel for the year ended December 31, 2006. Operating expenses were higher as a result of
increased costs associated with operating the assets acquired in 2006. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $3.1 million from 2006 due
primarily to the Western Area office relocation which was completed during the first quarter of 2006 and an increase in capitalized engineering costs associated
with the Partnership’s organic growth program. Depreciation and amortization expense increased $1.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2007 to $12.8
million as a result of 2006 acquisitions.
42

Table of Contents
Year Ended December 31, 2006 versus Year Ended December 31, 2005
Eastern Pipeline System
Operating income for the Eastern Pipeline System was $44.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared with $32.3 million for the prior year.
The $11.9 million increase was the result of an $8.4 million increase in total revenues and a $1.5 million decrease in operating expenses. Sales and other operating
revenue increased from $96.7 million from the prior year to $105.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 mainly due to an increase in total shipments
resulting from higher throughput on the Marysville, Michigan to Toledo, Ohio crude oil pipeline. During 2005, two third-party Canadian synthetic crude oil plants
experienced reduced production as a result of fire damage. Resumption of production at these crude oil plants, along with higher demand due to the expansion of
a Detroit refinery served by the Marysville pipeline, resulted in an increase in shipments. Other income decreased to $11.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 from $11.8 million for the prior year period due primarily to a decrease in joint venture equity income. Operating expenses decreased from
$47.0 million in the prior year to $45.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 due mainly to product operating gains, partially offset by increased utility,
employee and operating costs associated with increased volumes. Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $1.0 million for the year ended
December 31, 2006 when compared to the prior year due primarily to increased capitalization of certain engineering-employee costs associated with the
Partnership’s organic growth capital projects. Depreciation and amortization expense decreased $1.0 million for the full year 2006 as certain assets reached the
end of their depreciation life during the third quarter 2006.
Terminal Facilities
The Terminal Facilities business segment experienced an increase in operating income to $39.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared
with $35.8 million for the prior year. Total revenues increased $9.4 million from the prior year to $123.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 due
primarily to increased revenues associated with the addition of ethanol blending at the balance of the Partnership’s refined product terminals starting in May 2006,
an increase in revenues at the Partnership’s Nederland Terminal and the addition of product additive revenues at the Partnership’s refined product terminals.
Operating expenses increased $4.9 million from the prior year to $53.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 due to higher maintenance activity,
increased employee costs and additional refined product additive costs.
Western Pipeline System
Operating income for the Western Pipeline System was $34.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2006 compared with $15.2 million for the prior
year. The increase was primarily the result of higher crude oil pipeline volumes resulting from the 2005 and 2006 crude oil pipeline acquisitions, an increase in
other income of $3.6 million primarily attributable to equity income from the acquisition of a 55.3 percent interest in the Mid-Valley Pipeline Company in August
2006 and higher lease acquisition results. Total revenues and cost of products sold and operating expenses increased for the full year 2006 compared with the
prior year due principally to an increase in the price of crude oil. The average price of West Texas Intermediate crude oil at Cushing, Oklahoma, increased to
$66.25 per barrel for the full year 2006 from $56.61 per barrel for the full year 2005. Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $2.7 million due
principally to costs related to the Western area office relocation from Tulsa, Oklahoma to Sugar Land, Texas, as well as increased costs associated with the
acquired assets. The relocation to Sugar Land was completed in the first quarter 2006. Depreciation and amortization increased by $3.5 million due principally to
the 2005 and 2006 acquisitions discussed earlier.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
Liquidity
Cash generated from operations and borrowings under the credit facilities are the Partnership’s primary sources of liquidity. At December 31, 2007, the
Partnership had a net working capital deficit of $65.2 million and available borrowing capacity under its $400 million Credit Facility (the “Credit Facility”) of
$309.0 million. The
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Partnership’s working capital position also reflects crude oil inventories under the LIFO method of accounting. If the inventories had been valued at their current
replacement cost, the Partnership would have had working capital of $100.0 million at December 31, 2007.
Capital Resources
The Partnership periodically supplements its cash flows from operations with proceeds from debt and equity financing activities.
Credit Facility
On August 8, 2007, Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), a wholly-owned entity of the Partnership, entered into a new,
five-year $400 million Credit Facility. This Credit Facility replaced the Operating Partnership’s previous credit facility agreement that was scheduled to mature on
November 22, 2010. The Credit Facility is available to fund the Operating Partnership’s working capital requirements, to finance future acquisitions, to finance
future capital projects and for general partnership purposes. The Credit Facility matures in November 2012. At December 31, 2006, there was $68.0 million
outstanding under the previous credit facility. In June, 2007, the Partnership drew an additional $13.4 million against the previous credit facility to fund the
acquisition of a 50 percent undivided interest in a refined products terminal in Syracuse, New York. The remaining net borrowings were used to fund the
Partnership’s organic growth program and investments in inventory for lease acquisition business. The amount outstanding under the Credit Facility at
December 31, 2007 totaled $91.0 million.
The Credit Facility bears interest at the Operating Partnership’s option, at either (i) LIBOR plus an applicable margin, (ii) the higher of the federal funds
rate plus 0.50 percent or the Citibank prime rate (each plus the applicable margin) or (iii) the federal funds rate plus an applicable margin.
The Credit Facility contains various covenants limiting the Operating Partnership’s ability to a) incur indebtedness, b) grant certain liens, c) make certain
loans, acquisitions and investments, d) make any material change to the nature of its business, e) acquire another company, f) or enter into a merger or sale of
assets, including the sale or transfer of interests in the Operating Partnership’s subsidiaries. The Credit Facility also requires the Operating Partnership to
maintain, on a rolling four-quarter basis, a maximum total debt to EBITDA ratio of 4.75 to 1, which can generally be increased to 5.25 to 1 during an acquisition
period. The Operating Partnership is in compliance with this requirement as of December 31, 2007. The Partnership’s ratio of total debt to EBITDA was 2.7 to 1
at December 31, 2007.
Letters of Credit
In November 2007, the Partnership entered into two standby letters of credit totaling $130.4 million. The letters of credit, which are effective January 1,
2008, are required in connection with certain crude oil exchange contracts in which the Partnership is a party. The letters of credit are subject to commitment fees,
which are not material.
Senior Notes
In May 2006, the Operating Partnership issued the $175 million of 6.125 percent Senior Notes, due May 16, 2016 (“2016 Senior Notes”). The 2016 Senior
Notes are redeemable, at a make-whole premium, and are not subject to sinking fund provisions. The 2016 Senior Notes contain various covenants limiting the
Operating Partnership’s ability to incur certain liens, engage in sale/leaseback transactions, or merge, consolidate or sell substantially all of its assets. The
Operating Partnership is in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2007. The net proceeds from the 2016 Senior Notes, together with the $110.3
million in net proceeds from the concurrent offering of approximately 2.7 million limited partner common units, described
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below, were used to repay all of the $216.1 million in outstanding borrowings under the Partnership’s Credit Facility. The balance of the proceeds from the
offerings were used to fund the Partnership’s organic growth program and for general Partnership purposes, including to finance future acquisitions.
The Partnership and the operating partnerships of the Operating Partnership served as joint and several guarantors of the Senior Notes and of any
obligations under the previous credit facility. The Partnership continues to serve as guarantor of the Senior Notes and of any obligations under the new Credit
Facility. These guarantees are full and unconditional. In connection with the Partnership’s new Credit Facility the Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined in Note 18 to
the financial statements included in Item 8) were released from their obligations both under the Credit Facility, and the 7.25 percent and 6.125 percent Senior
Notes.
Equity Offerings
In May 2006, the Partnership sold 2.4 million common units in a public offering. In June 2006, the Partnership sold an additional 280,000 common units to
cover over-allotments in connection with the May 2006 sale. The purchase price for the over allotment was equal to the offering price in the May 2006 sale. The
total sale of units resulted in gross proceeds of $115.2 million, and net proceeds of $110.4 million, after the underwriters’ commission and legal, accounting and
other transaction expenses. Net proceeds of the offering, together with the $173.3 million in net proceeds from the concurrent offering of the 2016 Senior Notes,
described above, were used to repay $216.1 million of the debt incurred under the revolving credit facility, to fund the Partnership’s 2006 organic growth
program, and for general partnership purposes. Also as a result of the issuance of these units, the general partner contributed $2.4 million to the Partnership to
maintain its 2.0 percent general partner interest.
In August 2005, the Partnership sold 1.5 million common units in a public offering. In September 2005, the Partnership sold an additional 125,000
common units to cover over-allotments in connection with the August 2005 sale. The total sale of units resulted in total gross proceeds of $63.4 million, and net
proceeds of $60.4 million, after the underwriters’ commission and legal, accounting and other transaction expenses. Net proceeds of the sale were used to repay
$56.5 million of the debt incurred to finance the August 1, 2005 purchase of a Texas crude oil pipeline system and storage facilities, with the balance for general
partnership purposes. As a result of this issuance of 1.625 million common units, the general partner contributed $1.3 million to the Partnership to maintain its 2.0
percent general partner interest.
In May 2005, the Partnership sold 2.5 million common units in a public offering. In June 2005, the Partnership sold an additional 275,000 common units to
cover over-allotments in connection with the May 2005 sale. The purchase price for the over-allotment was equal to the offering price in the May 2005 sale. The
sale of units resulted in total gross proceeds of $104.1 million, and net proceeds of $99.2 million, after underwriters’ commissions and legal, accounting and other
transaction expenses. Net proceeds from the sale were used to redeem 2.775 million common units owned by Sunoco at a redemption price per unit equal to the
public offering price per unit after the underwriters’ commissions.
Cash Flows and Capital Expenditures
Net cash provided by operating activities for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 was $90.8 million, $141.5 million and $207.5 million,
respectively. Net cash provided by operating activities for 2007 was primarily the result of net income of $120.9 million and depreciation and amortization of
$37.3 million, and an increase in the working capital deficit of $40.2 million. Net cash provided by operating activities for 2006 consists primarily of net income
of $90.3 million, depreciation and amortization of $36.6 million, and an increase in the working capital deficit of $11.5 million. Net cash provided by operating
activities for 2005 consists primarily of net income of $61.7 million, depreciation and amortization of $33.8 million, offset by an increase in working capital of
$6.2 million. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities from 2006 to 2007 was primarily attributable to an increase in net income and a decrease in
inventory associated with the reduction of contango inventory positions. The increase in net cash provided by operating activities from 2005 to 2006 was
primarily attributable to an increase in net income of approximately $28.6 million during 2006.
45

Table of Contents
Net cash used in investing activities for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 was $180.7 million, $241.2 million, and $119.4 million
respectively. The decrease in cash used in investing activities from 2006 to 2007 is due primarily to the 2006 acquisitions. The increase in cash used in investing
activities from 2005 to 2006 is due to acquisitions and organic growth projects. Capital expenditures (excluding acquisitions) were $73.3 million in 2005, $119.8
million in 2006 and $105.9 million in 2007 (see “Capital Requirements” below).
Cash used for acquisitions was $107.3 million in 2005, $121.4 million in 2006 and $13.5 million in 2007. Acquisitions completed in 2007 include a 50
percent undivided interest in a refined products terminal located in Syracuse, New York from Mobil Pipe Line Company, an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation
for approximately $13.4 million. Acquisitions completed in 2006 include the Amdel and White Oil pipeline for approximately $68.0 million, the Millennium and
Kilgore pipeline system, storage facilities, sales and marketing business and crude oil inventory for approximately $40.9 million and a 55.3 percent equity interest
(50 percent voting rights) in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company for approximately $65.0 million. Since the acquisition was from a related party, the interest in the
entity was recorded by the Partnership at Sunoco’s historical cost of $12.5 million and the $52.5 million difference between the purchase price and the cost basis
of the assets was recorded by the Partnership as a capital distribution. Acquisitions completed in 2005 include the Corsicana to Wichita Falls, Texas crude oil
pipeline system and storage facilities for approximately $100.0 million and a 37.0 percent undivided interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system for approximately $6.6
million.
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 was, $58.8 million, $87.5 million and $(95.6)
million respectively.
For the year ended December 31, 2007, the $95.6 million of cash used in financing activities was primarily the result of $117.5 million in distributions paid
to limited partners and the general partner. This use of funds was partially offset by a $23.0 million increase in net borrowings under the Partnership’s credit
facilities related to funding the Partnership’s expansion capital.
For the year ended December 31, 2006, the Partnership received $173.3 million of net proceeds from the issuance of the 2016 Senior Notes and net
proceeds of $110.4 million from the concurrent public offerings completed in May 2006 and net borrowings of $38.6 million drawn against the Credit Facility to
fund the acquisitions of two Texas crude oil pipelines and the 55.3 percent interest in the Mid-Valley pipeline. The $173.3 million net proceeds from the 2016
Senior Notes, together with the $110.4 million in net proceeds from the concurrent public offering were used to repay all of the $216.1 million in outstanding
borrowings under the Partnership’s Credit Facility. Additionally, the Partnership received $5.7 million of capital contributions for reimbursement of certain
maintenance capital expenditures and operating expenses under agreements with Sunoco. The net proceeds from these sources were partially offset by $98.0
million in distributions paid to limited partners and the general partner, $47.4 million in capital distributions to Sunoco due primarily to the acquisition of a 55.3
percent interest (50 percent voting rights) in the Mid-Valley Pipeline Company and net advances to affiliates of $13.2 million.
For the year ended December 31, 2005, the Partnership received $60.4 million of net proceeds from the public offering completed in September 2005, net
borrowings of $42.1 million drawn against the Credit Facility to fund the acquisitions of an undivided interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system and a portion of the
Corsicana to Wichita Falls, Texas crude oil pipeline system and storage facilities, and the related pipeline construction. Additionally, the Partnership received $8.0
million of capital contributions for reimbursement of certain maintenance capital expenditures and operating expenses under agreements with Sunoco, and $18.1
million as a result of a reduction in advances to affiliates. The net proceeds from these sources were partially offset by $67.3 million in distributions paid to
limited partners and the general partner in 2005.
Under a treasury services agreement with Sunoco, the Partnership participates in Sunoco’s centralized cash management program. Advances to affiliates in
the Partnership’s balance sheets at December 31, 2007 and 2006 represent amounts due from Sunoco under this agreement.
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Capital Requirements
The pipeline, terminalling, and crude oil storage operations are capital intensive, requiring significant investment to maintain, upgrade and enhance existing
operations and to meet environmental and operational regulations. The capital requirements have consisted, and are expected to continue to consist, primarily of:
•

Maintenance capital expenditures, such as those required to maintain equipment reliability, tankage and pipeline integrity and safety, to address
environmental regulations and to improve operating efficiencies and,

•

Expansion capital expenditures to acquire complementary assets to grow the business and to expand existing and construct new facilities, such as
projects that increase storage or throughput volume.

The following table summarizes maintenance and expansion capital expenditures, including amounts paid for acquisitions, for the years presented (rollforward table):
2005

Maintenance
Expansion
Total
(1)

(2)

(3)

$ 31,194
149,460(1)
$180,654

Year Ended December 31,
2006
(in thousands of dollars)

$ 29,872
209,135(2)
$239,007

2007

$ 24,946
94,666(3)
$119,612

Includes $100.0 million related to the acquisition of the Corsicana to Wichita Falls, Texas crude oil pipeline system and storage facilities and $5.5 million
for the undivided interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system. The total purchase price of the Mesa interest was $6.6 million, however since a portion of the
interest was acquired from a related party, it was recorded by the Partnership at Sunoco’s historical cost and the $1.1 million difference between the
purchase price and the cost basis of the assets was recorded by the Partnership as a capital distribution.
Includes $40.9 million related to the acquisition of the Millennium and Kilgore crude oil pipeline system, $68.0 million related to the acquisition of the
Amdel and White Oil crude oil pipeline system and $12.5 million related to the acquisition of a 55.3 percent equity interest in Mid-Valley Pipeline
Company.
Includes $13.4 million related to the acquisition of a 50 percent undivided interest in a refined products terminal located in Syracuse, New York.

Maintenance capital expenditures primarily consist of recurring expenditures at each of the business segments such as pipeline integrity costs, pipeline
relocations, repair and upgrade of field instrumentation, including measurement devices, repair and replacement of tank floors and roofs, upgrades of cathodic
protection systems, crude trucks and related equipment, and the upgrade of pump stations. In addition to these recurring projects, maintenance capital includes
certain expenditures for which the Partnership received reimbursement from Sunoco under the terms of agreements between the parties (see “Agreements with
Sunoco”). Maintenance capital for the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 include $2.7 million and $2.8 million, respectively, related to the Western Area
office move that was completed in the first quarter of 2006. As of December 31, 2006, the Partnership had received the maximum aggregate reimbursements
defined within the Omnibus Agreement with Sunoco. Management expects maintenance capital expenditures to be approximately $26.0 million in 2008,
excluding reimbursements from Sunoco in accordance with the terms of certain agreements.
Expansion capital expenditures decreased by $114.4 million to $94.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2007. Expansion capital for 2006 included
the acquisition of the Millennium and Kilgore pipelines, the Amdel pipeline and the equity interest in the Mid-Valley Pipeline Company for approximately $121.4
million. Expansion capital for 2007 includes the construction in progress in connection with the Partnership’s agreement with Motiva Enterprises LLC of three
crude oil storage tanks at its Nederland Terminal and a crude oil pipeline from Nederland to Motiva’s Port Arthur, Texas refinery. Expansion capital also includes
47

Table of Contents
the construction of seven additional new crude oil storage tanks at Nederland, four of which were placed into service in 2007. These seven crude oil storage tanks
will have a total capacity of approximately 4.2 million shell barrels. Also impacting expansion capital were additional pipeline connections in the Western
Pipeline System and the second quarter of 2007 acquisition of a 50 percent interest in the Syracuse, New York refined products terminal.
Management expects to invest approximately $100.0 million in expansion capital projects in 2008, which includes the construction of new tankage and
pipeline connections associated with the previously discussed agreement with Motiva Enterprises LLC, and the continued construction of tankage at the
Nederland.
The Partnership expects to fund its capital expenditures, including any additional acquisitions, from cash provided by operations and, to the extent
necessary, from the proceeds of borrowing under the Credit Facility, other borrowings and issuance of additional common units.
Contractual Obligations
The following table sets forth the aggregate amount of long-term debt maturities (including interest commitments based upon the interest rate in effect at
December 31, 2007), annual rentals applicable to noncancelable operating leases, and purchase commitments related to future periods at December 31, 2007 (in
thousands of dollars):
2008

Long-term debt:
Principal
Interest
Operating leases
Purchase obligations

$

$

—
33,897
3,414
2,768,881
2,806,192

2009

$

Year Ended December 31,
2010

—
33,897
3,124
—
$ 37,021

$

—
33,897
2,747
—
$ 36,644

$

2011

—
33,897
2,334
—
$ 36,231

2012

$

$

341,000
17,485
2,209
—
360,694

Thereafter

$

$

175,000
36,176
4,195
—
215,371

Total

$

$

516,000
189,249
18,023
2,768,881
3,492,153

The Partnership’s operating leases reported above include leases of office space, third-party pipeline capacity, and other property and equipment, with
initial or remaining noncancelable terms in excess of one year. On September 6, 2005, the Partnership executed an agreement to lease office space in Sugar Land,
Texas for a term of approximately ten years. The lease terminates in November 2016.
A purchase obligation is an enforceable and legally binding agreement to purchase goods and services that specifies significant terms, including: fixed or
expected quantities to be purchased; market-related pricing provisions; and a specified term. The Partnership’s purchase obligations consist of noncancelable
contracts to purchase crude oil for terms of one year or less by its Crude Oil Acquisition and Marketing group. The majority of the above purchase obligations
include actual crude oil purchases for the month of January 2008. The remaining crude oil purchase obligation amounts are based on the quantities committed to
be purchased assuming adequate well production for the remainder of the year, at December 31, 2007 crude oil prices. Actual amounts to be paid in regards to
these obligations will be based upon market prices or formula-based market prices during the period of purchase. For further discussion of the Partnership’s Crude
Oil and Marketing activities, see Item 1. “Business—Western Pipeline System—Crude Oil Acquisition and Marketing”.
Environmental Matters
Operation of the pipelines, terminals, and associated facilities are subject to stringent and complex federal, state, and local laws and regulations governing
the discharge of materials into the environment or otherwise
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relating to protection of the environment. As a result of compliance with these laws and regulations, liabilities have been accrued for estimated site restoration
costs to be incurred in the future at the facilities and properties, including liabilities for environmental remediation obligations. Under the Partnership’s
accounting policies, liabilities are recorded when site restoration and environmental remediation and cleanup obligations are either known or considered probable
and can be reasonably estimated. For a discussion of the accrued liabilities and charges against income related to these activities, see Note 10 to the financial
statements included in Item 8. “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.”
Under the terms of the Omnibus Agreement and in connection with the contribution of assets to the Partnership by affiliates of Sunoco, Sunoco has agreed
to indemnify the Partnership for 30 years from environmental and toxic tort liabilities related to the assets contributed that arise from the operation of such assets
prior to closing of the February 2002 IPO. See “Agreements with Sunoco.”
For more information concerning environmental matters, please see Item 1. “Business—Environmental Regulation.”
Impact of Inflation
Although the impact of inflation has slowed in recent years, it is still a factor in the United States economy and may increase the cost to acquire or replace
property, plant, and equipment and may increase the costs of labor and supplies. To the extent permitted by competition, regulation, and existing agreements, the
Partnership has and will continue to pass along increased costs to customers in the form of higher fees.
Critical Accounting Policies
A summary of the Partnership’s significant accounting policies is included in Note 1 to the financial statements included in Item 8 “Financial Statements
and Supplementary Data.” Management believes that the application of these policies on a consistent basis enables it to provide the users of the financial
statements with useful and reliable information about the Partnership’s operating results and financial condition. The preparation of the Partnership’s financial
statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses, and the
disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. Significant items that are subject to such estimates and assumptions include long-lived assets and environmental
remediation activities. Although management bases its estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under
the circumstances, actual results may differ from the estimates on which the Partnership’s financial statements are prepared at any given point in time.
The critical accounting policies identified by management of the Partnership are as follows:
Long-Lived Assets. The cost of properties, plants and equipment, less estimated salvage value, is generally depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
estimated useful lives of the assets. Useful lives are based on historical experience and are adjusted when changes in planned use, technological advances or other
factors indicate that a different life would be more appropriate. Changes in useful lives that do not result in the impairment of an asset are recognized
prospectively. During 2005, the Partnership accelerated the depreciation of assets related to equipment upgrade programs and the Western area office move from
Tulsa, Oklahoma to Sugar Land, Texas, based upon the estimated remaining useful lives of these assets until their replacement. The acceleration resulted in $1.8
million and $0.5 million of additional depreciation expense recognized in 2005 and 2006, respectively.
Long-lived assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of the assets may not be recoverable.
Such events and circumstances include, among other factors: operating losses; unused capacity; market value declines; technological developments resulting in
obsolescence; changes in demand for products manufactured by others utilizing the Partnership’s services or for the
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Partnership’s products; changes in competition and competitive practices; uncertainties associated with the United States and world economies; changes in the
expected level of environmental capital, operating or remediation expenditures; and changes in governmental regulations or actions. Additional factors impacting
the economic viability of long-lived assets are discussed under “Forward Looking Statements” in this document.
A long-lived asset is considered to be impaired when the undiscounted net cash flows expected to be generated by the asset are less than its carrying
amount. Such estimated future cash flows are highly subjective and are based on numerous assumptions about future operations and market conditions. The
impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the fair market value of the impaired asset. It is also difficult to precisely estimate
fair market value because quoted market prices for the Partnership’s long-lived assets may not be readily available. Therefore, fair market value is generally based
on the present values of estimated future cash flows using discount rates commensurate with the risks associated with the assets being reviewed for impairment.
There were no asset impairments for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007.
Environmental Remediation. The operation of the Partnership’s pipelines, terminals and associated facilities are subject to numerous federal, state and local
laws and regulations which regulate the discharge of materials into the environment or that otherwise relate to the protection of the environment. As a result of
compliance with these laws and regulations, site restoration costs have been and will be incurred in the future at the Partnership’s facilities and properties,
including liabilities for environmental remediation obligations.
At December 31, 2007, the Partnership’s accrual for environmental remediation activities was $1.1 million. This accrual is for work at identified sites
where an assessment has indicated that cleanup costs are probable and reasonably estimable. The accrual is undiscounted and is based on currently available
information, estimated timing of remedial actions and related inflation assumptions, existing technology and presently enacted laws and regulations. It is often
extremely difficult to develop reasonable estimates of future site remediation costs due to changing regulations, changing technologies and their associated costs,
and changes in the economic environment. In the above instances, if a range of probable environmental cleanup costs exists for an identified site, FASB
Interpretation No. 14, “Reasonable Estimation of the Amount of a Loss” requires that the minimum of the range be accrued unless some other point or points in
the range are more likely, in which case the most likely amount in the range is accrued. Engineering studies, historical experience and other factors are used to
identify and evaluate remediation alternatives and their related costs in determining the estimated accruals for environmental remediation activities. Losses
attributable to unasserted claims are also reflected in the accruals to the extent their occurrence is probable and reasonably estimable.
Management believes that none of the current remediation locations are material, individually or in the aggregate, to the Partnership’s financial position at
December 31, 2007. As a result, the Partnership’s exposure to adverse developments with respect to any individual site is not expected to be material. However, if
changes in environmental regulations occur, such changes could impact several of the Partnership’s facilities. As a result, from time to time, significant charges
against income for environmental remediation may occur.
Under the terms of the Omnibus Agreement and in connection with the contribution of assets to the Partnership by affiliates of Sunoco, Sunoco has agreed
to indemnify the Partnership, in whole or in part, for 30 years from environmental and toxic tort liabilities related to the assets contributed that arise from the
operation of such assets prior to closing of the February 2002 IPO. The Partnership has agreed to indemnify Sunoco and its affiliates for events and conditions
associated with the operation of the assets that occur on or after the closing of the February 2002 IPO and for environmental and toxic tort liabilities to the extent
Sunoco is not required to indemnify the Partnership. See “Agreements with Sunoco” for more information.
In summary, total future costs for environmental remediation activities will depend upon, among other things, the identification of any additional sites, the
determination of the extent of the contamination at each site, the timing and nature of required remedial actions, the technology available and needed to meet the
various
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existing legal requirements, the nature and terms of cost sharing arrangements with other potentially responsible parties and the nature and extent of future
environmental laws, inflation rates and the determination of the Partnership’s liability at the sites, if any, in the light of the number, participation level and
financial viability of other parties.
New Accounting Pronouncements
For a discussion of recently issued accounting pronouncements requiring adoption subsequent to December 31, 2007, see Note 1 to the consolidated
financial statements.
Agreements with Sunoco
The Partnership has entered into several agreements with Sunoco, and their affiliates as discussed below.
Pipelines and Terminals Storage and Throughput Agreement
Under this 2002 agreement, Sunoco is paying the Partnership fees which are generally comparable to those charged by third parties to:
•

transport on the refined product pipelines existing at the time of the agreement an amount of refined products that will produce at least $54.3 million of
revenue in the contract year commencing March 1, 2007, and at least $55.2 million of revenue in the contract year commencing March 1, 2008.
Sunoco will pay the published tariffs on the pipelines. Based upon the prorated minimum amount noted, Sunoco has exceeded the minimum revenue
amount through December 31, 2007 and management of the Partnership expects Sunoco to exceed the minimum amount under the agreement for the
contract year from March 1, 2007 through February 28, 2008;

•

store 975,734 barrels of liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”) per contract year at the Inkster Terminal, which represents all of the LPG storage capacity at
this facility. This storage is an annual amount for the contract period from April 1 to March 31 for the seven-year term of the agreement ending
March 31, 2009. For the calendar year ended December 31, 2007, the Partnership received a fee of $2.238 per barrel of committed storage, a fee of
$0.224 per barrel for receipts greater than 975,734 barrels per contract year and a fee of $0.224 per barrel for deliveries greater than 975,734 barrels
per contract year. These fees will escalate at the rate of 1.875 percent each January 1 for the term of the agreement. Based upon the prorated minimum
storage amount noted, Sunoco has exceeded the minimum storage amount through December 31, 2007 and management of the Partnership expects
Sunoco to exceed the minimum storage amount under the agreement for the contract year from April 1, 2007 through March 31, 2008;

•

receive and deliver at least 290,000 bpd of crude oil or refined products per contract year at the Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex for seven years ending
February 28, 2009. This throughput is an annual amount for the contract period from March 1 to February 28 for the term of the agreement. For the
year ended December 31, 2007, the Partnership received a fee of $0.1767 per barrel for the first 180,000 bpd and $0.0884 per barrel for volume in
excess of 180,000 bpd. These fees will escalate at the rate of 1.67 percent each January 1 for the term of the agreement. Based upon the prorated
minimum throughput amount noted, Sunoco has exceeded the minimum throughput amount through December 31, 2007 and management of the
Partnership expects Sunoco to exceed the minimum throughput amount under the agreement for the contract year from March 1, 2007 through
February 28, 2008; and

•

transport or cause to be transported an aggregate of at least 140,000 bpd of crude oil per contract year on the Marysville to Toledo, Nederland to
Longview, Cushing to Tulsa, Barnsdall to Tulsa, and Bad Creek to Tulsa crude oil pipelines at the published tariffs for a term of seven years ending
February 28, 2009. This throughput is an annual amount for the contract period from March 1 to February 28 for the term of the agreement. Based
upon the prorated minimum throughput amount noted, Sunoco has exceeded the minimum throughput amount through December 31, 2007 and
management of the Partnership expects
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Sunoco to exceed the minimum throughput amount under the agreement for the contract year from March 1, 2007 through February 28, 2008.
If Sunoco fails to meet its minimum obligations pursuant to the contract terms set forth above, it will be required to pay in cash the amount of any shortfall,
which may be applied as a credit in the following year after Sunoco’s minimum obligations for that year are met.
Sunoco’s obligations under this agreement may be permanently reduced or suspended if Sunoco (1) shuts down or reconfigures one of its refineries (other
than planned maintenance turnarounds), or is prohibited from using MTBE in the gasoline it produces, and (2) reasonably believes in good faith that such event
will jeopardize its ability to satisfy these obligations. Although Sunoco no longer uses MTBE, it has not requested any reductions in its obligations.
Sunoco actively manages its assets and operations, and, therefore, changes of some nature, possibly material to our business relationship, may occur at
some point in the future.
There can be no assurance that Sunoco will renew the remaining obligations under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreement, or that, if
renewed, the rates will be at or above the current rates. If Sunoco does not extend or renew the remaining obligations under the pipelines and terminals storage
and throughput agreement, the Partnership’s financial condition and results of operations may be adversely affected. The Partnership’s assets were constructed or
purchased to service Sunoco’s refining and marketing supply chain and are well-situated to suit Sunoco’s needs. As a result, management of the Partnership
would expect that even if this agreement is not renewed, Sunoco would continue to use the pipelines and terminals. However, there can be no assurance that
Sunoco will continue to use the Partnership’s facilities or that additional revenues can be generated from third parties.
Sunoco’s obligations under this agreement do not terminate if Sunoco and its affiliates no longer own the general partner. This agreement may be assigned
by Sunoco only with the consent of the Audit/Conflicts Committee of the general partner’s board of directors.
Omnibus Agreement
In 2002, the Partnership entered into an Omnibus Agreement with Sunoco, and the general partner that addresses the following matters:
•

Sunoco’s obligation to reimburse the Partnership for specified operating expenses and capital expenditures or otherwise to complete certain tank
maintenance and inspection projects;

•

the Partnership’s obligation to pay the general partner or Sunoco an annual administrative fee for the provision by Sunoco of certain general and
administrative services;

•

Sunoco’s and its affiliates’ agreement not to compete with the Partnership under certain circumstances;

•

the Partnership’s agreement to undertake to develop and construct or acquire an asset if requested by Sunoco;

•

an indemnity by Sunoco for certain environmental, toxic tort and other liabilities;

•

the Partnership’s obligation to indemnify Sunoco and its affiliates for events and conditions associated with the operation of the assets that occur on or
after the closing of the initial public offering and for environmental and toxic tort liabilities related to the assets to the extent Sunoco is not required to
indemnify the Partnership; and

•

the Partnership’s option to purchase certain pipeline, terminalling, and storage assets retained by Sunoco or its affiliates.
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Reimbursement of Expenses and Completion of Certain Projects by Sunoco. The Omnibus Agreement requires Sunoco to:
•

reimburse the Partnership for any operating expenses and capital expenditures in excess of $8.0 million per year in each calendar year from 2002 to
2006 that are made to comply with the DOT’s pipeline integrity management rule, subject to a maximum aggregate reimbursement of $15.0 million
over the five-year period ended December 31, 2006;

•

complete, at its expense, certain tank maintenance and inspection projects at the Darby Creek Tank Farm; and

•

reimburse the Partnership for up to $10.0 million of required expenditures at the Marcus Hook Tank Farm and the Darby Creek Tank Farm to maintain
compliance with existing industry standards and regulatory requirements, including: cathodic protection upgrades at these facilities; raising tank farm
pipelines above ground level at these facilities; and repairing or demolishing two riveted tanks at the Marcus Hook Tank Farm.

The Partnership reports outlays for these programs as operating expenses or capital expenditures, as appropriate, in the financial statements. Capital
expenditures are depreciated over their useful lives. Reimbursements by Sunoco are reflected as capital contributions to Partners’ Capital within the Partnership’s
balance sheets.
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 the Partnership was reimbursed $7.0 million, and $3.3 million respectively, by Sunoco for maintenance
capital expenditures and operating expenses incurred in excess of $8.0 million to comply with the DOT’s pipeline integrity management rule. At December 31,
2006, the Partnership has received a cumulative reimbursement equal to the $15.0 million maximum aggregate reimbursement over the five-year period for
compliance expenditures related to the DOT’s pipeline integrity management rule. As a result, the Partnership does not expect to be reimbursed by Sunoco going
forward for expenditures related to integrity management.
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 the Partnership was reimbursed by Sunoco for expenditures at the Marcus Hook Tank Farm and the
Darby Creek Tank Farm to maintain compliance with existing industry standards and regulatory requirements. These expenditures, which were recorded as
maintenance capital and operating expenses, were $0.9 million and $0.1 million for 2005 and 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2006, the Partnership had
received a cumulative reimbursement equal to the $10.0 million maximum reimbursement for compliance expenditures at the Marcus Hook Tank Farm and the
Darby Creek Tank Farm.
General and Administrative Services Fee. Under the Omnibus Agreement, the Partnership pays Sunoco or the general partner an annual administrative fee
that includes expenses incurred by Sunoco and its affiliates to perform centralized corporate functions, such as legal, accounting, treasury, engineering,
information technology, insurance, and other corporate services, including the administration of employee benefit plans. This fee was $8.4 million, $7.7 million
and $6.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. This fee does not include the costs of shared insurance programs (which
are allocated to the Partnership based upon its share of the cash premiums incurred), the salaries of pipeline and terminal personnel or other employees of the
general partner (including senior executives), or the cost of their employee benefits. The Partnership has no employees, and reimburses Sunoco and its affiliates
for these costs and other direct expenses incurred on the Partnership’s behalf. In addition, the Partnership has incurred additional general and administrative costs
which it pays directly.
The initial term of Section 4.1 of the Omnibus Agreement (which concerns the Partnership’s obligation to pay the annual fee for provision of certain
general and administrative services) was through the end of 2004. The parties have extended the term of Section 4.1 by one year in January 2008. The 2008
annual fee decreased to $6.0 million, which reflects the Partnership directly incurring some of these general and administrative costs. These
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costs may be increased if the acquisition or construction of new assets or businesses require an increase in the level of general and administrative services
received by the Partnership. There can be no assurance that Section 4.1 of the Omnibus Agreement will be extended beyond 2008, or that, if extended, the
administrative fee charged by Sunoco will be at or below the current administrative fee. In the event that the Partnership is unable to obtain such services from
Sunoco or other third parties at or below the current cost, the Partnership’s financial condition and results of operations may be adversely impacted.
In addition to the fees for the centralized corporate functions, selling, general and administrative expenses in the statements of income include the
allocation of shared insurance costs of $5.1 million, $3.2 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The
insurance costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 include $2.5 million resulting from two special assessments by one of the Partnership’s insurers as a result
of Hurricanes Rita and Katrina. The Partnership’s share of allocated Sunoco employee benefit plan expenses, including non-contributory defined benefit
retirement plans, defined contribution 401(k) plans, employee and retiree medical, dental and life insurance plans, incentive compensation plans and other such
benefits, was $21.5 million, $22.5 million and $23.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.
Development or Acquisition of an Asset by the Partnership. The Omnibus Agreement contains a provision pursuant to which Sunoco may at any time
propose to the Partnership that it undertake a project to develop and construct or acquire an asset. If the general partner determines in its good faith judgment,
with the concurrence of its Audit/Conflicts Committee, that the project, including the terms on which Sunoco would agree to use such asset, will be beneficial on
the whole and that proceeding with the project will not effectively preclude the Partnership from undertaking another project that will be more beneficial to the
Partnership, the Partnership will be required to use commercially reasonable efforts to finance, develop, and construct or acquire the asset.
Noncompetition. Sunoco agreed, and will cause its affiliates to agree, for so long as Sunoco controls the general partner, not to engage in, whether by
acquisition or otherwise, the business of purchasing crude oil at the wellhead or operating crude oil pipelines or terminals, refined products pipelines or terminals,
or LPG terminals in the continental United States. This restriction does not apply to:
•

any business currently operated by Sunoco or any of its subsidiaries;

•

any logistics asset constructed by Sunoco or any of its subsidiaries within a manufacturing or refining facility in connection with the operation of that
facility;

•

any business that Sunoco or any of its subsidiaries acquires or constructs that has a fair market value of less than $5.0 million; and

•

any business that Sunoco or any of its subsidiaries acquires or constructs that has a fair market value of $5.0 million or more if the Partnership has
been offered the opportunity to purchase the business for fair market value not later than six months after completion of such acquisition or
construction, and the Partnership declines to do so with the concurrence of the Audit/Conflicts Committee.

In addition, the limitations on the ability of Sunoco and its affiliates to compete with the Partnership may terminate upon a change of control of Sunoco.
Options to Purchase Assets Retained by Sunoco. The Omnibus Agreement also contains the terms under which the Partnership has the option to purchase
Sunoco’s direct or indirect interests in Inland Corporation, as well as the Icedale pipeline, as discussed under “Business—Pipeline, Terminalling, and Storage
Assets Retained by Sunoco.”
Indemnification. Under the terms of the Omnibus Agreement and in connection with the contribution of assets by affiliates of Sunoco, Sunoco has agreed
to indemnify the Partnership for 30 years from environmental and toxic tort liabilities related to the assets contributed that arise from the operation of such assets
prior to
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closing of the February 2002 IPO. Sunoco is obligated to indemnify the Partnership for 100 percent of all losses asserted within the first 21 years of closing of the
February 2002 IPO. Sunoco’s share of liability for claims asserted thereafter will decrease by 10 percent a year. For example, for a claim asserted during the
twenty-third year after closing of the February 2002 IPO, Sunoco would be required to indemnify the Partnership for 80 percent of the loss. There is no monetary
cap on the amount of indemnity coverage provided by Sunoco. In addition, this indemnification applies to the interests in the Mesa Pipeline system and the MidValley pipeline purchased from Sunoco following the IPO. Any environmental and toxic tort liabilities not covered by this indemnity will be the Partnership’s
responsibility. Total future costs for environmental remediation activities will depend upon, among other things, the identification of any additional sites, the
determination of the extent of the contamination at each site, the timing and nature of required remedial actions, the technology available and needed to meet the
various existing legal requirements, the nature and extent of future environmental laws, inflation rates, and the determination of the liability at multiparty sites, if
any, in light of the number, participation levels, and financial viability of other parties. The Partnership has agreed to indemnify Sunoco and its affiliates for
events and conditions associated with the operation of the assets that occur on or after the closing of the February 2002 IPO and for environmental and toxic tort
liabilities to the extent Sunoco is not required to indemnify the Partnership.
Sunoco has also agreed to indemnify the Partnership for liabilities relating to:
•

the assets contributed, other than environmental and toxic tort liabilities, that arise out of the operation of the assets prior to the closing of the February
2002 IPO and that are asserted within ten years after the closing of the IPO;

•

certain defects in title to the assets contributed and failure to obtain certain consents and permits necessary to conduct the business that arise within ten
years after the closing of the February 2002 IPO;

•

legal actions related to the period prior to the February 2002 IPO currently pending against Sunoco or its affiliates; and

•

events and conditions associated with any assets retained by Sunoco or its affiliates.

Interrefinery Lease Agreement
Under a 20-year lease agreement entered into by the Partnership and Sunoco upon the closing of the February 2002 IPO, Sunoco leases the Partnership’s 58
miles of interrefinery pipelines between Sunoco’s Philadelphia and Marcus Hook refineries for an annual fee which escalates at 1.67 percent each January 1st for
the term of the agreement. The annual fee for the year ended December 31, 2007 was $5.8 million. These fees are recorded as revenue within the Partnership’s
statements of income.
The lease agreement also requires Sunoco to reimburse the Partnership for any non-routine maintenance expenditures, as defined, incurred during the term
of the agreement. For the year ended December 31, 2007, the Partnership was reimbursed by Sunoco for maintenance operating expenses and capital expenditures
associated with this provision. The reimbursement was recorded as a capital contribution to Partners’ Capital within the Partnership’s balance sheet.
Crude Oil Purchase Agreement
The Partnership has agreements with Sunoco whereby Sunoco purchases from the Partnership, at market-based rates, particular grades of crude oil that are
purchased by the crude oil acquisition and marketing business. These agreements automatically renew on a monthly basis unless terminated by either party on 30
days’ written notice. Sunoco cancelled four of these agreements during 2007 in accordance with the terms, but the cancellation did not have a material impact on
the Partnership’s results of operations or cash flows. During each of the three years ended December 31, 2007, Sunoco purchased all the barrels offered pursuant
to these agreements and has not indicated that it intends to terminate any additional agreements.
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License Agreement
The Partnership has granted to Sunoco and certain of its affiliates, including the general partner, a license to its intellectual property so that the general
partner can manage its operations and create new intellectual property using the Partnership’s intellectual property. The general partner will assign to the
Partnership the new intellectual property it creates in operating the Partnership’s business. The general partner has also licensed to the Partnership certain of its
own intellectual property for use in the conduct of the Partnership’s business and the Partnership has licensed to the general partner certain intellectual property
for use in the conduct of its business. The license agreement has also granted to the Partnership a license to use the trademarks, trade names, and service marks of
Sunoco in the conduct of its business.
Treasury Services Agreement
The Partnership has a treasury services agreement with Sunoco pursuant to which, among other things, it is participating in Sunoco’s centralized cash
management program. Under this program, all of the cash receipts and cash disbursements are processed, together with those of Sunoco and its other subsidiaries,
through Sunoco’s cash accounts with a corresponding credit or charge to an intercompany account. The intercompany balance will be settled periodically, but no
less frequently than monthly. Amounts due from Sunoco and its subsidiaries earn interest at a rate equal to the average rate of the Partnership’s third-party money
market investments, while amounts due to Sunoco and its subsidiaries bear interest at a rate equal to the interest rate provided in the revolving credit facility (the
“Credit Facility”).
Eagle Point Logistics Assets Purchase and Throughput Agreements
On March 30, 2004, the Partnership entered into a purchase agreement with Sunoco to acquire the Eagle Point refinery logistics assets for approximately
$20 million. The purchase agreement requires Sunoco to reimburse the Partnership for certain maintenance capital and expenses incurred regarding the assets
acquired, as defined, up to $5.0 million within the first 10 years of the closing of the transaction. At December 31, 2007, the Partnership has received a
cumulative reimbursement of $2.9 million relative to the $5.0 million maximum reimbursement.
In connection with the acquisition, the Partnership also entered into a throughput agreement with Sunoco under which the Partnership is charging Sunoco
fees for services provided under this agreement that are comparable to those charged in arm’s length, third-party transactions to:
•

receive or deliver all crude oil to and from the Eagle Point refinery, other than those received or shipped via rail car, tanker truck or pipeline for twelve
years ending March 31, 2016. This throughput is an annual amount for the contract period from April 1 to March 31 for the term of the agreement. For
the calendar year ended December 31, 2007, the Partnership received a fee of $0.0841 per barrel for the first 130,000 bpd of crude oil and $0.0420 per
barrel for volumes in excess of 130,000 bpd. These fees escalate at the rate of 1.67 percent each January 1 for the term of the agreement;

•

receive and deliver at least 41,800 bpd of refined and intermediate products per year at the Eagle Point dock for twelve years ending March 31, 2016.
This throughput is an annual amount for the contract period from April 1 to March 31 for the term of the agreement. For the calendar year ended
December 31, 2007, the Partnership received a fee of $0.0841 per barrel for the first 14,200 bpd of refined and intermediate products and $0.0420 per
barrel for volume in excess of 14,200 bpd and also received a fee of $0.0736 per barrel for each shipment that required vapor combustion services.
These fees escalate at the rate of 1.67 percent each January 1 for the term of the agreement; and

•

receive and deliver at least 32,000 bpd of refined and intermediate products per year at the Eagle Point Refined Products Terminal for twelve years
ending March 31, 2016. This throughput is an annual amount for the contract period from April 1 to March 31 for the term of the agreement. For the
year ended December 31, 2007, the Partnership received per barrel fees as set forth in the contract by refined
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and intermediate product shipped. These fees will escalate at the rate of 1.67 percent each January 1 for the term of the agreement. For the year ended
December 31, 2007, the Partnership received $0.1 million from Sunoco for not meeting the minimum throughput amount in the contract year ended
March 31, 2007. Sunoco has met the minimum throughput amount through December 31, 2007. Under the agreement, Sunoco will pay the Partnership
any shortfall if it does not exceed the minimum throughput amount under the agreement for the contract year from April 1, 2007 through March 31,
2008.
On January 24, 2008 Sunoco and the Partnership executed an Amended and Restated Dock and Terminal Throughput Agreement, which amended certain
of the above terms. See Subsequent Events Note 17 to the financial statements included in Item 8.
Unit Redemptions and Equity Offering Cost-Sharing Agreements
In 2005, the Partnership sold 2.775 million common units in public offerings for net proceeds of $99.2 million. The net proceeds were used to redeem
2.775 million common units owned by Sunoco. Also in connection with the equity offerings, Sunoco reimbursed the Partnership for $0.4 million in transaction
costs incurred by the Partnership. The reimbursement was accounted for as an increase to Partners’ Capital within the Partnership’s consolidated balance sheet.
Product Terminal Services Agreement
On February 28, 2007 certain obligations of Sunoco under the pipelines and terminals storage throughput agreement with the Partnership, related to
throughput of refined products through the Partnership’s terminals, expired. Sunoco and the Partnership entered into a product terminal services agreement
effective March 1, 2007 pursuant to which Sunoco may throughput refined products through the partnership’s terminals at agreed upon fees that escalate over the
five-year term of the agreement. The agreement contains no minimum throughput obligations for Sunoco. The Partnership’s refined product terminals were
constructed or purchased to service Sunoco’s refining and marketing supply chain and are well situated to suit Sunoco’s needs. As a result management of the
Partnership would expect Sunoco to continue to use the terminals. However, there can be no assurance that Sunoco will continue to use the Partnership’s
terminals or that additional revenues can be generated from third parties.
Marcus Hook Tank Farm Agreement
On February 28, 2007 certain obligations of Sunoco under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreement with the Partnership, related to the
Marcus Hook Tank Farm, expired. Sunoco and the Partnership entered into the Marcus Hook Tank Farm Agreement effective March 1, 2007 pursuant to which
Sunoco may throughput refined products through the Marcus Hook Tank Farm at agreed upon fees that escalate over the five-year term of the agreement. The
agreement contains no minimum throughput obligations for Sunoco. The Partnership’s Marcus Hook Tank Farm is well situated to meet the needs of Sunoco’s
Marcus Hook refinery. As a result management of the Partnership would expect Sunoco to continue to use the Marcus Hook Tank Farm. However, there can be no
assurance that Sunoco will continue to use the Partnership’s Marcus Hook Tank Farm or that additional revenues can be generated from third parties.
Other Agreements
The Partnership has also entered into various other agreements with Sunoco and their affiliates, including throughput agreements regarding certain acquired
assets or improvements or expansions at existing assets which are not covered within the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreement. Although
these agreements did not result from arm’s-length negotiations, management of the Partnership believes the terms of these agreements to be comparable to those
that could be negotiated with an unrelated third party.
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVEAND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK
The Partnership is exposed to various market risks, including volatility in crude oil commodity prices and interest rates. To manage such exposure,
inventory levels and expectations of future commodity prices and interest rates are monitored when making decisions with respect to risk management. The
Partnership has not entered into derivative transactions that would expose it to price risk.
On January 8, 2008, the Partnership entered into an interest rate swap with a notional amount of $50.0 million maturing January 2010. Under the swap
agreement, the Company receives interest equivalent to three-month LIBOR and pays a fixed rate of interest of 3.489 percent with settlements occurring
quarterly. The Company has designated the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge under SFAS No. 133.
The $400 million Credit Facility exposes the Partnership to interest rate risk since it bears interest at a variable rate. The interest rate swap that was entered
into in January 2008 effectively fixes the interest rate on $50.0 million of our outstanding borrowings on the Credit Facility. The variable interest rate was 5.47
percent at December 31, 2007. Given the interest rate swap, a one percent change in interest rates changes annual interest expense by approximately $0.4 million.
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ITEM 8.

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA
MANAGEMENT’S REPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL
OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING

Management of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (the “Partnership”) is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial
reporting, as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. The Partnership’s internal control over financial
reporting is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements in accordance with
generally accepted accounting principles.
The Partnership’s management assessed the effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007. In making
this assessment, the Partnership’s management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”)
in Internal Control—Integrated Framework.
Based on this assessment, management believes that, as of December 31, 2007, the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting is effective based
on those criteria. Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered public accounting firm, has issued an attestation report on the effectiveness of the Partnership’s
internal control over financial reporting, which appears in this section.
Deborah M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive Officer
Neal E. Murphy
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM
ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL REPORTING
The Board of Directors of
Sunoco Partners LLC
We have audited Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (the COSO criteria). Sunoco Logistics
Partners L.P.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the partnership’s internal control over financial reporting based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and
evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary
in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting
and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of
unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.
Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with
the policies or procedures may deteriorate.
In our opinion, Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31,
2007, based on the COSO criteria.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 2007 financial statements
of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. and our report dated February 25, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2008
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
To the Board of Directors of
Sunoco Partners LLC
We have audited the accompanying balance sheets of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (the “Partnership”) as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, and the related
statements of income, partners’ capital, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Partnership’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles
used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. at
December 31, 2006 and 2007, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2007, in conformity
with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statements, Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. changed its method of accounting for uncertain tax positions in 2007 and
changed its method of accounting for share-based compensation in 2006.
We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Sunoco Logistics Partners
L.P.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2007, based on criteria established in Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission and our report dated February 25, 2008 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2008
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SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(in thousands, except units and per unit amounts)

Revenues
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates (Note 3)
Unaffiliated customers
Other income
Total Revenues
Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sold and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total Costs and Expenses
Operating Income
Net interest cost paid to affiliates
Other interest cost and debt expense, net
Capitalized interest
Net Income
Calculation of Limited Partners’ interest in Net Income:
Net Income
Less: General Partner’s interest in Net Income
Limited Partners’ interest in Net Income

2005

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

$ 1,986,019
2,496,593
14,295
4,496,907

$ 1,842,634
3,994,601
17,315
5,854,550

$ 1,682,042
5,695,413
28,381
7,405,836

4,326,713
33,838
53,048
4,413,599
83,308
468
21,611
(480)
$
61,709

5,644,021
36,649
55,686
5,736,356
118,194
1,411
29,447
(3,005)
$
90,341

7,156,142
37,341
56,198
7,249,681
156,155
2,287
36,412
(3,419)
$ 120,875

$

$

$

$

Net Income per Limited Partner unit:
Basic
Diluted
Weighted average Limited Partners’ units outstanding (Note 5):
Basic
Diluted
(See Accompanying Notes)
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61,709
(3,054)
58,655

$

90,341
(11,166)
79,175

$

120,875
(24,139)
96,736

$

2.37

$

2.87

$

3.38

$

2.35

$

2.85

$

3.37

24,783,852

27,608,565

28,581,032

24,953,713

27,738,016

28,729,153
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SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands)
December 31,
2006

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Advances to affiliates (Note 3)
Accounts receivable, affiliated companies (Note 3)
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories (Note 6)
Total Current Assets
Properties, plants and equipment, net (Note 7)
Investment in affiliates (Note 8)
Deferred charges and other assets
Total Assets

$

Liabilities and Partners’ Capital
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued taxes
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debt (Note 9)
Other deferred credits and liabilities
Commitments and contingent liabilities (Note 10)
Total Liabilities
Partners’ Capital:
Limited partners’ interest
General partner’s interest
Total Partners’ Capital
Total Liabilities and Partners’ Capital
(See Accompanying Notes)
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2007

9,412
7,431
98,952
776,505
70,284
962,584
1,006,668
81,934
30,891
$ 2,082,077

$

2,000
8,060
62,167
1,200,782
30,669
1,303,678
1,089,262
84,985
26,717
$ 2,504,642

$

922,495
34,843
22,869
980,207
491,910
27,049

$ 1,289,402
45,159
34,277
1,368,838
515,104
29,655

1,499,166

1,913,597

576,004
6,907
582,911
$ 2,082,077

582,357
8,688
591,045
$ 2,504,642
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SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Cash Flows from Operating Activities:
Net Income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization
Amortization of financing fees and bond discount
Restricted unit incentive plan expense
Changes in working capital pertaining to operating activities:
Accounts receivable, affiliated companies
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities
Accrued taxes
Proceeds from insurance recovery
Other
Net cash provided by operating activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions
Net cash used in investing activities
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Distributions paid to Limited Partners and General Partner
Net proceeds from issuance of Limited Partner units
Redemption of Limited Partner units from Sunoco
Contribution from General Partner for Limited Partner unit transactions
Repayments from (advances to) affiliates, net
Borrowings under credit facility
Repayments under credit facility
Net proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes
Payments of statutory withholding on net issuance of Limited Partner units under restricted unit
incentive plan
Contributions from / (Distributions to) affiliate
Net cash provided by/(used in) financing activities
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year
(See Accompanying Notes)
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2005

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

$ 61,709

$ 90,341

$ 120,875

33,838
400
3,221

36,649
508
3,686

37,341
666
5,310

3,792
(188,030)
(1,133)
173,380
5,824
—
(2,166)
90,835

37,584
(191,996)
(39,834)
203,819
1,883
—
(1,160)
141,480

36,785
(424,277)
39,615
376,690
11,408
4,389
(1,303)
207,499

(73,345)
(107,309)
(180,654)

(119,838)
(121,382)
(241,220)

(105,862)
(13,489)
(119,351)

(67,331)
159,641
(99,203)
1,430
18,099
98,600
(56,500)
—

(97,987)
110,338
—
2,427
(13,181)
177,500
(216,100)
173,307

(117,451)
—
—
58
(629)
279,900
(256,900)
—

(2,863)
6,931
58,804
(31,015)
52,660
$ 21,645

(1,443)
(47,354)
87,507
(12,233)
21,645
$ 9,412

(1,479)
941
(95,560)
(7,412)
9,412
$ 2,000
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SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
STATEMENTS OF PARTNERS’ CAPITAL
(in thousands)
General
Partner
$

Total
Partners’
Capital
$

7,738
3,417
(2,124)
—
161
(22)
—
—
137
—
3,054
(4,462)
$ 7,899
2,353
—
115
(1,062)
—
—
74
—
11,166
(13,638)
$ 6,907
8
—
24
(5)
—
—
58
—
24,139
(22,443)
$ 8,688

$ 460,594
163,058
(101,327)
—
8,025
(1,094)
3,221
(718)
137
(2,863)
61,709
(67,331)
$ 523,411
112,691
—
5,726
(53,080)
3,686
(508)
74
(1,443)
90,341
(97,987)
$ 582,911
413
—
1,197
(256)
5,310
(533)
58
(1,479)
120,875
(117,451)
$ 591,045

Limited Partners
Common
Units

Balance at December 31, 2004
Issuance of Limited Partner units to the public (Note 2)
Redemption of Limited Partner units from affiliate (Note 2)
Conversion of Subordinated units to Common units held by affiliate (Note 12)
Contribution from affiliate
Distribution to affiliate
Unissued units under incentive plans
Distribution equivalent rights
Units issued under incentive plans
Tax withholding under incentive plans
Net income
Cash distributions
Balance at December 31, 2005
Issuance of Limited Partner units to the public (Note 2)
Conversion of Subordinated units to Common units held by affiliate (Note 12)
Contribution from affiliate
Distribution to affiliate
Unissued units under incentive plans
Distribution equivalent rights
Units issued under incentive plans
Tax withholding under incentive plans
Net income
Cash distributions
Balance at December 31, 2006
Cumulative effect of adoption of FIN No. 48
Conversion of Subordinated units to Common units held by affiliate (Note 12)
Contribution from affiliate
Distribution to affiliate
Unissued units under incentive plans
Distribution equivalent rights
Units issued under incentive plans
Tax withholding under incentive plans
Net income
Cash distributions
Balance at December 31, 2007

12,605
4,400
(2,775)
2,846
—
—
—
—
155
—
—
—
17,231
2,680
2,846
—
—
—
—
87
—
—
—
22,844
—
5,692
—
—
—
—
50
—
—
—
28,586

(See Accompanying Notes)
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$

$ 253,430
159,641
(99,203)
49,857
2,345
(313)
3,221
(718)
—
(2,863)
38,532
(44,975)
$ 358,954
110,338
52,185
2,964
(27,475)
3,686
(508)
—
(1,443)
63,029
(65,104)
$ 496,626
405
79,378
1,173
(251)
5,310
(533)
—
(1,479)
96,736
(95,008)
$ 582,357

Subordinated
Units
$

11,384
—
—
(2,846)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
8,538
—
(2,846)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
5,692
—
(5,692)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—

$ 199,426
—
—
(49,857)
5,519
(759)
—
—
—
—
20,123
(17,894)
$ 156,558
—
(52,185)
2,647
(24,543)
—
—
—
—
16,146
(19,245)
$ 79,378
—
(79,378)
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
—
$
—

$
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SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation
Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (the “Partnership”) is a Delaware limited partnership formed by Sunoco, Inc. (“Sunoco”) in October 2001 to acquire, own
and operate a substantial portion of Sunoco’s logistics business, consisting of refined product pipelines, terminalling and storage assets, crude oil pipelines, and
crude oil acquisition and marketing assets located in the Northeast, Midwest and South Central United States. Sunoco, Inc and its wholly-owned subsidiaries
including Sunoco, Inc. (R&M) are collectively referred to as “Sunoco”. The financial statements of the Partnership contain the accounts of the Partnership and its
subsidiaries. Equity ownership interests in corporate joint ventures, which are not consolidated, are accounted for under the equity method.
Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and accompanying notes. Actual amounts could differ from these estimates.
Revenue Recognition
Terminalling and storage revenues are recognized at the time the services are provided. Pipeline revenues are recognized upon delivery of the barrels to the
location designated by the shipper. Crude oil gathering and marketing revenues are recognized when title to the crude oil is transferred to the customer. Revenues
are not recognized for crude oil exchange transactions, which are entered into primarily to acquire crude oil of a desired quality or to reduce transportation costs
by taking delivery closer to the Partnership’s end markets. Any net differential for exchange transactions is recorded as an adjustment of inventory costs in the
purchases component of cost of products sold and operating expenses in the statements of income based upon the concepts set forth in APB Opinion No. 29,
“Accounting for Nonmonetary Transactions” as amended by Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 04-13, “Accounting for Purchases and Sales of Inventory with the
Same Counterparty”.
Affiliated revenues consist of sales of crude oil as well as the provision of crude oil and refined product pipeline transportation, terminalling and storage
services to Sunoco. Sales of crude oil to affiliates are priced using market based rates. In 2002, the Partnership entered into a pipelines and terminals storage and
throughput agreement with Sunoco under which the Partnership is charging Sunoco fees for services provided under these agreements comparable to those
charged in arm’s-length, third-party transactions. Under the pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreement, Sunoco has agreed to pay the Partnership a
minimum level of revenue for transporting refined products. Sunoco also has agreed to minimum throughputs of refined products, intermediates, liquefied
petroleum gas and crude oil in the Partnership’s Inkster Terminal, Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex, Eagle Point dock and terminal and certain crude oil pipelines.
Cash Equivalents
The Partnership considers all highly liquid investments with a remaining maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase to be cash equivalents.
These cash equivalents consist principally of money market accounts.
Accounts Receivable, net
Accounts receivable represent valid claims against non-affiliated customers (see Note 3 for affiliated receivables) for products sold or services rendered.
The Partnership extends credit terms to certain customers
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
after review of various credit indicators, including the customer’s credit rating. Outstanding customer receivable balances are regularly reviewed for possible nonpayment indicators and reserves are recorded for doubtful accounts based upon management’s estimate of collectibility at the time of review. Actual balances are
charged against the reserve when all collection efforts have been exhausted.
Inventories
Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or market. Crude oil inventory cost has been determined using the last-in, first-out method (“LIFO”). Under this
methodology, the cost of products sold consists of the actual crude oil acquisition costs of the Partnership. Such costs are adjusted to reflect increases or decreases
in crude oil inventory quantities, which are valued based on the changes in the LIFO inventory layers. The cost of materials, supplies and other inventories is
principally determined using the average cost method. Crude inventory balances declined in the Partnership’s Western Pipeline business segment during 2007,
which resulted in liquidating a portion of the prior year layer carried at lower costs prevailing in 2006. The reduction resulted predominately from the elimination
of contango inventory positions, and had the effect of increasing results of operations by $11.0 million in 2007.
Properties, Plants and Equipment
Properties, plants and equipment are stated at cost. Additions to properties, plants and equipment, including replacements and improvements, are recorded
at cost. Repair and maintenance expenditures are charged to expense as incurred. Depreciation is provided principally using the straight-line method based on the
estimated useful lives of the related assets. For certain interstate pipelines, the depreciation rate is applied to the net asset value based on FERC requirements.
During 2005, the Partnership accelerated the depreciation of assets related to equipment upgrade programs and the Western area office move from Tulsa,
Oklahoma to Sugar Land, Texas, based upon the estimated remaining useful lives of these assets until their replacement. During the years ended December 31,
2005 and 2006 the acceleration resulted in additional depreciation expense of $1.8 million, and $0.5 million respectively.
Capitalized Interest
The Partnership capitalizes interest on borrowed funds related to capital projects only for periods that activities are in progress to bring these projects to
their intended use. During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, the amount of interest capitalized was $0.5 million, $3.0 million and $3.4 million,
respectively. The weighted average rate used to capitalize interest on borrowed funds was 6.5 percent, 6.6 percent and 6.5 percent for 2005, 2006 and 2007,
respectively.
Investment in Affiliates
Investments in affiliates, which consist of corporate joint ventures, are accounted for under the equity method of accounting as required by Accounting
Principles Board Opinion 18, “The Equity Method of Accounting for Investments in Common Stock” (“APB 18”). Under this method, an investment is carried at
acquisition cost, increased for the equity in income or decreased for the equity in loss from the date of acquisition, and reduced for dividends received. The
Partnership had $6.3 million of undistributed earnings from its investments in corporate joint ventures within Partners’ Capital on its December 31, 2007 balance
sheet. During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 the Partnership received dividends of $13.2 million, $15.9 million and $23.9 million
respectively, from its investments in corporate joint ventures.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
The Partnership allocates its excess investment cost over its equity in the net assets of affiliates to the underlying tangible and intangible assets of the
corporate joint ventures. Other than land and indefinite-lived intangible assets, all amounts allocated, principally to pipeline and related assets, are amortized
using the straight-line method over their estimated useful life of 40 years. The amortization of these amounts is included within depreciation and amortization in
the statements of income.
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets
Long-lived assets other than those held for sale are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount of the assets may not be recoverable. An asset is considered to be impaired when the undiscounted estimated net cash flows expected to be generated by
the asset are less than its carrying amount. The impairment recognized is the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the estimated fair value of the
impaired asset. Long-lived assets held for sale are recorded at the lower of their carrying amount or estimated fair value less cost to sell the assets.
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets
Goodwill, which represents the excess of the purchase price over fair value of net assets acquired, is presented net of accumulated amortization within
deferred charges and other assets on the balance sheets. As of December 31, 2006 and 2007, the Partnership had $16.2 million of goodwill and accumulated
amortization of $1.3 million related to goodwill. In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 142, “Goodwill and Other
Intangible Assets,” goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets are tested for impairment at least annually. The Partnership determined during 2005, 2006 and
2007 that such assets were not impaired.
Deferred financing fees of $3.4 million and $3.1 million, net of accumulated amortization of $1.7 million and $1.9 million have been included within
deferred charges and other assets on the balance sheets as of December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively. The Partnership deferred total fees of $0.3 million paid in
2007 related to a new Credit Facility entered into in August 2007 (see Note 9). Amortization expense of $0.4 million, $0.5 million and $0.7 million for the years
ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively, has been included within other interest cost and debt expense on the statements of income. The
Partnership amortizes deferred financing fees over the life of the respective debt agreement.
Environmental Remediation
The Partnership accrues environmental remediation costs for work at identified sites where an assessment has indicated that cleanup costs are probable and
reasonably estimable. Such accruals are undiscounted and are based on currently available information, estimated timing of remedial actions and related inflation
assumptions, existing technology and presently enacted laws and regulations. If a range of probable environmental cleanup costs exists for an identified site, the
minimum of the range is accrued unless some other point or points in the range are more likely, in which case the most likely amount in this range is accrued.
Income Taxes
No provision for U.S. federal income taxes is included in the accompanying financial statements. As a partnership we are not a taxable entity for U.S.
federal income tax purposes, or for the majority of states that impose income taxes. Our taxable income, which may vary substantially from the net income
reported for financial reporting purposes, is includable in the federal and state income tax returns of our unitholders. There are some states, however, in which the
Partnership operates where we are subject to state and local income taxes.
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We adopted the provisions of Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) Interpretation No. 48, Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes, an
Interpretation of SFAS 109, Accounting for Income Taxes (“FIN 48”), as of January 1, 2007. This interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income
taxes recognized in an entity’s financial statements in accordance with SFAS 109 by prescribing the minimum recognition threshold and measurement attribute a
tax position taken or expected to be taken on a tax return is required to meet before being recognized in the financial statements. The adoption of FIN 48 had no
material impact on our financial statements.
Long-Term Incentive Plan
On January 1, 2006, the Partnership adopted SFAS No. 123R, “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS No. 123R”), using the modified-prospective method.
Among other things, SFAS No. 123R requires a fair-value-based method of accounting for share-based payment transactions. SFAS No. 123R also requires the
use of a non-substantive vesting period approach for share-based payment transactions that vest when an employee becomes retirement eligible as is the case
under the Partnership’s Long-Term Incentive Plan (i.e., the vesting period cannot exceed the date an employee becomes retirement eligible). The effect is to
accelerate expense recognition for units awarded to retirement-eligible participants or those participants who will become retirement-eligible during the vesting
period. Expense related to this plan is included in selling general and administrative expenses on the income statement.
Asset Retirement Obligations
In March 2005, the FASB issued FASB Interpretation No. 47, “Accounting for Conditional Asset Retirement Obligations” (“FASB Interpretation No. 47”).
FASB Interpretation No. 47 clarifies that the term “conditional asset retirement obligation” as used in SFAS No. 143, “Accounting for Asset Retirement
Obligations,” refers to a legal obligation to perform an asset retirement activity in which the timing and/or method of settlement are conditional on a future event
that may or may not be within the control of the entity. FASB Interpretation No. 47 provides that a liability for the fair value of a conditional asset retirement
obligation should be recognized if that fair value can be reasonably estimated. FASB Interpretation No. 47 also clarifies when an entity would have sufficient
information to reasonably estimate the fair value of an asset retirement obligation. In conjunction with the implementation of FASB Interpretation No. 47 in 2005,
the Partnership recorded an increase in the liability for asset retirement obligations of $20.6 million (included as a component of other deferred credits and
liabilities on the balance sheet) and additional properties, plants and equipment of $20.6 million, primarily attributed to pipelines and crude oil and refined
product storage tanks at the Partnership’s facilities. During 2006, the Partnership increased the liability for asset retirement obligations and properties, plant and
equipment by $1.1 million related to the obligations associated with two crude oil pipelines acquired in March 2006. During 2007, the Partnership had no changes
to the liability for asset retirement obligations and properties, plant and equipment. These changes did not have a significant impact on the Partnership’s statement
of income for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007. The Partnership believes it may have additional asset retirement obligations related to its
pipeline assets and storage tanks, for which it is not possible to estimate when the retirement obligations will be settled. Consequently, these retirement
obligations cannot be measured at this time.
Fair Value Measurements
In September 2006, the FASB issued SFAS No. 157, “Fair Value Measurements” (“SFAS No. 157”). SFAS 157 defines fair value, establishes a framework
for measuring fair value in generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. SFAS No. 157 applies only to fairvalue
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measurements that are already required or permitted by other accounting standards and is expected to increase the consistency of those measurements. SFAS
No. 157 emphasizes that fair value is a market-based measurement that should be determined based on the assumptions that market participants would use in
pricing an asset or liability. The Partnership will be required to disclose the extent to which fair value is used to measure assets and liabilities, the inputs used to
develop the measurements, and the effect of certain of the measurements on earnings (or changes in net assets) for the period. SFAS No. 157 is effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2007, and the Partnership is required to adopt SFAS No. 157 as of January 1, 2008. The Partnership is currently assessing the
impact that the adoption of SFAS No. 157 will have on its financial statements.
In February 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 159, “The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Liabilities, Including an amendment of FASB
Statement No. 115” (“SFAS No. 159”). This statement permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items that are not
currently required to be measured at fair value. SFAS No. 159 is effective for financial statements issued for fiscal years beginning after November 15, 2007, and
the Partnership is required to adopt SFAS No. 159 as of January 1, 2008. The Partnership is currently assessing the impact the adoption of SFAS No. 159 will
have on its financial statements.
Lease Accounting
The Partnership applies the provisions of Emerging Issues Task Force Issue 01-8, “Determining Whether an Arrangement Contains a Lease” (“EITF 018”). EITF 01-8 provides guidance in determining whether an arrangement meets the definition of a lease under the provisions of SFAS No. 13, “Accounting for
Leases” (“SFAS No. 13”). SFAS No. 13 defines a lease as an agreement conveying the right to use property, plant or equipment for a stated period of time. EITF
01-8 provides criteria to determine whether an arrangement conveys the right to use property, plant and equipment under SFAS No. 13. The accounting
requirements under EITF 01-8 could affect an arrangement’s timing of revenue and expense recognition, and revenues previously reported as transportation and
storage services might have to be reported as rental or leasing income. However, the timing of the cash receipts associated with these agreements would not be
impacted by the accounting requirements under EITF 01-8. The provisions of EITF 01-8 are to be applied prospectively to arrangements agreed to, modified, or
acquired in business combinations after July 1, 2003. During 2005, 2006 and 2007 previous arrangements that would be leases or would contain a lease according
to this pronouncement were recorded in accordance with their prior accounting treatment. The Partnership is continually analyzing its agreements that were in
existence prior to July 1, 2003 to determine if the accounting for these agreements would be impacted upon renewal or amendment. The provisions of EITF 01-8
had no material impact on the Partnership’s financial statements for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007.
Earnings Per Unit
In November 2007, the Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) ratified its consensus on Issue No. 07-04, “Application of the Two-Class Method under
FASB Statement No. 128, Earnings per Share, to Master Limited Partnerships.” EITF 07-04 will require incentive distribution rights (“IDRs”) in a master limited
partnership to be treated as participating securities for the purpose of computing earnings. EITF 07-04 also requires that when earnings exceed distributions,
undistributed earnings are to be allocated to the IDR holders, the general partner, and limited partners as if the excess earnings were “available cash.” On the other
hand, when distributions exceed earnings, income or loss would be allocated to the partnership interests based on the contractual terms of the partnership
agreement. EITF 07-04 is effective for the reporting periods beginning after December 15, 2008 and is to be applied retrospectively as a change in accounting
principle on an arrangement by arrangement basis. The Partnership will adopt the requirements of EITF 07-04 effective January 1, 2009.
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Hurricane Rita Losses
On September 24, 2005, Hurricane Rita damaged the Partnership’s Nederland Terminal facility and a portion of the Western Pipeline System, impacting
several storage tanks, dock facilities, buildings and equipment. Although the Nederland Terminal resumed operations on October 3, 2005, the business was
impacted for a few weeks as a result of interruptions in customer and supplier business activities related to the Hurricane. The costs attributed to the Hurricane
totaled approximately $7.5 million, of which we have recovered $4.4 million from the insurance carrier as of December 31, 2007. The Partnership does not
expect to incur any material additional costs in 2008 to repair its damaged facilities and expects to negotiate a final settlement with its insurance carrier for
reimbursement of the remaining unreimbursed costs during 2008.
2. Equity Offerings
In May 2005, the Partnership sold 2.5 million common units in a public offering. In June 2005, the Partnership sold an additional 275,000 common units to
cover over-allotments in connection with the May 2005 sale. The purchase price for the over-allotment was equal to the offering price in the May 2005 sale. The
units were issued under the Partnership’s previously filed Form S-3 shelf registration statement. The sale of units resulted in total gross proceeds of $104.1
million, and net proceeds of $99.2 million, after underwriters’ commissions and legal, accounting and other transaction expenses. Net proceeds from the sale were
used to redeem 2.775 million common units owned by Sunoco. The redemption price per unit was equal to the public offering price per unit after the
underwriters’ commissions.
In August 2005, the Partnership sold 1.5 million common units in a public offering. In September 2005, the Partnership sold an additional 125,000
common units to cover over-allotments in connection with the August 2005 sale. The purchase price for the over allotment was equal to the offering price in the
August 2005 sale. The units were issued under the Partnership’s previously filed Form S-3 shelf registration statement. The sale of units resulted in total gross
proceeds of $63.4 million, and net proceeds of $60.4 million, after the underwriters’ commission and legal, accounting and other transaction expenses. Net
proceeds of the sale were used to repay $56.5 million of the debt incurred to finance the August 1, 2005 purchase of a Texas crude oil pipeline system and storage
facilities with the balance for general partnership purposes. As a result of this issuance of 1.625 million common units, the general partner contributed $1.3
million to the Partnership to maintain its 2.0 percent general partner interest.
In May 2006, the Partnership sold 2.4 million common units in a public offering. In June 2006, the Partnership sold an additional 280,000 common units to
cover over-allotments in connection with the May 2006 sale. The purchase price for the over allotment was equal to the offering price in the May 2006 sale. The
sale of units resulted in total gross proceeds of $115.2 million, and net proceeds of $110.3 million, after the underwriters’ commission and legal, accounting and
other transaction expenses. Net proceeds of the offering, together with the $173.3 million in net proceeds from the concurrent offering of Senior Notes (see Note
9), were used to repay $216.1 million of the debt incurred under the revolving credit facility, to fund the Partnership’s 2006 organic growth program, and for
general partnership purposes. Also as a result of the issuance of these units, the general partner contributed $2.4 million to the Partnership to maintain its 2.0
percent general partner interest. At December 31, 2007, Sunoco’s ownership in the Partnership, including its 2.0 percent general partner interest, was 43.4
percent.
3. Related Party Transactions
Advances to/from Affiliate
The Partnership has a treasury services agreement with Sunoco pursuant to which it, among other things, participates in Sunoco’s centralized cash
management program. Under this program, all of the Partnership’s cash
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receipts and cash disbursements are processed, together with those of Sunoco and its other subsidiaries, through Sunoco’s cash accounts with a corresponding
credit or charge to an intercompany account. The intercompany balances are settled periodically, but no less frequently than monthly. Amounts due from Sunoco
earn interest at a rate equal to the average rate of the Partnership’s third-party money market investments, while amounts due to Sunoco bear interest at a rate
equal to the interest rate provided in the Partnership’s revolving credit facility (see Note 9).
Administrative Services
Under the Omnibus Agreement, the Partnership pays Sunoco or the general partner an annual administrative fee that includes expenses incurred by Sunoco
and its affiliates to perform centralized corporate functions, such as legal, accounting, treasury, engineering, information technology, insurance, and other
corporate services, including the administration of employee benefit plans. This fee was $8.4 million, $7.7 million and $6.5 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005, 2006, and 2007, respectively. This fee does not include the costs of shared insurance programs (which are allocated to the Partnership based
upon its share of the cash premiums incurred), the salaries of pipeline and terminal personnel or other employees of the general partner (including senior
executives), or the cost of their employee benefits. The Partnership has no employees, and reimburses Sunoco and its affiliates for these costs and other direct
expenses incurred on the Partnership’s behalf. In addition, the Partnership has incurred additional general and administrative costs which it pays directly.
The initial term of Section 4.1 of the Omnibus Agreement (which concerns the Partnership’s obligation to pay the annual fee for provision of certain
general and administrative services) was through the end of 2004. The parties have extended the term of Section 4.1 by one year in January 2008. The 2008
annual fee decreased to $6.0 million, which reflects the Partnership directly incurring some of these general and administrative costs. These costs may be
increased if the acquisition or construction of new assets or businesses require an increase in the level of general and administrative services received by the
Partnership. There can be no assurance that Section 4.1 of the Omnibus Agreement will be extended beyond 2008, or that, if extended, the administrative fee
charged by Sunoco will be at or below the current administrative fee. In the event that the Partnership is unable to obtain such services from Sunoco or other third
parties at or below the current cost, the Partnership’s financial condition and results of operations may be adversely impacted.
In addition to the fees for the centralized corporate functions, selling, general and administrative expenses in the statements of income include the
allocation of shared insurance costs of $5.1 million, $3.2 million and $3.9 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 respectively. The
insurance costs for the year ended December 31, 2005 include $2.5 million resulting from two special assessments by one of the Partnership’s insurers as a result
of Hurricanes Rita and Katrina. The Partnership’s share of allocated Sunoco employee benefit plan expenses, including non-contributory defined benefit
retirement plans, defined contribution 401(k) plans, employee and retiree medical, dental and life insurance plans, incentive compensation plans and other such
benefits was $21.5 million, $22.5 million and $23.0 million for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 respectively. These expenses are reflected in
cost of products sold and operating expenses and selling, general and administrative expenses in the statements of income.
Affiliated Revenues and Accounts Receivable, Affiliated Companies
Affiliated revenues in the statements of income consist of sales of crude oil as well as the provision of crude oil and refined product pipeline transportation,
terminalling and storage services to Sunoco. Sales of crude oil are priced using market based rates. Pipeline revenues are generally determined using posted
tariffs. In 2002, the Partnership entered into a pipelines and terminals storage and throughput agreement and various other agreements with Sunoco under which
the Partnership is charging Sunoco fees for services provided under these
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agreements that, in management’s opinion, are comparable to those charged in arm’s-length, third-party transactions. Under the pipelines and terminals storage
and throughput agreement, Sunoco has agreed to pay the Partnership a minimum level of revenues for transporting refined products. Sunoco also has agreed to
minimum throughputs of crude oil and liquefied petroleum gas in the Partnership’s Inkster Terminal, Fort Mifflin Terminal Complex and certain crude oil
pipelines. During the first quarter of 2007, the agreement to throughput at the Partnership’s refined product terminals and to receive and deliver refined product
into the Partnership’s Marcus Hook Tank Farm expired. On March 1, 2007 the Partnership entered into new five year agreements with Sunoco to provide these
services. These new agreements contain no minimum throughput obligations for Sunoco.
Under various other agreements entered into in 2002, Sunoco is, among other things, purchasing from the Partnership, at market-based rates, particular
grades of crude oil that the Partnership’s crude oil acquisition and marketing business purchases for delivery to certain pipelines. These agreements automatically
renew on a monthly basis unless terminated by either party on 30 days’ written notice. During the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 two of these
agreements were terminated by Sunoco, however the cancellations have not had a material impact on the Partnership’s results of operations. Sunoco also leases
the Partnership’s 58 miles of interrefinery pipelines between Sunoco’s Philadelphia and Marcus Hook refineries for a term of 20 years.
Capital Contributions
The Omnibus Agreement requires Sunoco to: reimburse the Partnership for any operating expenses and capital expenditures in excess of $8.0 million per
year in each calendar year through 2006 that are made to comply with the U.S. Department of Transportation’s (“DOT”) pipeline integrity management rule,
subject to a maximum aggregate reimbursement of $15.0 million over the five-year period ending December 31, 2006; complete, at its expense, certain tank
maintenance and inspection projects at the Darby Creek Tank Farm; and reimburse the Partnership for up to $10.0 million of expenditures required at the Marcus
Hook Tank Farm and the Darby Creek Tank Farm to maintain compliance with existing industry standards and regulatory requirements.
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006, the Partnership was reimbursed $7.0 million and $3.3 million, respectively, by Sunoco for maintenance
capital expenditures and operating expenses incurred in excess of $8.0 million to comply with DOT’s pipeline integrity management rule. At December 31, 2006,
the Partnership has received a cumulative reimbursement equal to the $15.0 million maximum aggregate reimbursement over the five-year period for compliance
expenditures relative to the DOT’s pipeline integrity management rule. As a result, the Partnership does not expect to be reimbursed by Sunoco going forward for
expenditures related to integrity management.
For the years ended December 31, 2005 and 2006 the Partnership was reimbursed by Sunoco for expenditures at the Marcus Hook Tank Farm and the
Darby Creek Tank Farm to maintain compliance with existing industry standards and regulatory requirements. These expenditures, which were recorded as
maintenance capital and operating expenses, were $0.9 million and $0.1 million for 2005 and 2006, respectively. At December 31, 2006, the Partnership had
received a cumulative reimbursement equal to the $10.0 million maximum reimbursement for compliance expenditures at the Marcus Hook Tank Farm and the
Darby Creek Tank Farm.
The aggregate amounts reimbursed related to these provisions of the Omnibus Agreement of $7.9 million and $3.4 million for the years ended
December 31, 2005 and 2006 by Sunoco related to these projects were recorded as capital contributions to Partners’ Capital within the Partnership’s balance
sheets.
Under the terms of the Interrefinery Lease Agreement, Sunoco is required to reimburse the Partnership for any non-routine maintenance expenditures, as
defined, incurred during the term of the agreement. The Eagle
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Point purchase agreement requires Sunoco to reimburse the Partnership for certain maintenance capital and expense expenditures incurred regarding the assets
acquired, as defined, up to $5.0 million within the first 10 years of closing of the transaction. The Partnership also entered into other various agreements with
Sunoco following the Eagle Point agreement for additional reimbursements. For the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 the Partnership incurred
maintenance capital expenditures of $0.1 million, $2.1 million, and $0.6 million, respectively, under the provisions within these agreements and was reimbursed
by Sunoco. The reimbursements were recorded as capital contributions to Partners’ Capital within the Partnership’s balance sheet.
In August 2005, the Partnership sold 1.5 million common units in a public offering. In September 2005, the Partnership sold an additional 125,000
common units to cover over-allotments in connection with the August 2005 sale. As a result of this issuance of 1.625 million common units, the general partner
contributed $1.3 million to the Partnership to maintain its 2.0 percent general partner interest. The Partnership recorded this amount as a capital contribution to
Partners’ Capital within its consolidated balance sheet.
In February 2007, 2006 and 2005 the Partnership issued 0.1 million, 0.1 million and 0.2 million common units, respectively, to participants in the Sunoco
Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) upon completion of award vesting requirements. As a result of these issuances of common units, the general
partner contributed $0.1 million in each period to the Partnership to maintain its 2.0 percent general partner interest. The Partnership recorded these amounts as
capital contributions to Partners’ Capital within its consolidated balance sheets.
In May 2006, the Partnership sold 2.4 million common units in a public offering. In June 2006, the Partnership sold an additional 280,000 common units to
cover over-allotments in connection with the May 2006 sale (see Note 2). As a result of this issuance of 2.68 million common units, the general partner
contributed $2.4 million to the Partnership to maintain its 2.0 percent general partner interest. The Partnership recorded this amount as a capital contribution to
Partners’ Capital within its consolidated balance sheet.
Asset Acquisitions
On August 18, 2006, the Partnership purchased from Sunoco a 100 percent interest in Sun Pipe Line Company of Delaware LLC, the owner of a 55.3
percent equity interest (50 percent voting rights) in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company (“Mid-Valley”) for approximately $65 million, subject to certain adjustments
five years following the date of closing, based on throughput of Sunoco (see Note 4). Since the acquisition was from a related party, the interest in the entity was
recorded by the Partnership at Sunoco’s historical cost of approximately $12.5 million, and the $52.5 million difference between the purchase price and the cost
basis of the assets was recorded by the Partnership as a capital distribution.
On December 5, 2005, the Partnership acquired a subsidiary of Sunoco which owned a 7.2 percent undivided interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system for
approximately $1.3 million (see Note 4). Since the acquisition was from a related party, the interest in the entity was recorded by the Partnership at Sunoco’s
historical cost of approximately $0.2 million, and the $1.1 million difference between the purchase price and the cost basis of the assets was recorded by the
Partnership as a capital distribution.
Redemption of Common Units
In May and June 2005, the Partnership sold a total of 2.775 million common units in a public offering (see Note 2). Net proceeds from the sale were used to
redeem 2.775 million common units owned by Sunoco for $99.6 million. Also in connection with the equity offering, Sunoco agreed to reimburse the Partnership
for
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transaction costs incurred by the Partnership. Reimbursement of these costs of $0.4 million occurred during the third quarter of 2005 when the transaction costs
were finalized and was accounted for as an increase to Partners’ Capital within the Partnership’s balance sheet.
4. Acquisitions
On June 1, 2007, the Partnership purchased a 50 percent undivided interest in a refined products terminal located in Syracuse, New York from Mobil Pipe
Line Company, an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation for approximately $13.4 million. Total terminal storage capacity is approximately 550,000 barrels. The
purchase price of the acquisition was funded with borrowings under the Partnership’s credit facility, and have been allocated to property, plants and equipment
based on the relative fair value of the assets acquired on the acquisition date. The results of the acquisition are included in the financial statements within the
Terminal Facilities business segment from the date of acquisition.
On August 18, 2006, the Partnership purchased from Sunoco a 100 percent interest in Sun Pipe Line Company of Delaware LLC, the owner of a 55.3
percent equity interest (50 percent voting rights) in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company (“Mid-Valley”) for approximately $65.0 million, subject to certain adjustments
five years following the date of closing, based on the throughput of Sunoco. Mid-Valley owns a 994-mile pipeline, which originates in Longview, Texas and
terminates in Samaria, Michigan, and has operating capacity of approximately 238,000 bpd and 4.2 million shell barrels of storage capacity. Mid-Valley provides
crude oil to a number of refineries, primarily in the Midwest United States. The purchase price of the acquisition was initially funded with $46.0 million in
borrowings under the Partnership’s credit facility and with cash on hand. Since the acquisition was from a related party, the interest in the entity was recorded by
the Partnership at Sunoco’s historical cost of approximately $12.5 million and the $52.5 million difference between the purchase price and the cost basis of the
assets was recorded by the Partnership as a capital distribution. The results of the acquisition are included in the financial statements within the Western Pipeline
System business segment from the date of acquisition.
On March 1, 2006, the Partnership purchased a Texas crude oil pipeline system from affiliates of Black Hills Energy, Inc. for approximately $40.9 million.
The system consists of (a) the Millennium Pipeline, a 200-mile, 12-inch crude oil pipeline with approximately 65,000 bpd operating capacity, originating near the
Partnership’s Nederland Terminal, and terminating at Longview Texas; (b) the Kilgore Pipeline, a 190-mile, 10-inch crude oil pipeline with approximately 35,000
barrel per day capacity originating in Kilgore, Texas and terminating at refineries in the Houston, Texas region; (c) approximately 900,000 shell barrels of active
storage capacity at Kilgore, and Longview, Texas, approximately 550,000 of which are inactive; (d) a crude oil sales and marketing business; and (e) crude oil
line fill and working inventory. The purchase price of the acquisition was initially funded with borrowings under the Partnership’s credit facility. The purchase
price has been allocated to the assets acquired based on their relative fair values at the acquisition date. The following is a summary of the effects of the
transaction on the Partnership’s consolidated financial position (in thousands of dollars):
Increase in:
Inventories
Properties, plants and equipment, net
Cash paid for acquisition

$ 2,189
38,711
$40,900

The results of the acquisition are included in the financial statements within the Western Pipeline System business segment from the date of acquisition.
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On March 1, 2006, the Partnership acquired a Texas crude oil pipeline system from Alon USA Energy, Inc. for approximately $68.0 million. The system
consists of (a) the Amdel Pipeline, a 503-mile, 10-inch common carrier crude oil pipeline with approximately 27,000 bpd operating capacity, originating at the
Nederland Terminal, and terminating at Midland, Texas, and (b) the White Oil Pipeline, a 25-mile, 10-inch crude oil pipeline with approximately 40,000 bpd
operating capacity, originating at the Amdel Pipeline and terminating at Alon’s Big Spring, Texas refinery. The pipelines were idle at the time of purchase, were
re-commissioned by the Partnership during the second quarter 2006 and began making deliveries during the fourth quarter 2006. During the first quarter of 2007,
the Partnership completed a project to expand the capacity on the Amdel Pipeline from approximately 27,000 to 40,000 bpd. Construction on new tankage at the
Nederland Terminal to service these new volumes more efficiently is expected to be completed during 2008. The purchase price of the acquisition was initially
funded with borrowings under the Partnership’s credit facility, and has been allocated to property, plants and equipment based on the relative fair value of the
assets acquired on the acquisition date. The results of the acquisition are included in the financial statements within the Western Pipeline System business
segment from the date of acquisition.
On December 5, 2005, the Partnership purchased a subsidiary of Sunoco that owned a 7.2 percent undivided interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system for
approximately $1.3 million. The Mesa Pipe Line system consists of an 80-mile, 24-inch crude oil pipeline from Midland, Texas to Colorado City, Texas, with an
operating capacity of 316,000 bpd, and approximately 800,000 shell barrels of tankage at Midland. Mesa Pipeline connects to West Texas Gulf’s pipeline, which
supplies crude oil to Mid-Valley. On December 29, 2005, the Partnership purchased an additional 29.8 interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system from Chevron for
approximately $5.3 million. The purchase prices of the acquisitions were funded with $6.6 million of net borrowings under the Partnership’s credit facility, and
were allocated to property, plant and equipment. The results of the acquisition are included in the financial statements within the Western Pipeline System
business segment from the date of acquisition.
On August 1, 2005, the Partnership purchased, from an affiliate of Exxon Mobil Corporation, a crude oil pipeline system and storage facilities located in
Texas for approximately $100.0 million. The pipeline system consists primarily of a 187-mile, 16-inch pipeline with an operating capacity of 125,000 bpd. It
originates at a crude oil terminal in Corsicana, Texas and terminates at Wichita Falls, Texas. The storage facilities include the Corsicana terminal, which has
2.9 million shell barrels of storage capacity for crude oil, and the Ringgold, Texas terminal, which consists of 0.5 million shell barrels of storage capacity for
crude oil. In addition, the Partnership invested approximately $16.0 million to construct a new 20-mile pipeline to connect the Corsicana to Wichita Falls pipeline
to the West Texas Gulf pipeline, in which the Partnership has a 43.8 percent ownership interest. The Partnership funded the purchase price of the Corsicana to
Wichita Falls pipeline and storage facilities with a $75.0 million borrowing under the Partnership’s credit facility and $25.0 million of cash. The pipeline
construction and the acquisition of the related right-of-way were also funded with borrowings under the Partnership’s credit facility. The purchase price was
allocated to property, plant and equipment. The results of the acquisition are included in the financial statements within the Western Pipeline System business
segment from the date of acquisition.
5. Net Income Per Unit Data
Basic and diluted net income per limited partner unit is calculated by dividing net income, after deducting the amount allocated to the general partner’s
interest, by the weighted-average number of limited partner common and subordinated units outstanding during the period.
The general partner’s interest in net income consists of its 2.0 percent general partner interest and “incentive distributions”, which are increasing
percentages, up to 50 percent of quarterly distributions in excess of $0.50 per limited partner unit (see Note 12). The general partner was allocated net income of
$3.1 million (representing 4.9
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percent of total net income for the period) for the year ended December 31, 2005, $11.2 million (representing 12.4 percent of total net income for the period) for
the year ended December 31, 2006, and $24.1 million (representing 20.0 percent of total net income for the period) for the year ended December 31, 2007.
Diluted net income per limited partner unit is calculated by dividing net income applicable to limited partners’ by the sum of the weighted-average number of
common and subordinated units outstanding and the dilutive effect of incentive unit awards (see Note 11), as calculated by the treasury stock method.
The following table sets forth the reconciliation of the weighted average number of limited partner units used to compute basic net income per limited
partner unit to those used to compute diluted net income per limited partner unit for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007:
2005

Weighted average number of limited partner units outstanding—basic
Add effect of dilutive unit incentive awards
Weighted average number of limited partner units—diluted

2006

24,783,852
169,861
24,953,713

2007

27,608,565
129,451
27,738,016

28,581,032
148,121
28,729,153

6. Inventories
The components of inventories are as follows (in thousands of dollars):
December 31,
2006
2007

Crude oil
Refined product
Materials, supplies and other

$ 69,552
—
732
$ 70,284

$ 29,145
682
842
$ 30,669

The current replacement cost of crude oil inventory exceeded its carrying value by $95.0 million and $165.2 million at December 31, 2006 and 2007,
respectively. In October 2007, the Partnership acquired Sunoco’s additive inventory located at the Partnership’s terminal facilities.
7. Properties, Plants and Equipment
The components of net properties, plants and equipment are as follows (in thousands of dollars):
December 31,

Estimated
Useful Lives

Land and land improvements (including rights of way)
Pipeline and related assets
Terminals and storage facilities
Other
Construction-in-progress

—
38 - 60
5 - 44
5 - 48
—

Less: Accumulated depreciation and amortization
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2006

$

76,635
750,271
419,522
186,056
73,866
1,506,350
(499,682)
$ 1,006,668

2007

$

80,832
779,058
475,717
210,517
79,658
1,625,782
(536,520)
$ 1,089,262
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8. Investment in Affiliates
The Partnership’s ownership percentages in corporate joint ventures as of December 31, 2006 and 2007 are as follows:
Partnership
Ownership
Percentage

Explorer Pipeline Company
Wolverine Pipe Line Company
West Shore Pipe Line Company
Yellowstone Pipe Line Company
West Texas Gulf Pipe Line Company
Mid-Valley Pipeline Company(1)
(1)

9.4%
31.5%
12.3%
14.0%
43.8%
55.3%

Mid-Valley Pipeline Company was acquired in August 2006 and includes 50 percent voting rights.

The following table provides summarized unaudited financial information on a 100 percent basis for the Partnership’s equity ownership interests. (in
thousands of dollars):
Income Statement Data:
Total revenues
Income before income taxes
Net income
Balance Sheet Data (as of year-end):
Current assets
Non-current assets
Current liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Net equity

2005

2006

2007

$ 375,435
$ 147,204
$ 92,657

$ 454,258
$ 177,876
$ 111,521

$ 513,302
$ 208,067
$ 132,654

$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

$
$
$
$
$

100,241
468,994
80,054
437,004
52,177

104,276
489,514
111,476
399,826
83,028

181,683
692,331
122,229
661,777
90,008

The Partnership’s investments in Wolverine, West Shore, Yellowstone, and West Texas Gulf at December 31, 2007 include an excess investment amount of
approximately $54.3 million, net of accumulated amortization of $3.3 million. The excess investment is the difference between the investment balance and the
Partnership’s proportionate share of the net assets of the entities.
9. Long-Term Debt
The components of long-term debt are as follows (in thousands of dollars):
December 31,

Credit Facility
Senior Notes—7.25%, due February 15, 2012
Senior Notes—6.125%, due May 15, 2016
Less unamortized bond discount
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2006

2007

$ 68,000
250,000
175,000
(1,090)
$491,910

$ 91,000
250,000
175,000
(896)
$515,104
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Credit Facility
On August 8, 2007, Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P. (the “Operating Partnership”), a wholly-owned entity of the Partnership, entered into a new,
five-year $400 million credit facility (“Credit Facility”). This Credit Facility replaced the Operating Partnership’s previous credit facility agreement that was
scheduled to mature on November 22, 2010.
The Credit Facility is available to fund the Operating Partnership’s working capital requirements, to finance future acquisitions, to finance future capital
projects and for general partnership purposes. The Credit Facility matures in November 2012 and may be prepaid at any time. It bears interest at the Operating
Partnership’s option, at either (i) LIBOR plus an applicable margin, (ii) the higher of the federal funds rate plus 0.50 percent or the Citibank prime rate (each plus
the applicable margin) or (iii) the federal funds rate plus an applicable margin. The interest rate on the outstanding borrowings at December 31, 2006 and 2007
was 5.70 and 5.47 percent, respectively. The Credit Facility contains various covenants limiting the Operating Partnership’s ability to incur indebtedness; grant
certain liens; make certain loans, acquisitions and investments; make any material change to the nature of its business; acquire another company; or enter into a
merger or sale of assets, including the sale or transfer of interests in the Operating Partnership’s subsidiaries. The Credit Facility also limits the Operating
Partnership, on a rolling four-quarter basis, to a maximum total debt to EBITDA ratio of 4.75 to 1, which can generally be increased to 5.25 to 1 during an
acquisition period. The Operating Partnership is in compliance with this requirement as of December 31, 2007. The Partnership’s ratio of total debt to EBITDA
was 2.7 to 1 at December 31, 2007.
Senior Notes
In 2002, the Operating Partnership issued $250 million of 7.25 percent Senior Notes, due February 15, 2012 (the “2012 Senior Notes”) at 99.325 percent of
the principal amount, for net proceeds of $244.8 million after the underwriter’s commission and legal, accounting and other transaction expenses. The 2012
Senior Notes are redeemable, at a make-whole premium, and are not subject to sinking fund provisions. The 2012 Senior Notes contain various covenants
limiting the Operating Partnership’s ability to incur certain liens, engage in sale/leaseback transactions, or merge, consolidate or sell substantially all of its assets.
The Operating Partnership is in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2007. In addition, the 2012 Senior Notes are also subject to repurchase by
the Operating Partnership at a price equal to 100 percent of their principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid interest upon a change of control to a non-investment
grade entity.
On May 2, 2006, the Operating Partnership issued $175 million of 6.125 percent Senior Notes, due May 15, 2016 (the “2016 Senior Notes”) at 99.858
percent of the principal amount, for net proceeds of $173.3 million after the underwriter’s commission and legal, accounting and other transaction expenses. The
2016 Senior Notes are redeemable, at a make-whole premium, and are not subject to sinking fund provisions. The 2016 Senior Notes contain various covenants
limiting the Operating Partnership’s ability to incur certain liens, engage in sale/leaseback transactions, or merge, consolidate or sell substantially all of its assets.
The Operating Partnership is in compliance with these covenants as of December 31, 2007.
The Partnership has no operations and its only assets are its investments in its wholly-owned partnerships and subsidiaries. The Operating Partnership also
has no operations and its assets are limited primarily to its investments in its wholly-owned operating partnerships, deferred charges, and cash and cash
equivalents of $2.0 million. Except for amounts associated with the 2012 Senior Notes and 2016 Senior Notes, the Credit Facility, cash and cash equivalents and
advances to affiliate, the assets and liabilities in the balance sheets and the revenues and costs and expenses in the statements of income are primarily attributable
to the operating partnerships. See Note 18 for supplemental condensed consolidating financial information.
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The Partnership and the operating partnerships of the Operating Partnership served as joint and several guarantors of the 2012 Senior Notes and 2016
Senior Notes and of any obligations under the previous credit facility. The Partnership continues to serve as guarantor of the 2012 Senior Notes and 2016 Senior
Notes and of any obligations under the new Credit Facility. These guarantees are full and unconditional. In connection with the Partnership’s new Credit Facility
the Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined in Note 18) were released from their obligations both under the Credit Facility, and the 2012 and 2016 Senior Notes. See
Note 18 for supplemental condensed consolidating financial information.
The aggregate amount of long-term debt maturities is as follows (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December 31:

2012
Thereafter

$ 341,000
175,000
$516,000

Cash payments for interest related to long-term debt, net of capitalized interest (see Note 1), were, $20.6 million, $24.7 million and $32.0 million in 2005,
2006 and 2007, respectively.
10. Commitments and Contingent Liabilities
Total rental expense for 2005, 2006 and 2007 amounted to $4.7 million, $5.8 million and $6.6 million, respectively. The Partnership, as lessee, has
noncancelable operating leases for land, office space and equipment for which the aggregate amount of future minimum annual rentals as of December 31, 2007
is as follows (in thousands of dollars):
Year Ended December 31:

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
Thereafter
Total

$ 3,414
3,124
2,747
2,335
2,209
4,195
$18,024

The Partnership is subject to numerous federal, state and local laws which regulate the discharge of materials into the environment or that otherwise relate
to the protection of the environment. These laws and regulations result in liabilities and loss contingencies for remediation at the Partnership’s facilities and at
third-party or formerly owned sites. At December 31, 2006 and 2007, there were accrued liabilities for environmental remediation in the balance sheets of $0.5
million and $1.1 million, respectively. The accrued liabilities for environmental remediation do not include any amounts attributable to unasserted claims, nor
have any recoveries from insurance been assumed. Charges against income for environmental remediation totaled $1.6 million, $1.3 million and $4.8 million for
the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, respectively.
Total future costs for environmental remediation activities will depend upon, among other things, the identification of any additional sites, the
determination of the extent of the contamination at each site, the timing and nature of required remedial actions, the technology available and needed to meet the
various existing legal
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requirements, the nature and extent of future environmental laws, inflation rates and the determination of the Partnership’s liability at multi-party sites, if any, in
light of uncertainties with respect to joint and several liability, and the number, participation levels and financial viability of other parties. As discussed below, the
Partnership’s current and future costs have been and will be impacted by an indemnification from Sunoco.
The Partnership is a party to certain pending and threatened claims. Although the ultimate outcome of these claims cannot be ascertained at this time, it is
reasonably possible that some portion of them could be resolved unfavorably to the Partnership and its predecessor. Management does not believe that any
liabilities which may arise from such claims and the environmental matters discussed above would be material in relation to the financial position of the
Partnership at December 31, 2007. Furthermore, management does not believe that the overall costs for such matters will have a material impact, over an
extended period of time, on the Partnership’s operations, cash flows or liquidity.
Sunoco has indemnified the Partnership for 30 years from environmental and toxic tort liabilities related to the assets contributed to the Partnership that
arise from the operation of such assets prior to the closing of the February 2002 IPO. Sunoco has indemnified the Partnership for 100 percent of all losses asserted
within the first 21 years of closing of the February 2002 IPO. Sunoco’s share of liability for claims asserted thereafter will decrease by 10 percent a year. For
example, for a claim asserted during the twenty-third year after closing of the February 2002 IPO, Sunoco would be required to indemnify the Partnership for 80
percent of its loss. There is no monetary cap on the amount of indemnity coverage provided by Sunoco. The Partnership has agreed to indemnify Sunoco for
events and conditions associated with the operation of the Partnership’s assets that occur on or after the closing of the February 2002 IPO and for environmental
and toxic tort liabilities to the extent Sunoco is not required to indemnify the Partnership.
Sunoco also has indemnified the Partnership for liabilities, other than environmental and toxic tort liabilities related to the assets contributed to the
Partnership, that arise out of Sunoco’s ownership and operation of the assets prior to the closing of the February 2002 IPO and that are asserted within 10 years
after closing of the February 2002 IPO. In addition, Sunoco has indemnified the Partnership from liabilities relating to certain defects in title to the assets
contributed to the Partnership and associated with failure to obtain certain consents and permits necessary to conduct its business that arise within 10 years after
closing of the February 2002 IPO as well as from liabilities relating to legal actions currently pending against Sunoco or its affiliates and events and conditions
associated with any assets retained by Sunoco or its affiliates.
Management of the Partnership does not believe that any liabilities which may arise from claims indemnified by Sunoco would be material in relation to
the financial position of the Partnership at December 31, 2007. There are certain other pending legal proceedings related to matters arising after the February
2002 IPO that are not indemnified by Sunoco. Management believes that any liabilities that may arise from these legal proceedings will not be material in relation
to the financial position of the Partnership at December 31, 2007.
Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P. (“SPMT”), which is wholly owned by the Partnership, has received a proposed penalty assessment from the
Internal Revenue Service (“IRS”) in the aggregate amount of $5.1 million based on a failure to timely file excise tax information returns relating to its terminal
operations during the calendar years 2004 and 2005. SPMT became current on its information return filings with the IRS in July of 2006. SPMT believes it had
reasonable cause for the failure to not file the information returns on a timely basis, and provided this information to the IRS on October 19, 2007 in a formal
filing. SPMT is currently awaiting a response from the IRS. The proposed penalties are for the failure to file information returns rather than any failure to pay
taxes due, as no taxes were owed by SPMT in connection with such information. The timing or outcome of this claim, and the total costs to be incurred by SPMT
in connection therewith, cannot be reasonably estimated at this time.
81

Table of Contents
SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
11. Management Incentive Plan
Sunoco Partners LLC, the general partner of the Partnership, has adopted the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) for employees and
directors of the general partner who perform services for the Partnership. The LTIP is administered by the independent directors of the Compensation Committee
of the general partner’s board of directors with respect to employee awards, and by the non-independent members of the general partners’ board of directors with
respect to awards granted to the independent members. The LTIP currently permits the grant of restricted units and unit options covering an aggregate of
1,250,000 common units.
Restricted Units
A restricted unit entitles the grantee to receive a common unit or, at the discretion of the Compensation Committee, an amount of cash equivalent to the
value of a common unit upon the vesting of the unit, which may include the attainment of predetermined performance targets. The Compensation Committee may
make additional grants under the LTIP to employees and directors containing such terms as the Compensation Committee shall determine. Common units to be
delivered to the grantee upon vesting may be common units acquired by the general partner in the open market, common units already owned by the general
partner, common units acquired by the general partner directly from the Partnership or any other person, or any combination of the foregoing. The general partner
will be entitled to reimbursement by the Partnership for the cost incurred in acquiring common units. If the Partnership issues new common units upon vesting of
the restricted units, the total number of common units outstanding will increase. The Compensation Committee, in its discretion, may grant tandem distribution
equivalent rights (“DERs”) with respect to the restricted units. Subject to applicable vesting criteria, DERs entitle the grantee to receive an amount of cash equal
to the per unit cash distributions made by the Partnership during the period the restricted unit is outstanding. During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006
and 2007, the Partnership granted 50,611, 59,930 and 61,415 restricted units, respectively, which either contained a performance condition, a market condition, or
both. These restricted units vest over a three to five-year period and may be subject to the Partnership achieving certain market-based and cash distribution
performance targets as compared to a peer group average, which can cause the actual amount of units that ultimately vest to range from between 0% to 200% of
the original units granted. During the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, the Partnership granted 4,730, 0, and 17,775 retention-based restricted
units. These restricted units contain only a service condition and vest over a one to three-year period, as a result, 100% of the shares granted generally vest.
Effective January 1, 2006, the Partnership adopted SFAS No. 123R, using the modified-prospective method. SFAS No. 123R revised the accounting for
stock-based compensation required by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 123 “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation” (“SFAS No. 123”).
Among other things, SFAS No. 123R requires a fair-value-based method of accounting for share-based payment transactions, which is similar to the method
followed by the Partnership under the provisions of SFAS No. 123. The estimated fair value of restricted units under the LTIP is determined based upon the nature
of the award. For performance-based awards, the fair value is determined using the grant date market price of the Partnership’s Common units. For market-based
awards, the fair value is determined using a Monte Carlo simulation. In accordance with SFAS No. 123R, the Partnership is recognizing compensation expense on
a straight-line basis over the requisite service period as well as estimating forfeitures over the requisite service period when recognizing compensation expense.
Under the modified prospective application, SFAS No. 123R applies to new awards and to awards modified, repurchased, or cancelled after the required
effective date, which was January 1, 2006. Compensation costs for the portion of the awards for which the requisite service has not been rendered that were
outstanding as of the required effective date, are being recognized as the requisite service is rendered based on the grant-date fair value.
82

Table of Contents
SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Certain restricted units awarded in 2006 and 2007 contain both a performance condition and a market condition which are equally weighted in determining
the ultimate amount of awards which will vest. The following table provides information relevant to each component of the awards in 2006 and 2007:

Grant Date

Units
Awarded

Expected
Volatility

Market Component
Risk-Free
Interest
Rate Range

1/24/06
4/18/06
10/20/06
1/26/07
4/20/07
4/20/07
7/24/07
10/20/07

259
59,260
411
54,084
6,672
17,775
329
330

15.40 - 19.66
15.02 - 19.21
16.88 - 17.90
14.01 - 17.04
15.72 - 16.64
—
15.78 - 17.28
18.17 - 21.86

4.38 - 4.48
4.86 - 4.89
4.85 - 5.21
4.93 - 5.27
4.59 - 5.09
—
4.76 - 5.11
3.89 - 4.23

Performance
Component
Fair Value
per Unit

Fair Value
per Unit

$47.65
$47.53
$63.81
$58.18
$61.46
—
$76.67
$62.49

$41.80
$41.80
$47.01
$52.40
$59.50
$59.50
$61.34
$53.77

Expected volatility is based on historical volatility over the preceding three-year period as of the valuation date. The risk free interest rate is based on the
zero-coupon U.S. Treasury Bond, with a term equal to the three-year term of the restricted units. The weighted average fair value for restricted unit awards on the
date of grant was $41.93, $44.75 and $56.65 for awards granted in 2005, 2006 and 2007 respectively.
The following table provides the LTIP restricted unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2007:
2007

(1)

Outstanding at January 1
178,889
Granted
79,190
Performance factor adjustment(1)
33,471
Matured
(88,034)
Cancelled
—
Outstanding at December 31
203,516
Consists of adjustments to performance-based awards to reflect actual performance. The adjustments are required since the original grants of these awards
were estimated at 100 percent of the targeted amounts.

As of December 31, 2007, there were 0.1 million unvested restricted stock units outstanding with a contractual life of three to five years. As of
December 31, 2007, total compensation cost related to non-vested awards not yet recognized was $2.2 million, and the weighted-average period over which this
cost is expected to be recognized in expense is 2.0 years. The number of restricted stock units outstanding and the total compensation cost related to non-vested
awards not yet recognized reflects the Partnership’s estimates of performance factors for certain restricted unit awards.
The Partnership recognized share-based compensation expense related to the LTIP of $3.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2005 under SFAS
No.123, and $3.7 million and $5.3 million in the years ended December 31, 2006 and 2007, respectively under SFAS No. 123R related to the unit grants and
performance factor adjustments noted in the table above. Each of the restricted unit grants also have tandem DERs which are recognized as a reduction of
Partners’ Capital when earned.
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Unit Options
A unit option entitles the grantee to purchase a common unit at a price determined at the date of grant by the Compensation Committee. There have been
no grants of unit options for the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007, and there are no unit options outstanding as of December 31, 2007. However,
the Compensation Committee may, in the future, make grants under the LTIP to employees and directors containing such terms as the Compensation Committee
shall determine, provided that unit options have an exercise price no less than the fair market value of the units on the date of grant.
12. Cash Distributions
Within 45 days after the end of each quarter, the Partnership distributes all cash on hand at the end of the quarter, less reserves established by the general
partner in its discretion. This is defined as “available cash” in the partnership agreement. The general partner has broad discretion to establish cash reserves that it
determines are necessary or appropriate to properly conduct the Partnership’s business. The Partnership will make quarterly distributions to the extent there is
sufficient cash from operations after establishment of cash reserves and payment of fees and expenses, including payments to the general partner.
The Partnership issued 11,383,639 subordinated units to its general partner in connection with the initial public offering in February 2002. These
subordinated units were convertible to common units on a one-for-one basis provided the Partnership met applicable financial tests set forth in the Partnership
Agreement. Once converted, subordinated units are no longer subordinated to the rights of the holders of common units. The Partnership met the minimum
quarterly distribution requirements on all outstanding units for each of the four-quarter periods ended December 31, 2005 and 2006. As a result, the subordinated
units converted to common units during 2005 through 2007.
After the subordination period, the Partnership will, in general, pay cash distributions each quarter in the following manner:
Percentage of Distributions
Unitholders
General Partner

Quarterly Cash Distribution Amount per Unit

Up to minimum quarterly distribution ($0.45 per Unit)
Above $0.45 per Unit up to $0.50 per Unit
Above $0.50 per Unit up to $0.575 per Unit
Above $0.575 per Unit up to $0.70 per Unit
Above $0.70 per Unit

98%
98%
85%
75%
50%

2%
2%
15%
25%
50%

If cash distributions exceed $0.50 per unit in a quarter, the general partner will receive increasing percentages, up to 50 percent, of the cash distributed in
excess of that amount. These distributions are referred to as “incentive distributions”. The amounts shown in the table under “Percentage of Distributions” are the
percentage interests of the general partner and the unitholders in any available cash from operating surplus that is distributed up to and including the
corresponding amount in the column “Quarterly Cash Distribution Amount per Unit,” until the available cash that is distributed reaches the next target
distribution level, if any. The percentage interests shown for the unitholders and the general partner for the minimum quarterly distribution are also applicable to
quarterly distribution amounts that are less than the minimum quarterly distribution.
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Distributions paid by the Partnership during the years ended December 31, 2005, 2006 and 2007 were as follows:

Date Cash
Distribution Paid

Cash
Distribution
per Limited
Partner Unit

Annualized
Cash
Distribution
per Limited
Partner Unit

Total Cash
Distribution
to the
Limited
Partners
($ in millions)

Total Cash
Distribution
to the General
Partner
($ in millions)

February 14, 2005
May 13, 2005
August 12, 2005
November 12, 2005

$0.625
$0.625
$0.6375
$0.675

$
$
$
$

2.50
2.50
2.55
2.70

$
$
$
$

15.0
15.1
15.4
17.4

$
$
$
$

1.0
1.0
1.1
1.5

February 14, 2006
May 15, 2006
August 14, 2006
November 14, 2006

$0.7125
$0.75
$0.775
$0.7875

$
$
$
$

2.85
3.00
3.10
3.15

$
$
$
$

18.4
21.4
22.1
22.4

$
$
$
$

2.0
3.3
4.0
4.4

February 14, 2007
May 15, 2007
August 14, 2007
November 14, 2007

$0.8125
$0.8250
$0.8375
$0.8500

$
$
$
$

3.25
3.30
3.35
3.40

$
$
$
$

23.2
23.6
23.9
24.3

$
$
$
$

5.1
5.4
5.8
6.1

On January 23, 2008, the Partnership declared a cash distribution of $0.870 per unit ($3.48 per unit annualized) on its outstanding common and
subordinated units, representing the distribution for the quarter ended December 31, 2007. The $31.6 million distribution, including $6.7 million to the general
partner, was paid on February 14, 2008 to unitholders of record at the close of business on February 7, 2008.
13. Exit Costs Associated with Western Pipeline Headquarters Relocation
On June 10, 2005, the Partnership announced its intention to relocate its Western area office operations from Tulsa, Oklahoma to the Houston, Texas area.
On September 1, 2005, the Partnership executed an agreement to lease office space in Sugar Land, Texas. The Partnership substantially completed the relocation
during the first quarter 2006.
The total non-recurring expenses incurred in connection with the relocation plan amounted to $5.0 million, including $2.9 million recognized during the
first quarter 2006. These costs consist primarily of employee relocation costs, one-time termination benefits and new hire expenses. These costs are included in
selling, general and administrative expenses in the condensed statement of income, and are included in the operating results for the Western Pipeline System
segment. In addition, the total capital expenditures associated with the move amounted to $5.5 million, including $2.8 million in the first quarter 2006. These
capital expenditures include furniture and equipment, communication infrastructure and a pipeline control center. The Partnership has not incurred any material
costs related to the move since the first quarter of 2006, and does not expect the remaining costs related to the relocation to be material.
14. Financial Instruments and Concentration of Credit Risk
The estimated fair value of financial instruments has been determined based on the Partnership’s assessment of available market information and
appropriate valuation methodologies. However, these estimates may not necessarily be indicative of the amounts that the Partnership could realize in a current
market exchange.
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The Partnership’s current assets (other than inventories) and current liabilities are financial instruments. The estimated fair value of these financial
instruments approximates their carrying amounts. The estimated fair value of the $68.0 million and $91.0 million of borrowings under the Credit Facility at
December 31, 2006 and 2007 approximate their carrying amounts as these borrowings bear interest based upon short-term interest rates. The estimated fair value
of the 2012 and 2016 Senior Notes at December 31, 2006 and 2007 was $444.5 million and $449.3 million, respectively, compared to the carrying amount of
$425.0 million at December 31, 2006 and 2007. The 2012 and 2016 Senior Notes, which are publicly traded, were valued based upon quoted market prices.
Approximately 23 percent of total revenues recognized by the Partnership during 2007 was derived from Sunoco. The Partnership sells crude oil to Sunoco,
transports crude oil and refined products to/from Sunoco’s refineries and provides terminalling and storage services for Sunoco. Sunoco has been issued an
investment grade credit rating by three recognized agencies and, accordingly, management of the Partnership does not believe that the transactions with Sunoco
expose it to significant credit risk.
The Partnership’s other trade relationships are primarily with major integrated oil companies, independent oil companies and other pipelines and
wholesalers. These concentrations of customers may affect the Partnership’s overall credit risk in that the customers (including Sunoco) may be similarly affected
by changes in economic, regulatory or other factors. The Partnership’s customers’ credit positions are analyzed prior to extending credit and periodically after the
credit has been extended. The Partnership manages its exposure to credit risk through credit analysis, credit approvals, credit limits and monitoring procedures,
and for certain transactions may utilize letters of credit, prepayments and guarantees.
15. Business Segment Information
The Partnership operates in three principal business segments: Eastern Pipeline System, Terminal Facilities and Western Pipeline System.
•

The Eastern Pipeline System primarily serves the Northeast and Midwest United States operations of Sunoco and includes: approximately 1,650 miles
of refined product pipelines, including a two-thirds undivided interest in the 80-mile refined product Harbor pipeline, and 58 miles of interrefinery
pipelines between two of Sunoco’s refineries; approximately 140 miles of crude oil pipelines; a 9.4 percent interest in Explorer Pipeline Company, a
joint venture that owns a 1,881-mile refined product pipeline; a 31.5 percent interest in Wolverine Pipe Line Company, a joint venture that owns a 721mile refined product pipeline; a 12.3 percent interest in West Shore Pipe Line Company, a joint venture that owns a 652-mile refined product pipeline;
and a 14.0 percent interest in Yellowstone Pipe Line Company, a joint venture that owns a 750-mile refined product pipeline.

•

The Terminal Facilities consist of 36 refined product terminals with an aggregate storage capacity of 6.2 million barrels, primarily serving the
Partnership’s Eastern Pipeline System; the Nederland Terminal, a 14.7 million barrel marine crude oil terminal on the Texas Gulf Coast; a 2.0 million
barrel refined product terminal serving Sunoco’s Marcus Hook refinery near Philadelphia, Pennsylvania; one inland and two marine crude oil terminals
with a combined capacity of 3.4 million barrels, and related pipelines, which serve Sunoco’s Philadelphia refinery; a ship and barge dock which serves
Sunoco’s Eagle Point refinery; and a 1.0 million barrel liquefied petroleum gas (“LPG”) terminal near Detroit, Michigan.

•

The Western Pipeline System gathers, purchases, sells, and transports crude oil principally in Oklahoma and Texas and consists of approximately 3,200
miles of crude oil trunk pipelines, including a 37.0 percent undivided interest in the 80-mile Mesa Pipe Line system, and approximately 500 miles of
crude oil gathering lines that supply the trunk pipelines; approximately 115 crude oil transport trucks;
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approximately 150 crude oil truck unloading facilities; a 55.3 percent interest in the Mid-Valley Pipeline Company, a joint venture that owns a 994mile pipeline and a 43.8 percent interest in West Texas Gulf Pipe Line Company, a joint venture that owns a 579-mile crude oil pipeline.
Segment Information (in thousands of dollars)
Eastern
Pipeline
System

Year Ended December 31, 2005
Western
Terminal
Pipeline
Facilities
System

Total

Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates

$ 75,570

$ 78,885

$1,831,564

$1,986,019

Unaffiliated customers

$ 21,096

$ 34,880

$2,440,617

$2,496,593

$ 32,324(1)

$ 35,790

$

$

83,308

$

(21,599)
61,709

Operating income

15,194(2)

Net interest expense
Net income
Depreciation and amortization

$ 10,509

$ 15,054

$

8,275

$

33,838

Capital expenditures

$ 15,401

$ 30,194

$

27,750(3)

$

73,345

Investment in affiliates

$ 57,694

$

$

11,403

$

69,097

Identifiable assets

$343,591

$293,119

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

—

$1,016,915

$1,680,685(4)

Includes equity income of $11,152 attributable to the Partnership’s equity ownership interests in Explorer, Wolverine, West Shore and Yellowstone.
Includes equity income of $2,063 attributable to the Partnership’s equity ownership interest in West Texas Gulf.
Excludes $100,057 for the acquisition of the Corsicana to Wichita Falls, Texas crude oil pipeline system and related storage facilities, and $5,505 related to
the acquisition of a 37.0 percent undivided joint interest in the Mesa Pipe Line system (see Note 4).
Identifiable assets include the Partnership’s unallocated $21,645 cash and cash equivalents, $4,834 deferred financing costs, and $581 attributable to
corporate activities.
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Year Ended December 31, 2006
Western
Pipeline
System

Eastern
Pipeline
System

Terminal
Facilities

Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates

$ 77,228

$ 82,607

$1,682,799

$1,842,634

Unaffiliated customers

$ 28,408

$ 40,635

$3,925,558

$3,994,601

$ 44,239(1)

$ 39,140

$

$ 118,194

Operating income

34,815(2)

Net interest expense
Net income

Total

$

(27,853)
90,341
36,649

Depreciation and amortization

$

9,550

$ 15,364

$

11,735

$

Capital expenditures

$ 31,176

$ 61,046

$

27,616(3)

$ 119,838

Investment in affiliates

$ 58,849

$

$

23,085

$

Identifiable assets

$367,718

$341,878

(1)
(2)
(3)
(4)

—

$1,346,232

81,934

$2,082,077(4)

Includes equity income of $11,012 attributable to the Partnership’s equity ownership interests in Explorer, Wolverine, West Shore and Yellowstone.
Includes equity income of $5,870 attributable to the Partnership’s equity ownership interest in West Texas Gulf and Mid-Valley.
Excludes $108,900 for the acquisition of the Amdel and White Oil crude oil pipeline system, and Millennium and Kilgore crude oil pipeline system and,
$12,482 related to the acquisition of a 55.3 percent equity interest in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company (see Note 4).
Identifiable assets include the Partnership’s unallocated $9,412 cash and cash equivalents, $7,431 advances to affiliates, $7,204 deferred financing costs,
$2,198 to properties, plants and equipment, net and $4 attributable to corporate activities.
Year Ended December 31, 2007
Western
Pipeline
System

Eastern
Pipeline
System

Terminal
Facilities

Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates

$ 81,866

$ 92,156

$1,508,020

$1,682,042

Unaffiliated customers

$ 35,475

$ 49,466

$5,610,472

$5,695,413

$ 49,406(1)

$ 52,668

$

$ 156,155

Operating income

54,081(2)

Net interest expense
Net income

Total

(35,280)
$ 120,875

Depreciation and amortization

$

$ 15,338

$

12,838

$

Capital expenditures

$ 11,916(3)

$ 64,381

$

25,703

$ 105,862(4)

Investment in affiliates

$ 59,776

$

$

25,209

$

Identifiable assets

$370,278

$400,509

(1)

9,165

—

$1,710,093

37,341
84,985

$2,504,642(5)

Includes equity income of $13,051 attributable to the Partnership’s equity ownership interests in Explorer, Wolverine, West Shore and Yellowstone.
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(2)
(3)
(4)
(5)

Includes equity income of $14,062 attributable to the Partnership’s equity ownership interest in West Texas Gulf and Mid-Valley.
Excludes $13,416 for the acquisition of the Syracuse refined products terminal (see Note 4).
Capital expenditures include the Partnership’s $3,862 of capital expenditures attributable to corporate activities.
Identifiable assets include the Partnership’s unallocated $2,000 cash and cash equivalents, $8,060 advances to affiliates, $6,038 deferred financing costs,
$7,661 to properties, plants and equipment, net and $3 attributable to corporate activities.
The following table sets forth total sales and other operating revenue by product or service (in thousands of dollars):

Affiliates:
Crude oil sales
Pipeline
Terminalling and other
Unaffiliated Customers:
Crude oil sales
Pipeline
Terminalling and other

89

2005

Year Ended December 31,
2006

2007

$ 1,823,093
84,041
78,885
$ 1,986,019

$ 1,672,381
87,646
82,607
$ 1,842,634

$ 1,499,437
90,449
92,156
$ 1,682,042

$ 2,422,542
39,171
34,880
$ 2,496,593

$ 3,887,795
66,171
40,635
$ 3,994,601

$ 5,565,975
79,972
49,466
$ 5,695,413
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16. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)
Summarized quarterly financial data is as follows (in thousands of dollars, except per unit amounts):
First
Quarter

2006
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Gross margin(1)
Operating income
Net income
Net income per Limited Partner unit—basic(2)
Net income per Limited Partner unit—diluted(2)

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

2007
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Gross margin(1)
Operating income
Net income
Net income per Limited Partner unit—basic(2)
Net income per Limited Partner unit—diluted(2)
(1)
(2)

478,321
782,650
37,239
24,627
18,424
0.66
0.66

Second
Quarter

$
$
$
$
$
$
$

518,439
973,057
42,611
32,961
26,320
0.81
0.81

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

$ 484,710
$ 1,118,932
$
32,744
$
24,634
$
17,676
$
0.59
$
0.59

$
361,164
$ 1,119,962
$
43,971
$
35,972
$
27,921
$
0.81
$
0.80

First
Quarter

Second
Quarter

Third
Quarter

Fourth
Quarter

$ 452,069
$ 1,097,501
$
41,408
$
30,928
$
22,307
$
0.71
$
0.70

$ 391,370
$ 1,238,910
$
40,543
$
34,754
$
25,254
$
0.76
$
0.76

$ 439,776
$ 1,496,439
$
50,945
$
45,922
$
37,514
$
0.97
$
0.97

$
398,827
$ 1,862,563
$
51,076
$
44,551
$
35,800
$
0.94
$
0.94

Gross margin equals sales and other operating revenue less cost of products sold and operating expenses and depreciation and amortization.
Net income included within this calculation excludes amounts attributable to the general partner’s interest in net income.

17. Subsequent Event
On January 8, 2008, the Partnership entered into an interest rate swap with a notional amount of $50.0 million maturing January 2010. Under the swap
agreement, the Company receives interest equivalent to three-month LIBOR and pays a fixed rate of interest of 3.489 percent with settlements occurring
quarterly. The Company has designated the interest rate swap as a cash flow hedge under SFAS No. 133.
On January 24, 2008 Sunoco and the Partnership entered into an Amended and Restated Dock and Terminal Throughput Agreement for the Eagle Point
logistics assets. Pursuant to the amended agreement the Partnership is obligated to make certain capital improvements to the Eagle Point docks. The term for the
parties’ obligations with respect to the docks has been extended from March 31, 2016 to December 31, 2026. The rates to be paid by Sunoco for throughput
across the docks have been modified to reflect the capital improvements, and the rates escalate annually based on the Consumer Price Index. Sunoco’s throughput
obligations across the docks remain unchanged. The parties’ obligations with respect to the Eagle Point terminal remain unchanged except that the throughput
rates escalate annually based on the increase in the Consumer Price Index.
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18. Supplemental Condensed Consolidating Financial Information
The Partnership and the operating partnerships of the Operating Partnership served as joint and several guarantors of the Senior Notes and of any
obligations under the previous credit facility. The Partnership continues to serve as guarantor of the Senior Notes and of any obligations under the new Credit
Facility. These guarantees are full and unconditional. In connection with the Partnership’s new Credit Facility the Subsidiary Guarantors were released from their
obligations both under the Credit Facility, and the 7.25 percent and 6.125 percent Senior Notes. Given that certain, but not all subsidiaries of the Partnership were
guarantors, the Partnership was required to present the following supplemental condensed consolidating financial information. For purposes of the following
footnote, Sunoco Logistics Partners, L.P. is referred to as “Parent” and Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P. is referred to as “Subsidiary Issuer.” In the 2007
schedules Sunoco Partners Marketing and Terminals L.P., Sunoco Pipeline L.P., Sun Pipeline Company of Delaware LLC, Sunoco Pipeline Acquisition LLC,
Sunoco Logistics Partners GP LLC, Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations GP LLC and Sunoco Partners Lease Acquisition & Marketing LLC, are collectively
referred to as “Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.” In the 2005 and 2006 schedules Sunoco Partners Marketing and Terminals L.P., Sunoco Pipeline L.P., Sun Pipeline
Company of Delaware LLC and Sunoco Pipeline Acquisition LLC are collectively referred to as the “Subsidiary Guarantors”, and Sunoco Logistics Partners GP
LLC, Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations GP LLC and Sunoco Partners Lease Acquisition & Marketing LLC, are referred to as “Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries.”
The following supplemental condensed consolidating financial information (in thousands) reflects the Parent’s separate accounts, the Subsidiary Issuer’s
separate accounts, the combined accounts of the Subsidiary Guarantors, the combined accounts of the Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries, the combined consolidating
adjustments and eliminations and the Parent’s consolidated accounts for the dates and periods indicated. For purposes of the following condensed consolidating
information, the Parent’s investments in its subsidiaries and the Subsidiary Issuer’s investments in its subsidiaries are accounted for under the equity method of
accounting.
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Balance Sheet
December 31, 2006
Subsidiary
Issuer

Parent

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Advances to affiliates
Accounts receivable, affiliated companies
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Crude oil
Materials, supplies and other
Total Current Assets
Properties, plants and equipment, net
Investment in affiliates
Deferred charges and other assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Partners’ Capital
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued taxes
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debt
Other deferred credits and liabilities
Total Liabilities
Total Partners’ Capital
Total Liabilities and Partners’ Capital

$

—
3,549
—
—

$

9,412
48,000
—
—

Subsidiary
Guarantors

$

—
(44,118)
98,952
776,505

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

$

—
—
3,549
—
576,601
—
$ 580,150

—
—
57,412
—
1,063,942
3,331
$ 1,124,685

69,552
732
901,623
1,006,668
81,934
27,560
$ 2,017,785

$

$

$

$

$

—
1,109
—
1,109
—
—
1,109
579,041
$ 580,150

—
6,970
—
6,970
491,910
—
498,880
625,805
$ 1,124,685
92

922,495
26,764
22,898
972,157
—
27,049
999,206
1,018,579
$ 2,017,785

$

Consolidating
Adjustments

—
—
—
—

Total

—
—
—
—

$

—
—
—
—
99
—
99

—
—
—
—
(1,640,642)
—
$ (1,640,642)

69,552
732
962,584
1,006,668
81,934
30,891
$ 2,082,077

—
—
(29)
(29)
—
—
(29)
128
99

$

$

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,640,642)
$ (1,640,642)

$

9,412
7,431
98,952
776,505

922,495
34,843
22,869
980,207
491,910
27,049
1,499,166
582,911
$ 2,082,077
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Balance Sheet
December 31, 2007

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Advances to affiliates
Accounts receivable, affiliated companies
Accounts receivable, net
Inventories
Crude oil
Refined product
Materials, supplies and other
Total Current Assets
Properties, plants and equipment, net
Investment in affiliates
Deferred charges and other assets
Total Assets
Liabilities and Partners’ Capital
Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued liabilities
Accrued taxes
Total Current Liabilities
Long-term debt
Other deferred credits and liabilities
Total Liabilities
Total Partners’ Capital
Total Liabilities and Partners’ Capital

$

—
4,348
—
—

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Subsidiary
Issuer

Parent

$

2,000
46,000
—
—

$

—
(42,288)
62,167
1,200,782

Consolidating
Adjustments

$

—
—
—
—

Total

$

2,000
8,060
62,167
1,200,782

—
—
—
4,348
—
584,060
—
$ 588,408

—
—
—
48,000
—
1,101,139
3,278
$ 1,152,417

29,145
682
842
1,251,330
1,089,262
85,084
23,439
$ 2,449,115

—
—
—
—
—
(1,685,298)
—
$ (1,685,298)

29,145
682
842
1,303,678
1,089,262
84,985
26,717
$ 2,504,642

$

$

$ 1,289,402
40,316
34,277
1,363,995
—
29,655
1,393,650
1,055,465
$ 2,449,115

$

$ 1,289,402
45,159
34,277
1,368,838
515,104
29,655
1,913,597
591,045
$ 2,504,642

—
980
—
980
—
—
980
587,428
$ 588,408
93

—
3,863
—
3,863
515,104
—
518,967
633,450
$ 1,152,417

—
—
—
—
—
—
—
(1,685,298)
$ (1,685,298)
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Statement of Income
Year Ended December 31, 2005
Subsidiary
Issuer

Parent

Revenues
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
Other income
Total Revenues
Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sold and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total Costs and Expenses
Operating Income
Net interest cost paid to / (received from) affiliates
Other interest cost and debt expenses, net
Capitalized interest
Net Income (Loss)

$

—
—
61,547
—
61,547

$

—
—
—
—
61,547
—
—
—
$ 61,547

—
—
86,758
—
86,758

—
—
—
—
86,758
3,538
21,611
(480)
$ 62,089
94

Subsidiary
Guarantors

$ 1,985,918
2,496,593
—
14,295
4,496,806
4,326,635
33,828
53,048
4,413,511
83,295
(3,070)
—
—
$ 86,365

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating
Adjustments

$

101
—
62
—
163

$

78
10
—
88
75
—
—
—
75

—
—
—
—
(148,367)
—
—
—
$ (148,367)

$

—
—
(148,367)
—
(148,367)

Total

$ 1,986,019
2,496,593
—
14,295
4,496,907
4,326,713
33,838
53,048
4,413,599
83,308
468
21,611
(480)
$
61,709
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Statement of Income
Year Ended December 31, 2006
Subsidiary
Issuer

Parent

Revenues
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
Other income
Total Revenues
Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sold and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total Costs and Expenses
Operating Income
Net interest cost paid to affiliates
Other interest cost and debt expenses, net
Capitalized interest
Net Income

$

—
—
90,331
—
90,331

$

—
—
—
—
90,331
—
—
—
$ 90,331
95

Subsidiary
Guarantors

—
—
116,967
—
116,967

$ 1,842,634
3,994,601
—
17,315
5,854,550

—
—
—
—
116,967
194
29,447
(3,005)
$ 90,331

5,644,021
36,649
55,686
5,736,356
118,194
1,215
—
—
$ 116,979

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating
Adjustments

$

—
—
12
—
12

$

—
—
—
—
12
2
—
—
10

—
—
—
—
(207,310)
—
—
—
$ (207,310)

$

—
—
(207,310)
—
(207,310)

Total

$ 1,842,634
3,994,601
—
17,315
5,854,550
5,644,021
36,649
55,686
5,736,356
118,194
1,411
29,447
(3,005)
$
90,341
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Statement of Income
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Parent

Revenues
Sales and other operating revenue:
Affiliates
Unaffiliated customers
Equity in earnings of subsidiaries
Other income
Total Revenues
Costs and Expenses
Cost of products sold and operating expenses
Depreciation and amortization
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Total Costs and Expenses
Operating Income
Net interest cost (received from) / paid to affiliates
Other interest cost and debt expenses, net
Capitalized interest
Net Income

$

—
—
120,866
—
120,866

—
—
—
—
120,866
—
—
—
$ 120,866
96

Subsidiary
Issuer

$

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating
Adjustments

—
—
152,846
—
152,846

$ 1,682,042
5,695,413
15
28,381
7,405,851

$

—
—
(273,727)
—
(273,727)

—
—
—
—
152,846
(1,013)
36,412
(3,419)
$ 120,866

7,156,142
37,341
56,198
7,249,681
156,170
3,300
—
—
$ 152,870

—
—
—
—
(273,727)
—
—
—
$ (273,727)

Total

$ 1,682,042
5,695,413
—
28,381
7,405,836
7,156,142
37,341
56,198
7,249,681
156,155
2,287
36,412
(3,419)
$ 120,875
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Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2005

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions
Intercompany
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Distribution paid to Limited Partners and General Partner
Net proceeds from issuance of Limited Partner units
Redemption of Limited Partner units from Sunoco
Net contribution from General Partner for Limited Partner
unit transactions
Advances to affiliates, net
Borrowings under credit facility
Repayments under credit facility
Payments of statutory withholding on net issuance of
Limited Partner units under restricted unit incentive
plan
Contributions from affiliate
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Parent

Subsidiary
Issuer

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating
Adjustments

Total

$ 61,649

$ 62,282

$ 115,186

$

$ (148,367)

$ 90,835

—
—
(80,540)
(80,540)

—
—
(135,397)
(135,397)

(67,331)
159,641
(99,203)

(73,345)
(107,309)
72,966
(107,688)

—
—
—

85
—
—
(5,396)
(5,396)

—
—
—

—
—
148,367
148,367

(73,345)
(107,309)
—
(180,654)

—
—
—

—
—
—

(67,331)
159,641
(99,203)

1,430
24,354
—
—

—
—
98,600
(56,500)

—
(11,566)
—
—

—
5,311
—
—

—
—
—
—

1,430
18,099
98,600
(56,500)

—
—
18,891
—
—
$
—

—
—
42,100
(31,015)
52,660
$ 21,645

(2,863)
6,931
(7,498)
—
—
—

—
—
5,311
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

(2,863)
6,931
58,804
(31,015)
52,660
$ 21,645

97

$

$

$

Table of Contents
SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS—(Continued)
Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2006

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions
Intercompany
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Distribution paid to Limited Partners and General Partner
Net proceeds from issuance of Limited Partner units
Contribution from General Partner for Limited Partner unit
transactions
Net proceeds from issuance of Senior Notes
Repayments from (advances to) affiliates, net
Borrowings under credit facility
Repayments under credit facility
Payments of statutory withholding on net issuance of Limited
Partner units under restricted unit incentive plan
Contributions from (distributions to) affiliate
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Parent

Subsidiary
Issuer

Subsidiary
Guarantors

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating
Adjustments

Total

$ 90,501

$ 91,142

$ 167,137

$

$ (207,310)

$ 141,480

—
—
(42,703)
(42,703)
(97,987)
110,338

—
—
(190,082)
(190,082)
—
—

2,427
—
(9,496)
—
—

—
173,307
(48,000)
177,500
(216,100)

—
(53,080)
(47,798)
—
—
$
—

—
—
86,707
(12,233)
21,645
$ 9,412

98

(119,838)
(121,382)
25,485
(215,735)

—
—
(10)
(10)

—
—
—
—
44,315

(1,443)
5,726
48,598
—
—
$
—

10

$

—
—
207,310
207,310

(119,838)
(121,382)
—
(241,220)

—
—

—
—

(97,987)
110,338

—
—
—

—
—
—

2,427
173,307
(13,181)
177,500
(216,100)

—
—
—
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

(1,443)
(47,354)
87,507
(12,233)
21,645
$ 9,412

$
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Statement of Cash Flows
Year Ended December 31, 2007

Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Cash Flows from Investing Activities:
Capital expenditures
Acquisitions
Intercompany
Cash Flows from Financing Activities:
Distribution paid to Limited Partners and General Partner
Contribution from General Partner for Limited Partner unit transactions
Repayments from (advances to) affiliates, net
Borrowings under credit facility
Repayments under credit facility
Payments of statutory withholding on net issuance of Limited Partner
units under restricted unit incentive plan
Contributions from affiliate
Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Parent

Subsidiary
Issuer

NonGuarantor
Subsidiaries

Consolidating
Adjustments

Total

$ 120,737

$ 117,812

$ 242,677

$ (273,727)

$ 207,499

—
—
(2,545)
(2,545)

—
—
(150,224)
(150,224)

(105,862)
(13,489)
(120,958)
(240,309)

(117,451)
58
(799)
—
—

—
—
2,000
279,900
(256,900)

—
—
(1,830)

—
—
—

(117,451)
58
(629)
279,900
(256,900)

—
—
(118,192)
—
—
$
—

—
—
25,000
(7,412)
9,412
$ 2,000

(1,479)
941
(2,368)
—
—
—

—
—
—
—
—
—

(1,479)
941
(95,560)
(7,412)
9,412
$ 2,000

99
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—
—
273,727
273,727

$

(105,862)
(13,489)
—
(119,351)
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ITEM 9.

CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE

None
ITEM 9A. CONTROLSAND PROCEDURES
Disclosure controls and procedures are designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in the Partnership reports filed or submitted under the
Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified by the rules and forms of the Securities and Exchange
Commission. Disclosure controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed
in the Partnership reports under the Exchange Act is accumulated and communicated to management, including the President and Chief Executive Officer of
Sunoco Partners LLC (the Partnership’s general partner) and the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the general partner, as appropriate, to allow timely
decisions regarding required disclosure.
As of December 31, 2007, the Partnership carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of the management of the general
partner (including the President and Chief Executive Officer and the Vice President and Chief Financial Officer), of the effectiveness of the design and operation
of the Partnership’s disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon that evaluation, the general partner’s President and
Chief Executive Officer, and its Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that the Partnership’s disclosure controls and procedures are effective.
The management of the general partner is responsible for establishing, maintaining, and annually assessing internal control over the Partnership’s financial
reporting. A report by the general partner’s management, assessing the effectiveness of the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting, appears under
Item 8 “Financial Statements and Supplementary Data” of this report. Ernst & Young LLP, the Partnership’s independent registered public accounting firm, have
issued an attestation report on the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting, that also appears under Item 8 of this report.
No change in the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting has occurred during the fiscal quarter ended December 31, 2007 that has materially
affected, or that is reasonably likely to materially affect, the Partnership’s internal control over financial reporting.
ITEM 9B. OTHERINFORMATION
None.
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PART III
ITEM 10. DIRECTORS,EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Sunoco Partners LLC, the general partner, is a wholly-owned, indirect subsidiary of Sunoco, Inc. The general partner manages the Partnership’s operations
and activities. The general partner’s Board of Directors held five meetings during 2007. The Board has established standing committees to consider designated
matters. The standing committees of the Board are the Audit/Conflicts Committee and the Compensation Committee. The Board has adopted governance
guidelines for the Board and charters for the standing committees.
The Audit/Conflicts Committee, in its role as an Audit Committee, oversees external financial reporting, engages independent auditors, and reviews
procedures for internal auditing and the adequacy of internal accounting controls. In addition, the Audit/Conflicts Committee, in its role as a “Conflicts”
Committee, reviews specific matters that the Board believes may involve conflicts of interest between the Partnership and Sunoco, Inc. and determines if the
resolution of the conflict of interest is fair and reasonable to the Partnership. The Audit/Conflicts Committee met as an Audit Committee eight times during 2007,
and met as a Conflicts Committee two times during 2007. The current members of the Audit/Conflicts Committee are: L. Wilson Berry, Jr. (chairman), Stephen L.
Cropper, Gary W. Edwards and Philip L. Frederickson. The general partner’s Board of Directors has determined that, based upon relevant experience,
Audit/Conflicts Committee member Stephen L. Cropper is an “audit committee financial expert,” as defined in Item 407 of Regulation S-K of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. A description of Mr. Cropper’s qualifications may be found elsewhere in this Item 10. The members of the Audit/Conflicts
Committee consist of those directors of the general partner who are not also executive officers of the general partner or its parent. In addition, the members of the
Audit/Conflicts Committee must meet certain independence and experience standards to serve on an audit committee of a Board of Directors established by the
New York Stock Exchange. In conjunction with regular meetings, the Audit/Conflicts Committee, which consists of all the independent directors of the general
partner, meets in executive session without members of management present. Mr. Berry leads these executive session meetings, the purpose of which is to
promote open and candid discussion among the non-management and independent members of the general partner’s Board of Directors.
The Compensation Committee of the general partner’s Board of Directors oversees compensation decisions for the officers of the general partner and the
administration of the compensation plans described below. The Compensation Committee held four meetings during 2007. The current members of the
Compensation Committee are: Gary W. Edwards (chairman), L. Wilson Berry, Jr., Stephen L. Cropper, John G. Drosdick, and Philip L. Frederickson. Since
Mr. Drosdick is also is an officer and director of Sunoco, Inc., he recuses himself from Compensation Committee decisions relating to equity compensation
awards.
In order that interested parties may be able to make their concerns known to the non-management directors, the Partnership’s unitholders and other
interested parties may communicate directly with the general partner’s Board of Directors, with the non-management directors as a group, or with any director or
committee chairperson by writing to such parties in care of Bruce D. Davis, Jr., Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary, Sunoco Partners LLC, Mellon
Bank Center, 1735 Market Street, Suite LL, Philadelphia, PA 19103-7583. Communications addressed to the Board generally will be forwarded either to the
appropriate committee chairperson or to all directors. Communications may be submitted confidentially and anonymously. Under certain circumstances, the
Partnership or the general partner may be required by law to disclose the information or identity of the person submitting the communication. There were no
material actions taken by the Board of Directors as a result of communications received during 2007 from unitholders or others. Certain concerns communicated
to the general partner’s Board of Directors also may be referred to the general partner’s internal auditor or its General Counsel, in accordance with the general
partner’s regular procedures for addressing such concerns. The chairman of the general partner’s Board of Directors, or the chairman of the general partner’s
Audit/Conflicts Committee may direct that certain concerns be presented to the Audit/Conflicts Committee, or to the full Board, or that they otherwise receive
special treatment, including retention of external counsel or other advisors.
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The officers of the general partner, other than Paul A. Mulholland, Treasurer, spend all of their time managing the Partnership’s business and affairs. The
non-executive directors devote as much time as is necessary to prepare for and attend Board of Directors and committee meetings.
The Partnership’s general partner has adopted a Code of Ethics for Senior Officers, which applies to the principal executive officer, the principal financial
officer, the principal accounting officer, the treasurer and persons performing similar functions for the general partner and its subsidiaries. In addition, the general
partner has adopted a Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, which applies to all directors, officers and employees. The Code of Business Conduct and Ethics
addresses ethical handling of actual or apparent conflicts of interest, compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations, full, fair, accurate, timely and
understandable disclosure in public communications, and prompt internal reporting of violations. In accordance with the disclosure requirements of applicable
law or regulation, the Partnership intends to disclose any amendment to, or waiver from, any provision of these Codes, on its website, or under Item 5.05 of a
current report on Form 8-K.
The Partnership makes available, free of charge within the “Corporate Governance” section of its website at www.sunocologistics.com, and in print to any
unitholder who so requests, the Code of Ethics for Senior Officers, the Code of Business Conduct and Ethics, the Audit/Conflicts Committee Charter, the
Compensation Committee Charter, the Corporate Governance Guidelines and the Partnership’s limited partnership agreement. Requests for print copies may be
directed to: Investor Relations, Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., 1735 Market Street, Suite LL, Philadelphia, PA 19103-7583, or telephone (866) 248-4344. The
information contained on, or connected to, the Partnership’s internet website is not incorporated by reference into this Form 10-K and should not be considered
part of this or any other report that the Partnership files with, or furnishes to, the SEC.
On March 13, 2007, Deborah M. Fretz, President and Chief Executive Officer of Sunoco Partners LLC (general partner of the Partnership), submitted to
the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) the Written Affirmation required by the rules of the NYSE certifying that she was not aware of any violations by the
Partnership of NYSE corporate governance listing standards.
The certifications of Ms. Fretz, principal executive officer and Mr. Murphy, principal financial officer of the general partner, made pursuant to Section 302
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, regarding the quality of the Partnership’s public disclosure, have been filed as exhibits to the Partnership’s 2007 Annual
Report to the SEC on Form 10-K.
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Directors and Executive Officers of Sunoco Partners LLC (the General Partner)
The Partnership’s common unit holders do not nominate candidates for, or vote for the election of, the directors of the general partner. The general partner
is a limited liability company, and its directors are elected by its members, all of which are corporate affiliates of Sunoco, Inc. The executive officers of the
general partner are appointed by its directors. The following table shows information for the directors and executive officers of Sunoco Partners LLC, the general
partner. Executive officers and directors are elected for one-year terms.
Name

Age

John G. Drosdick
Deborah M. Fretz
Cynthia A. Archer
L. Wilson Berry, Jr.
Stephen L. Cropper
Terence P. Delaney
Gary W. Edwards
Bruce G. Fischer
Philip L. Frederickson
Thomas W. Hofmann
Bruce D. Davis, Jr.
David A. Justin
Christopher W. Keene
Neal E. Murphy
Paul A. Mulholland

64
59
54
64
57
51
66
52
51
56
51
55
42
50
55

Position with the General Partner

Chairman and Director
President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Director
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Vice President, Operations
Vice President, Business Development
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Treasurer

Mr. Drosdick was elected Chairman of the Board of Directors in October 2001. He has been Chairman of the Board of Directors, President and Chief
Executive Officer of Sunoco, Inc. since May 2000. Mr. Drosdick is also a director of the H.J. Heinz Company and United States Steel Corporation.
Ms. Fretz was elected President, Chief Executive Officer and director in October 2001. Ms. Fretz is a director of GATX Corporation.
Ms. Archer was elected to the Board of Directors in April 2002. Ms. Archer has been Vice President, Marketing and Development, Sunoco, Inc. since
January 2001.
Mr. Berry was elected to the Board of Directors in March 2003. He is currently a consultant in the energy field.
Mr. Cropper was elected to the Board of Directors in May 2002. Mr. Cropper is currently a private investor. He is a director of Berry Petroleum, NRG
Energy, Inc. and Rental Car Finance Corporation, a subsidiary of Dollar Thrifty Automotive Group, Inc.
Mr. Delaney was elected to the Board of Directors in September 2007. Mr. Delaney has been Vice President, Investor Relations and Planning for Sunoco,
Inc. since January 2003. Prior to that, he was Director, Investor Relations and Strategic Planning of Sunoco Inc. from April 2000 to January 2003.
Mr. Edwards was elected to the Board of Directors in May 2002. Mr. Edwards is currently a consultant in the energy field. Mr. Edwards is a director of
Entergy, Inc.
Mr. Fischer was elected to the Board of Directors in April 2002. He has been Senior Vice President, Sunoco Chemicals of Sunoco, Inc. since January 2002.
Mr. Frederickson was elected to the Board of Directors in January 2008. Mr. Frederickson was formerly Executive Vice President, Planning, Strategy &
Corporate Affairs, for Conoco Phillips from 2006 to 2007. Prior to that, he was Executive Vice President, Commercial from 2002 to 2006. Mr. Frederickson
retired from ConocoPhillips in January 2008.
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Mr. Hofmann was elected to the Board of Directors in October 2001. He has been Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Sunoco, Inc. since
January 2002. Prior to that, he was Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Sunoco, Inc. from July 1998 to January 2002. Mr. Hofmann is a director of West
Pharmaceutical Services, Inc.
Mr. Davis was elected Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary in January 2004. From November 2003 to January 2004, he was General Counsel and
Secretary. From September 2000 to November 2003, Mr. Davis was Associate General Counsel for Mirant Corporation.
Mr. Justin was elected Vice President, Operations in April 2007. From November 2001 to April 2007, he served as Vice President, Eastern Operations.
Prior to that, Mr. Justin served as Manager, Eastern Area Operations for Sun Pipe Line Company.
Mr. Keene was elected Vice President, Business Development in January 2005. From February 2002 to December 2004, Mr. Keene was the Director,
Midstream Development for Unocal Midstream & Trade (UMT), a division of Unocal Corporation. Prior to that, he had been the Director, Business
Development, Unocal Global Trade, a division of Unocal Corporation, and Vice President, Unocal Pipeline Company from April 1999 to January 2002.
Mr. Murphy was elected Vice President and Chief Financial Officer in April 2007. Prior to that, he was employed by Quaker Chemical Corporation, where
he served as Vice President and Chief Financial Officer from July 2004 through March 2007. From January 2002 to July 2004, Mr. Murphy was Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer of International Specialty Products.
Mr. Mulholland was elected Treasurer in January 2002. He has been Treasurer of Sunoco, Inc. since April 2000.
COMPLIANCE WITH SECTION 16(a) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
Section 16(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 requires directors, executive officers and persons who beneficially own more than 10 percent of the
units to file certain ownership reports with the Securities and Exchange Commission and the New York Stock Exchange. The Securities and Exchange
Commission regulations also require that copies of these Section 16(a) reports be furnished to the Partnership by such reporting persons. Based upon a review of
copies of these reports, the Partnership believes that the reporting persons are in compliance with the applicable requirements of Section 16(a).
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ITEM 11.

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The Partnership has no employees. It is managed by the officers of its general partner. The Partnership reimburses its general partner for certain indirect
and direct expenses, including executive compensation expenses, incurred on the Partnership’s behalf. Officers and employees of the general partner participate in
employee benefit plans and arrangements sponsored by the general partner or its affiliates.
COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
Overview: The general partner seeks to improve the Partnership’s financial and operating performance and provide a desirable return on investment to
holders of the Partnership’s common units, while maintaining financial strength and flexibility. The general partner provides a competitive compensation package
in order to attract highly competent and skilled executives to meet these objectives. In addition, where doing so has been determined to be a cost-effective and
administratively efficient means of providing benefits to its employees, the general partner is a participating employer in certain benefit plans sponsored by
Sunoco, Inc., including its defined benefit pension plan. The Partnership reimburses the general partner for such benefits purchased through its participation in
these plans.
Compensation Philosophy: The compensation program for the Named Executive Officers (“NEOs”) of the general partner utilizes objectives and
measurement criteria based upon performance relative to peer companies, and is designed to provide the competitive level of total compensation needed to attract,
retain and motivate talented and experienced executives who can contribute to the Partnership’s success. The compensation program emphasizes performancebased compensation (pay-at-risk), to promote achievement of short-term and long-term business objectives consistent with the Partnership’s strategic plan, and is
structured so that the actual compensation received is aligned equally with the Partnership’s overall performance in the areas of total unitholder return relative to
peer companies, and growth in cash distributions to unitholders. Executive compensation is aligned with the interests of the Partnership’s unitholders by
providing incentives in the form of restricted units and requiring significant holdings of common units, representing limited partnership interests in the
Partnership. The general partner has adopted unit ownership guidelines requiring executives and certain other key employees to own common units, as further
described herein. The Compensation Committee reviews the compensation program and makes changes deemed appropriate and in the best interests of the
Partnership and its unitholders. The general partner’s eligible executives participate in the defined benefit programs and the qualified and non-qualified defined
contribution plans of Sunoco, Inc.
Compensation Methodology: The Compensation Committee utilizes Towers Perrin as a consultant to assist in evaluating the effectiveness and
competitiveness of the compensation program. Towers Perrin assists the Compensation Committee by providing comparative market data on compensation
practices and programs based on an analysis of peer and general industry competitors (together, the “Compensation Comparative Group”) and prescribing a range
of possible executive compensation recommendations for the CEO and other executive officers. The Compensation Committee retains authority over all
compensation decisions for executive officers.
The data regarding peer competitive companies is used to compare executive compensation levels with companies that have executive positions with
responsibilities similar in breadth and scope to the general partner and that may compete with the general partner for executive talent. This peer data was used as a
general source of competitive pay practice information but the general partner and the Compensation Committee believe that the direct competition for executive
talent is broader than the peer competitor group, and the Compensation Committee also reviews compensation data from the general industry. The general
industry data are collected at both the corporate (stand-alone parent company) and group (business unit of a larger organization) levels, and then size-adjusted
using regression analysis to revenues comparable to those of the Partnership’s pipeline operating revenues plus either its lease crude acquisition business margins
(in the case of corporate data), or its lease crude acquisition business revenues (in the case of group data). One-time awards to executives of the other companies
are excluded from this review.
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The three basic components of compensation for executives of the general partner consist of base salary; annual incentives; and long-term incentives. For
most of the general partner’s executives, the grant-date value of each of these components is targeted to the 50th percentile of the corporate-level competitive
market data for general industry. This median targeted percentile was chosen to enhance the general partner’s ability to attract and retain a highly skilled and
motivated executive leadership team. However, based upon the individual performance of the executive and the Partnership’s performance as a whole, actual
realized compensation may be higher or lower than the target. As a tool to assist in its review of executive compensation, the Compensation Committee uses tally
sheets that reflect all components of the executive’s total compensation, including salary, annual incentives, long-term incentives, and the value or incremental
cost to the Partnership of all other compensation. Additionally, in consultation with the compensation consultant, management and other outside advisors, the
Compensation Committee has reviewed the estimated compensation to be received by the CEO and the other NEOs under various scenarios, including normal
retirement, voluntary or involuntary termination, and involuntary termination due to a change in control of the Partnership or Sunoco, Inc.
Elements of Compensation:
•

Base Salary: Base salary is designed to compensate executives for their level of responsibility and sustained individual performance (including
experience, scope of responsibility, results achieved and future potential). The salaries of the NEOs are reviewed on an annual basis, as well as at the
time of promotion and other change in responsibilities. The compensation consultant provides benchmarking data on the compensation of the NEOs
compared to the compensation of executives in the Compensation Comparative Group. The general partner and the Compensation Committee attempt
to establish and maintain base salaries for the NEOs within the median range of base salaries in the applicable competitive market data. Base salaries
also are influenced by internal equity (fair and consistent application of compensation practices). The Compensation Committee, with input from the
compensation consultant and the CEO (who provides input for the NEOs other than herself), approves all base salaries for the NEOs. Factors
impacting base salary levels are not independently assigned specific weights rather, the Committee reviews and makes base pay decisions that reflect
the Committee’s analysis of the aggregate impact of these factors. The Summary Compensation Table on page 113 includes the base salaries of the
NEOs that were approved for 2007. At the NEO level, the balance of compensation is weighted toward pay-at-risk compensation (annual and longterm incentives).

•

Annual Incentive Awards:
•

Why the Partnership Has Adopted the Annual Incentive Plan. The general partner’s Annual Incentive Plan is designed to enhance the
performance of key employees, including the NEOs, by providing annual cash incentive (“bonus”) opportunities for achievement of annual
financial and operational performance goals. In particular, bonus awards are provided to the NEOs in order to provide competitive incentives to
these executives who can significantly impact performance and promote achievement of the Partnership’s short-term business objectives. The
Compensation Committee, in its sole discretion, determines the individual participants and payments, if any, for each fiscal year. The
Compensation Committee also may amend or change the annual incentive plan at any time.

•

Determination of the Amounts Awarded Under the Annual Incentive Plan. Under the plan, an individual’s annual incentive payout amount is
determined by multiplying the product of his or her base salary and individual incentive guideline by a factor ranging from zero to 200 percent,
based upon the level of attainment of pre-established goals for the Partnership’s cash flow from operations. Following the end of each year, the
Compensation Committee reviews performance data with management and the compensation consultant, and determines the extent to which
these goals have been achieved. That amount then may be adjusted up or down (by no more than 20 percent) to reflect financial performance of
the Partnership’s lease crude acquisition business. This adjusted
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amount may be further adjusted up or down (by no more than 10 percent) to reflect actual Partnership performance with regard to certain health,
environment and safety criteria. Finally, a potential upwards adjustment of 5 percent may be made if the pipeline and terminals segments of the
business successfully achieve a first quartile OSHA safety performance ranking relative to its pipeline industry group. The health, environment
and safety component does not apply if the minimum Partnership performance goals are not attained. If the Partnership does not achieve at least
the minimum threshold performance goals, no award payment will be made.
The respective payout percentages for these criteria were established at levels that the Compensation Committee believes provide meaningful
incentives to achieve the established performance goals. The following performance goals, assigned weights and performance factors were
approved by the Compensation Committee for purposes of calculating the eventual payout for awards made for the 2007 plan year under the
annual incentive plan:
Cash Flow from Operations

Payout

£ 80% of cash flow target
Cash flow target
³ 120% of cash flow target

0%
100%
200%

as modified (up or down) by the financial performance of the lease crude acquisition business and relative achievement of certain health,
environment and safety performance goals, as described above. Payout for performance between specified performance goals will be
interpolated on a straight-line basis. In no event can the annual incentive payout amount exceed 200 percent of the individual’s guideline
amount, even after taking the applicable adjustments into account.
Use of cash flow from operations as the primary criterion for payout of the 2007 annual incentive award ensures that management will continue
to be focused on operations excellence. Use of health, environment and safety performance to further adjust the payout reinforces that, along
with financial success, management is focused on continuing to protect the Partnership’s employees and the communities in which the
Partnership operates.
2007 Annual Incentive Payout Amount. Based upon the Partnership’s level of attainment of pre-established goals for cash flow from
operations during the 2007 plan year, the payout factor was 164.1 percent, adjusted by the applicable health, environmental and safety factor for
each business unit. The annual incentive reinforces the links between strategy, goal-setting and results. The individual incentive guidelines (as a
percentage of base salary) for each of the NEOs for 2007 are as follows:

Name

Deborah M. Fretz
Neal E. Murphy
Christopher W. Keene
Bruce D. Davis, Jr.
David A. Justin

Title

President and Chief Executive Officer
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Vice President, Business Development
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Vice President, Operations

Annual Incentive Plan
Guideline Incentive
2007

80%
40%
40%
40%
40%

Under the general partner’s annual incentive plan, the Compensation Committee has the discretion to reduce the amounts payable to
participants, or to determine that no amount will be paid, even if all performance criteria for payout are met. The annual incentive awards are
paid in cash. The annual incentives earned by NEOs for 2007 are included in the Summary Compensation Table on page 113 under “Non-Equity
Incentive Plan Compensation.”
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•

Long-Term Incentive Awards:
•

Why the Long-Term Incentive Plan was Adopted. Long-term incentive awards for the NEOs are granted under the Sunoco Partners LLC LongTerm Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”), in order to promote achievement of the Company’s long-term strategic business objectives. This plan was
designed to align the economic interests of key employees and directors with those of the Partnership’s common unitholders; to provide
competitive compensation opportunities that can be realized through attainment of performance goals; and to provide an incentive to
management for continuous employment with the general partner and its affiliates. Long-term incentive compensation is based upon the
common units representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership, although it may be payable in common units, or in cash. The
Compensation Committee administers the plan and, in its discretion, may terminate or amend the long-term incentive plan at any time with
respect to any units for which a grant has not yet been made. However, no change in any outstanding grant may be made that would materially
impair the rights of the participant without the consent of the participant. The Compensation Committee also has the right to alter or amend the
long-term incentive plan or any part of the plan from time to time, including increasing the number of units that may be granted, subject to
unitholder approval as required by the exchange upon which the common units are listed at that time.

•

The LTIP Peer Group. The Compensation Committee utilizes a peer group for measuring financial performance under the LTIP (the “LTIP
Peer Group”). The LTIP Peer Group consists of other publicly traded master limited partnerships having a business mix comparable to that of
the Partnership. For the 2007 fiscal year, the peer group consisted of the following companies: Buckeye Partners LP; Crosstex Energy LP;
Enbridge Energy Partners LP; Enterprise Products Partners LP; Holly Energy Partners LP; Kinder Morgan Energy Partners LP; Magellan
Midstream Partners LP; ONEOK Partners LP; Plains All American Pipeline LP; TEPPCO Partners LP; and NuStar Energy LP. The
Compensation Committee believes that the companies that comprise the LTIP Peer Group reflect the performance of other pipeline master
limited partnerships. This peer group is reviewed annually with the assistance of Towers Perrin and the composition of the peer group may be
updated in order to reflect mergers, acquisitions, business bankruptcies and other similar events.

•

What are the elements of compensation under the LTIP? The LTIP provides for two types of awards: restricted units and unit options.
•

Restricted Units. Each restricted unit entitles the grantee to receive a common unit upon vesting or, in the discretion of the
Compensation Committee, an amount of cash equivalent to the value of a common unit. From time to time, the Compensation
Committee may make grants under the plan to employees and/or directors containing such terms as the Compensation Committee shall
determine under the plan. Special one-time grants of restricted units may be made at any time during the year, subject to the approval
of the Compensation Committee. These grants are infrequent, and generally are used for new hires, promotions and recognition of
extraordinary accomplishments. The Compensation Committee will determine the period over which restricted units granted to
employees and/or directors will vest, and whether or not any such restricted units will have distribution equivalent rights entitling the
grantee to receive an amount in cash equal to cash distributions made by the Partnership with respect to a like number of its common
units during the period such restricted units are outstanding. Performance-based restricted units are designed to pay out only if certain
objective Partnership-specific performance measures have been met over the applicable performance period, generally three years. As
a result, the payout under an LTIP award of performance-based restricted units is influenced not only by performance in the year in
which the award is paid, but also by performance for the two prior years. Thus, extreme positive or negative performance during the
two years prior to the payout of an award may influence the actual award more than performance in the year in which the award vests.
In addition, the value received from restricted unit awards will be affected by any changes in the trading price of the Partnership’s
common units during the period of time between the grant date and the payment date.
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2007 Awards. For the 2007 awards, payout will depend upon achievement by the Partnership of certain performance levels based on
two equally weighted performance measures relative to the Partnership’s LTIP Peer Group: total unitholder return (including cash
distributions plus appreciation in unit price) and growth in cash distributions to unitholders, both measured for the three-year period
ending December 31, 2009. Actual payout may range from zero percent to 200 percent of the target amount, with payments increasing
as the Partnership’s percentile ranking against its peer companies improves with respect to each of these two performance measures.
The respective payout factor is zero for a ranking below the fortieth percentile on each performance measure. Maximum potential
payout is achieved at a ranking above the ninetieth percentile on each performance measure. Payout factors applicable to performance
between points will be interpolated along a straight line. The following objective performance goals, assigned weights, and
performance factors were approved by the Compensation Committee for purposes of calculating the eventual payout for performancebased restricted unit awards made for the 2007 plan year under the LTIP (the payout factors applicable to performance between points
will be interpolated along a straight line):
Total Unitholder Return and Growth in Cash Distributions to Unitholders
(each weighted 50%)

Ranking Against Peer Companies

Payout Factor

Below 40th Percentile
40th Percentile
50th Percentile
75th Percentile
90th Percentile

0%
50%
100%
150%
200%

In selecting total unitholder return and growth in distributable cash as the performance measures applicable to the payout of
performance-based restricted units, consideration was given to a balanced incentive approach, utilizing those measures deemed most
important to the Partnership’s common unitholders, while recognizing the difficulty of accurately predicting market conditions over
time. The Compensation Committee believes that performance relative to the peer companies is an important criterion for payout since
market conditions are outside the control of management, and management will realize greater than median levels of compensation
only when the Partnership outperforms its peer group. Conversely, regardless of market conditions, management will realize less than
median compensation levels when the Partnership underperforms its peer group.
As an additional incentive to promote the growth of cash distributions to unitholders, during the performance period, distribution
equivalent rights were granted in tandem with the 2007 awards of performance-based restricted units. At the end of the performance
period, to the extent that the performance-based restricted units are paid out, these distribution equivalent rights entitle the grantee of
performance-based restricted units to receive an amount equal to the cumulative cash distributions that otherwise would have been
paid over the performance period had the grantee been the holder of record of Partnership common units equal to the number of
performance-based restricted units paid out. This amount may be taken in the form of cash or additional common units (fractional
units are cashed out).
•

2007 Payout for Prior Awards. The performance period for the performance-based restricted units awarded in January 2005 ended December 31,
2007, and the level of payout of these awards reflects the Partnership’s level of achievement of the applicable performance measures during the period
from January 1, 2005 to December 31, 2007. The performance measures for these awards were total unitholder return and growth in operating cash
flow over the three-year performance period.
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Unit Options. The long-term incentive plan currently permits the grant of options covering common units. No unit options have been granted since the
inception of the LTIP in 2002. However, in the future, the Compensation Committee may determine to grant unit options under the plan to employees
and directors, containing such terms as the committee shall determine.
•

Determination of the Amounts Awarded under the LTIP. In conjunction with the review and approval of other elements of the NEO’s
compensation, the annual LTIP awards were reviewed and approved at the Compensation Committee’s January 2007 meeting, and the grant date
was the date of the meeting. In determining the appropriate long-term value for each executive, the Compensation Committee reviews the level
of responsibility and total compensation of each senior executive, and the competitive market data presented by the compensation consultant.
The Compensation Committee approves the specific amounts granted to each employee. In general, the target number of restricted units granted
to each NEO under the LTIP is calculated by taking the product of the NEO’s base salary and the applicable guideline percentage for that NEO,
and then dividing by the average daily closing market price of the Partnership’s common units during the last thirty (30) trading days prior to the
December 31 preceding the meeting at which the LTIP grant will be approved. Under no circumstances may the aggregate number of units
granted to a single employee exceed the maximum applicable limit(s) under the LTIP. When approving grants to the executives, the
Compensation Committee considers information or recommendations provided by the CEO, except with respect to the CEO’s own grants. The
Compensation Committee utilizes Towers Perrin to assist in the evaluation of grant recommendations. For the LTIP grants made during the 2007
fiscal year, the applicable NEO guideline percentages were as follows:
Name

Deborah M. Fretz
Neal E. Murphy
Christopher W. Keene
Bruce D. Davis, Jr.
David A. Justin

Title

President and Chief Executive Officer
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Vice President, Business Development
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
Vice President, Operations

LTIP Guideline
Percentage

229%
85%
85%
76%
85%

The long-term incentive compensation is based upon the common units representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership. The accounting
treatment for the long-term incentive compensation is specified by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.123, “Share-Based Payment”
(“SFAS No. 123R”). The restricted units payable in the form of common units are valued using the price on the date preceding the grant date. The
expenses for LTIP equity awards are recognized ratably over the vesting period, and are accelerated for vesting at retirement eligibility dates.
Unit Ownership Guidelines: Sunoco Partners LLC has established guidelines for the ownership of Partnership common units, applicable to its directors,
executives and certain key employees. Under these guidelines, the independent directors must own Partnership common units having a market value at all times
equal to at least three times their average annual compensation (including retainers and fees). The other directors must own at least 1,000 Partnership common
units. All directors are granted a five-year eligibility period to meet these unit ownership guidelines. For executives and certain other key employees, the
applicable unit ownership guidelines are denominated as a multiple of base salary, and the amount of common units required to be owned increases with the level
of responsibility, with the Chief Executive Officer expected to own common units with a value equal to at least five times base salary, and the senior executives
(including the other NEOs) expected to own stock with a minimum value of between one and two times their base salary. The general partner and the
Compensation Committee believe that the ownership of Partnership common units, as reflected in these guidelines, is an important means of tying the financial
risks and rewards for such executives to the Partnership’s total unitholder return and better aligning the interests of such executives with those of the Partnership’s
unitholders. Those key employees and executives, including the NEOs, who are subject to these unit ownership
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guidelines, but who have not yet met their respective guideline, must accumulate common units of the Partnership until such guideline is met. Except for sales of
common units in settlement of tax obligations relating to the receipt and payment of LTIP awards, such persons are prohibited from disposing of any common
units of the Partnership until the applicable ownership guideline has been attained. However, those individuals who have met or exceeded their applicable
ownership guideline may dispose of Partnership common units in a manner consistent with applicable law and Partnership policy, but only to the extent that such
individual’s remaining ownership of Partnership common units would continue to exceed the applicable ownership guideline.
Other Plans: Employees of the general partner and its affiliates, including the NEOs, also may participate in the following Sunoco, Inc. benefit plans:
•

Capital Accumulation Plan is a defined contribution 401(k) plan, designed for long-term investment, to assist in accumulating funds for retirement.
For employees having at least one year of service, Sunoco, Inc. matches the first five percent of base pay contributed, on a dollar-for-dollar basis. The
employee chooses from among various funds provided for investment of contributions, and matching contributions. An employee who terminates
employment may elect to take a lump-sum distribution from the plan.

•

Savings Restoration Plan is a non-qualified deferred compensation plan available to those Uncap participants subject to compensation and/or
contribution limitations under the Internal Revenue Code. Participants may contribute amounts in excess of the applicable limits, up to five percent of
base salary. The amounts of the company match for the NEOs in 2007 under the Capital Accumulation Plan and the Savings Restoration Plan are
included in the Summary Compensation Table on page 113 under “All Other Compensation” and are further described in the notes accompanying the
table.

•

Retirement Plan is a qualified defined benefit plan, under which benefits are subject to IRS limits for pay and amount. Under the Retirement Plan,
executives hired before January 1, 1987 participate in a “final average pay” formula. Those executives hired on or after January 1, 1987 participate in a
“cash balance” formula, which provides a benefit based on career pay rather than final average pay.

•

Pension Restoration Plan is a non-qualified, unfunded plan that provides retirement benefits that otherwise would be provided under the Retirement
Plan, except for the Internal Revenue Code limits.

•

Executive Retirement Plan is a non-qualified, unfunded plan available to the NEOs which may provide to certain eligible executive’s supplemental
pension benefits over and above an NEO’s benefits under the Retirement Plan and the Pension Restoration Plan. This plan was designed to attract midcareer senior executives by providing competitive retirement benefits and by accelerating benefit accruals for the first 12 years of service as an
executive. Such benefits otherwise would not be available, due to the break in service when leaving a prior employer. Benefits under this plan are
offset by those provided under the Retirement Plan and the Pension Restoration Plan.

The present values of each NEO’s accumulated pension benefit, as of year-end 2007 are included in the Pension Benefits Table on page 111 More detailed
descriptions of Retirement Plan, the Pension Restoration Plan and Executive Retirement Plan are included in the narrative accompanying the table.
Other Benefits: Employees of the Partnership’s general partner and its affiliates, including the NEOs, participate in a variety of other benefits, including
medical, dental, life insurance, disability, holidays and vacation. These benefits generally are provided on an enterprise-wide basis to employees of the general
partner and its affiliates. The executives receive the same benefits at the same rates as other employees.
Perquisites: In 2007, certain NEOs also received a limited number of personal benefits, or “perquisites”. The dollar amount of the perquisites received by
the NEOs is included in the Summary Compensation Table on page 113 under “All Other Compensation.”
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Severance and Change-in-Control Benefits: An employee, including an NEO, is an employee at will. This means that the Partnership’s general partner
may terminate employment at any time, with or without notice, and with or without cause or reason. Upon certain types of termination of employment and in the
event of a change in control, certain benefits may be paid or provided to the NEOs.
The Sunoco Partners LLC Executive Involuntary Severance Plan provides certain severance benefits to the general partner’s NEOs and other key
management personnel, involuntarily terminated other than for just cause, death or disability. In recognition of their past service, the plan is intended to alleviate
the financial hardship that may be experienced by certain employees whose employment is terminated. The amount or kind of benefit to be provided is based on
the executive’s position and compensation at the time of termination. Depending upon salary level, NEOs would receive severance payments ranging from one to
one and one-half times base salary plus their guideline annual incentive in effect on the termination date.
The Sunoco Partners LLC Special Executive Severance Plan provides severance benefits in case of termination (whether actual or constructive and other
than for just cause, death or disability) occurring within two years of a change of control of the Partnership, as defined in the plan. The plan was adopted to retain
executives in the event of a major transaction or change in control, and to eliminate the uncertainty and questions which such a transaction may raise among
management, and which may result in the departure or distraction of key management personnel to the detriment of the Partnership and/or the general partner.
The general partner’s Board of Directors has determined that appropriate steps should be taken to reinforce and encourage the continued attention and dedication
of key management personnel to their assigned duties without distraction. The Board believes that in the context of a change in control, potential acquirors may
otherwise have an incentive to constructively terminate the executive’s employment to avoid paying severance, and it is therefore appropriate to provide
severance benefits in this circumstance. Severance under this plan would be payable in a lump sum, equal to three times annual compensation for the CEO, and
two times annual compensation for the other NEOs. The general partner’s Board of Directors believes that the potential severance payments provide an
appropriate level of protection to the executive for the critical period following a change in control at a reasonable cost to the Partnership. For these purposes,
annual compensation consists of: (i) annual base salary in effect immediately prior to a change in control or immediately prior to the employment termination
date, whichever is greater, plus (ii) the greater of annual guideline incentive in effect immediately before the change in control or employment termination date, or
the highest bonus awarded in any of the three years ending prior to the change in control, or any subsequent year ending before the employment termination date.
Eligible executives under both the Involuntary Severance Plan and the Special Executive Severance Plan are entitled to medical coverage during the
applicable severance period, at the same rate that such benefits are provided to active employees.
The Annual Incentive Plan provides that, upon a change in control, as defined in the plan, the participants will receive a pro rata portion of the annual
incentive award based on the level of attainment of applicable performance targets.
The Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan provides that, upon a change in control, as defined in the plan, all awards of restricted units or unit
options automatically vest and become payable or exercisable, as the case may be. Restricted units that have been outstanding for more than one year will be paid
out at the greater of the target amount, or an amount in line with the Partnership’s actual performance immediately prior to the change in control. Those restricted
units that have been outstanding for one year or less will be paid out at the target amount.
Additional information regarding these plans can be found under “Other Potential Post-Employment Payments” on page 123.
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SUMMARY COMPENSATION TABLE
The Summary Compensation Table reflects the total compensation earned by the CEO, CFO and each of the three other most highly compensated
executive officers of the general partner, who served in those capacities as of December 31, 2007, for each of the past two fiscal years:

Name and
Principal
Position
D. M. Fretz(6)
President and Chief
Executive Officer

Stock
Awards(1)
($)
1,760,147
2,163,672

Option
Awards(2)
($)
None
None

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation(3)
($)
630,144
407,680

Change in
Pension
Value and
Nonqualified
Deferred
Compensation
Earnings(4)
($)
703,277
448,440

All Other
Compensation(5)
($)
40,658
53,381

Total
($)
3,614,226
3,528,173

Year
2007
2006

Salary
($)
480,000
455,000

Bonus
($)
None
None

N. E. Murphy
Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

2007
2006(10)

203,500(7)
—

182,850(8)
—

209,914
—

None
—

136,668(9)
—

16,056
—

552
—

749,540
—

C. W. Keene
Vice President,
Business Development

2007
2006

254,200
244,400

None
None

482,975
212,149

None
None

166,857
125,133

33,262
33,601

13,396
13,428

950,690
628,711

B. D. Davis, Jr.
Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary

2007
2006

241,900
228,230

None
None

295,004
414,568

None
None

158,783
87,640

34,980
32,698

12.745
15,176

743,412
778,312

D. A. Justin
Vice President,
Operations

2007
2006

244,216(11)
216,840

None
None

352,059
378,116

None
None

164,100
84,112

0(12)
51,882

11,934
11,827

772,309
742,777

NOTES TO TABLE:
(1)
The amounts shown in this column reflect the amounts recognized as compensation expense on the Partnership’s financial statements at year-end
2007 and 2006, respectively, relating to performance-based restricted unit awards under the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (the
“LTIP”), approved by the Compensation Committee at its regularly scheduled meetings in January 2007 and April 2006 as well as similar expense
for outstanding prior year awards, approved by the Compensation Committee at its regularly scheduled meetings in January 2005 and 2004,
calculated in accordance with the requirements of SFAS No. 123R. Such compensation expense includes tandem distribution equivalent rights related
to the restricted unit awards. These awards have a three-year restriction period. Compensation expense for the 2007 and 2006 awards was calculated
assuming an eventual target payout of 100 percent. Compensation expense for the 2005 awards (which were paid out on February 8, 2008, in the
form of common units) and the 2004 awards (which were paid out on February 8, 2007, in the form of common units) were calculated using the
actual performance-adjusted payout percentage of 163.2 percent and 176.8 percent, respectively. At the time of the filing of this report, Ms. Fretz and
Mr. Justin are retirement eligible and the compensation expense has been recognized immediately upon grant for their 2006 and 2007 awards, in
accordance with SFAS No. 123R. See the “Compensation, Discussion and Analysis” on page 109 for the specific performance measures applicable
to the payout and vesting of these awards. These awards were granted with tandem distribution equivalent rights.
(2)
Although permitted by the terms of the LTIP, no Unit Options have been awarded at this time.
(3)
The amounts shown in this column reflect annual incentive amounts earned under the Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan, for performance
during 2007 and 2006, and payable on or before March 14, 2008 and March 17, 2007, respectively.
(4)
The amounts shown in this column reflect the change in each NEO’s pension value between December 31, 2007 and December 31, 2006 and
December 31, 2005 and December 31, 2006, respectively. The NEOs did not have any above-market or preferential payments on deferred
compensation during 2007 or 2006. Certain of the NEOs have deferred amounts under the Sunoco, Inc.
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(5)

Savings Restoration Plan, an excess 401(k) benefit plan available to employees of Sunoco, Inc. and subsidiaries such as the Partnership’s general
partner. However, the earnings received from participation in this plan are the same as dividends earned on Sunoco, Inc. common stock (in the case
of the Sunoco stock-related funds), and/or are based on the gains/losses of certain mutual funds, which are calculated in the same manner and at the
same rate of earnings as for all other employees invested in those funds in the Sunoco, Inc. Capital Accumulation Plan (the “SunCAP”), the broadbased 401(k) qualified defined contribution plan for Sunoco, Inc. and its subsidiaries.
The table below shows the components of this column for 2007 and 2006:

Name

Year

D. M. Fretz

2007
2006

N.E. Murphy

2007
2006

Company
Match
Under
Defined
Contribution
Plan
($)

Cost of
Basic
Life
Insurance
($)

23,976
22,736

1,313
1,245

—
—

Financial
Counseling
($)

Amounts
Reimbursed
for Payment
of Certain
Taxes
($)

Perquisites
>$10,000
($)

—
2,500

—
7,075

15,369
19,825

552
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

—

Amounts Paid in
Connection with
Termination of
Employment
($)

—

Amounts
Reimbursed
for
Moving &
Relocation
Expenses
($)

—
—

Total
($)

—

40,658
53,381

—

552
—

—
—

C.W. Keene

2007
2006

12,701
11,759

695
669

—
1,000

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

13,396
13,428

B. D. Davis, Jr.

2007
2006

12,083
11,403

662
624

—
3,149

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

12,745
15,176

D. A. Justin

2007
2006

11,250
10,834

684
593

—
400

—
—

—
—

—
—

—
—

11,934
11,827

(6)
(7)

•

For Ms. Fretz, the amount shown for perquisites in 2007 and 2006 includes: (1) an allowance for parking at the headquarters office and
(2) reimbursements for certain fees and dues relating to country and social club memberships.

•

Sunoco Partners LLC, the Partnership’s general partner, is a participating employer in two Sunoco, Inc. defined contribution plans:
(1) the SunCAP, a 401(k) plan open to most employees; and (2) the Sunoco, Inc. Savings Restoration Plan, for executive-level
SunCAP participants otherwise subject to certain Internal Revenue Code limitations on 401(k) plan contributions. The Savings
Restoration Plan permits such participants to continue to receive matching contributions after exceeding the applicable limits.

•

Basic life insurance coverage is provided to employees of the Partnership’s general partner, including the NEOs. The
coverage/premium amount is one times base salary, at a monthly rate of $0.228 for each $1,000 of base salary.

•

In 2006, the NEOs received perquisites including an allowance for financial counseling up to a maximum of $2,500 per year. The
Partnership values the financial counseling benefit on the amount actually used. This annual financial counseling allowance was
discontinued beginning on January 1, 2007, and any unused portion of the 2006 allowance could not be carried over into 2007.
However, the NEOs were permitted to continue to use amounts accrued prior to 2005, until such balances are depleted.

•

The general partner provides NEOs with tax gross-ups for business club memberships and, through April 2006, provided for country
club memberships, if any.

Ms. Fretz is a director of Sunoco Partners LLC, the Partnership’s general partner. However, she does not receive separate compensation for her
service as a director.
Mr. Murphy began his employment with the Partnership’s general partner on April 9, 2007. This figure represents the portion of his annual salary of
$286,000 that was earned in 2007.
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(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)
(12)

This figure represents the sign-on bonus received by Mr. Murphy relating to his employment with the Partnership’s general partner.
The award amount granted to Mr. Murphy under the Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan was pro-rated to reflect Mr. Murphy’s initiation of
employment with the Partnership’s general partner on April 9, 2007.
Mr. Colin Oerton served as the principal financial officer for part of the fiscal year ending December 31, 2006 and his employment with the
Partnership’s general partner was terminated on September 30, 2006. Information regarding Mr. Oerton’s 2006 compensation was disclosed in the
Partnership’s Form 10-K for the year ending December 31, 2006.
Mr. Justin’s 2007 base salary was increased from $227,700 to $250,000 effective March 25, 2007 to coincide with his appointment as Vice President,
Operations. Mr. Justin had previously served as Vice President, Eastern Operations.
The positive value of the year-over-year change in the actuarial value of benefits earned under the Sunoco, Inc. Retirement Plan of $43,221 and the
Pension Restoration Plan of $16,355 is offset by the negative value of year-over-year change in actuarial value of benefits earned under the Sunoco
Inc. Executive Retirement Plan of $79,453, resulting in a negative sum.
GRANTS OF PLAN-BASED AWARDS

The following table sets forth the grants of awards to the CEO, CFO and each of the three other most highly compensated executive officers of the
Partnership’s general partner in 2007:

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Non-Equity Incentive
Plan Awards(1)

Name
D. M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive Officer

Grant
Date
01-26-2007

Threshold
($)
—

Target
($)
384,000

Maximum
($)
768,000

Target
(#)
22,362(2)

Maximum
(#)
44,724

All
Other
Stock
Awards:
Number
of
Shares
of Stock
or Units
(#)(3)
—

Estimated Future Payouts
Under Equity Incentive Plan
Awards
Threshold
(#)
—

All Other
Option
Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Options(4)
(#)
—

Exercise
or Base
Price of
Option
Awards
($/Unit)
—

Grant
date fair
value of
stock and
option
awards(5)
1,236,395

N.E. Murphy
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

04-20-2007

—

82,283

164,566

—

4,208(2)

8,416

9,212

—

—

802,614

C. W. Keene
Vice President, Business
Development

01-26-2007

—

101,680

203,360

2,491
—

4,981(6)
4,393(2)

9,962
8,786

—
—

—
—

—
—

242,889
275,399

B. D. Davis, Jr.
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

01-26-2007

—

96,760

195,520

—

3,737(2)

7,474

—

—

—

206,619

D. A. Justin
Vice President, Operations

01-26-2007

—

100,000

200,000

—

4,185(2)

8,370

—

—

—

231,389

NOTES TO TABLE:
(1)
The annual incentive was awarded under the Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan. The annual incentive is paid out in cash, and any amounts
earned for performance during the 2007 year will be paid out no later than March 14, 2008.
(2)
The performance-based restricted units were awarded under the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”) on January 26, 2007
except that Mr. Murphy’s performance-based restricted units were awarded on April 20, 2007, in connection with his hiring. These performancebased restricted units were granted with tandem distribution equivalent rights. Actual payout of these awards will depend upon the Partnership
achieving certain specified performance levels, ranked against
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(3)

(4)
(5)
(6)

its peer group of companies, based upon equally weighted annual objectives for total unitholder return and growth cash distributions to unitholders.
The portion of each award that may be earned during the performance period (which runs from January 1, 2007 to December 31, 2009) ranges from a
threshold value of zero, to a target value equal to 100 percent of the award, and a maximum value of 200 percent of the award. Payment of any
amounts earned will occur following such period, assuming continued employment with the general partner at such time.
Amounts shown in this column reflect the grants of certain time-vested restricted units to NEOs granted during the 2007 fiscal year under the LTIP.
The eventual payout of these grants may be made either in the form of cash or in common units, as determined at the time of grant by the general
partner’s Compensation Committee. On April 20, 2007, in connection with his hiring, Mr. Murphy was granted a one-time award of 9,212 restricted
units, together with applicable distribution equivalent rights, pursuant to the LTIP; this special award vests and becomes payable in one-third
increments on each December 31, 2007 through 2009, contingent only upon Mr. Murphy’s continued employment with the general partner through
the end of the restriction periods. The number of restricted units earned by Mr. Murphy upon the first incremental vesting on December 31, 2007 was
3,071 units.
Although permitted by the terms of the LTIP, no Unit Options have been awarded at this time.
Grant date fair value was calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 123R.
Mr. Keene was granted a special unit award of 4,981 performance-based restricted units under the LTIP on January 26, 2007. Actual payout of these
awards will depend upon the Partnership achieving certain specified performance levels, ranked against its peer group of companies, based upon
equally weighted annual objectives for total unitholder return and growth cash distributions to unitholders. The award vests incrementally over a five
year restricted period with 25% vesting on December 31, 2009, 25% vesting on December 31, 2010 and the remaining units vesting on December 31,
2011. The portion of each unit award earned at each vesting period ranges from a threshold value of 50 percent, to a target value equal to 100 percent
of the award, and a maximum value of 200 percent of the award.
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OUTSTANDING EQUITY AWARDS AT FISCAL YEAR-END
The following table provides information concerning the unvested and outstanding equity awards to the CEO, CFO and each of the three other most highly
compensated executive officers of the Partnership’s general partner as of December 31, 2007:
Option Awards(1)

Name
D. M. Fretz
President
and Chief Executive
Officer
N.E. Murphy
Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer
C. W. Keene
Vice President,
Business Development
B. D. Davis, Jr.
Vice President, General
Counsel and Secretary
D. A. Justin
Vice President,
Operations

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Exercisable

Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Options
(#)
Unexercisable

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number of
Securities
Underlying
Unexercised
Unearned
Options
(#)

Stock Awards

Option
Exercise
Price
($)

Option
Expiration
Date

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

Number
of
Shares
or Units
of Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
(#)
—
6,141(2)

—

Market
Value
of
Shares
or
Units
of
Stock
That
Have
Not
Vested
($)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Number
of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That
Have Not
Vested
(#)

Equity
Incentive
Plan
Awards:
Market
or Payout
Value of
Unearned
Shares,
Units or
Other
Rights
That
Have Not
Vested (3)
($)

—

22,391(4)
22,362(5)

2,245,706

308,155(2)

4,208(5)

211,157

—

5,180(4)
4,393(5)
4,981(6)

730,320

4,492(4)
3,737(5)

412,931

4,212(4)
4,185(5)

421,361

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

—

NOTES TO TABLE:
(1)
Although permitted by the terms of the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”), no Unit Options have been awarded at this
time.
(2)
Amounts shown reflect awards of time-vested restricted units (i.e., not performance-based), granted under the terms of the LTIP. On April 20, 2007,
in connection with his hiring, Mr. Murphy was granted a one-time award of 9,212 restricted units, together with applicable distribution equivalent
rights, pursuant to the LTIP; this special award vests and becomes payable in one-third increments on each December 31, 2007 through 2009,
contingent only upon Mr. Murphy’s continued employment with the general partner through the end of the restriction periods. The number of
restricted units earned by Mr. Murphy upon the first incremental vesting on December 31, 2007 was 3,071 units. The market value or payout value of
the unearned restricted units is based on the trading price of the common units, representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership, on
December 31, 2007 of $50.18.
(3)
The market value or payout value of the unearned restricted units is based on the trading price of the common units, representing limited partnership
interests in the Partnership, on December 31, 2007 of $50.18, and assumes a payout at the target of 100 percent.
(4)
These performance-based restricted units were awarded April 17, 2006, and the performance period ends on December 31, 2008. Actual payout of
these awards will depend upon the Partnership achieving certain specified performance levels, ranked against its peer group of companies, based
upon total unitholder return and growth in cash distributions to unitholders. The portion of each award that may
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(5)

(6)

be earned during the performance period ranges from a threshold value of zero, to a target value equal to 100 percent of the award, and a maximum
value of 200 percent of the award. Payment of any amounts earned will occur following such period, assuming continued employment with the
general partner at such time. At the end of the performance period, to the extent that the performance-based restricted units are paid out, each holder
of performance-based restricted units also will receive an amount equal to the cumulative cash distributions that would have been paid over the
performance period had he or she been the holder of record of common units, representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership, equal to
the number of the performance-based restricted units, if any, paid out.
These performance-based restricted units were awarded January 26, 2007, and the performance period ends on December 31, 2009, except that
Mr. Murphy’s performance-based restricted units were awarded on April 20, 2007, in connection with his hiring. Actual payout of these awards will
depend upon the Partnership achieving certain specified performance levels, ranked against its peer group of companies, based upon total unitholder
return and growth in cash distributions to unitholders. The portion of each award that may be earned during the performance period ranges from a
threshold value of zero, to a target value equal to 100 percent of the award, and a maximum value of 200 percent of the award. Payment of any
amounts earned will occur following such period, assuming continued employment with the general partner at such time. At the end of the
performance period, to the extent that the performance-based restricted units are paid out, each holder of performance-based restricted units also will
receive an amount equal to the cumulative cash distributions that would have been paid over the performance period had he or she been the holder of
record of common units, representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership, equal to the number of the performance-based restricted units,
if any, paid out.
Mr. Keene was granted a special unit award of 4,981 performance-based restricted units on January 26, 2007. The award vests incrementally over a
five year restricted period with 25% vesting on December 31, 2009, 25% vesting on December 31, 2010 and the remaining units vesting on
December 31, 2011. The portion of each unit award earned at each vesting period ranges from a threshold value of 50 percent, to a target value equal
to 100 percent of the award, and a maximum value of 200 percent of the award. Actual payout of these awards will depend upon the Partnership
achieving certain specified performance levels, ranked against its peer group of companies, based upon equally weighted annual objectives for total
unitholder return and growth cash distributions to unitholders. At the end of the performance period, to the extent that the performance-based
restricted units are paid out, Mr. Keene will also receive an amount equal to the cumulative cash distributions that would have been paid over the
performance period had he been the holder of record of common units, representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership, equal to the
number of the performance-based restricted units paid out.
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OPTION EXERCISES AND STOCK VESTED
The following table provides information concerning the amounts related to the vesting, during 2007, of certain awards for the CEO, CFO and each of the
three other most highly compensated executive officers of the Partnership’s general partner in 2007, upon the vesting of restricted units, previously awarded under
the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”):
Option Awards (1)
Number of
Shares
Acquired
Value Realized
on Exercise
on Exercise
(#)
($)

Name

D. M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive Officer
N.E. Murphy
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
C. W. Keene
Vice President, Business Development
B. D. Davis, Jr.
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
D. A. Justin
Vice President, Operations

Stock Awards
Number of
Shares
Acquired
on Vesting
(#)

Value Realized
on Vesting(3)
($)

—

—

32,163(2)

$ 1,973,469

—

—

3,071(4)

170,694

—

—

10,387(2)(5)

637,327

—

—

6,362(2)

390,328

—

—

5,921(2)

363,292

NOTES TO TABLE:
(1)
Although permitted by the terms of the LTIP, no Unit Options have been awarded at this time.
(2)
Amounts shown in this column reflect the vesting and payout of performance-based restricted unit awards granted in January 2005 under the LTIP,
and the Partnership’s level of attainment of certain performance goals over the three-year performance period running from January 1, 2005 through
December 31, 2007. The number of units shown in the table reflects a payout percentage of 163.2 percent, applicable to the actual level of
achievement of certain specified performance goals (based upon annual objectives for growth in cash flow per common unit, and total unitholder
return ranked against peers) during the performance period. The value upon vesting was determined by multiplying (i) the product of the target
number of such restricted units and the applicable performance factor (163.2 percent) at the end of the performance period; by (ii) the closing market
price of the Partnership’s common units on the last trading day before the units were paid out ($52.20), and then adding the cumulative cash value of
earned distribution equivalents. The performance measures for these awards were growth in operating cash flow, and total unitholder return during
the performance period.
(3)
Amounts shown in this column include the following amounts paid out in respect of the earned cumulative distribution equivalents on the restricted
units:
Value of Cumulative
Distribution Equivalents
Realized Upon Vesting
($)

Name

D. M. Fretz
N.E. Murphy
B. D. Davis, Jr.
C.W. Keene
D. A. Justin
(4)

294,537
10,388
58,256
95,120
54,221

For Mr. Murphy, the amounts shown also include the value of a special restricted unit award, granted in April 2007, in connection with his hiring, the
payout of which was conditioned only upon his continued employment through the end of the first of three incremental restriction periods, running
from April 20,
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(5)

2007 through December 31, 2007, and the related cumulative distribution equivalents. The number of restricted units earned by Mr. Murphy upon
vesting of this special award was 3,071 units.
For Mr. Keene, the amounts shown also include the value of a special restricted unit award, granted in January 2005, in connection with his hiring,
the payout of which was conditioned only upon his continued employment through the end of a restriction period running from January 18, 2005
through December 31, 2007, and the related cumulative distribution equivalents. The number of restricted units earned by Mr. Keene upon vesting of
this special award was 2,436 units.
PENSION BENEFITS

Sunoco Partners LLC, the Partnership’s general partner, is a participating employer in certain Sunoco, Inc. pension and retirement plans, and NEOs are
eligible to participate in such plans. Benefits under these plans are calculated based on cash compensation including both base pay and annual incentives. This
table shows the estimated annual retirement benefits payable to a covered executive based upon the final average pay formulas of the Sunoco, Inc. Retirement
Plan (the “SCIRP”), the Sunoco, Inc. Pension Restoration Plan, and the Sunoco, Inc. Executive Retirement Plan (the “SERP”). Executives who participate in
these plans may elect to receive their accrued benefits in the form of either a lump sum or an annuity. The estimates shown in the table below assume that benefits
are received in the form of a single lump sum at retirement. These estimates do not take into account potential future increases in base salary, or future bonuses
that may be paid.

Name

D. M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive Officer
N.E. Murphy
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
C. W. Keene
Vice President, Business Development
B. D. Davis, Jr.
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary
D. A. Justin
Vice President, Operations

Plan

SCIRP
Pension Restoration
SERP
SCIRP
Pension Restoration
SERP
SCIRP
Pension Restoration
SERP
SCIRP
Pension Restoration
SERP
SCIRP
Pension Restoration
SERP

Number of
Years Credited
Service(1)
(#)

30.84
30.84
30.84
0.73
0.73
Not applicable
2.97
2.97
Not applicable
4.14
4.14
Not applicable
24.21
24.21
24.21

Present Value of
Accumulated
Benefit(2)
($)

Payments
During
Last
Fiscal
Year
($)

1,437,410
4,350,974
0
16,056
Not applicable
Not applicable
52,695
32,939
Not applicable
84,647
36,290
Not applicable
413,224
77,014
742,075

NOTES TO TABLE:
(1)
Credited years of service reflect actual service with the general partner, including years of service credited with Sunoco, Inc., prior to the
Partnership’s initial public offering in February 2002.
(2)
An actuarial present value of the benefits is calculated by estimating expected future payments starting at an assumed retirement age, weighting the
estimated payments by the estimated probability of surviving to each post-retirement age, and discounting weighted payments at an assumed
discount rate to reflect the time value of money. The actuarial present value represents an estimate of the amount which, if invested as of
December 31, 2007 at a discount rate of 6.25%, would be sufficient on an average basis to provide estimated future payments based on the current
accumulated benefit. Estimated future payments are assumed to be in the form of a single lump sum payment at retirement
120

0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

Table of Contents
determined using interest rate and mortality table assumptions applicable under current IRS regulations for qualified pension plans. The conversion
interest rate[s] assumed for lump sum payments are based on three segment rates under the Pension Protection Act and the lump sum mortality table
is derived from IRS regulations. In addition, the value of the lump sum payment includes the estimated value of the 50% postretirement death benefit
payable to the spouse of a retired participant under the SERP and Final Average Pay formula benefits described below, if married. It is assumed that
90% of all male members are married and 60% of females are married, with wives assumed to be 3 years younger than husbands. The assumed
retirement age for each executive is the earliest age at which the executive could retire without any benefit reduction due to age. For NEOs, the
assumed retirement age is 60 (i.e., the earliest age at which the executive could retire without any benefit reduction due to age), or actual age, if older
than 60. Actual benefit present values will vary from these estimates depending on many factors, including an executive’s actual retirement age, final
service, future compensation levels, interest rate movements and regulatory changes.
The Sunoco, Inc. Retirement Plan
The Sunoco, Inc. Retirement Plan (the “SCIRP”) is a qualified defined benefit retirement plan that covers most salaried and many hourly employees,
including the NEOs. The SCIRP provides for normal retirement at age 65. The plan includes two benefit formulas:
(1)

(2)

Final Average Pay formula
•

Benefit equals 1- 2/3 percent of Final Average Pay (the average earnings during the 36 consecutive months of highest earnings in the last ten
years prior to retirement) multiplied by the credited service up to 30 years, plus 3/4 percent of final average pay multiplied by the credited
service over 30 years.

•

The amount is then reduced by 1- 2/3 percent of the estimated Social Security Primary Insurance amount multiplied by the credited years of
service up to a maximum of 30 years.

•

The Final Average Pay benefit is reduced by 5/12 percent for each month that retirement precedes age 60 (down to age 55), with the early
retirement benefit at age 55 being 75 percent of the unreduced Final Average Pay benefit.

Career Pay (cash balance) formula
•

The benefit is expressed as an account balance, which is comprised of pay credits and indexing adjustments.

•

Pay credits equal 7 percent of pay for the year up to the Social Security (FICA) Wage Base, ($102,000 in 2007) plus 12 percent of pay for the
year that exceeds the Wage Base.

•

The indexing adjustment equals the account balance at the end of each month multiplied by the monthly change in the All-Urban Consumer
Price Index, plus 0.17 percent. However, if in any month the adjustment would be negative, the adjustment would be zero for such month.

For employees, including NEOs, hired before January 1, 1987 (Ms. Fretz), the benefits under SCIRP are the greater of the Final Average Pay or Career Pay
formula benefits. An employee may retire at the Normal Retirement Age of 65 regardless of years of service with Sunoco, or may retire as early as age 55 with 10
years of service. All employees hired before January 1, 1987 are 100 percent vested in their benefits. For employees, including NEOs, hired on or after January 1,
1987 (Messrs. Davis, Justin, Keene, and Murphy), retirement benefits are calculated under the Career Pay formula only. An employee may retire at the Normal
Retirement Age of 65, or may retire as early as age 55 with 10 years of service. An employee is 40 percent vested in his or her benefit after completing two years
of eligible service, with the vested portion increasing in 20 percent increments each year until it reaches 100 percent at five years.
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The normal form of benefit under the SCIRP is an annuity for the life of the employee, with 50 percent of that annuity paid for the life of the employee’s
surviving spouse (50 percent Joint and Survivor Benefit). This 50 percent Joint and Survivor benefit is free for participants who benefit under the Final Average
Pay formula, but is reduced actuarially for participants who benefit under the Career Pay formula. Other forms of payment are also offered such as a lump sum
and other annuity options. Under the Career Pay formula, the lump sum is equal to the value of the employee’s account, and under the Final Average Pay formula,
the lump sum is the actuarial equivalent of the annuity benefit, based on Internal Revenue Service prescribed interest rates and mortality tables.
The SCIRP is subject to qualified plan Internal Revenue Code (the “Code”) limits on the amount of annual benefit that may be paid, and on the amount of
compensation that may be taken into account in calculating retirement benefits, under the plan. For 2007, the limit on the compensation that may be used was
$225,000, and will be $230,000 for 2008. The limit on annual benefits payable for an employee retiring in 2007 was $180,000, and for 2008 is $185,000. Benefits
in excess of those permitted under the statutory limits are paid from the Pension Restoration Plan, described below.
The amounts presented in the table above are actuarial present values based on accrued annual benefits, using pay and service through December 31, 2007.
If the benefit is paid in a lump sum, the actual amount distributed would vary depending on the actual interest rate and the mortality assumptions used to calculate
the distribution at the time of retirement. The mortality table and interest rates to be used in determining a lump sum have changed beginning in 2008 under the
Pension Protection Act of 2006, or PPA. Under the PPA, the method for computing the lump sum interest rate is being phased in 20% annually through 2012. The
effect of this change is expected to reduce lump sum amounts in the future. The estimated amounts above do not take into account future credited service,
potential future changes in base salary, the annual guideline incentive opportunity, or future annual incentives that may be paid as a result of Company
performance.
Pension Restoration Plan
The Pension Restoration Plan is a non-qualified plan that provides retirement benefits that would be provided under the SCIRP, but are prohibited from
being paid from the SCIRP by the Code limits. (See the discussion regarding the SCIRP above for the limits.) The benefit paid by the Pension Restoration Plan is
the excess of the total benefit accrued under the SCIRP over the amount of benefit that the SCIRP is permitted to provide under the Code. All benefits under the
Pension Restoration Plan are paid in a lump sum calculated using the same actuarial factors applicable under the SCIRP. Payment of benefits is made upon
termination of employment, except that payment of amounts subject to Code Section 409A is delayed until six months after separation from service for any
specified employee as defined under Code Section 409A.
Sunoco, Inc. Executive Retirement Plan
The Sunoco, Inc. Executive Retirement Plan (the “SERP”) is a non-qualified defined benefit plan that may cover certain executive employees, including
the NEOs. The SERP may provide pension benefits over and above an NEO’s benefits under SCIRP and the Pension Restoration Plan. All SERP benefits are
offset by the SCIRP and the Pension Restoration Plan benefits. NEOs hired before 1987 (Ms. Fretz) generally will not receive a SERP benefit at retirement, since
their SCIRP and Pension Restoration Plan benefits at retirement will equal or exceed their SERP benefits. An NEO must be at least 55 years old with five years of
qualifying executive service, to be eligible for a SERP retirement benefit.
For Mr. Justin, the SERP benefit (before offset by the SCIRP and Pension Restoration Plan benefits) equals the highest benefit resulting from three
calculations:
(1)

SCIRP Final Average Pay formula (described on page 121).

(2)

Minimum Benefit formula
•

The benefit equals 3- 1/3% of final average pay multiplied by credited service up to 12 years, with the maximum benefit under this formula
equal to 40 percent of final average pay.
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(3)

•

The minimum benefit is reduced by 5/12 percent for each month that retirement precedes age 60 (down to age 55), with the early retirement
benefit at age 55 being 75 percent of the unreduced minimum benefit.

•

The minimum benefit is offset by the value of benefits paid by a prior employer’s qualified and non-qualified retirement plans.

Executive Service formula
•

The benefit equals 2- 1/4 percent of final average pay multiplied by length of executive service, with the maximum benefit under this formula
equal to 50 percent of final average pay.

•

The executive service benefit is reduced by 5/12 percent for each month that retirement precedes age 62 (down to age 55), with the early
retirement benefit at age 55 being 65 percent of the unreduced executive service benefit. There is no reduction when payments start at age 62
or later.

•

Executive service means service with the Partnership’s general partner while the participant was an executive level employee. In the case of
principal officers who become participants after December 31, 2002, executive service includes only service while a principal officer.

SERP benefits are paid in a lump sum calculated using the same actuarial factors applicable under the SCIRP, with payment delayed until six months after
separation from service, pursuant to Code Section 409A for any specified employee as defined in Code Section 409A. The two non-qualified plans are unfunded.
The benefits from the non-qualified plans are paid from general assets that are subject to the claims of the Partnership’s general creditors under federal and state
law in the event of insolvency.
OTHER POTENTIAL POST-EMPLOYMENT PAYMENTS
Certain plans, described below, provide for payments of benefits to the NEOs in connection with termination, or separation from employment, or a change
in control of the Partnership’s general partner. The following describes the benefits that the NEOs would receive it such event occurred. The actual amounts paid
can be determined only at the time of such NEO’s separation from employment with the Partnership’s general partner.
Retirement: The benefits paid to the NEOs upon retirement are described above, on pages 121 through 123.
Voluntary Termination: An NEO who resigns and leaves voluntarily, would receive the following benefits:
•

Sunoco, Inc. Retirement Plan (the “SCIRP”): Retirement eligible NEOs hired prior to January 1, 1987 (Ms. Fretz) would receive benefits based upon
the Final Average Pay formula of the SCIRP, which is a qualified defined benefit retirement plan. Effective January 1, 1987, for employees hired
subsequent to that date, the SCIRP was converted from a final average pay plan to a cash balance pension plan. SCIRP benefits for NEOs hired after
this conversion (Messrs. Davis, Justin, Keene and Murphy) are calculated using the Career Pay formula, based on a percentage of pay each year and an
indexing adjustment. Normal retirement age under the SCIRP is 65 years. To the extent that the amount payable exceeds the amount available under
the SCIRP, the remaining amount would be paid under the Pension Restoration Plan.

•

Sunoco, Inc. Executive Retirement Plan (the “SERP”): The SERP provides pension benefits over and above benefits available under the SCIRP to
participants who are at least 55 years of age, with a minimum of five (5) years service as an executive. SERP benefits are offset by benefits payable
under other qualified or non-qualified plans of Sunoco, Inc. The maximum benefit payable under any SERP formula cannot exceed 50 percent of final
average earnings. Under the terms of the SERP, only Mr. Justin would be eligible to receive benefits under this plan.
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•

Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “LTIP”): Under the LTIP, if an NEO is not retirement eligible, outstanding performance-based
restricted units would be cancelled as of the termination date. If the NEO is eligible for retirement, unvested restricted units would continue to vest,
and would pay out, along with the accompanying distribution equivalent rights, if the performance measures are met.

•

Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan: If the NEO voluntarily terminates employment prior to December 31 of the plan year, other than by
retirement, the NEO would not receive any incentive award for that year.

•

Vacation Benefits: Each NEO would be entitled to receive an amount for his or her accrued vacation, which benefit is generally provided to active
employees of the Partnership’s general partner.

Involuntary Termination—For Cause: An NEO who is terminated for cause would receive the following:
SCIRP/SERP: Benefits accrued under the SCRIP, SERP and Pension Restoration Plans would be paid according to the terms of those plans applicable to
terminated or retirement eligible employees, as described in the Voluntary Termination section above.
•

LTIP: Under the LTIP, if an NEO is not retirement eligible, outstanding performance-based restricted units would be cancelled as of the termination
date.

•

Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan: Any annual incentive award for that year would be forfeited.

•

Vacation Benefits: Each NEO would receive an amount for his or her accrued vacation, which benefit is generally provided to active employees of the
Partnership’s general partner.

Involuntary Termination—Not for Cause:
•

•

Sunoco Partners LLC Executive Involuntary Severance Plan (“Involuntary Severance Plan”): Executives whose employment is terminated by the
Partnership’s general partner, other than for just cause, or as a result of death or disability, receive a severance allowance under the Involuntary
Severance Plan. The plan is available to the general partner’s NEOs and certain other executive level employees. However, any NEO receiving
benefits under the SERP would not also be eligible to receive benefits under this plan. The following is a summary of the benefits available under this
plan:
•

In the case of the CEO, severance payments would be for a period of and equal to one and one half (1- 1/2) years of base salary, plus guideline
annual incentive in effect on the termination date, as defined in the plan.

•

The other NEOs would receive severance payments for periods ranging from one (1) to one and one-half (1- 1/2) years of base salary plus
guideline, depending upon employment grade level.

•

Each NEO would be entitled to medical coverage for up to the period of severance received, at the same rate that such benefits are generally
provided to active employees.

•

If an NEO is not retirement eligible, outstanding performance-based restricted units would be cancelled as of the termination date. If the NEO is
eligible for retirement, unvested restricted units would continue to vest, and would pay out, along with the accompanying distribution equivalent
rights, if the performance measures are met.

•

The NEOs would receive a cash amount in lump sum equal to the NEO’s earned vacation through the end of his or her employment termination
date as defined in the plan.

SCIRP: NEOs hired prior to January 1, 1987 (Ms. Fretz) would receive benefits based upon the Final Average Pay formula of the SCIRP. SCIRP
benefits for NEOs hired after the January 1, 1987 conversion of SCIRP from a final average pay plan to a cash balance pension plan (Messrs. Davis,
Justin, Keene and Murphy), are calculated using the Career Pay formula. To the extent that
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the amount payable exceeds the amount available under the SCIRP, the remaining amount would be paid under the Pension Restoration Plan.
•

SERP: SERP benefits are offset by benefits payable under the SCIRP and Pension Restoration Plan. Under the terms of the SERP, only Mr. Justin
would be eligible to receive benefits under this plan.

Involuntary Termination—Change of Control
•

Sunoco Partners LLC Special Executive Severance Plan: This plan was adopted to retain executives in the event of a change of control, and to
eliminate the distraction and uncertainty such a transaction may create among management personnel, to the detriment of the organization. Payment of
severance benefits under this plan provides severance allowances to executives whose employment is terminated in connection with, or following, a
change of control. A “change of control” is defined as any one or more of the following events:
•

a transaction pursuant to which more than 50 percent of the combined voting power of the outstanding equity interests in the general partner
cease to be owned by Sunoco, Inc. and its affiliates;

•

a “Change in Control” of Sunoco, Inc., as defined from time to time in the Sunoco, Inc. stock plans; or

•

the general partner of the Partnership ceases to be an affiliate of Sunoco.
There is a “double trigger” mechanism for the payment of severance benefits under this plan, requiring both a change of control, and a
qualifying termination of employment (as defined in the plan) following such change of control, prior to the payout of any severance benefits under
this plan. Severance benefits under this plan are paid in a lump sum equal to three times annual compensation for the CEO, and two times annual
compensation for the other NEOs. For these purposes, annual compensation consists of:

•

the executive’s annual base salary in effect immediately prior to a change of control or immediately prior to the employment termination date,
whichever is greater, plus

•

the greater of 100 percent of the executive’s annual incentive guideline in effect immediately before the change of control or employment
termination date, or the highest annual incentive awarded to the NEO in any of the three years ending before the change of control or in any
subsequent year ending before the employment termination date.
Each NEO would be entitled to medical, dental and life insurance coverage for the period of severance received, at the same rate that such
benefits are generally provided to active employees of the general partner. In the case of a change of control, the plan also provides for the protection
of certain pension benefits and reimbursement for any additional tax liability incurred as a result of excise taxes imposed on payments deemed to be
attributable to the change in control.

•

SCIRP: In the event of a change of control, the benefits of a participant whose employment began before September 5, 2001, and who is terminated (as
defined in the plan) following a change in control, become 100 percent vested and are increased as follows:
•

Final Average Pay formula. A participant’s service is increased by three years, subject to reduction for service after the change in control. Final
Average Pay will be the greater of (A) the regularly determined Final Average Pay, (B) Final Average Pay based on earnings of the month
preceding the change in control, or (C) Final Average Pay based on earnings for the month preceding the termination of employment. For
purposes of (B) and (C) monthly earnings will include base pay and 1/12 of the unadjusted annual guideline bonus under the Sunoco Partners
LLC Annual Incentive Plan.
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•

•

Career Pay (cash balance) formula. A participant’s service is increased by three years, subject to reduction for service after the change in
control. In the month of termination, a participant’s Career Pay Earnings are increased by an amount equal to 36 months less the number of
months worked after the Change in Control, times the greater of Career Pay Earnings for (A) the month preceding termination or (B) the month
preceding the change in control. For purposes of (A) and (B) monthly earnings will include base pay and 1/12 of the annual guideline bonus
under the Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan.

SERP: Under the SERP, after a change of control and qualifying termination (as defined in the plan) (a “double trigger”), a participant becomes 100
percent vested in his SERP benefit. The following provisions also apply:
•

A participant’s service is increased by three years, subject to reduction for service following the change in control.

•

Final average pay at termination is no less than final average pay at the time of the change in control. In the case of a participant under age 55 at
the time of termination, the change in control benefit will equal the benefit that would have been paid at age 55.

•

The benefit will be paid in a lump sum six months after separation from service with Sunoco pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Section 409A.

•

Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan: If a change of control occurs, an NEO would receive a pro rata portion of the annual incentive based on
level of attainment of applicable performance targets.

•

LTIP: If a change of control occurs, all outstanding restricted units, along with the accompanying distribution equivalent rights, become fully vested.
The units that have been outstanding for more than one year will be paid out at the greater of target or in amount in line with actual performance
results. The units that have been outstanding for less than one year will be paid out at target. Retention-based units will be paid out at as awarded.

Death: In the case of death, an NEO’s beneficiary(ies) or estate would receive the following benefits:
•

•

Insurance:
•

Life insurance benefits equal to one times base compensation up to a maximum of $1 million plus any supplemental life insurance elected and
paid for by the NEO.

•

Travel Accident insurance in the amount of three times base compensation (up to a maximum of $3 million) would be payable in the event of
accidental death while traveling on company business.

•

An Occupational Death benefit in the amount of $250,000 would be payable in the event of accidental death on the company’s premises in the
course of his job; however, the Occupational Death Plan does not pay benefits if there is a Travel Accident benefit of three times base
compensation.

•

If the NEO is married, medical coverage would be available to his or her spouse on the same basis as other married employees, i.e., if retirement
eligible at death, coverage would be available to his or her spouse on the same basis as other retirement eligible employees. If not retirement
eligible, coverage would be available for a period equal to the time he or she was employed by the general partner or until the spouse reached
age 65, if earlier.

SCIRP:
•

For an NEO who is eligible for Final Average Pay formula benefits under SCIRP (Ms. Fretz): A married NEO’s spouse would receive the
greater of 50 percent of the benefit under the Final Average Pay formula or 100 percent of the benefit accrued under the Career Earnings
Formula. A non-married NEO’s beneficiary(ies) or estate would receive 100 percent of the benefit accrued under the Career Earnings Formula.
This benefit is the same for all similarly situated employees.
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•

For an NEO that is eligible for Career Pay Formula benefits only under SCIRP (Messrs. Davis, Keene, Justin and Murphy): A married or nonmarried NEO’s spouse, beneficiary(ies) or estate would receive 100 percent of the benefit accrued under the Career Earnings Formula. This
benefit is the same for all similarly situated employees.

•

For all NEOs, to the extent that the amount payable under SCIRP exceeds the amount available due to IRS limits, the remaining amount would
be paid under the Pension Restoration Plan at the employee’s death.

•

SERP: Under the SERP, a married NEO’s spouse would receive 50 percent of any benefit payable under the plan.

•

Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan: A prorated annual incentive based on date of death would be payable to the NEO’s beneficiary(ies) or
estate.

•

LTIP: Under the LTIP all unvested restricted units would continue to vest, and, along with the accompanying distribution equivalent rights, would pay
out at the end of the respective performance periods to the NEO’s beneficiary(ies) or estate if the applicable performance measures are met.

Disability: In the case of disability, an NEO would be eligible for the following benefits:
•

SCIRP/SERP: An NEO would receive continued accrual of benefits under SCIRP and SERP until normal retirement date or later, according to the
terms of those plans.

•

Medical and Life Insurance: Medical and life insurance coverage would be available to the NEO on the same basis as to other disabled employees.

•

Long Term Disability: An NEO would receive benefits, including Social Security, up to 60 percent of total annual compensation or $25,000 per month,
whichever is less, under Sunoco Inc.’s long-term disability plan.

•

Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan: An NEO would receive a pro rata portion of the annual incentive for the period from the start of the plan
year to the date of permanent disability.

•

LTIP: Under the LTIP all unvested restricted units would continue to vest, and along with the accompanying distribution equivalent rights, will pay out
at the end of the respective performance periods if the applicable performance measures are met.

The following table reflects estimated compensation and benefits for the NEOs under various scenarios involving a termination of employment. These
amounts are estimates of the amounts that would be paid to the NEOs and the actual amounts paid can only be determined at the time of a named executive
officer’s termination of employment. The estimates are based on the following assumptions:
•

the applicable provisions in the agreements and arrangements governing the NEOs’ benefits and payment which are summarized in the “Other
Potential Post-Employment Payments” section on pages 123 to 127;

•

the triggering event occurred on December 31, 2007;

•

the price of the Partnership’s stock is the price at the close on December 31, 2007 ($50.18);

•

pension lump-sum values are based on applicable segment interest rates being phased in under the Pension Protection Act of 2006;

•

health and welfare benefits are included, where applicable, at the estimated value of the continuation of these benefits; and

•

each NEO has exhausted all available vacation benefits as of December 31, 2007.
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Voluntary
Resignation

Involuntary Not
for Cause
Termination

$ 12,055,996

$ 13,369,996

N.E. Murphy
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

301,141

933,316

1,838,378

C.W. Keene
Vice President, Business Development

848,844

1,414,239

2,877,351

B.D. Davis, Jr.
Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

645,909

1,011,619

2,241,039

2,827,821

3,370,821

3,850,895

Name

D.M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive Officer

D.A. Justin
Vice President, Operations
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DIRECTOR COMPENSATION
Directors, who are employees of Sunoco Partners LLC, Sunoco, and their respective affiliates, including the CEO, receive no additional compensation for
service on the general partner’s Board of Directors or any committees of the Board.
Compensation Philosophy: The general partner’s Board of Directors believes that the compensation program for the non-employee directors should be
designed to attract experienced and highly qualified individuals; provide appropriate compensation for their commitment and contributions to the
Partnership and its unitholders; and align the interests of the non-employee directors and unitholders. The general partner’s Board of Directors engages a
third-party compensation consultant to benchmark director compensation against the Partnership’s performance peer group, other pipeline companies, and
general industry. For 2007, the Board of Directors engaged a consultant from Fredrick W. Cook, Inc. & Co. This director compensation consultant provides
advice regarding “best practices” and trends in director compensation. Non-employee directors are compensated partly in cash and partly in the common
units, representing limited partnership interests, of the Partnership. Currently, equity-based compensation represents a substantial portion of the total
compensation package.
Retainers and Fees: During 2007, directors who were not employees of Sunoco Partners LLC or its affiliates (“non-employee directors”), received an
annual retainer of $21,000 in cash, paid quarterly, and a number of restricted units paid quarterly under the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive
Plan. These restricted units had an aggregate fair market value equal to $21,000 on an annual basis (the fair market value of each quarterly payment of
restricted units is calculated as of the payment date). These restricted units are required to be deferred, and are credited to each non-employee director’s
mandatory deferred compensation account in the Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan. Amounts thus deferred in the form of restricted units are treated
as if invested in common units of the Partnership, and include a credit for distribution equivalent rights (in the form of additional restricted units), credited
on the applicable date(s) for Partnership cash distributions. During 2007, the chairman of the Audit/Conflicts Committee received an annual committee
chair retainer of $8,000 in cash, and the chairman of the Compensation Committee received an annual chair retainer of $3,500 in cash. In addition, the nonemployee directors received fees of $1,500 in cash for each Board meeting attended, and $1,000 in cash for each committee meeting attended.
Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan: Directors are permitted voluntarily to defer all or a portion of their cash retainers and fees under the Sunoco
Partners LLC Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan. Voluntarily deferred cash compensation amounts are credited in the form of restricted units, the
value of which varies as though invested in common units of the Partnership. Amounts voluntarily deferred in the form of restricted units also are credited
with distribution equivalent rights (in the form of additional restricted units), on the applicable date(s) for Partnership cash distributions. Payments of
compensation deferred under the Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan are restricted in terms of the earliest and latest dates that payments may begin. All
deferrals, whether mandatory or voluntary, will be paid out in cash.
Business Expenses: Each non-employee director is reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in connection with attending meetings of the Board of Directors
or committees, including room, meals and transportation to and from the meetings. When traveling on Partnership business, a director occasionally may be
accompanied by a spouse. At times, a director may travel to and from Board and/or committee meetings on the corporate aircraft of Sunoco, Inc. Directors
may be reimbursed for attendance at qualified third-party director education programs.
Directors’ Unit Ownership Guidelines: Each non-employee director is expected to own common units, representing limited partnership interests in the
Partnership, with a market value equal to at least three times the total (cash and restricted unit) annual retainer and Board /committee meeting fees.
Directors who do not meet the criteria for independence established by the New York Stock Exchange must own at least one thousand (1,000) Partnership
common units. Included in the determination of unit ownership for purposes of these guidelines are all common units beneficially owned, as well as any
restricted units in the Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan. New directors are allowed a five-year phase-in period to comply with the guidelines.
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Indemnification: Each director will be indemnified fully by the Partnership for actions associated with being a director to the extent permitted under
Delaware law.
The following table reflects the compensation actually earned by each of the non-employee directors of the Partnership’s general partner during fiscal year
2007:
Fees Earned
or Paid in
Cash(1)
($)

Stock
Awards(2)
($)

L. W. Berry, Jr.
Non-employee Director

49,000

21,000

—

—

—

15,138

85,138

S. L. Cropper(5)
Non-employee Director

43,000

21,000

—

—

—

7,632

71,632

G. W. Edwards(5)
Non-employee Director

45,500

21,000

—

—

—

14,834

81,334

Name

Option
Awards(3)
($)

Non-Equity
Incentive Plan
Compensation
($)

Change in Pension
Value and Nonqualified
Deferred Compensation
Earnings

All Other
Compensation(4)
($)

Total
($)

NOTES TO TABLE:
(1)
The amounts shown in this column reflect aggregate cash payments to directors in 2007, including: the annual cash retainer ($21,000) for outside
directors; regular and special Board meeting fees (totaling $9,000 for each director and including a $1,500 payment to each director for a telephonic
Board meeting held on December 12, 2006, which was paid during fiscal year 2007); committee meeting fees (totaling $13,000 for Mr. Berry,
$11,000 for Mr. Cropper and $12,000 for Mr. Edwards and including a $1,000 payment for a telephonic meeting of the Audit/Conflicts Committee
held on April 26, 2006 which was inadvertently not paid to Mssrs. Berry and Edwards during fiscal year 2006); and, as applicable, committee chair
retainers ($8,000 for the Audit/Conflicts Committee and $3,500 for the Compensation Committee). Pursuant to the Sunoco Partners LLC Directors’
Deferred Compensation Plan, the directors are permitted voluntarily to defer, all or a portion of their fees and/or retainers. These amounts are
deferred in the form of restricted units. As of December 31, 2007, the following directors had the following aggregate numbers of restricted units
accumulated in their respective voluntary deferred compensation accounts for their years of service (these figures include distribution equivalents
credited to such accounts in the form of additional restricted units):
•
•
(2)

L. W. Berry, Jr.:
G. W. Edwards:

3,200
2,795

The amounts shown in this column reflect the dollar value of the portion of the annual retainer (approximately half) that is paid quarterly, in the form
of restricted units issued pursuant to the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (“LTIP”) during 2007 calculated in accordance with the
requirements of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No.123 (Revised December 2004) “Share-Based Payment” (“SFAS 123R”). For each
director, this restricted unit retainer is automatically and mandatorily deferred, in accordance with terms of the Sunoco Partners LLC Directors’
Deferred Compensation Plan. As of December 31, 2007, these directors had the following aggregate numbers of restricted units accumulated in their
respective mandatory deferred compensation accounts as a result of the involuntary deferrals of the restricted unit retainer for their years of service
(these figures include distribution equivalents credited to such accounts in the form of additional restricted units):
•
•
•

L. W. Berry, Jr.:
S. L. Cropper:
G. W. Edwards:

2,172
2,515
2,514
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(3)
(4)

(5)

Although permitted by the terms of the LTIP, no Unit Options have been awarded to directors at this time.
Amounts shown in this column include distribution equivalents earned on deferred compensation during 2007, imputed income realized due to life
insurance ($137) and travel/accident insurance benefits ($24), and other income ($161) which was paid in cash to Mr. Cropper and deferred in
restricted units for Messrs. Berry and Edwards. In 2007, the Board decided to eliminate the director’s life insurance and travel accident insurance
benefits and such benefits were cancelled as of January 1, 2008.
In 2007, Mr. Edwards was Chair of the Compensation Committee. Mr. Cropper served Chair of the Audit/Conflicts Committee for the first quarter of
2007. Effective April 20, 2007, Mr. Berry was appointed Chair of the Audit/Conflicts Committee.

COMPENSATION COMMITTEE INTERLOCKS AND INSIDER PARTICIPATION
There are no compensation committee interlocks.
COMPENSATION COMMITTEE REPORT
The Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) of the Board of Directors of Sunoco Partners LLC (the “Company”) reviews and approves the
Company’s executive compensation philosophy; reviews and recommends to the Board for approval the Company’s short- and long-term compensation plans;
reviews and approves the executive compensation programs and awards; and annually reviews, determines and approves the compensation for the Chief
Executive Officer (“CEO”) and the other executive officers (collectively, the “Named Executive Officers” or “NEOs”) of the Company named in the Summary
Compensation Table contained in the Annual Report on SEC Form 10-K of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (the “Partnership”). The Company is the general
partner of the Partnership. The Committee Chair reports Committee actions, decisions and recommendations at the meetings of the full Board. The Committee
has authority to directly engage and consult outside advisors, experts and others to assist the Committee at the expense of the Partnership.
As required by applicable regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission, the Committee has reviewed the executive compensation disclosures
contained in the report captioned “Compensation Discussion and Analysis,” which report is required pursuant to Item 402(b) of SEC Regulation S-K, as
amended. As part of this review, the Committee met with management and with such outside consultants and experts as it has deemed necessary or advisable
(with and without management present), to discuss the scope and overall quality of the disclosure.
In reliance on the reviews and discussions referred to above, the Committee recommended to the Board of Directors, and the Board has approved, the
inclusion of the “Compensation Discussion and Analysis” in the Partnership’s Annual Report on SEC Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2007,
for filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Respectfully submitted on February 26, 2008 by the members of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of Sunoco Partners LLC:
Gary W. Edwards (Chair)
L. Wilson Berry, Jr.
Stephen L. Cropper
John G. Drosdick
Philip L. Frederickson
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ITEM 12.

SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED SECURITYHOLDER
MATTERS

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Compensation Plans
The following table provides information, as of December 31, 2007, regarding Partnership common units that may be issued upon conversion (assuming a
one-for-one conversion) of outstanding restricted units granted under the general partner’s Long-Term Incentive Plan to executive officers and other key
employees. For more information about this plan (which did not require approval by the Partnership’s limited partners at the time of its adoption in 2002), refer to
“Item 11—Executive Compensation.”
EQUITY COMPENSATION PLAN INFORMATION(1)

Plan Category

Equity compensation plans approved by security
holders
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders
Total

(a)
Number of securities to
be issued upon exercise
of outstanding options,
warrants and rights

—
332,043
332,043

(b)
Weighted-average
exercise price of
outstanding options,
warrants and rights

—
—
—

(c)
Number of securities remaining
available for future issuance
under equity compensation
plans (excluding securities
reflected in column (a))

—
625,411
625,411

NOTES TO TABLE:
The amounts in column (a) of this table reflect only restricted units that have been granted under the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan, since
the inception of the Plan. No unit options have been granted. Each restricted unit shown in the table represents a right to receive (upon vesting and payout)
a specified number of Partnership common units. Vesting and payout may be conditioned upon achievement of pre-determined financial or other
performance objectives for, or attainment of certain length of service goals with, the Partnership and its affiliates. No value is shown in column (b) of the
table, since the restricted units do not have an exercise, or “strike,” price. For illustrative purposes, a maximum payment (i.e., a 200 percent ratio) has been
assumed for vesting and payout of performance-related grants, and a target payout (i.e., a 100 percent ratio) has been assumed for vesting and payout of
grants conditioned only upon length of service.

(1)

132

Table of Contents
Beneficial Ownership Table
The following table sets forth the beneficial ownership of common units of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., by directors of Sunoco Partners LLC (the
general partner), by each named executive officer and by all directors and officers of Sunoco Partners LLC as a group as of December 31, 2007. Unless otherwise
noted, each individual exercises sole voting or investment power over the Partnership common units shown in the table. For purposes of this table, beneficial
ownership includes Partnership common units as to which the person has sole or shared voting or investment power, as well as: (a) those Partnership common
units actually acquired by LTIP participants as a result of the vesting and payout on February 8, 2008, of performance-based restricted units awarded January 18,
2005; and (b) any additional Partnership common units that a person has the right to acquire within 60 days of December 31, 2007, through the conversion of
restricted units. During 2007, Sunoco Partners LLC was owned by the following members: Sun Pipe Line Company (67%); Sunoco, Inc. (R&M) (13%); and
Atlantic Refining & Marketing Corp. (20%), each of which is a direct or indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Sunoco, Inc.

Name of Beneficial Owner(1)

Sunoco Partners LLC(4)
John G. Drosdick
Deborah M. Fretz
Cynthia A. Archer
L. Wilson Berry, Jr.
Stephen L. Cropper
Terence P. Delaney
Gary W. Edwards
Bruce G. Fischer
Philip L. Frederickson
Thomas W. Hofmann
Bruce D. Davis, Jr.
David A. Justin
Christopher W. Keene
Neal E. Murphy
All directors and executive officers as a group (15 persons)

Number of
Common Units
Beneficially Owned(2)

Percentage of
Common Units
Beneficially Owned

Number of
Restricted Units
Owned(3)

12,063,734
30,000
108,265
2,000
0
9,200
2,500
0
3,000
0
2,500
12,488
19,170
6,966
2,126
12,263,949

42.2
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

0
0
0
0
5,372
2,515
0
5,309
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

*
Less than 0.5 percent.
NOTES TO TABLE:
(1)
The address of each beneficial owner named above is: 1735 Market Street, Suite LL, Philadelphia, PA 19103.
(2)
The figures shown in the table reflect the conversion on February 15, 2007 of 5,691,819 subordinated units to common units in accordance with the
Partnership Agreement. The number of subordinated units converted represented 50 percent of the amount originally issued in February 2002, in
connection with the Partnership’s initial public offering. Following this conversion, there are no subordinated units outstanding. The number of common
units shown in this column as being beneficially owned also include the following distribution equivalent rights payable in the form of common units on
February 8, 2008 to the officers shown below:
Deborah M. Fretz
Neal E. Murphy

5,642
140

The foregoing amounts were calculated using the closing price of $52.20 per common unit on February 7, 2008.
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(3)

(4)

The amounts shown in this column represent the balance, as of December 31, 2007, of restricted units credited to the respective deferred compensation
accounts established for each independent director pursuant to the terms of the Sunoco Partners LLC Directors Deferred Compensation Plan. These
restricted units cannot be converted to common units of the Partnership, and will be paid out in cash (as a lump sum or series of installments), commencing
on: (1) the later of: (a) the first day of the calendar year following the date of separation from Board service, or (b) the first day following the six (6) month
anniversary of separation from Board service; or (2) in the event of death, the later of: (a) the first day of the calendar year following the year of death,
(b) the first day following the six (6) month anniversary of separation from Board service, or (c) the date that is thirty (30) days after the Participant’s death.
In no event will payment be made within six (6) months of the compensation being earned or awarded. A portion of these restricted units, credited quarterly
to each such director’s mandatory deferred compensation account, reflects payment of the applicable Board restricted unit retainer.
Sunoco, Inc. is the ultimate parent company of Sunoco Partners LLC and may, therefore, be deemed to beneficially own the units that are held by Sunoco
Partners LLC.

In addition to the foregoing, Tortoise Capital Advisors LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“TCA”), filed a Schedule 13G on February 12, 2008, to
report that, as of December 31, 2007, it had shared voting power over 1,913,605 common units of the Partnership, and beneficial ownership of, and shared
dispositive power over, 1,988,873 common units of the Partnership, representing 7.0 percent of the total outstanding common units of the Partnership, as of that
date.
The following table sets forth certain information regarding beneficial ownership of Sunoco, Inc.’s common stock, as of December 31, 2007, by directors
of Sunoco Partners LLC, by each named executive officer and by all directors and officers of Sunoco Partners LLC as a group. Unless otherwise noted, each
individual exercises sole voting or investment power over the shares of Sunoco, Inc. common stock shown in the table. For purposes of this table, beneficial
ownership includes shares of Sunoco, Inc. common stock as to which the person has sole or shared voting or investment power and also any shares of Sunoco,
Inc. common stock that such person has the right to acquire within 60 days of December 31, 2007, through the exercise of any option, warrant, or right.

Name of Beneficial Owner

John G. Drosdick
Deborah M. Fretz
Cynthia A. Archer
L. Wilson Berry, Jr.
Stephen L. Cropper
Terence P. Delaney
Gary W. Edwards
Bruce G. Fischer
Philip L. Frederickson
Thomas W. Hofmann
Bruce D. Davis, Jr.
David A. Justin
Christopher W. Keene
Neal E. Murphy
All directors and executive officers as a group (15 persons)
*
Less than 0.5 percent.

Shares of
Sunoco, Inc.
Common Stock
Beneficially Owned(1)

Percentage of
Sunoco, Inc.
Common Stock
Beneficially Owned

190,000
2,616
13,807
0
1,500
12,595
0
30,739
0
50,767
0
0
0
30
312,180

*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*
*

NOTE TO TABLE:
The amounts shown include 10,126 shares of Sunoco, Inc. common stock held by certain officers who are not named executive officers.

(1)
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ITEM 13. CERTAINRELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS
As of December 31, 2007, the general partner owned 12,063,734 common units, representing a 42.2 limited partner interest. In addition, the general partner
also owns a 2 percent general partner interest. The general partner’s ability to manage and operate the Partnership and its ownership of a 43.4 percent partnership
interest effectively gives the general partner the ability to control the Partnership.
Distribution and Payments to the General Partner and Its Affiliates
The following table summarizes the distribution and payments made and to be made by the Partnership to the general partner and its affiliates in connection
with the ongoing operation and liquidation. These distributions and payments were determined by and among affiliated entities and, consequently, are not the
result of arm’s-length negotiations.
Operational Stage
Payments to the general partner and its affiliates

The Partnership paid the general partner an administrative fee, $7.7 million for the year ended
December 31, 2007, for the provision of various general and administrative services for the
Partnership’s benefit. In addition, the general partner is entitled to reimbursement for all expenses it
incurs on the Partnership’s behalf, including other general and administrative expenses. These
reimbursable expenses include the salaries and the cost of employee benefits of employees of the
general partner who provide services to the Partnership. The general partner has sole discretion in
determining the amount of these expenses.

Removal or withdrawal of the general partner

If the general partner withdraws or is removed, its general partner interest and its incentive
distribution rights will either be sold to the new general partner for cash or converted into common
units, in each case for an amount equal to the fair market value of those interests as provided in the
Partnership Agreement.
Liquidation Stage

Liquidation

Upon liquidation, the partners, including the general partner, will be entitled to receive liquidating
distributions according to their particular capital account balances.

Concurrently with the closing of the February 2002 IPO, the Partnership entered into several agreements with Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), and/or one or more of
its affiliates. These agreements include the Omnibus Agreement, the Pipelines and Terminals Storage and Throughput Agreement, the Interrefinery Lease
Agreement, an intellectual property license agreement, certain crude oil purchase and sale agreements, a treasury services agreement and other agreements, all of
which are discussed in detail under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Agreements with Sunoco R&M
and Sunoco, Inc.”
Subsequent to the February 2002 IPO, the Partnership entered into other agreements with Sunoco, Inc., Sunoco R&M and the general partner, including
various throughput agreements regarding certain recently acquired assets or improvements or expansions at existing assets not covered by the Pipelines and
Terminals
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Storage and Throughput Agreement; the purchase agreements with Sunoco R&M to acquire the Eagle Point refinery logistics assets and an undivided interest in
the Mesa Pipe Line system; and certain redemption and expense-sharing agreements with Sunoco, Inc. (and/or its affiliates) that were ancillary to the
Partnership’s April 2004 and May 2005 offerings of common units for sale to the public. For further information on these agreements, please refer to
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Agreements with Sunoco R&M and Sunoco, Inc.”
ITEM 14. PRINCIPALACCOUNTANT FEES AND SERVICES
The following table presents the aggregate fees for audit and other professional services by the Partnership’s independent registered public accounting firm,
Ernst & Young LLP, for each of the last two fiscal years:
For the Year Ended
December 31,
2006
2007

Type of Fee

Audit Fees(1)
Audit Related Fees
Tax Fees
All Other Fees

$ 1,219,000
—
—
—
$ 1,219,000

$ 1,140,000
—
—
—
$ 1,140,000

NOTE TO TABLE:
(1)
Audit fees consist of fees for the audit of the Partnership’s annual financial statements, review of financial statements included in the Partnership’s
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q and review registration statements and issuance of consents. Audit fees also include the fees for the audit of the
Partnership’s internal control as required by Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
Each of the services listed above were approved by the Audit/Conflicts Committee of the general partner’s board of directors prior to their performance.
All services rendered by Ernst & Young LLP, are performed pursuant to a written engagement letter with the general partner.
The Audit/Conflicts Committee of the general partner’s board of directors is responsible for pre-approving all audit services, and permitted non-audit
services, to be performed by the independent registered public accounting firm for the Partnership, or its general partner. The Committee reviews the services to
be performed to determine whether provision of such services potentially could impair the independence of the Partnership’s independent registered public
accounting firm. The Committee’s approval procedures include reviewing a detailed budget for each particular service to be rendered, as well as a description of,
and budgeted amounts for, specific categories of anticipated non-audit services. Pre-approval is generally granted for up to one year. Committee approval is
required to exceed the budgeted amount for any particular category of services or to engage the independent registered public accounting firm for services not
included in the budget. Additional services or specific engagements may be approved, on a case-by-case basis, prior to the independent registered public
accounting firm undertaking such services.
Subject to the requirements of applicable law, the Audit/Conflicts Committee may delegate such pre-approval authority to the Audit/Conflicts Committee
chairman. However, any pre-approvals granted by the chairman, acting pursuant to such delegated authority, are reviewed by the full membership of the
Audit/Conflicts Committee at its next regular meeting. Management of the general partner provides periodic updates to the Audit/Conflicts Committee regarding
the extent of any services provided in accordance with this pre-approval process, as well as the cumulative fees incurred to date for all non-audit services, to
ensure that such services are within the parameters approved by the Audit/Conflicts Committee.
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PART IV
ITEM 15.

EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES

(a) The following documents are filed as part of this report:
(1) The financial statements are included in Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.
(2) All financial statement schedules required are included in the financial statements or notes thereto.
(3) Exhibits:
Exhibit
No.

Description

2.1*

Purchase and Sale Agreement by and between Mobil Pipeline Company and Sunoco Pipeline L.P., executed May 6, 2005 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 2.1 of Form 10-Q, file No. 1-31219, filed May 9, 2005)

2.1.1*

List of Schedules and Exhibits to Purchase and Sale Agreement omitted from this filing. Registrant hereby undertakes, pursuant to Regulation S-K
Item 601(2) to furnish any such schedules and exhibits to the SEC supplementally, upon request (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1.1 of
Form 10-Q, file No. 1-31219, filed May 9, 2005)

3.1*

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Form S-1 Registration Statement,
file No. 333-71968, filed October 22, 2001)

3.2*

Certificate of Limited Partnership of Sunoco Logistics Operations L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to Amendment No. 1 to Form S-1
filed December 18, 2001)

3.3*

First Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., dated as of February 8, 2002
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 of Form 10-K, file No. 1-31219, filed April 1, 2002)

3.4*

Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., dated as of July 20, 2004 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 3.1 of Form 10-Q, file No. 1-31219, filed August 5, 2004)

3.4.1

Amendment No. 1 to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. dated as of January
23, 2008

10.1*

Credit Agreement dated as of August 8, 2007, by and among Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., as Borrower; Sunoco Logistics Partners
L.P., as Guarantor; Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swingline Lender and L/C Issuer and the other lenders parties thereto (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q/A, file No. 1-31219, filed November 19, 2007)

10.1.1*

First Amendment to Credit Agreement, dated as of December 1, 2005, by and among Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., as Borrower;
Citibank, N.A., as Administrative Agent; Barclays Bank PLC, as Syndication Agent; and Keybank N.A., Sun Trust Bank and Wachovia Bank,
N.A., as Co-Documentation Agents; and the other lenders parties thereto (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K, file No. 131219, filed December 5, 2005)

10.2*

Indenture, dated as of February 7, 2002, between Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P. and First Union National Bank (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.2 of Form 10-K, file No. 1-31219, filed April 1, 2002)

10.3*

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2002, among Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.,
Sunoco Pipeline L.P., Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P., and the following Initial Purchasers: Lehman Brothers, Inc., Credit Suisse
First Boston Corporation, Banc of America Securities LLC, Salomon Smith Barney Inc., UBS Warburg LLC and First Union Securities, Inc.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of Form 10-K, file No. 1-31219, filed April 1, 2002)
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Exhibit
No.

Description

10.4*

Contribution, Conveyance and Assumption Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2002, among Sunoco, Inc., Sun Pipe Line Company of Delaware,
Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), Atlantic Petroleum Corporation; Sunoco Texas Pipe Line Company, Sun Oil Line of Michigan (Out) LLC, Mid-Continent
Pipe Line (Out) LLC, Sun Pipe Line Services (Out) LLC, Atlantic Petroleum Delaware Corporation, Atlantic Pipeline (Out) L.P., Sunoco
Partners LLC, Sunoco Partners Lease Acquisition & Marketing LLC, Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners GP LLC, Sunoco
Pipeline L.P., Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P., Sunoco Mid-Con (In) LLC, Atlantic (In) L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations
L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations GP LLC, Atlantic R&M (In) L.P., Sun Pipe Line Services (In) L.P., Sunoco Michigan (In) LLC,
Atlantic (In) LLC, Sunoco Logistics Pipe Line GP LLC, Sunoco R&M (In) LLC, and Atlantic Refining & Marketing Corp. (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.4 of Form 10-K, file No. 1-31219, filed April 1, 2002)

10.5*

Omnibus Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2002, by and among Sunoco, Inc., Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), Sunoco Logistics Pipe Line Company of
Delaware, Atlantic Petroleum Corporation, Sunoco Texas Pipe Line Company, Sun Pipe Line Services (Out) LLC, Sunoco Logistics Partners
L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., and Sunoco Partners LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 of Form 10-K, file No. 131219, filed April 1, 2002)

10.5.1

Amendment No. 2008-1 to Omnibus Agreement, dated as of February 24, 2008, and effective January 1, 2008, by and among Sunoco, Inc.,
Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), Sunoco Logistics Pipe Line Company of Delaware, Atlantic Petroleum Corporation, Sun Pipe Line Company, Sun Pipe
Line Delaware (Out) LLC, Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., and Sunoco Partners LLC

10.6*

Pipelines and Terminals Storage and Throughput Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2002, among Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), Sunoco Logistics
Partners L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., Sunoco Partners LLC, Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P., Sunoco Pipeline
L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners GP LLC, and Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations GP LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.6 of Form
10-K, file No. 1-31219, filed April 1, 2002)

10.7*

Amended and Restated Treasury Services Agreement, dated as of November 26, 2003, by and among Sunoco, Inc., Sunoco Logistics Partners
L.P., and Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7.1 of Form 10-K, file No. 1-31219, filed March 4,
2004)

10.8*

Intellectual Property and Trademark License Agreement, dated as of February 8, 2002 among Sunoco, Inc., (“Sunoco”), Sunoco, Inc. (R&M),
Sunmarks, Inc., Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P., Sunoco
Pipeline L.P., and Sunoco Partners LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 of Form 10-K, file No. 1-31219, filed April 1, 2002)

10.9*

Inter-refinery Lease, dated as of February 8, 2002, between Sunoco Pipeline L.P., and Sunoco, Inc. (R&M) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.9 of Form 10-K, file No. 1-31219, filed April 1, 2002)

10.10

Sunoco Partners LLC Executive Involuntary Severance Plan, as amended and restated as of January 23, 2008

10.11

Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of October 20, 2007

10.11.1

Form of Restricted Unit Agreement under the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan

10.11.2

Form of Restricted Unit Agreement under the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan

10.12

Sunoco Partners LLC Annual Incentive Plan, as amended and restated as of October 20, 2007
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Exhibit
No.

Description

10.13

Sunoco Partners LLC Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, as amended and restated as of October 20, 2007

10.14

Sunoco Partners LLC Special Executive Severance Plan, as amended and restated as of October 20, 2007

10.15

Sunoco Partners LLC Executive Summary Compensation Sheet for 2008

10.16

Sunoco Partners LLC Independent Director Compensation Summary Sheet for 2008

10.17**

Throughput and Deficiency Agreement, executed May 6, 2005 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17 to Form 10-K, File No. 1-31219, filed
February 23, 2007)

10.18*

Purchase and Sale Agreement, between Alon Petroleum Pipe Line, LP and Sunoco Pipeline L.P., dated as of February 13, 2006 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 8-K, file No. 1-31219, filed February 16, 2006)

10.19***

Crude Oil Pipeline Throughput and Deficiency Agreement between Motiva Enterprises LLC and Sunoco Pipeline L.P., dated as of December 19,
2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 of Form 10-K, file no. 1-31219, filed February 23, 2007)

10.20***

Marine Dock and Terminaling Agreement between Motiva Enterprises LLC and Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P., dated as of
December 19, 2006 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 of Form 10-K, file no. 1-31219, filed February 23, 2007)

10.21*

Membership Interest Purchase Agreement, effective as of July 27, 2006, between Sunoco, Inc. and Sunoco Pipeline Acquisition LLC
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q, file No. 1-31219, filed August 2, 2006)

10.22†

Product Terminal Services Agreement, dated as of May 1, 2007, among Sunoco, Inc. (R&M) and Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P.
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of Form 10-Q, file No. 1-31219, filed July 31, 2007)

12.1

Statement of Computation of Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges

14.1*

Code of Ethics for Senior Officers (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.14.1 to Form 10-K, File No. 1-31219, filed March 4, 2004)

21.1

Subsidiaries of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.

23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

24.1

Power of Attorney

31.1

Officer Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)

31.2

Officer Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(a)

32.1

Officer Certification Pursuant to Exchange Act Rule 13a-14(b) and 18 U.S.C. § 1350

99.1

Audited Balance Sheet of Sunoco Partners LLC as of December 31, 2007

*
**
***
†

Each such exhibit has heretofore been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission as part of the filing indicated and is incorporated herein by
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Exhibit 3.4.1
AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO
SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED AGREEMENT OF LIMITED PARTNERSHIP
OF
SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
This Amendment No. 1 (this “Amendment No. 1”) to the Second Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of Sunoco Logistics Partners
L.P. (the “Partnership”) is dated January 23, 2008 and effective as of January 1, 2007, by Sunoco Partners LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company (the
“General Partner”), as general partner of the Partnership. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein are used as defined in the Partnership Agreement.
WHEREAS, the General Partner and the Limited Partners of the Partnership entered into that certain Second Amended and Restated Agreement of
Limited Partnership of the Partnership dated as of July 20, 2004 (the “Partnership Agreement”);
WHEREAS, acting pursuant to the power and authority granted to it under Section 13.1(d) of the Partnership Agreement, the General Partner has the
authority to amend the Partnership Agreement without the approval of the Limited Partners under certain circumstances which the General Partner has
determined are applicable to this Amendment No. 1.
NOW THEREFORE, the General Partner does hereby amend the Partnership Agreement as follows:
Section 1. Amendment.
(a) Section 1.1 is hereby amended to add or amend and restate the following definitions:
(i) “Disposed of Adjusted Property” has the meaning assigned to such term in Section 6.1(d)(xii)(B).
(ii) “Net Termination Gain” means, for any taxable year, the sum, if positive, of all items of income, gain, loss or deduction recognized by the
Partnership (a) after the Liquidation Date or (b) upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership
Group, taken as a whole, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions (excluding any disposition to a member of the Partnership Group). The
items included in the determination of Net Termination Gain shall be determined in accordance with Section 5.5(b) and shall not include any items of
income, gain or loss specially allocated under Section 6.1(d).

(iii) “Net Termination Loss” means, for any taxable year, the sum, if negative, of all items of income, gain, loss or deduction recognized by the
Partnership (a) after the Liquidation Date or (b) upon the sale, exchange or other disposition of all or substantially all of the assets of the Partnership
Group, taken as a whole, in a single transaction or a series of related transactions (excluding any disposition to a member of the Partnership Group). The
items included in the determination of Net Termination Loss shall be determined in accordance with Section 5.5(b) and shall not include any items of
income, gain or loss specially allocated under Section 6.1(d).
(b) Section 5.5(d) is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
(i) In accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f), on an issuance of additional Partnership Interests for cash or Contributed
Property, the issuance of Partnership Interests as consideration for the provision of services or the conversion of the General Partner’s Combined Interest to
Common Units pursuant to Section 11.3(b), the Capital Accounts of all Partners and the Carrying Value of each Partnership property immediately prior to
such issuance shall be adjusted upward or downward to reflect any Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss attributable to such Partnership property, as if such
Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss had been recognized on an actual sale of each such property immediately prior to such issuance for an amount equal to
its fair market value, and had been allocated to the Partners at such time pursuant to Section 6.1(c) in the same manner as any item of gain or loss actually
recognized following an event giving rise to the dissolution of the Partnership would have been allocated. In determining such Unrealized Gain or
Unrealized Loss, the aggregate cash amount and fair market value of all Partnership assets (including cash or cash equivalents) immediately prior to the
issuance of additional Partnership Interests shall be determined by the General Partner using such method of valuation as it may adopt; provided, however,
that the General Partner, in arriving at such valuation, must take fully into account the fair market value of the Partnership Interests of all Partners at such
time. The General Partner shall allocate such aggregate value among the assets of the Partnership (in such manner as it determines) to arrive at a fair market
value for individual properties.
(ii) In accordance with Treasury Regulation Section 1.704-1(b)(2)(iv)(f), immediately prior to any actual or deemed distribution to a Partner of any
Partnership property (other than a distribution of cash that is not in redemption or retirement of a Partnership Interest), the Capital Accounts of all Partners
and the Carrying Value of all Partnership property shall be adjusted upward or downward to reflect any Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss attributable to
such Partnership property, as if such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss had been recognized on an actual sale of each such property immediately prior to
such distribution for an amount equal to its fair market value, and had been allocated to the Partners, at such time, pursuant to Section 6.1(c) in the same
manner as any item of gain or loss actually recognized following an event giving rise to the dissolution of the Partnership would have been allocated. In

determining such Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss the aggregate cash amount and fair market value of all Partnership assets (including cash or cash
equivalents) immediately prior to a distribution shall (A) in the case of an actual distribution that is not made pursuant to Section 12.4 or in the case of a
deemed distribution, be determined and allocated in the same manner as that provided in Section 5.5(d)(i) or (B) in the case of a liquidating distribution
pursuant to Section 12.4, be determined and allocated by the Liquidator using such method of valuation as it may adopt
(c) Section 6.1(d)(xii) is hereby amended and restated in its entirety as follows:
Corrective Allocations. In the event of any allocation of Additional Book Basis Derivative Items or any Book-Down Event or any recognition of a
Net Termination Loss, the following rules shall apply:
(A) Except as provided in Section 6.1(d)(xii)(B), in the case of any allocation of Additional Book Basis Derivative Items (other than an
allocation of Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss under Section 5.5(d) hereof) with respect to any Partnership property, the General Partner shall
allocate such Additional Book Basis Derivative Items (1) to (aa) the holders of Incentive Distribution Rights and (bb) the General Partner in the
same manner that the Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss attributable to such property is allocated pursuant to Section 5.5(d)(i) or Section 5.5(d)(ii)
and (2) to all Unitholders, Pro Rata, to the extent that the Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss attributable to such property is allocated to any
Unitholders pursuant to Section 5.5(d)(i) or Section 5.5(d)(ii).
(B) In the case of any allocation of Additional Book Basis Derivative Items (other than an allocation of Unrealized Gain or Unrealized Loss
under Section 5.5(d) hereof or an allocation of Net Termination Gain or Net Termination Loss pursuant to Section 6.1(c) hereof) as a result of a sale
or other taxable disposition of any Partnership asset that is an Adjusted Property (“Disposed of Adjusted Property”), the General Partner shall
allocate (1) additional items of income and gain (aa) away from the holders of Incentive Distribution Rights and the General Partner and (bb) to the
Unitholders, or (2) additional items of deduction and loss (aa) away from the Unitholders and (bb) to the holders of Incentive Distribution Rights and
the General Partner, to the extent that the Additional Book Basis Derivative Items allocated to the Unitholders exceed their Share of Additional Book
Basis Derivative Items with respect to such Disposed of Adjusted Property. For this purpose, the Unitholders shall be treated as being allocated
Additional Book Basis Derivative Items to the extent that such Additional Book Basis Derivative Items have reduced the amount of income that
would otherwise have been allocated to the Unitholders under this Agreement (e.g., Additional Book Basis Derivative Items taken into account in
computing cost of goods sold

would reduce the amount of book income otherwise available for allocation among the Partners). Any allocation made pursuant to this Section 6.1(d)
(xii)(B) shall be made after all of the other Agreed Allocations have been made as if this Section 6.1(d)(xii) were not in this Agreement and, to the
extent necessary, shall require the reallocation of items that have been allocated pursuant to such other Agreed Allocations.
(C) In the case of any negative adjustments to the Capital Accounts of the Partners resulting from a Book-Down Event or from the recognition
of a Net Termination Loss, such negative adjustment (1) shall first be allocated, to the extent of the Aggregate Remaining Net Positive Adjustments,
in such a manner, as determined by the General Partner, that to the extent possible the aggregate Capital Accounts of the Partners will equal the
amount that would have been the Capital Account balance of the Partners if no prior Book-Up Events had occurred, and (2) any negative adjustment
in excess of the Aggregate Remaining Net Positive Adjustments shall be allocated pursuant to Section 6.1(c) hereof.
(D) In making the allocations required under this Section 6.1(d)(xii), the General Partner may apply whatever conventions or other
methodology it determines will satisfy the purpose of this Section 6.1(d)(xii).
Section 2. Ratification of Partnership Agreement. Except as expressly modified and amended herein, all of the terms and conditions of the Partnership
Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.
Section 3. Governing Law. This Amendment No. 1 will be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State of Delaware.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the General Partner has executed this Amendment No. 1 as of the date first set forth above.
GENERAL PARTNER:
SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
By:
/s/ Deborah M. Fretz
Name: Deborah M. Fretz
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer

Exhibit 10.5.1
AMENDMENT NO. 2008-1 TO
OMNIBUS AGREEMENT
This AMENDMENT NO. 2008-1, dated as of February 24, 2008 and effective January 1, 2008 (this “Amendment”), to the Omnibus Agreement, dated as
of February 8, 2002, and amended previously by Amendment No. 2006-1 and Amendment No. 2007-1 (as amended, the “Omnibus Agreement”) by is adopted,
executed and agreed to by Sunoco, Inc., Sunoco, Inc. (R&M), Sun Pipe Line Company of Delaware LLC, Atlantic Petroleum Corporation, Sun Pipe Line
Company, Sun Pipe Line Delaware (Out) LLC, Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., and Sunoco Partners LLC (each a
“Party” and, collectively, the “Parties”).
Recitals
WHEREAS, except as otherwise provided herein, capitalized terms used herein have the meanings assigned to them in the Omnibus Agreement; and
WHEREAS, the Parties desire to amend the Omnibus Agreement to provide for the payment of a one-year fixed Administrative Fee for the 2008 calendar
year.
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises, and each intending to be legally bound, the Parties do hereby agree as follows:
SECTION 1. Amendment to Section 4.1. Section 4.1 of the Omnibus Agreement is amended to add a new subsection (d), as follows:
“(d) Effective January 1, 2008, and for a period of one year thereafter, the Administrative Fee paid by the Partnership to the General Partner
will be Six Million Forty Seven Thousand Dollars ($6,047,000) per year. This Administrative Fee for the 2008 calendar year will be a fixed fee, and
will not be subject to any increase by Sunoco, whether to reflect changes in the Consumer Price Index, or otherwise; provided, however, that the
General Partner, with the approval and consent of its Conflicts Committee, may agree on behalf of the Partnership to increase such Administrative
Fee in connection with expansions of the operations of the Partnership Group through the acquisition or construction of new assets or businesses.”
SECTION 2. Governing Law. This Amendment shall be governed by, and construed in accordance with, the laws of the Commonwealth of
Pennsylvania.
SECTION 3. Counterparts. This Amendment may be executed in any number of counterparts and by the different Members in separate
counterparts, each of which when so executed shall be deemed to be an original and all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same
agreement.
[COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Amendment as of the date first set forth above.
SUNOCO, INC.
By: /s/ Thomas W. Hofmann
Name: Thomas W. Hofmann
Title: Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
SUNOCO, INC. (R&M)
By: /s/ Thomas W. Hofmann
Name: Thomas W. Hofmann
Title: Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officer
ATLANTIC PETROLEUM CORPORATION
By: /s/ Sanjay Dhawan
Name: Sanjay Dhawan
Title: President
SUN PIPE LINE COMPANY OF DELAWARE LLC
(as successor to Sun Pipe Line Company of Delaware)
By: /s/ David A. Justin
Name: David A. Justin
Title: President
{Signature Page to Amendment No. 2008-1 to Omnibus Agreement}

SUN PIPE LINE COMPANY
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Deborah M. Fretz
Deborah M. Fretz
President

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Deborah M. Fretz
Deborah M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive Officer

SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS L.P.
By:

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC,
its General Partner
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Deborah M. Fretz
Deborah M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive
Officer

SUNOCO LOGISTICS PARTNERS OPERATIONS L.P.
By:

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC,
its General Partner
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Deborah M. Fretz
Deborah M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive
Officer

SUN PIPE LINE DELAWARE (OUT) LLC
(as successor to Sun Pipe Line Services (Out) LLC)
By:
Name:
Title:

/s/ Deborah M. Fretz
Deborah M. Fretz
President

{Signature Page to Amendment No. 2008-1 to Omnibus Agreement}

Exhibit 10.10

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
EXECUTIVE INVOLUNTARY SEVERANCE PLAN
(Amended and restated as of January 23, 2008)

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
Section 1.1 “Benefit” or “Benefits”—shall mean any or all of the benefits that a Participant is entitled to receive pursuant to Article IV of the Plan.
Section 1.2 “Board of Directors”—shall mean the Board of Directors of Sunoco Partners LLC, or any successor thereto.
Section 1.3 “Chief Executive Officer”—shall mean the individual serving as the Chief Executive Officer of Sunoco Partners LLC, as of the date of
reference.
Section 1.4 “Committee”—shall mean the administrative committee designated pursuant to Article VI of the Plan to administer the Plan in accordance with
its terms.
Section 1.5 “Company”—shall mean Sunoco Partners LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability Company that is the general partner of Sunoco Logistics
Partners L.P., a Delaware limited partnership. The term “Company” shall include any successor to Sunoco Partners LLC, any subsidiary or affiliate thereof that
has adopted the Plan, or an entity succeeding to the business of Sunoco Partners LLC, or any subsidiary or affiliate, by merger, consolidation or liquidation or
purchase of assets or equity or similar transaction.
Section 1.6 “Company Service”—shall mean, for purposes of determining Benefits available to any Participant in this Plan, the total aggregate recorded
length of such Participant’s service with Sunoco Partners LLC; any predecessor thereto (including, specifically, Sunoco, Inc. and its affiliates), any subsidiary or
affiliate thereof (whether by merger, consolidation, liquidation, or purchase of assets or equity, or similar transaction) that has adopted the Plan; and/or any entity
succeeding to the business of Sunoco Partners LLC. Company Service shall commence with the Participant’s initial date of employment with the Company, and
shall end with such Participant’s death, retirement, or termination for any reason. Company Service also shall include:
(a) all periods of approved leave of absence (whether personal, educational, family, medical, military, or otherwise); provided, however, that the
Participant returns to work within the prescribed time following the leave;
(b) any break in service of thirty (30) days or less; and
(c) any service credited under applicable Company policies with respect to the length of a Participant’s employment by any non-affiliated entity that
is subsequently acquired by, and becomes a part of, the Company’s operations.
Section 1.7 “Compensation Committee”—shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors.
Section 1.8 “Disability”—shall mean any illness, injury or incapacity of such duration and type as to render a Participant eligible to receive long-term
disability benefits under the applicable broad-based long-term disability program of the Company.
Section 1.9 “Employment Termination Date”—shall mean the date on which a Participant separates from service as defined in Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and the regulations issued thereunder.
Section 1.10 “ERISA”—shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.

Section 1.11 “Executive Level Employee”—shall mean the following officers of the Company: the Chief Executive Officer; the Chief Financial Officer; the
Vice President, Operations; the Vice President, Business Development; the Vice President, Lease Acquisition and Marketing; the Vice President, General Counsel
and Secretary; and the Comptroller, together with such other persons as may be designated by the Compensation Committee.
Section 1.12 “Just Cause”—shall mean:
(a) the willful and continued failure of the Participant to perform substantially the Participant’s duties with the Company (other than any such failure
resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness), after a written demand for substantial performance is delivered to the Participant by the Board
of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer, specifically identifying the manner in which the Board of Directors or the Chief Executive Officer believes the
Participant has not substantially performed the Participant’s duties, or
(b) the willful engaging by the Participant in illegal conduct or gross misconduct that is materially and demonstrably injurious to the Company or
Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.
For purposes of this Section 1.12, no act, or failure to act, on the part of the Participant shall be considered “willful” unless it is done, or omitted to be done,
by the Participant in bad faith or without reasonable belief that the Participant’s action or omission was in the best interests of the Company, or of Sunoco
Logistics Partners L.P. Any act, or failure to act, based upon authority given pursuant to a resolution duly adopted by the Board of Directors or upon the
instructions of the Chief Executive Officer or a senior officer of the Company or based upon the advice of counsel for the Company shall be conclusively
presumed to be done, or omitted to be done, by the Participant in good faith and in the best interests of the Company, or of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. The
cessation the Participant’s employment shall not be deemed to be for Just Cause unless and until there shall have been delivered to the Participant a copy of a
resolution duly adopted by the affirmative vote of not less than three-quarters of the entire membership of the Board of Directors (excluding the Participant, if the
Participant is a member of the Board of Directors) at a meeting of the Board of Directors (after reasonable notice is provided to the Participant and the Participant
is given an opportunity, together with counsel for the Participant, to be heard before the Board of Directors), finding that, in the good faith opinion of the Board of
Directors, the Participant is guilty of the conduct described in Section 1.12(a) or 1.12(b), hereof, and specifying the particulars thereof in detail.
Section 1.13 “Participant”—shall mean any Executive Level Employee; provided, however, that any Executive Level Employee having an employment
contract with the Company that provides severance benefits shall not be eligible to participate in the Plan while such contract is in effect, except to the extent
specifically provided in the contract.
Section 1.14 “Plan”—shall mean the Sunoco Partners LLC Executive Involuntary Severance Plan, as set forth herein, and as the same may from time to
time be amended.
Section 1.15 “Plan Year”—shall mean each fiscal year of the Company during which this Plan is in effect.
Section 1.16 “Salary Continuation Period”—shall mean:
(a) six (6) weeks, in the case of a Participant who either has not executed the release described in Section 3.3 hereof, or who has revoked such a
previously executed release; or
(b) in the case of a Participant that has executed and not revoked the release described in Section 3.3 hereof:

(1) seventy-eight (78) weeks for the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer, any vice president and each other Executive
Level Employee in Grade 17 or above; and
(2) fifty-two (52) weeks for each other Executive Level Employee.
Section 1.17 “Specified Employee” shall mean each of the following: the Chief Executive Officer; the Chief Financial Officer; the Vice President,
Operations; the Vice President, Business Development; the Vice President, Lease Acquisition and Marketing; the Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary;
and Comptroller (designated pursuant to the election of an alternative method specified in Treasury Regulation Sections 1.409A-1(i)(5) and 1.409A-1(i)(8)).
Section 1.18 “Weekly Compensation”—shall mean the sum of each of the following items divided by 52:
(a) a Participant’s annual base salary; and
(b) the applicable guideline (target) annual bonus amount in effect on his or her Employment Termination Date.
ARTICLE II
BACKGROUND, PURPOSE AND TERM OF PLAN
Section 2.1 Background. The Company maintains this Plan for the purpose of providing severance allowances to its Executive Level Employees, whose
employment is terminated for reasons other than Just Cause. The Plan shall be effective as of January 26, 2007.
Section 2.2 Purpose of the Plan. In recognition of their past service to the Company, this Plan is intended to alleviate, in part or in full, financial hardships
which may be experienced by certain of those employees of the Company whose employment is terminated. In essence, benefits under the Plan are intended to be
additional compensation for past services or the continuation of the specified fringe benefits for a transitional period. The amount or kind of benefit to be
provided is to be based on the position and compensation of the Executive Level Employee and the fringe benefit programs applicable to such Executive Level
Employee at his or her Employment Termination Date. The Plan is not intended to be included in the definitions of “employee pension benefit plan” and “pension
plan” as set forth under Section 3(2) of ERISA. Rather, this Plan is intended to meet the descriptive requirements of a plan constituting a “severance pay plan”
within the meaning regulations published by the Secretary of Labor at Title 29, Code of Federal Regulations, § 2510.3-2(b).
Section 2.3 Term of the Plan. The Plan will continue until such time as the Board of Directors, or a committee thereof, delegated such responsibility, acting
in its sole discretion, elects to modify, supersede or terminate it in accordance with the further provisions hereof.
ARTICLE III
PARTICIPATION AND ELIGIBILITY FOR BENEFITS
Section 3.1 General Eligibility Requirement. In order to receive a Benefit under this Plan, a Participant’s employment must have been terminated by the
Company other than for Just Cause, death or Disability; provided, however, that any Participant who is receiving benefits under the Sunoco Partners LLC Special
Executive Severance Plan shall not also be eligible to receive any Benefit under this Plan.

Section 3.2 Employment by Successor. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no Benefits shall be due hereunder in connection with the sale or
other disposition by the Company of the equity or assets of any business unit, division, subsidiary, or other affiliate, if the Participant receives an offer of
employment from the purchaser or other acquiror at a combined annual salary and guideline bonus at least equal to the annual salary and guideline bonus for his
or her position with the Company immediately prior to such sale or other disposition.
Section 3.3 Release. Unless the Participant executes a full waiver and release of claims in a form satisfactory to the Company, and notwithstanding
anything herein to the contrary as provided in Section 5.2, the Benefits provided hereunder in connection with a termination of employment shall be provided
only for the Salary Continuation Period set forth in Section 1.16(a) of this Plan, and the special medical benefit described in Section 4.4 of this Plan shall not be
provided. In no event shall execution of the release described in this Section 3.3 impair a Participant’s ability to pursue any rights with respect to benefits under
the Sunoco Partners LLC. Special Executive Severance Plan.
ARTICLE IV
BENEFIT
Section 4.1 Amount of Immediate Cash Benefit. The immediate cash amount to be paid to a Participant eligible to receive Benefits under Section 3.1 hereof
shall be paid in a lump sum and shall equal the Participant’s earned vacation (as determined under the Company’s applicable vacation policy as in effect on the
Employment Termination Date) through the end of his or her Employment Termination Date.
Section 4.2 Salary Continuation. A Participant who is eligible to receive Benefits under Section 3.1 shall continue to be entitled, through the end of his/her
Salary Continuation Period to his/her Weekly Compensation as in effect on the Employment Termination Date.
Section 4.3 Executive Benefits. A Participant who is eligible to receive Benefits under Section 3.1 shall continue to be entitled, through the end of his/her
Salary Continuation Period to those employee benefits listed below:
(a) death benefits in an amount equal to one (1) times annual base salary at the Employment Termination Date. Supplemental coverages elected
under the Company’s applicable death benefits plan(s), or any similar plan of any of the following, will be discontinued under the terms of such plan(s):
(i) a subsidiary or affiliate which has adopted this Plan;
(ii) a corporation succeeding to the business of Sunoco, Inc.; and/or
(iii) any subsidiary or affiliate, by merger, consolidation or liquidation or purchase of assets or stock or similar transaction); and
(b) medical plan benefits (excluding dental coverage), including COBRA continuation coverage beginning as of the start of the Salary Continuation
Period and running concurrently therewith.
In each case, when contributions are required of all other active Executive Level Employees at the time of the Participant’s Employment Termination Date,
or thereafter, if required of other Executive Level Employees, the Participant shall continue to be responsible for making the required contributions during the
Salary Continuation Period in order to be eligible for the coverage. The Participant also shall be entitled to reasonable outplacement services as deemed
appropriate by the Committee; provided,

however, that such outplacement services shall be provided for the period that ends no later than the end of the second calendar year following the year of the
Participant’s Employment Termination Date and paid for directly by the Company no later than the end of the third calendar year following the year of the
Participant’s Termination Date.
Section 4.4 Special Medical Benefit. Participants who have executed and not revoked the release described in Section 3.3 hereof, who were employed by
the Company on or before January 1, 2008, and who were fifty (50) or more years of age on January 1, 2008, with a minimum of ten (10) years of Company
Service on the Employment Termination Date, shall have medical (but not dental) benefits available under the same terms and conditions as other employees not
yet eligible for Medicare coverage who retire under the terms of a Company retirement plan. Participants who have executed and not revoked the release
described in Section 3.3 hereof, and who (a) are fifty (50) or more years of age on the Employment Termination Date, and (b) were not employed by the
Company on January 1, 2008, or were not fifty (50) or more years of age on January 1, 2008, or have fewer than ten (10) years of Company Service on the
Employment Termination Date, shall be eligible for the medical benefits described in the preceding sentence, at a cost to any such Participant that is equal to the
full premium cost of such coverage. Subject to modification or termination of such medical benefits as generally provided to other employees not yet eligible for
Medicare coverage who retire under the terms of a Company retirement plan, such benefits may continue until such time as the Participant becomes first eligible
for Medicare, or the Participant voluntarily cancels coverage, whichever is earliest.”
Section 4.5 Retirement Plans. This Plan shall not govern and shall in no way affect the Participant’s interest in, or entitlement to benefits under, any
qualified or supplemental retirement plans in which the Participant participates, and payments received under any such plan shall not affect a Participant’s right to
any Benefit hereunder.
Section 4.6 Minimum Benefit. Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 4.2, 4.3 and 4.4 hereof, the Benefits available under this Plan shall not be less
than those determined in accordance with the provisions of the Company’s Involuntary Termination Plan. If the Participant determines that the benefits under the
Company’s Involuntary Termination Plan are more valuable to the Participant than the comparable Benefits set forth in this Plan, then the provisions used to
calculate the Benefits available to the Participant under this Plan shall not apply, and the Benefits available to the Participant under this Plan shall be calculated
using only the applicable provisions of the Company’s Involuntary Termination Plan.
Section 4.7 Effect on Other Benefits. There shall not be drawn from the continued provision by the Company of any of the aforementioned Benefits any
implication of continued employment, or of continued right to accrual of retirement benefits under the qualified or supplemental retirement plans, in which the
Participant participates, nor shall a Participant accrue vacation days, paid holidays, paid sick days or other similar benefits normally associated with employment
for any part of the Salary Continuation Period during which benefits are payable under this Plan.
ARTICLE V
METHOD AND DURATION OF BENEFIT PAYMENTS
Section 5.1 Method of Payment.
(a) The cash Benefits to which a Participant is entitled, as determined pursuant to Article IV hereof, shall be paid monthly except as otherwise
provided in this Article V. Pursuant to Treasury Regulation Section 1.409A-2(b)(2)(iii), for purposes of Treasury Regulation 1.409A-1(b)(4) and all other
provisions of the regulations promulgated under Code Section 409A, the

Participant’s right to the series of monthly payments hereunder at all times shall be treated as a right to a series of separate payments. Payment shall be
made by mailing to the last address provided by the Participant to the Company, or by direct deposit into a bank account designated by the Participant in
writing to the Company.
(b) Payment of any cash Benefits (that are deferred compensation for purposes of Code Section 409A) to any Participant who is a Specified
Employee shall be made as follows:
(i) Cash Benefits that are scheduled to be paid for the period which begins on such Participant’s Employment Termination Date and ends on
the date six months from such Participant’s Employment Termination Date, shall not be paid as scheduled, but shall be accumulated and paid in a
lump sum on the date six months after the Participant’s Employment Termination Date.
(ii) Simple interest will be paid on cash Benefits delayed hereunder from the date such payments would have been made to the Participant but
for this subsection (b), to the date of actual payment, at the interest rate used to determine lump sum payments under the Sunoco, Inc. Retirement
Plan as of the date of the Participant’s Employment Termination Date.
Section 5.2 Conditions to Entitlement to Benefit. In order to be eligible to receive full Benefits hereunder, a Participant shall make himself/herself available
to the Company and cooperate in any reasonable manner (so as not to unreasonably interfere with subsequent employment) in providing assistance to the
Company after his or her Employment Termination Date in conducting any matters which are pending at such time, and, as provided in Section 3.3, shall execute
a release and discharge of the Company from any and all claims, demands or causes of action other than as to amounts or benefits due to the Participant under any
plan, program or contract provided by, or entered into with, the Company. Such release and discharge shall be in such form as is prescribed by the Committee and
shall be executed prior to the payment of any Benefits due hereunder. In addition, no Benefits due hereunder shall be paid to a Participant who is required by
Company guidelines to execute an agreement governing the assignment of patents or the disclosure of confidential information unless an executed copy of such
agreement is on file with the Company.
Section 5.3 Payments to Beneficiaries. Each Executive Level Employee shall designate one or more beneficiaries to receive the Benefits due hereunder in
the event of the Participant’s death prior to the receipt of all such Benefits. Such beneficiary designation shall be made in the manner, and at the time, prescribed
by the Committee in its sole discretion. In the absence of an effective beneficiary designation hereunder, the Participant’s estate shall be deemed to be his or her
designated beneficiary.
ARTICLE VI
ADMINISTRATION
Section 6.1 Appointment of the Committee. The Committee shall consist of three (3) or more persons who may be, but need not be, employees of the
Company. The composition of the Committee shall be identical to that of the committee appointed by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of
Directors for the purpose of administering the Company’s Special Executive Severance Plan.
Section 6.2 Tenure of the Committee. Committee members shall serve at the pleasure of the Compensation Committee and may be discharged, with or
without Cause, by the Compensation Committee. Committee members may resign at any time on ten (10) days’ written notice.

Section 6.3 Authority and Duties. It shall be the duty of the Committee, on the basis of information supplied to it by the Company, to determine the
eligibility of each Participant for Benefits under the Plan, to determine the amount of Benefit to which each such Participant may be entitled, and to determine the
manner and time of payment of the Benefit consistent with the provisions hereof. In addition, the exercise of discretion by the Committee need not be uniformly
applied to similarly situated Participants. The Company shall make such payments as are certified to it by the Committee to be due to Participants. The
Committee shall have the full power and authority to construe, interpret and administer the Plan, to correct deficiencies therein, to supply omissions and to make
factual determinations. All decisions, actions and interpretations of the Committee shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the parties.
Section 6.4 Action by the Committee. A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting of
the Committee. Any action of the Committee may be taken upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Committee at a meeting, or at the
direction of the Chairperson, without a meeting by mail, telegraph, telephone or electronic communication device; provided that all of the members of the
Committee are informed of their right to vote on the matter before the Committee and of the outcome of the vote thereon.
Section 6.5 Officers of the Committee. The Compensation Committee shall designate one of the members of the Committee to serve as Chairperson thereof.
The Compensation Committee shall also designate a person to serve as Secretary of the Committee, which person may be, but need not be, a member of the
Committee.
Section 6.6 Compensation of the Committee. Members of the Committee shall receive no compensation for their services as such. However, all reasonable
expenses of the Committee shall be paid or reimbursed by the Company upon proper documentation. The Company shall indemnify members of the Committee
against personal liability for actions taken in good faith in the discharge of their respective duties as members of the Committee and shall provide coverage to
them under the Company’s liability insurance program(s).
Section 6.7 Records, Reporting and Disclosure. The Committee shall keep all individual and group records relating to Participants and former Participants
and all other records necessary for the proper operation of the Plan. Such records shall be made available to the Company and to each Participant for examination
during business hours except that a Participant shall examine only such records as pertain exclusively to the examining Participant and to the Plan. The
Committee shall prepare and shall file as required by law or regulation all reports, forms, documents and other items required by ERISA, the Internal Revenue
Code, and every other relevant statute, each as amended, and all regulations thereunder (except that the Company, as payor of the Benefits, shall prepare and
distribute to the proper recipients all forms relating to withholding of income or wage taxes, Social Security taxes, and other amounts which may be similarly
reportable).
Section 6.8 Actions of the Chief Executive Officer. Whenever a determination is required of the Chief Executive Officer under the Plan, such determination
shall be made solely at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer. In addition, the exercise of discretion by the Chief Executive Officer need not be uniformly
applied to similarly situated Participants and shall be final and binding on each Participant or beneficiary(ies) to whom the determination is directed.
Section 6.9 Bonding. The Committee shall arrange any bonding that may be required by law, but no amount in excess of the amount required by law (if
any) shall be required by the Plan.
ARTICLE VII

AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION
Section 7.1 Amendment, Suspension and Termination. The Company, acting by or pursuant to a resolution of the Board of Directors, or a committee thereof
delegated such responsibility, retains the right, at any time and from time to time, to amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in whole or in part, for any reason, and
without either the consent of or the prior notification to any Participant. No such amendment shall give the Company the right to recover any amount paid to a
Participant prior to the date of such amendment or to cause the cessation and discontinuance of payments of Benefits to any person or persons under the Plan
already receiving Benefits. No action to amend or modify the Plan that is taken after a Change in Control (as such term is defined in the Special Executive
Severance Plan of the Company) or before, but in connection with, a Change in Control, may terminate or reduce the rights of a Participant as of the date of such
action with respect to the Company’s Special Executive Severance Plan or Section 3.3.
ARTICLE VIII
DUTIES OF THE COMPANY
Section 8.1 Records. The Company shall supply to the Committee all records and information necessary to the performance of the Committee’s duties.
Section 8.2 Payment. The Company shall make payments from its general assets to Participants, and shall provide the Benefits described in Article IV
hereof in accordance with the terms of this Plan, as directed by the Committee.
ARTICLE IX
CLAIMS PROCEDURES
Section 9.1 Application for Benefits. Benefits shall be paid by the Company following a termination of employment that qualifies the Participant for
Benefits. In the event a Participant believes himself/herself eligible for Benefits under this Plan and Benefit payments have not been initiated by the Company, the
Participant may apply for such Benefits by requesting payment of Benefits in writing from the Company.
Section 9.2 Appeals of Denied Claims for Benefits. In the event that any claim for benefits is denied in whole or in part, the Participant (or beneficiary, if
applicable) whose claim has been so denied shall be notified of such denial in writing by the Committee, within thirty (30) days following submission by the
Participant (or beneficiary, if applicable) of such claim to the Committee. The notice advising of the denial shall specify the reason or reasons for denial, make
specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions, describe any additional material or information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim (explaining why
such material or information is needed), and shall advise the Participant of the procedure for the appeal of such denial. All appeals shall be made by the following
procedure:
(a) The Participant whose claim has been denied shall file with the Committee a notice of desire to appeal the denial. Such notice shall be filed within
sixty (60) days of notification by the Committee of the claim denial, shall be made in writing, and shall set forth all of the facts upon which the appeal is
based. Appeals not timely filed shall be barred.
(b) The Committee shall, within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Participant’s notice of appeal, establish a hearing date on which the Participant may
make an oral presentation to the Committee in support of his/her appeal. The Participant shall be given not less than ten (10) days’ notice of the date set for
the hearing.

(c) The Committee shall consider the merits of the claimant’s written and oral presentations, the merits of any facts or evidence in support of the
denial of benefits, and such other facts and circumstances as the Committee shall deem relevant. If the claimant elects not to make an oral presentation,
such election shall not be deemed adverse to his/her interest, and the Committee shall proceed as set forth below as though an oral presentation of the
contents of the claimant’s written presentation had been made.
(d) The Committee shall render a determination upon the appealed claim, within sixty (60) days of the hearing date, which determination shall be
accompanied by a written statement as to the reasons therefor. The determination so rendered shall be binding upon all parties.
ARTICLE X
MISCELLANEOUS
Section 10.1 Nonalienation of Benefits. None of the payments, benefits or rights of any Participant shall be subject to any claim of any creditor, and, in
particular, to the fullest extent permitted by law, all such payments, benefits and rights shall be free from attachment, garnishment, trustee’s process, or any other
legal or equitable process available to any creditor of such Participant. No Participant shall have the right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber or
assign any of the benefits or payments which he/she may expect to receive, contingently or otherwise, under this Plan.
Section 10.2 No Contract of Employment. Neither the establishment of the Plan, nor any modification thereof, nor the creation of any fund, trust or account,
nor the payment of any benefits shall be construed as giving any Participant, or any person whosoever, the right to be retained in the service of the Company, and
all Participants shall remain subject to discharge to the same extent as if the Plan had never been adopted.
Section 10.3 Severability of Provisions. If any provision of this Plan shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not
affect any other provisions hereof, and this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such provisions had not been included.
Section 10.4 Successors, Heirs, Assigns, and Personal Representatives. This Plan shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and
assigns of the parties, including each Participant, present and future. Unless the Chief Executive Officer directs otherwise, the Company shall require any
successor or successors (whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise) to all or substantially all of the business and/or assets of the
Company, to acknowledge expressly that this Plan is binding upon and enforceable against the Company in accordance with the terms hereof, and to become
jointly and severally obligated with the Company to perform under this Plan in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to
perform if no such succession had taken place.
Section 10.5 Headings and Captions. The headings and captions herein are provided for reference and convenience only, shall not be considered part of the
Plan, and shall not be employed in the construction of the Plan.
Section 10.6 Gender and Number. Except where otherwise clearly indicated by context, the masculine and the neuter shall include the feminine and the
neuter, the singular shall include the plural, and vice-versa.
Section 10.7 Unfunded Plan. The Plan shall not be funded. The Company may, but shall not be required to, set aside or earmark an amount necessary to
provide the Benefits specified herein (including

the establishment of trusts). In any event, no Participant shall have any right to, or interest in, any assets of the Company which may be applied by the Company
to the payment of Benefits.
Section 10.8 Payments to Incompetent Persons, Etc. Any benefit payable to or for the benefit of a minor, an incompetent person or other person incapable
of receipting therefor shall be deemed paid when paid to such person’s guardian or to the party providing or reasonably appearing to provide for the care of such
person, and such payment shall fully discharge the Company, the Committee and all other parties with respect thereto.
Section 10.9 Lost Payees. A Benefit shall be deemed forfeited if the Committee is unable to locate a Participant to whom a Benefit is due. Such Benefit
shall be reinstated if application is made by the Participant for the forfeited Benefit while this Plan is in operation.
Section 10.10 Controlling Law. THIS PLAN SHALL BE CONSTRUED AND ENFORCED ACCORDING TO THE LAWS OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA TO THE EXTENT NOT PREEMPTED BY UNITED STATES FEDERAL LAW.
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SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
SECTION 1. Purpose of the Plan.
The Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”) is intended to promote the interests of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., a Delaware limited
partnership (the “Partnership”), by providing to employees and directors of Sunoco Partners LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company (the “Company”), and
its Affiliates who perform services for the Partnership and its subsidiaries, incentive awards for superior performance that are based on Units. The Plan is also
intended to enhance the ability of the Company and its Affiliates to attract and retain employees whose services are key to the growth and profitability of the
Partnership, and to encourage them to devote their best efforts to the business of the Partnership and its subsidiaries, thereby advancing the Partnership’s interests.
SECTION 2. Definitions.
As used in the Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:
2.1 “Affiliate” means, with respect to any Person, any other Person that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled by
or is under common control with, the Person in question. As used herein, the term “control” means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power to direct or
cause the direction of the management and policies of a Person, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
2.2 “Award” means a grant of one or more Options or Restricted Units pursuant to the Plan, and shall include any tandem DERs granted with respect to
such Award.
2.3 “Board” means the Board of Directors of the Company.
2.4 “Cause” means:
(i) fraud or embezzlement on the part of the Participant;
(ii) conviction of or the entry of a plea of nolo contendere by the Participant to any felony;
(iii) the willful and continued failure or refusal by the Participant to perform substantially the Participant’s duties with the Company or an Affiliate
thereof (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness, or death, or following notice of employment termination by
the Participant for Good Reason) within thirty (30) days following the delivery of a written demand for substantial performance to the Participant by the
Board, or any employee of the Company or an Affiliate with supervisory authority over the Participant, that specifically identifies the manner in which the
Board or such supervising employee believes that the Participant has not substantially performed the Participant’s duties; or
(iv) any act of willful misconduct by the Participant which:
(a) is intended to result in substantial personal enrichment of the Participant at the expense of the Partnership, the Company or any of their
Affiliates; or
(b) has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Partnership, the Company or any Affiliate thereof (such determination to
be made by the Partnership, the Company or any such Affiliate in the good faith exercise of its reasonable judgment).

2.5 “Change of Control” means, and shall be deemed to have occurred upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events:
(i) the consolidation, reorganization, merger or other transaction pursuant to which more than 50% of the combined voting power of the outstanding
equity interests in the Company cease to be owned by Sunoco and its Affiliates;
(ii) a “Change in Control” of Sunoco, as defined from time to time in the Sunoco stock plans; or
(iii) the general partner (whether the Company or any other Person) of the Partnership ceases to be an Affiliate of Sunoco.
2.6 “Committee” means the Compensation Committee of the Board, such subcommittee thereof, or such other committee of the Board appointed to
administer the Plan.
2.7 “DER” or “Distribution Equivalent Right” means contingent right, granted in tandem with a specific Restricted Unit, to receive an amount in cash equal
to the cash distributions made by the Partnership with respect to a Unit during the period such Restricted Unit is outstanding.
2.8 “Director” means a member of the Board who is not an Employee.
2.9 “Employee” means any employee of the Company or an Affiliate, who performs services for the Partnership.
2.10 “Exchange Act” means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
2.11 “Fair Market Value” means, as of any date and in respect of any Unit, the opening price of a Unit on such date (which price shall be the closing price
of a Unit on the previous trading day, as reflected in the consolidated trading tables of The Wall Street Journal or any other publication selected by the
Committee). If there is no sale of Units on the New York Stock Exchange for more than ten (10) days immediately preceding such date, or if deemed appropriate
by the Committee for any other reason, the Fair Market Value of such Units shall be as determined in good faith by the Committee in such other manner as it may
deem appropriate.
2.12 “Good Reason” means:
(i) a reduction in the Participant’s annual base salary;
(ii) failure to pay the Participant any compensation due under an employment agreement, if any;
(iii) failure to continue to provide benefits substantially similar to those then enjoyed by the Participant unless the Partnership, the Company or their
Affiliates provide aggregate benefits equivalent to those then in effect;
(iv) failure to continue a compensation plan or to continue the Participant’s participation in a plan on a basis not materially less favorable to the
Participant, subject to the power of the Partnership, the Company or their Affiliates to amend such plans in their reasonable discretion, including, without
limitation, providing a replacement plan; or
(v) the Partnership, the Company or their Affiliates purported termination of the Participant’s employment for Cause not pursuant to a procedure
indicating the specific provision of the definition of Cause contained in this Plan as the basis for such termination of employment;
The Participant may not terminate for Good Reason unless he has given written notice delivered to the Partnership, the Company or their Affiliates, as
appropriate, of the action or inaction giving rise to Good Reason, such notice to state with specificity the nature of the breach, failure or refusal, and such action
or inaction is not corrected within thirty (30) days thereafter.

2.13 “Member” means, as of any date, any Person that has executed the limited liability company operating agreement of the Company (the “LLC
Agreement”) as a member of the Company, and thereafter been admitted to the Company as a member as provided in the LLC Agreement, but such term does not
include any Person who has ceased to be a member in the Company.
2.14 “Option” means on option to purchase Units granted under the Plan.
2.15 “Participant” means any Employee or Director granted an Award under the Plan.
2.16 “Partnership Agreement” means the Amended and Restated Agreement of Limited Partnership of the Partnership.
2.17 “Person” means an individual or a corporation, limited liability company, partnership, joint venture, trust, unincorporated organization, association,
government agency or political subdivision thereof or other entity.
2.18 “Restricted Period” means the period established by the Committee with respect to an Award during which the Award either remains subject to
forfeiture or is not exercisable by the Participant.
2.19 “Restricted Unit” means a phantom, or notional, unit granted under the Plan which is equivalent in value and in distribution rights to a Unit and which,
upon vesting, entitles the Participant to receive a Unit or its Fair Market Value in cash, whichever is determined by the Committee.
2.20 “Rule 16b-3” means Rule 16b-3 promulgated by the SEC under the Exchange Act, or any successor rule or regulation thereto as in effect from time to
time.
2.21 “SEC” means the Securities and Exchange Commission, or any successor thereto.
2.22 “Specified Employee” shall mean each of the following: the Chief Executive Officer; the Chief Financial Officer; the Vice President, Operations; the
Vice President, Business Development; the Vice President, Lease Acquisition and Marketing; the Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary; and the
Comptroller (designated pursuant to the election of an alternative method specified in Treasury Regulation Sections 1.409A-1(i)(5) and 1.409A-1(i)(8)).
2.23 “Sunoco” means Sunoco, Inc.
2.24 “Unit” means a Common Unit of the Partnership.
SECTION 3. Administration.
The Plan shall be administered by the Committee. A majority of the Committee shall constitute a quorum, and the acts of the members of the Committee
who are present at any meeting thereof at which a quorum is present, or acts unanimously approved by the members of the Committee in writing, shall be the acts
of the Committee. Annual grant levels for Participants will be recommended to the Committee by the Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Subject to the
terms of the Plan and applicable law, and in addition to other express powers and authorizations conferred on the Committee by the Plan, the Committee shall
have full power and authority to:
(i) designate Participants;
(ii) determine the type or types of Awards to be granted to a Participant;
(iii) determine the number of Units to be covered by Awards;
(iv) determine the terms and conditions of any Award;
(v) determine whether, to what extent, and under what circumstances Awards may be settled, exercised, canceled, or forfeited;
(vi) interpret and administer the Plan and any instrument or agreement relating to an Award made under the Plan

(vii) establish, amend, suspend, or waive such rules and regulations and appoint such agents as it shall deem appropriate for the proper administration
of the Plan; and
(viii) make any other determination and take any other action that the Committee deems necessary or desirable for the administration of the Plan.
Unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan, all designations, determinations, interpretations, and other decisions under or with respect to the Plan or
any Award shall be within the sole discretion of the Committee, may be made at any time and shall be final, conclusive, and binding upon all Persons, including
the Company, the Partnership, any Affiliate, any Participant, and any beneficiary of any Award.
Subject to the following and any applicable law, the Committee, in its sole discretion, may delegate any or all of its powers and duties under the Plan to the
Chief Executive Officer of the Company, including the power to grant Awards under the Plan, provided the Chief Executive Officer is also a member of the
Board, subject to such limitations on such delegated powers and duties as the Committee may impose, if any. Upon any such delegation all references in the Plan
to the “Committee”, other than in Section 7 (“Amendment and Termination”), shall be deemed to include the Chief Executive Officer; provided, however, that
such delegation shall not limit the Chief Executive Officer’s right to receive Awards under the Plan. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Chief Executive Officer
may not grant Awards to, or take any action with respect to any Award previously granted to, a person who is an officer subject to Rule 16b-3 or a member of the
Board.
SECTION 4. Units Available for Awards.
4.1 Units Available. Subject to adjustment as provided in Section 4.3, the number of Units with respect to which Awards may be granted under the Plan is
one million two hundred fifty thousand (1,250,000). If any Award is forfeited or otherwise terminates or is canceled without the delivery of Units, then the Units
covered by such Award, to the extent of such forfeiture, termination , or cancellation, shall again be Units with respect to which Awards may be granted.
4.2 Sources of Units Deliverable Under Awards. Any Units delivered pursuant to an Award shall consist, in whole or in part, of Units acquired in the open
market, from any Affiliate, the Partnership or any other Person, or any combination of the foregoing, as determined by the Committee in its discretion.
4.3 Adjustments. In the event of any change in the outstanding Units of the Partnership by reason of any distribution (whether in the form of cash, Units,
other securities, or other property), split, reverse split, reorganization, merger, consolidation, split-up, spin-off, combination, repurchase, or exchange of Units or
other securities of the Partnership, issuance of warrants or other rights to purchase Units or other securities of the Partnership, or other similar transaction or
event, an equitable and proportionate anti-dilution adjustment will be made to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits intended to be
made available under the Plan, and to offset any resultant change in the price per Unit and preserve the intrinsic value of Options, Restricted Units and other
awards theretofore granted under the Plan. Such mandatory adjustment may include a change in one or more of the following:
(i) the number and type of Units (or other securities or property) with respect to which Awards may be granted;
(ii) the number and type of Units (or other securities or property) subject to outstanding Awards;
(iii) the purchase price per Unit purchasable under outstanding Options;
(iv) the number of Restricted Units outstanding; and
(v) other similar matters.

SECTION 5. Eligibility.
Any Employee or Director will be eligible to be designated a Participant and receive an Award under the Plan.
SECTION 6. Awards.
6.1 Options. The Committee shall have the authority to determine the Employees and Directors to whom Options will be granted, the number of Units to be
covered by each Option, the purchase price therefor and the conditions and limitations applicable to the exercise of the Option, including the following terms and
conditions and such additional terms and conditions, as the Committee shall determine, that are not inconsistent with the provisions of the Plan.
(i) Exercise Price. The purchase price per Unit purchasable under an Option shall be determined by the Committee at the time the Option is granted
but shall not be less than the closing price of a Unit on the date the Option is granted, as reflected in the consolidated trading tables of the Wall Street
Journal under the caption ‘New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions’ or any other publication selected by the Committee). If there is no sale of
shares of Units on the New York Stock Exchange for more than ten (10) days immediately preceding such date, the applicable purchase price per Unit
purchasable under an Option shall be as determined by the Committee in such other manner as it may deem appropriate.
(ii) Time and Method of Exercise. The Committee shall determine the Restricted Period, i.e., the time or times at which an Option may be exercised
in whole or in part, and the method or methods by which payment of the exercise price with respect thereto may be made or deemed to have been made
which may include, without limitation, cash, check acceptable to the Company, a “cashless-broker” exercise (through procedures approved by the
Company), other securities or other property, a note from the Participant (in a form acceptable to the Company), or any combination thereof, having a Fair
Market Value on the exercise date equal to the relevant exercise price.
(iii) Forfeiture. Except as otherwise provided in the terms of the Option grant, upon termination of a Participant’s employment with the Company, or
membership on the Board, whichever is applicable, for any reason (other than retirement, death, permanent disability, or approved leave of absence),
including transfer of employment to Sunoco, Inc. (or any subsidiary thereof that is not also a subsidiary of the Company) during the applicable Restricted
Period, all Options shall be forfeited by the Participant, unless otherwise provided in a written employment agreement (if any) between the Participant and
the Company or one or more of its Affiliates; provided, however, that the Committee may, in its discretion, waive in whole or in part such forfeiture with
respect to a Participant’s Options; and, further provided, that a Participant who is eligible to receive payment of retirement benefits under the Sunoco, Inc.
Retirement Plan, and who terminates voluntarily his or her employment with the Company during the applicable Restricted Period, shall not forfeit any of
his then-outstanding Options, and such Participant shall be treated as though he or she had, in fact, retired during the applicable Restricted Period.
6.2 Restricted Units. The Committee shall have the authority to determine the Employees and Directors to whom Restricted Units shall be granted, the
number of Restricted Units to be granted to each such Participant, the duration of the Restricted Period, the conditions under which the Restricted Units may
become vested or forfeited, and such other terms and conditions as the Committee may establish respecting such Awards, including whether DERs are granted
with respect to such Restricted Units.
(i) DERs. To the extent provided by the Committee, in its discretion, a grant of Restricted Units may include a tandem DER grant, which may
provide that such DERs shall be paid

directly to the Participant, be credited to a bookkeeping account (with or without interest in the discretion of the Committee) subject to the same restrictions
as the tandem Award, or be subject to such other provisions or restrictions as determined by the Committee in its discretion. Notwithstanding the foregoing,
payment of all DERs under a tandem DER grant made pursuant to this Section 6.2(i) shall be made within two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the
calendar year in which such DERs become nonforfeitable.
(ii) Forfeiture. Except as otherwise provided in the terms of the Award agreement, upon termination of a Participant’s employment with the
Company or membership on the Board, whichever is applicable, for any reason (other than retirement, death, permanent disability, or approved leave of
absence), including transfer of employment to Sunoco, Inc. (or any subsidiary thereof that is not also a subsidiary of the Company), during the applicable
Restricted Period, all Restricted Units shall be forfeited by the Participant, unless otherwise provided in a written employment agreement (if any) between
the Participant and the Company or one or more of its Affiliates; provided, however, that the Committee may, in its discretion, waive in whole or in part
such forfeiture with respect to a Participant’s Restricted Units; and, further provided, that a Participant who is eligible to receive payment of retirement
benefits under the Sunoco, Inc. Retirement Plan, and who terminates voluntarily his or her employment with the Company during the applicable Restricted
Period, shall not forfeit any of his then-outstanding Restricted Units, and such Participant shall be treated as though he or she had, in fact, retired during the
applicable Restricted Period.
(iii) Lapse of Restrictions. Upon, or as soon as reasonably practicable following, the vesting of each Restricted Unit, but within two and one-half
(2- 1/2) months following the calendar year in which such Restricted Unit becomes nonforfeitable, the Participant shall be entitled to receive from the
Company, and the Company shall pay to the Participant, one Unit or its Fair Market Value, in cash, as determined by the Committee, subject to the
provisions of Section 8.2.
6.3 General.
(i) Awards May Be Granted Separately or Together. Awards may, in the discretion of the Committee, be granted either alone or in addition to, in
tandem with, or in substitution for any other Award granted under the Plan or any award granted under any other plan of the Company or any Affiliate.
Awards granted in addition to or in tandem with other Awards or awards granted under any other plan of the Company or any Affiliate may be granted
either at the same time as or at a different time from the grant of such other Awards or awards.
(ii) Limits on Transfer of Awards.
(a) Except as provided in (b) below:
(1) no Award and no right under any such Award may be assigned, alienated, pledged, attached, sold or otherwise transferred or
encumbered by a Participant and any such purported assignment, alienation, pledge, attachment, sale, transfer or encumbrance shall be void
and unenforceable against the Company or any Affiliate
(2) each Option shall be exercisable only by the Participant during the Participant’s lifetime, or by the person to whom the Participant’s
rights shall pass by will or the laws of descent and distribution; and
(b) To the extent specifically provided by the Committee with respect to an Option grant, an Option may be transferred by a Participant
without consideration to immediate family members or related family trusts, limited partnerships or similar entities or on such terms and conditions
as the Committee may from time to time establish. In addition, Awards may be transferred by will and the laws of descent and distribution.

(iii) Term of Awards. The term of each Award shall be for such period as may be determined by the Committee.
(iv) Unit Certificates. All certificates for Units or other securities of the Partnership delivered under the Plan pursuant to any Award or the exercise
thereof shall be subject to such stop transfer orders and other restrictions as the Committee may deem advisable under the Plan or the rules, regulations, and
other requirements of the SEC, any stock exchange upon which such Units or other securities are then listed, and any applicable federal or state laws, and
the Committee may cause a legend or legends to be put on any such certificates to make appropriate reference to such restrictions.
(v) Consideration for Grants. Awards may be granted for such consideration as the Committee determines including, without limitation, services or
such minimal cash consideration as may be required by applicable law.
(vi) Delivery of Units or other Securities and Payment by Participant of Consideration. Notwithstanding anything in the Plan or any grant agreement
to the contrary, delivery of Units pursuant to the exercise or vesting of an Award may be deferred for any period during which, in the good faith
determination of the Committee, the Company is not reasonably able to obtain Units to deliver pursuant to such Award without violating the rules or
regulations of any applicable law or securities exchange. No Units or other securities shall be delivered pursuant to any Award until payment in full of any
amount required to be paid pursuant to the Plan or the applicable Award agreement (including, without limitation, any exercise price or any tax
withholding) is received by the Company. Such payment may be made by such method or methods and in such form or forms as the Committee shall
determine, including, without limitation, cash, other Awards, withholding of Units, cashless broker exercises with immediate sale, or any combination
thereof; provided, however, that the combined value, as determined by the Committee, of all cash and cash equivalents and the Fair Market Value of any
such Units or other property so tendered to the Company, as of the date of such tender, is at least equal to the full amount required to be paid to the
Company pursuant to the Plan or the applicable Award agreement.
(vii) Change of Control. In the event of a Change in Control, Restricted Units will be paid to the Participant no later than the earlier of ninety
(90) days following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which
occurs the date of such Change in Control, regardless of whether the applicable performance goals or targets have been met.
For a Change of Control occurring within the first consecutive twelve-month period following the date of grant, the number of performance-based
Restricted Units paid out with regard to such grant shall be equal to the total number of Restricted Units outstanding in such grant as of the Change of
Control, not adjusted for any performance factors.
For a Change of Control occurring after the first consecutive twelve-month period following the date of grant, the number of performance-based
Restricted Units paid out with regard to such grant shall be the greater of:
(a) the total number of Restricted Units outstanding in such grant as of the Change of Control, not adjusted for any performance factors, or
(b) the total number of such Restricted Units outstanding in such grant, multiplied by the applicable performance factors related to the
Partnership’s actual performance immediately prior to the Change of Control.
In the case of an award of Restricted Units conditioned upon the Participant’s continued employment, the total number of Restricted Units
outstanding in such grant as of the Change of Control shall be paid to the Participant.

The Participant’s Restricted Units shall be payable to the Participant in cash or Units, as determined by the Committee prior to the Change of
Control, as follows:
(c) if the Participant is to receive Units, the Participant will receive the total number of Units stated above in this Section 6.3(vii); or
(d) if the Participant is to receive cash, the Participant will be paid an amount in cash equal to the number of Units stated above in this
Section 6.3(vii), multiplied by the Fair Market Value per Unit. Such amount will be reduced by the applicable federal, state and local withholding
taxes due.
On or before the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or the day that is two and one-half
(2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control, the Participant will be paid an amount in cash
equal to the value of the applicable DERs on the number of Units being paid pursuant to this Section 6.3(vii) for the time period immediately preceding the
Change in Control. Payout of Restricted Units and DERs shall be made to each Participant:
(e) who is employed by the Company on the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or
the day that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control; or
(f) whose employment relationship with the Company is terminated:
(1) for Good Reason, or as a result of any “Qualifying Termination” (as such term may be defined in the applicable agreement with the
Participant, evidencing the grant) prior to the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control
or the day that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control;
or
(2) as a result of death, permanent disability or retirement (as each is determined by the Committee), that has occurred prior to the
earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or the day that is two and one-half (2- 1/2)
months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control.
The Committee may establish, at the time of the grant of Restricted Units, other conditions that must be met for payout to occur. These conditions
shall be set forth in the Committee’s resolution granting the Restricted Units and in the applicable agreements with Participants.
Notwithstanding any provisions to the contrary in agreements evidencing Options granted thereunder, or in this Plan, each outstanding Option shall
become immediately and fully exercisable upon the occurrence of any Change of Control.
(viii) Sale of Significant Assets. In the event the Company or the Partnership sells or otherwise disposes of, other than to an Affiliate, a significant
portion of the assets under its control, (such significance to be determined by action of the Board of the Company in its sole discretion), and as a
consequence of such disposition:
(a) a Participant’s employment is terminated by the Partnership, the Company or their Affiliates without Cause or by the Participant for Good
Reason; provided, however, that in the case of any such termination by the Participant under this subparagraph 6.3(viii)(a), such termination shall not
be deemed to be for Good Reason unless the termination occurs within 180 days after the occurrence of the applicable sale or disposition constituting
the reason for the termination; or

(b) as a result of such sale or disposition, the Participant’s employer shall no longer be the Partnership, the Company or one of their Affiliates
(provided, however, that with respect to Restricted Units (and applicable DERs) such sale or disposition also constitutes a change in control event as
defined under Treasury Regulations Section 1.409A-3(i)(5)),
then all such Participant’s Awards shall automatically vest and become payable or exercisable, as the case may be, in full. In this regard, all Restricted
Periods shall terminate and all performance criteria, if any, shall be deemed to have been achieved at the maximum level. In the case of a transaction
described in subparagraph (a) of this Section 6.3(viii), subject to Section 6.4, payment of Restricted Units (and applicable DERs) shall be made to the
Participant no later than the earlier of ninety (90) days following the date of the Participant’s termination of employment or two and one-half (2- 1/2)
months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of the Participant’s termination of employment. In the case of a transaction
described in subparagraph (b) of this Section 6.3(viii), subject to Section 6.4, payment of Restricted Units (and applicable DERs) shall be made to the
Participant no later than the earlier of ninety (90) days following the date of such sale or other disposition or two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the
end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such sale or other disposition.
6.4 Payment of Restricted Units on Termination of Employment. For purposes of this Section 6, termination of a Participant’s employment, and any and all
other references to a Participant’s employment being terminated (“Termination of Employment”), shall mean with respect to a Participant such Participant’s
separation from service as defined in Internal Revenue Code (“Code”) Section 409A and the regulations issued thereunder, and a Participant’s Employment
Termination Date shall mean the date that a Participant separates from service as defined in Code Section 409A and the regulations issued thereunder.
Notwithstanding any other provisions of this Section 6, payment of any Restricted Unit (and related DER) to any Participant who is a Specified Employee on
account of such Participant’s Termination of Employment shall be made as follows. Restricted Units that are scheduled to be paid for the period which begins on
such Participant’s Employment Termination Date and ends on the date six months from such Participant’s Employment Termination Date, shall not be paid as
scheduled, but shall be accumulated and paid in a lump sum on the date six months after the Participant’s Employment Termination Date. In the case of payments
delayed pursuant to this Section 6.4, at the time of a Participant’s Termination of Employment, at the election of the Participant, all or a portion of a Participant’s
Restricted Units may be converted to the cash equivalent Fair Market Value of such units (“Cash Units”). Simple interest will be paid on Cash Units delayed
hereunder from the date of such conversion to the date of actual payment, at a rate equal to the prime rate of Citibank, N.A. as in effect from time to time after
such due date. With respect to any Restricted Units that are not converted to Cash Units, and which include a tandem DER, the provisions of Section 6.2(i) will
continue to apply to such Restricted Units during the period that payment of Restricted Units are delayed pursuant to this Section 6.4, with payment of all such
DERs made at the time of payment of the associated Restricted Unit hereunder.
SECTION 7. Amendment and Termination.
Except to the extent prohibited by applicable law and unless otherwise expressly provided in an Award agreement or in the Plan:
(i) Amendments to the Plan. Except as required by applicable law or the rules of the principal securities exchange on which the Units are traded and
subject to Section 7(ii) below, the Board or the Committee may amend, alter, suspend, discontinue, or terminate the Plan in any manner; provided, however,
that neither the Board nor the Committee may increase the number of Units available for Awards under the Plan, without the express prior written consent
of the Members of the Company.

(ii) Amendments to Awards. The Committee may waive any conditions or rights under, amend any terms of, or alter any Award theretofore granted,
provided no change, other than pursuant to Section 7(iii), in any Award shall materially reduce the benefit to Participant without the consent of such
Participant.
(iii) Adjustment of Awards Upon the Occurrence of Certain Unusual or Nonrecurring Events. In order to prevent dilution or enlargement of the
benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under the Plan, adjustments will be made in the terms and conditions of, and the criteria
included in, Awards in recognition of unusual or nonrecurring events (including, without limitation, the events described in Section 4.3 of the Plan)
affecting the Partnership or the financial statements of the Partnership, or of changes in applicable laws, regulations, or accounting principles.
SECTION 8. General Provisions.
8.1 No Rights to Awards. No Person shall have any claim to be granted any Award, and there is no obligation for uniformity of treatment of
Participants. The terms and conditions of Awards need not be the same with respect to each Participant.
8.2 Withholding. The Company or any Affiliate is authorized to withhold from any Award, from any payment due or transfer made under any Award
or from any compensation or other amount owing to a Participant the amount (in cash, Units, other securities, Units that otherwise would be issued
pursuant to such Award or other property) of any applicable taxes payable in respect of the grant of an Award, its exercise, the lapse of restrictions thereon,
or any payment or transfer under an Award or under the Plan and to take such other action as may be necessary in the opinion of the Company to satisfy its
withholding obligations for the payment of such taxes.
8.3 No Right to Employment. The grant of an Award shall not be construed as giving a Participant the right to be retained in the employment of the
Company or any Affiliate or to remain on the Board, as applicable. Further, the Company or an Affiliate may at any time dismiss a Participant from
employment, free from any liability or any claim under the Plan, unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or in any Award agreement.
8.4 Governing Law. THE VALIDITY, CONSTRUCTION, AND EFFECT OF THE PLAN AND ANY RULES AND REGULATIONS RELATING
TO THE PLAN SHALL BE DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAWS OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA AND
APPLICABLE FEDERAL LAW.
8.5 Severability. If any provision of the Plan or any Award is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any jurisdiction or as
to any Person or Award, or would disqualify the Plan or any Award under any law deemed applicable by the Committee, such provision shall be construed
or deemed amended to conform to the applicable laws, or if it cannot be construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the Committee,
materially altering the intent of the Plan or the Award, such provision shall be stricken as to such jurisdiction, Person or Award and the remainder of the
Plan and any such Award shall remain in full force and effect.
8.6 Other Laws. The Committee may refuse to issue or transfer any Units or other consideration under an Award if, in its sole discretion, it
determines that the issuance or transfer of such Units or such other consideration might violate any applicable law or regulation, the rules of the principal
securities exchange on which the Units are then traded, or entitle the Partnership or an Affiliate to recover the entire then Fair Market Value thereof under
Section 16(b) of the Exchange Act, and any payment tendered to the Company by a Participant, other holder or beneficiary in connection with the exercise
of such Award shall be promptly refunded to the relevant Participant, holder or beneficiary.

8.7 No Trust or Fund Created. Neither the Plan nor any Award shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund of any kind or a fiduciary
relationship between the Company or any Affiliate and a Participant or any other Person. To the extent that any Person acquires a right to receive payments
from the Company or any Affiliate pursuant to an Award, such right shall be no greater than the right of any general unsecured creditor of the Company or
any Affiliate.
8.8 No Fractional Units. No fractional Units shall be issued or delivered pursuant to the Plan or any Award, and the Committee shall determine
whether cash, other securities, or other property shall be paid or transferred in lieu of any fractional Units or whether such fractional Units or any rights
thereto shall be canceled, terminated, or otherwise eliminated.
8.9 Headings. Headings are given to the Sections and subsections of the Plan solely as a convenience to facilitate reference. Such headings shall not
be deemed in any way material or relevant to the construction or interpretation of the Plan or any provision thereof.
8.10 Facility Payment. Any amounts payable hereunder to any person under legal disability or who, in the judgment of the Committee, is unable to
properly manage his financial affairs, may be paid to the legal representative of such person, or may be applied for the benefit of such person in any manner
which the Committee may select, and the Company shall be relieved of any further liability for payment of such amounts.
8.11 Gender and Number. Words in the masculine gender shall include the feminine and the neuter, the plural shall include the singular and the
singular shall include the plural.
SECTION 9. Term of the Plan.
The Plan shall be effective on the date of its approval by the Board and shall continue until the date terminated by the Board or Units are no longer available for
grants of Awards under the Plan, whichever occurs first. However, unless otherwise expressly provided in the Plan or in an applicable Award Agreement, any
Award granted prior to such termination, and the authority of the Board or the Committee to amend, alter, adjust, suspend, discontinue, or terminate any such
Award or to waive any conditions or rights under such Award, shall extend beyond such termination date.

Exhibit 10.11.1
RESTRICTED UNIT AGREEMENT
under the
SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
This Restricted Unit Agreement (the “Agreement”), entered into as of
(the “Agreement Date”), by and between Sunoco Partners LLC (the
“Company”) and
, an employee of the Company or one of its subsidiaries (the “Participant”).
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, in order to make certain awards to officers and/or key employees, the Company maintains the Sunoco Partners LLC. Long-Term
Incentive Plan (the “Plan”); and
WHEREAS, the Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Committee”); and
WHEREAS, the Committee has determined to make an award to the Participant of Restricted Units, representing rights to receive common units,
representing limited partnership interests in Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (the “Partnership”), which are subject to a risk of forfeiture by the Participant,
pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Plan; and
WHEREAS, the Participant has determined to accept such award;
NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Participant each, intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
AWARD OF RESTRICTED UNITS
1.1

Identifying Provisions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:
(a) Participant

:

(b) Date of Grant

:

(c) Number of Restricted Units

:

(d) Restricted Period

:

Any initially capitalized terms and phrases used in this Agreement but not otherwise defined herein, shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in
the Plan.
1.2

Award of Restricted Units. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement, the Participant is hereby granted the number of Restricted
Units set forth herein at Section 1.1.

1.3

Distribution Equivalent Rights (“DERs”). The Participant shall be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount equal to each cash
distribution payable subsequent to the Date of Grant (each such entitlement being a distribution equivalent right or “DER”), just as though the Participant,
on the applicable record date for payment of such cash distribution, had been the holder of record of common units, representing limited partnership
interests in the Partnership, equal to the actual number of Restricted Units, if any, earned and received by the Participant at the end of the Restricted Period.
The Company shall establish a bookkeeping methodology to account for the distribution equivalents to be credited to the Participant in recognition of these
DERs. Such distribution equivalents will not bear interest.

1.4

Performance Measures. Exhibit
, attached hereto and made a part hereof, sets forth the performance measures that will be applied to determine the
amount of the award earned pursuant to this Agreement. Any or all of these performance measures may be modified by the Committee during, and after the
end of, the Restricted Period to reflect significant events that occur during such Restricted Period.

1.5

Payment of Restricted Units and Related DERs. Payment in respect of the Restricted Units, and the related DERs, shall be paid to Participant after the
Restricted Period for such Restricted Units has ended, but only to the extent the Committee determines that the applicable performance targets have been
met.
(a)

(b)

Payment in respect of Restricted Units earned. Except as provided by Section 1.6 hereof, all payment for Restricted Units earned shall be made in
common units representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership. The number of common units paid shall be equal to the number of
Restricted Units earned; provided, however, that any fractional units shall be distributed as an amount of cash equal to the Fair Market Value of such
fractional unit on the date of payment. Payment shall be made within two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the calendar year in which such
Restricted Units become nonforfeitable.
Payment of Earned DERs. The Participant will be entitled to receive from the Company at the end of the Restricted Period, payment of an amount in
cash equal to the DERs earned, as determined in accordance with the applicable provisions of Exhibit 2006-I. Payment of all DERs shall be within
two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the calendar year in which such DERs become nonforfeitable.

Applicable federal, state and local taxes shall be withheld in accordance with Section 2.6 hereof.
1.6

Change of Control.
(a)

Payment of Restricted Units. In the event of a Change of Control, the Restricted Units subject to this award will be paid to the Participant no later
than the earlier of ninety (90) days following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end
of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control, regardless of whether the applicable Restricted Period has expired or
whether applicable performance goals or targets have been met.
For a Change of Control occurring within the first consecutive twelve-month period following the Date of Grant, the number of performancebased Restricted Units paid out shall be equal to the total number of Restricted Units outstanding in this award as of the Change of Control, not
adjusted for any performance factors.
For a Change of Control occurring after the first consecutive twelve-month period following the Date of Grant, the number of performancebased Restricted Units paid out shall be the greater of:
(1) the total number of Restricted Units outstanding in this award as of the Change of Control, not adjusted for any performance
factors, or

(2) the total number of Restricted Units outstanding in this grant, multiplied by the applicable performance factors related to the
Partnership’s actual performance immediately prior to the Change of Control.
The Restricted Units subject to this award shall be payable to the Participant in cash or Units, as determined by the Committee prior to the
Change of Control, as follows:
(3) if the Participant is to receive Units, the Participant will receive the total number of Units stated above in this Section 1.6(a); or
(4) if the Participant is to receive cash, the Participant will be paid an amount in cash equal to the number of Units stated above in this
Section 1.6(a), multiplied by the Fair Market Value per Unit immediately prior to the Change of Control. Such amount will be reduced by the
applicable federal, state and local withholding taxes due.
(b)

Distribution Equivalents. On or before the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or the day
that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control, the Participant will
be paid an amount in cash equal to the value of the applicable DERs on the number of Units being paid pursuant to Section 1.6(a) hereof, for the time
period immediately preceding the Change in Control.

(c)

Eligibility for Payout. Payout of Restricted Units and DERs shall be made to each Participant:

(1) who is employed by the Company on the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or the day
that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control; or
(2) whose employment relationship with the Company is terminated:
(A)

for Good Reason, or as a result of any Qualifying Termination prior to the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of
occurrence of such Change in Control or the day that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which
occurs the date of such Change in Control; or
as a result of death, permanent disability or retirement (as each is determined by the Committee), that has occurred prior to the ninetieth
(90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or the day that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the
end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control.

(B)

(d)

Qualifying Termination—shall mean the following:
(1)

a termination of employment by the Company within six (6) months after a Change of Control, other than for Cause, death or permanent
disability;

(2)

a termination of employment by the Participant within six (6) months after a Change of Control for one or more of the following reasons:
(i)

the assignment to such Participant of any duties inconsistent in a way significantly adverse to such Participant, with such Participant’s
positions, duties, responsibilities and status with the Company immediately prior to the Change of Control, or a significant reduction
in the duties and responsibilities held by the Participant immediately prior to the Change of Control, in each case except in connection
with such Participant’s termination of employment by the Company for Cause; or

(ii)

a reduction by the Company in the Participant’s combined annual base salary and guideline (target) bonus as in effect immediately
prior to the Change of Control; or

(iii)

the Company requires the Participant to be based anywhere other than the Participant’s present work location or a location within
thirty-five (35) miles from the present location; or the Company requires the Participant to travel on Company business to an extent
substantially more burdensome than such Participant’s travel obligations during the period of twelve (12) consecutive months
immediately preceding the Change of Control;

provided, however, that in the case of any such termination of employment by the Participant under this subparagraph (d), such termination
shall not be deemed to be a Qualifying Termination unless the termination occurs within 120 days after the occurrence of the event or events
constituting the reason for the termination; or
(3)

before a Change of Control, a termination of employment by the Company, other than a termination for Cause, or a termination of
employment by the Participant for one of the reasons set forth in (2) above, if the affected Participant can demonstrate that such termination
or circumstance in (2) above leading to the termination:
(i)

was at the request of a third party with which the Company had entered into negotiations or an agreement with regard to a Change of
Control; or

(ii)

otherwise occurred in connection with a Change of Control;

provided, however, that in either such case, a Change of Control actually occurs within one (1) year following the Participant’s employment
termination date.
1.7

Termination of Employment.
(a)

Death, Disability or Retirement. The Committee has determined that, with regard to any particular Restricted Period, no portion of the Participant’s
Restricted Units, and related DERs, for such Restricted Period shall be forfeited as a result of the occurrence, prior to the end of that Restricted
Period, of either of the following:
(1)

the death of the Participant; or

(2)

the termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company by reason of retirement or permanent disability (as each is determined by
the Committee).

Instead, the Participant’s Restricted Units, and related DERs, earned for such Restricted Period shall remain and be paid out as though the Participant
had continued in the employment of the Company through the end of the applicable Restricted Period.
The Participant’s Restricted Units, and related DERs will remain subject to adjustment for any performance factors in accordance with the applicable
provisions of Exhibit 2006-I attached hereto, and will be paid out only as, if, and when the applicable performance goals have been met and the
Restricted Period has ended, just as though the Participant had continued in the employment of the Company through the end of the Restricted
Period.
(b)

Other Termination of Employment. Except as provided in Sections 1.6 and 1.7(a) above, or as determined by the Committee, upon termination of the
Participant’s employment with the Company at any time prior to the end of the Restricted Period, the Participant shall forfeit 100% of such
Participant’s Restricted Units, together with the related DERs, and the Participant shall not be entitled to receive any common units, representing
limited partnership interests of the Partnership, or any payment in respect of any DERs, regardless of the level of performance goals achieved for all
or any part of the Restricted Period.

(c)

Payment of Restricted Units to Specified Employees on Termination of Employment. Termination of a Participant’s employment, and all other
references herein to a Participant’s employment being terminated, shall mean such Participant’s separation from service as defined in Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations issued thereunder, and a Participant’s Employment Termination Date shall mean the date that a
Participant separates from service as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations issued thereunder. Notwithstanding any
other provisions of this Agreement, payment of any Restricted Unit (and related DER) to any Participant who is a Specified Employee on account of
such Participant’s Termination of Employment shall be made as follows:
(1)

Restricted Units scheduled to be paid for the period beginning on such Participant’s Employment Termination Date and ending on the date
six (6) months from such Participant’s Employment Termination Date, shall not be paid as scheduled, but shall be accumulated and paid in a
lump sum on the date six (6) months after the Participant’s Employment Termination Date. In the case of payments so delayed at the time of
a Participant’s Termination of Employment, all or a portion of a Participant’s Restricted Units may be converted, at the election of the
Participant, to the cash equivalent Fair Market Value of such units. Simple interest will be paid thereon from the date of such conversion to
the date of actual payment, at a rate equal to the prime rate of Citibank, N.A. as in effect from time to time after such due date.
ARTICLE II
GENERAL PROVISIONS

2.1

Non-Assignability. The Restricted Units and the related earned DERs covered by this Agreement shall not be assignable or transferable by the Participant,
except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, unless otherwise provided by the Committee. During the life of the Participant, the Restricted Units
and the related DERs covered by this Agreement shall be payable only to the Participant or the guardian or legal representative of such Participant, unless
the Committee provides otherwise.

2.2

Heirs and Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of, the Company and its successors and assigns, and upon any person
acquiring, whether by merger, consolidation, purchase of assets or otherwise, all or substantially all of the Company’s assets and business. In the event of
the Participant’s death prior to payment of the Restricted Units and/or the related DERs, payment may be made to the estate of the Participant to the extent
such payment is otherwise permitted by this Agreement. Subject to the terms of the Plan, any benefits distributable to the Participant under this Agreement
that are not paid at the time of the Participant’s death shall be paid at the time and in the form determined in accordance with the provisions of this
Agreement and the Plan, to the legal representative or representatives of the estate of the Participant.

2.3

No Right of Continued Employment. The receipt of this award does not give the Participant, and nothing in the Plan or in this Agreement shall confer
upon the Participant, any right to continue in the employment of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Nothing in the Plan or in this Agreement shall
affect any right which the Company or any of its subsidiaries may have to terminate the employment of the Participant. The payment of earned Restricted
Units, and the related DERs, under this Agreement shall not give the Company or any of its subsidiaries any right to the continued services of the
Participant for any period.

2.4

Rights as a Limited Partner. Neither the Participant nor any other person shall be entitled to

the privileges of ownership of common units, representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership, or otherwise have any rights as a limited partner,
by reason of the award of the Restricted Units covered by this Agreement or any Partnership common units, issuable in respect of such Restricted Units,
unless and until such common units have been validly issued to such Participant or such other person as fully paid common units, representing limited
partnership interests in the Partnership.
2.5

Registration of Common Units. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Restricted Units shall not be or become payable in whole or
in part unless a registration statement with respect to the common units subject thereto has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and
has become effective.

2.6

Tax Withholding. All distributions under this Agreement are subject to withholding of all applicable taxes.
(a)

Payment in Common Units. Immediately prior to the payment of any common units to Participant in respect of earned Restricted Units, the
Participant shall remit an amount sufficient to satisfy any Federal, state and/or local withholding tax due on the receipt of such common units. At
the election of the Participant, and subject to such rules as may be established by the Committee, such withholding obligations may be satisfied
through the surrender of common units representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership and otherwise payable to Participant in respect
of such earned Restricted Units.

(b)

Payment in Cash. Cash payments in respect of any earned Restricted Units, and/or the related DERs, shall be made net of any applicable federal,
state, or local withholding taxes.

2.7

Adjustments. In the event of any change in the outstanding common units by reason of a distribution, re-capitalization, merger, consolidation, split-up,
combination, exchange of common units or the like, an equitable and proportionate adjustment will be made to prevent dilution or enlargement of benefits
intended to be made available under the Plan, to offset any resultant change in the price of common units representing limited partnership interests in the
Partnership, and to preserve the intrinsic value of awards previously granted under the Plan.

2.8

Leaves of Absence. The Committee shall make such rules, regulations and determinations as it deems appropriate under the Plan in respect of any leave of
absence taken by the Participant. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee shall be entitled to determine:

2.9

(a)

whether or not any such leave of absence shall constitute a termination of employment within the meaning of the Plan; and

(b)

the impact, if any, of any such leave of absence on any prior awards made to the Participant under the Plan.

Administration. Pursuant to the Plan, the Committee is vested with conclusive authority to interpret and construe the Plan, to adopt rules and regulations
for carrying out the Plan, and to make determinations with respect to all matters relating to this Agreement, the Plan and awards made pursuant thereto. The
authority to manage and control the operation and administration of this Agreement shall be likewise vested in the Committee, and the Committee shall
have all powers with respect to this Agreement as it has with respect to the Plan. Any interpretation of this Agreement by the Committee, and any decision
made by the Committee with respect to this Agreement, shall be final and binding.

2.10 Effect of Plan; Construction. The entire text of the Plan is expressly incorporated herein by this reference and so forms a part of this Agreement. In the
event of any inconsistency or discrepancy between the provisions of this Restricted Unit Agreement and the terms and

conditions of the Plan under which such Restricted Units are granted, the provisions in the Plan shall govern and prevail. The Restricted Units, the related
DERs and this Agreement are each subject in all respects to, and the Company and the Participant each hereby agree to be bound by, all of the terms and
conditions of the Plan, as the same may have been amended from time to time in accordance with its terms; provided, however, that no such amendment
shall deprive the Participant, without such Participant’s consent, of any rights earned or otherwise due to Participant hereunder.
2.11 Amendment. This Agreement shall not be amended or modified except by an instrument in writing executed by both parties to this Agreement, without the
consent of any other person, as of the effective date of such amendment.
2.12 Captions. The captions at the beginning of each of the numbered Sections and Articles herein are for reference purposes only and will have no legal force
or effect. Such captions will not be considered a part of this Agreement for purposes of interpreting, construing or applying this Agreement and will not
define, limit, extend, explain or describe the scope or extent of this Agreement or any of its terms and conditions.
2.13 Governing Law. THE VALIDITY, CONSTRUCTION, INTERPRETATION AND EFFECT OF THIS INSTRUMENT SHALL EXCLUSIVELY BE
GOVERNED BY AND DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAW OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA (WITHOUT
GIVING EFFECT TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF), EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW,
WHICH SHALL GOVERN.
2.14 Notices. All notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto to be effective shall be in writing, by facsimile, by overnight courier or
by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid and return receipt requested. Notices to the Company shall be deemed to have been duly given or made
upon actual receipt by the Company. Such communications shall be addressed and directed to the parties listed below (except where this Agreement
expressly provides that it be directed to another) as follows, or to such other address or recipient for a party as may be hereafter notified by such party
hereunder:
(a) if to the Company:

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
Board of Directors
1735 Market Street, Suite LL
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 19103-7583
Attention: Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

(b) if to the Participant:

to the address for Participant as it appears on the Company’s records.

2.15 Severability. If any provision hereof is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be prohibited or unenforceable, it shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability, and such prohibition or unenforceability shall not invalidate the balance of such
provision to the extent it is not prohibited or unenforceable, nor invalidate the other provisions hereof.
2.16 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding and supersedes any and all other agreements, oral or written, between the parties
hereto, in respect of the subject matter of this Agreement and embodies the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.
[SIGNATURE PAGE FOLLOWS]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, have executed this Agreement as of the day first above written.
SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
By:
Deborah M. Fretz
President & Chief Executive Officer
By:
Participant

Exhibit 10.11.2
RESTRICTED UNIT AGREEMENT
under the
SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC LONG-TERM INCENTIVE PLAN
This Restricted Unit Agreement (the “Agreement”), entered into as of
(the “Agreement Date”), by and between Sunoco Partners LLC (the
“Company”) and
, an employee of the Company or one of its subsidiaries (the “Participant”);
W I T N E S S E T H:
WHEREAS, in order to make certain awards to key employees of the Company and its subsidiaries, the Company maintains the Sunoco Partners
LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan (the “Plan”); and
WHEREAS, the Plan is administered by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Committee”); and
WHEREAS, the Committee has determined to grant to Participant, pursuant to the terms and conditions of the Plan, an award (the “Award”) of
Restricted Units, representing rights to receive common units, representing limited partnership interests in of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (the
“Partnership”), which are subject to a risk of forfeiture by the Participant, with the payout of such Restricted Units being conditioned upon the Participant’s
continued employment with the Company through the end of a three-year restricted period (the “Restricted Period”); and
WHEREAS, the Participant has determined to accept such Award;
NOW, THEREFORE, the Company and the Participant, each intending to be legally bound hereby, agree as follows:
ARTICLE I
AWARD OF RESTRICTED UNITS
1.1

Identifying Provisions. For purposes of this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following respective meanings:
(a) Participant

:

(b) Date of Grant

:

(c) Number of Restricted Units

:

(d) Restricted Period

:

Any initially capitalized terms and phrases used in this Agreement but not otherwise defined herein, shall have the respective meanings ascribed to them in
the Plan.

1.2

Award of Restricted Units. Subject to the terms and conditions of the Plan and this Agreement, the Participant is hereby granted the number of Restricted
Units set forth herein at Section 1.1.

1.3

Distribution Equivalent Rights (“DERs”). The Participant shall be entitled to receive payment from the Company in an amount equal to each cash
distribution payable subsequent to the Date of Grant (each such entitlement being a distribution equivalent right or “DER”), just as though the Participant,
on the applicable record date for payment of such cash distribution, had been the holder of record of common units, representing limited partnership
interests in the Partnership, equal to the actual number of Restricted Units, if any, earned and received by the Participant at the end of the Restricted Period.
The Company shall establish a bookkeeping methodology to account for the distribution equivalents to be credited to the Participant in recognition of these
DERs. Such distribution equivalents will not bear interest.

1.4

Payment of Restricted Units and Related DERs. Full payout of the Award is conditioned only upon the Participant’s continued employment with the
Company throughout the Restricted Period beginning on
and ending on
. The full Award shall become vested and payable, if the Participant
is employed by the Company through the end of the -year Restricted Period.
(a)

(b)

Payment in respect of Restricted Units earned. Except as provided by Section 1.5 hereof, all payment for Restricted Units earned shall be made in
common units representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership. The number of common units paid shall be equal to the number of
Restricted Units earned; provided, however, that any fractional units shall be distributed as an amount of cash equal to the Fair Market Value of such
fractional unit on the date of payment. Payment shall be made within two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the calendar year in which such
Restricted Units become nonforfeitable.
Payment of Earned DERs. The Participant will be entitled to receive from the Company at the end of the Restricted Period, payment of an amount in
cash equal to the DERs earned. Payment of all DERs shall be made within two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the calendar year in which such
DERs become nonforfeitable.]

Applicable federal, state and local taxes shall be withheld in accordance with Section 2.6 hereof.
1.5

Change of Control.
(a)

Payment of Restricted Units. In the event of a Change of Control, the Restricted Units subject to this award will be paid to the Participant no later
than the earlier of ninety (90) days following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end
of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control. The number of Restricted Units paid out shall be equal to the total number
of Restricted Units outstanding in this award as of the Change of Control, regardless of whether the applicable Restricted Period has expired. The
Restricted Units subject to this award shall be payable to the Participant in cash or Units, as determined by the Committee prior to the Change of
Control, as follows:
(1)

if the Participant is to receive Units, the Participant will receive the total number of Units stated above in this Section 1.5(a); or

(2)

if the Participant is to receive cash, the Participant will be paid an amount in cash equal to the number of Units stated above in this
Section 1.5(a), multiplied by the Fair Market Value per Unit immediately prior to the Change of Control. Such amount will be reduced by the
applicable federal, state and local withholding taxes due.

(b)

Distribution Equivalents. On or before the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or the day
that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control, the Participant will
be paid an amount in cash equal to the value of the applicable DERs on the number of Units being paid pursuant to this Section 1.5(a) hereof, for the
time period immediately preceding the Change in Control.

(c)

Eligibility for Payout. Payout of Restricted Units and DERs shall be made to each Participant:
(1)

who is employed by the Company on the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or the
day that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control; or

(2)

whose employment relationship with the Company is terminated:
(A)

(B)

(d)

for Good Reason, or as a result of any Qualifying Termination prior to the earlier of the ninetieth (90th) day following the date of
occurrence of such Change in Control or the day that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the calendar year in
which occurs the date of such Change in Control; or
as a result of death, permanent disability or retirement (as each is determined by the Committee), that has occurred prior to the
ninetieth (90th) day following the date of occurrence of such Change in Control or the day that is two and one-half (2- 1/2) months
following the end of the calendar year in which occurs the date of such Change in Control.

Qualifying Termination—shall mean the following:
(1)

a termination of employment by the Company within six (6) months after a Change of Control, other than for Cause, death or permanent
disability;

(2)

a termination of employment by the Participant within six (6) months after a Change of Control for one or more of the following reasons:
(i)

the assignment to such Participant of any duties inconsistent in a way significantly adverse to such Participant, with such Participant’s
positions, duties, responsibilities and status with the Company immediately prior to the Change of Control, or a significant reduction
in the duties and responsibilities held by the Participant immediately prior to the Change of Control, in each case except in connection
with such Participant’s termination of employment by the Company for Cause; or

(ii)

a reduction by the Company in the Participant’s combined annual base salary and guideline (target) bonus as in effect immediately
prior to the Change of Control; or

(iii)

the Company requires the Participant to be based anywhere other than the Participant’s present work location or a location within

thirty-five (35) miles from the present location; or the Company requires the Participant to travel on Company business to an extent
substantially more burdensome than such Participant’s travel obligations during the period of twelve (12) consecutive months
immediately preceding the Change of Control;
provided, however, that in the case of any such termination of employment by the Participant under this subparagraph (d), such termination
shall not be deemed to be a Qualifying Termination unless the termination occurs within 120 days after the occurrence of the event or events
constituting the reason for the termination; or
(3)

before a Change of Control, a termination of employment by the Company, other than a termination for Cause, or a termination of
employment by the Participant for one of the reasons set forth in (2) above, if the affected Participant can demonstrate that such termination
or circumstance in (2) above leading to the termination:
(i)

was at the request of a third party with which the Company had entered into negotiations or an agreement with regard to a Change of
Control; or

(ii)

otherwise occurred in connection with a Change of Control;

provided, however, that in either such case, a Change of Control actually occurs within one (1) year following the Participant’s employment
termination date.
1.6

Termination of Employment.
(a)

Death, Disability or Retirement. The Committee has determined that, with regard to any particular Restricted Period, no portion of the Participant’s
Restricted Units, and related DERs, for such Restricted Period shall be forfeited as a result of the occurrence, prior to the end of that Restricted
Period, of either of the following:
(1)

the death of the Participant; or

(2)

the termination of the Participant’s employment with the Company by reason of retirement or permanent disability (as each is determined by
the Committee).

Instead, the Participant’s Restricted Units, and related DERs, earned for such Restricted Period shall remain and be paid out as though the Participant
had continued in the employment of the Company through the end of the applicable Restricted Period.
(b)

Other Termination of Employment. Except as provided in Sections 1.5 and 1.6(a) above, or as determined by the Committee, upon termination of the
Participant’s employment with the Company at any time prior to the end of the Restricted Period, the Participant shall forfeit 100% of such
Participant’s Restricted Units, together with the related DERs, and the Participant shall not be entitled to receive any common units, representing
limited partnership interests of the Partnership, or any payment in respect of any DERs.

(c)

Payment of Restricted Units to Specified Employees on Termination of Employment. Termination of a Participant’s employment, and all other
references herein to a Participant’s employment being terminated, shall mean such Participant’s separation from service as defined in Internal
Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations issued thereunder, and a Participant’s Employment Termination Date shall mean the date that a
Participant separates

from service as defined in Internal Revenue Code Section 409A and the regulations issued thereunder. Notwithstanding any other provisions of this
Agreement, payment of any Restricted Unit (and related DER) to any Participant who is a Specified Employee on account of such Participant’s
Termination of Employment shall be made as follows:
(1)

Restricted Units scheduled to be paid for the period beginning on such Participant’s Employment Termination Date and ending on the date
six (6) months from such Participant’s Employment Termination Date, shall not be paid as scheduled, but shall be accumulated and paid in a
lump sum on the date six (6) months after the Participant’s Employment Termination Date. In the case of payments so delayed at the time of
a Participant’s Termination of Employment, all or a portion of a Participant’s Restricted Units may be converted, at the election of the
Participant, to the cash equivalent Fair Market Value of such units. Simple interest will be paid thereon from the date of such conversion to
the date of actual payment, at a rate equal to the prime rate of Citibank, N.A. as in effect from time to time after such due date.
ARTICLE II
GENERAL PROVISIONS

2.1

Non-Assignability. The Restricted Units and the related earned DERs covered by this Agreement shall not be assignable or transferable by the Participant,
except by will or the laws of descent and distribution, unless otherwise provided by the Committee. During the life of the Participant, the Restricted Units
and the related DERs covered by this Agreement shall be payable only to the Participant or the guardian or legal representative of such Participant, unless
the Committee provides otherwise.

2.2

Heirs and Successors. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of, the Company and its successors and assigns, and upon any person
acquiring, whether by merger, consolidation, purchase of assets or otherwise, all or substantially all of the Company’s assets and business. In the event of
the Participant’s death prior to payment of the Restricted Units and/or the related DERs, payment may be made to the estate of the Participant to the extent
such payment is otherwise permitted by this Agreement. Subject to the terms of the Plan, any benefits distributable to the Participant under this Agreement
that are not paid at the time of the Participant’s death shall be paid at the time and in the form determined in accordance with the provisions of this
Agreement and the Plan, to the legal representative or representatives of the estate of the Participant.

2.3

No Right of Continued Employment. The receipt of this award does not give the Participant, and nothing in the Plan or in this Agreement shall confer
upon the Participant, any right to continue in the employment of the Company or any of its subsidiaries. Nothing in the Plan or in this Agreement shall
affect any right which the Company or any of its subsidiaries may have to terminate the employment of the Participant. The payment of earned Restricted
Units, and the related DERs, under this Agreement shall not give the Company or any of its subsidiaries any right to the continued services of the
Participant for any period.

2.4

Rights as a Limited Partner. Neither the Participant nor any other person shall be entitled to the privileges of ownership of common units, representing
limited partnership interests in the Partnership, or otherwise have any rights as a limited partner, by reason of the award of the Restricted Units covered by
this Agreement or any Partnership

common units, issuable in respect of such Restricted Units, unless and until such common units have been validly issued to such Participant, or such other
person, as fully paid common units, representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership.
2.5

Registration of Common Units. Notwithstanding any other provision of this Agreement, the Restricted Units shall not be or become payable in whole or
in part unless a registration statement with respect to the common units subject thereto has been filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission and
has become effective.

2.6

Tax Withholding. All distributions under this Agreement are subject to withholding of all applicable taxes.
(b)

Payment in Common Units. Immediately prior to the payment of any common units to Participant in respect of earned Restricted Units, the
Participant shall remit an amount sufficient to satisfy any Federal, state and/or local withholding tax due on the receipt of such common units. At the
election of the Participant, and subject to such rules as may be established by the Committee, such withholding obligations may be satisfied through
the surrender of common units representing limited partnership interests in the Partnership and otherwise payable to Participant in respect of such
earned Restricted Units.

(b)

Payment in Cash. Cash payments in respect of any earned Restricted Units, and/or the related DERs, shall be made net of any applicable federal,
state, or local withholding taxes.

2.7

Adjustments. In the event of any change in the outstanding common units by reason of a distribution of common units, re-capitalization, merger,
consolidation, split-up, combination, exchange of common units or the like, the Committee may appropriately adjust the number of common units which
may be issued under the Plan, the number of common units payable with respect to the Award, and/or any other Restricted Units previously granted under
the Plan, and any and all other matters deemed appropriate by the Committee.

2.8

Leaves of Absence. The Committee shall make such rules, regulations and determinations as it deems appropriate under the Plan in respect of any leave of
absence taken by the Participant. Without limiting the generality of the foregoing, the Committee shall be entitled to determine:

2.9

(a)

whether or not any such leave of absence shall constitute a termination of employment within the meaning of the Plan; and

(b)

the impact, if any, of any such leave of absence on any prior awards made to the Participant under the Plan.

Administration. Pursuant to the Plan, the Committee is vested with conclusive authority to interpret and construe the Plan, to adopt rules and regulations
for carrying out the Plan, and to make determinations with respect to all matters relating to this Agreement, the Plan and awards made pursuant thereto. The
authority to manage and control the operation and administration of this Agreement shall be likewise vested in the Committee, and the Committee shall
have all powers with respect to this Agreement as it has with respect to the Plan. Any interpretation of this Agreement by the Committee, and any decision
made by the Committee with respect to this Agreement, shall be final and binding.

2.10 Effect of Plan; Construction. The entire text of the Plan is expressly incorporated herein by this reference and so forms a part of this Agreement. In the
event of any

inconsistency or discrepancy between the provisions of this Restricted Unit Agreement and the terms and conditions of the Plan under which such
Restricted Units are granted, the provisions in the Plan shall govern and prevail. The Restricted Units, the related DERs and this Agreement are each
subject in all respects to, and the Company and the Participant each hereby agree to be bound by, all of the terms and conditions of the Plan, as the same
may have been amended from time to time in accordance with its terms; provided, however, that no such amendment shall deprive the Participant, without
such Participant’s consent, of any rights earned or otherwise due to Participant hereunder.
2.11 Amendment. This Agreement shall not be amended or modified except by an instrument in writing executed by both parties to this Agreement, without the
consent of any other person, as of the effective date of such amendment.
2.12 Captions. The captions at the beginning of each of the numbered Sections and Articles herein are for reference purposes only and will have no legal force
or effect. Such captions will not be considered a part of this Agreement for purposes of interpreting, construing or applying this Agreement and will not
define, limit, extend, explain or describe the scope or extent of this Agreement or any of its terms and conditions.
2.13 Governing Law. THE VALIDITY, CONSTRUCTION, INTERPRETATION AND EFFECT OF THIS INSTRUMENT SHALL EXCLUSIVELY BE
GOVERNED BY AND DETERMINED IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE LAW OF THE COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA (WITHOUT
GIVING EFFECT TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAW PRINCIPLES THEREOF), EXCEPT TO THE EXTENT PREEMPTED BY FEDERAL LAW,
WHICH SHALL GOVERN.
2.14 Notices. All notices, requests and demands to or upon the respective parties hereto to be effective shall be in writing, by facsimile, by overnight courier or
by registered or certified mail, postage prepaid and return receipt requested. Notices to the Company shall be deemed to have been duly given or made
upon actual receipt by the Company. Such communications shall be addressed and directed to the parties listed below (except where this Agreement
expressly provides that it be directed to another) as follows, or to such other address or recipient for a party as may be hereafter notified by such party
hereunder:
(a) if to the Company:

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
Board of Directors
1735 Market Street, Suite LL
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania, 19103-7583
Attention: Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary

(b) if to the Participant:

to the address for Participant as it appears on the Company’s records.

2.15 Severability. If any provision hereof is found by a court of competent jurisdiction to be prohibited or unenforceable, it shall, as to such jurisdiction, be
ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or unenforceability, and such prohibition or unenforceability shall not invalidate the balance of such
provision to the extent it is not prohibited or unenforceable, nor invalidate the other provisions hereof.
2.16 Entire Agreement. This Agreement constitutes the entire understanding and supersedes any and all other agreements, oral or written, between the parties
hereto, in respect of the subject matter of this Agreement and embodies the entire understanding of the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof.
[SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto, intending to be legally bound hereby, have executed this Agreement as of the day first above written.
SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
By:
Deborah M. Fretz
President & Chief Executive Officer
By:
Name:
Participant
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SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN
Amended and restated, effective as of October 20, 2007

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
ANNUAL INCENTIVE PLAN
1. Definitions. As used in this Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings herein specified:
1.1 Affiliate—means, with respect to any entity, any other entity that directly or indirectly, through one or more intermediaries, controls, is controlled
by or is under common control with, the entity in question. For purposes of this definition, “control” means the possession, direct or indirect, of the power
to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of an entity, whether through ownership of voting securities, by contract or otherwise.
1.2 Board of Directors—shall mean the Board of Directors of the Company.
1.3 Cause—shall mean
(a) fraud or embezzlement on the part of the Participant;
(b) conviction of or the entry of a plea of nolo contendere by the Participant to any felony;
(c) the willful and continued failure or refusal by the Participant to perform substantially the Participant’s duties with the Company or an
Affiliate thereof (other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness, or death, or following notice of employment
termination by the Participant pursuant to subsections 1.6(c)(1), (2), (3), (4) or (5)) within thirty (30) days following the delivery of a written demand
for substantial performance to the Participant by the Board of Directors, or any employee of the Company or an Affiliate with supervisory authority
over the Participant, that specifically identifies the manner in which the Board of Directors or such supervising employee believes that the
Participant has not substantially performed the Participant’s duties; or
(d) any act of willful misconduct by the Participant which:
(1) is intended to result in substantial personal enrichment of the Participant at the expense of the Partnership, the Company, or any
respective Affiliates thereof; or
(2) has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Partnership, the Company, or any respective Affiliate thereof
(such determination to be made by the Partnership, the Company, or any such Affiliate in the good faith exercise of its reasonable judgment).
1.4 Change of Control—shall mean, and shall be deemed to have occurred upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events:
(a) the consolidation, reorganization, merger or other transaction pursuant to which more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting
power of the outstanding equity interests in the Company cease to be owned by Sunoco, Inc. and its Affiliates;
(b) a “Change in Control” of Sunoco, as defined from time to time in the Sunoco stock plans; or
(c) the general partner (whether the Company or any other Person) of the Partnership ceases to be an Affiliate of Sunoco.

1.5 CIC Incentive Award—shall mean the incentive award payable in cash following a Change of Control, as described herein at Section 8.4.
1.6 CIC Participant—shall mean a Participant:
(a) whose employment was terminated by the Company (other than for cause) on or following the Change of Control, but before payment of
the CIC Incentive Award; or
(b) whose employment was terminated by the Company (other than for Cause) before the Change of Control, or
(c) who terminated employment for one of the following reasons:
(1) the assignment to such Participant of any duties inconsistent in a way significantly adverse to such Participant, with such
Participant’s positions, duties, responsibilities and status with the Company immediately prior to the Change of Control, or a significant
reduction in the duties and responsibilities held by the Participant immediately prior to the Change of Control, in each case except in
connection with such Participant’s termination of employment by the Company for Cause; or
(2) with respect to any Participant who is a member of the Company’s board of directors immediately prior to the Change of Control,
any failure of the members of the Company to elect or re-elect, or of the Company to appoint or re-appoint, the Participant as a member of
such board of directors; or
(3) a reduction by the Company in either the Participant’s annual base salary or guideline (target) bonus as in effect immediately prior
to the Change of Control; or
(4) the failure of the Company to provide the Participant with employee benefits and incentive compensation opportunities that: (i) are
not less favorable than those provided to other executives who occupy the same grade level at the Company as the Participant, or if the
Company’s grade levels are no longer applicable, to a similar peer group of the executives of the Company; and (ii) provide the Participant
with benefits that are at least as favorable, measured separately for: (A) incentive compensation opportunities, (B) savings and retirement
benefits, (C) welfare benefits, and (D) fringe benefits and vacation, as the most favorable of each such category of benefit in effect for the
Participant at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the Change of Control; or
(5) the Company requires the Participant to be based anywhere other than the Participant’s present work location or a location within
thirty-five (35) miles from the present location; or the Company requires the Participant to travel on Company business to an extent
substantially more burdensome than such Participant’s travel obligations during the period of twelve (12) consecutive months immediately
preceding the Change of Control;
provided, however, that in the case of a Participant whose employment terminates under either subsection 1.6(b) or (c), such Participant can
demonstrate that such termination, or circumstance leading to the termination, was at the request of a third party with which the Company had
entered into negotiations or an agreement regarding a Change of Control, or otherwise occurred in connection with a Change of Control; and further
provided, that in either case, the Change of Control actually occurs within one (1) year following the employment termination and, in the event of a
termination under 1.6(c), the termination

occurs within 120 days after the occurrence of the event or events constituting the reason for such termination; or
(d) who was, immediately before the Change of Control, eligible for a prorated award under the provisions of Section 8.3; or
(e) who was employed by the Company on the date of the Change of Control and who does not incur a termination for Cause before payment
of the CIC Incentive Award, in the event that, prior to the end of the calendar year in which the Change of Control occurred, either:
(1) the Plan is terminated; or
(2) the performance measures and/or performance targets for the applicable Plan Year are changed or modified, resulting in a decrease
in the amount of any CIC Incentive Award otherwise payable.
1.7 CIC Short Period—shall mean the portion of the Plan Year from January 1 to the date of the occurrence of a Change of Control.
1.8 Company—shall mean Sunoco Partners LLC, a Delaware limited liability company. The term “Company” shall include any successor to Sunoco
Partners LLC, any subsidiary or Affiliate that has adopted the Plan, or any company succeeding to the business of Sunoco Partners LLC by merger,
consolidation, liquidation, or purchase of assets or stock, or similar transaction.
1.9 Compensation Committee—shall mean the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors.
1.10 Participant—shall mean a person participating or eligible to participate in the Plan, as determined under Section 4.
1.11 Partnership—shall mean Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., a Delaware limited partnership, and its subsidiaries.
1.12 Plan—shall mean the Company’s Annual Incentive Plan as amended and restated effective as of April 21, 2005.
1.13 Plan Year—shall mean the performance (calendar) year.
1.14 Pro-rated Bonus Award — shall mean an amount equal to the award otherwise payable to a Participant for the Plan Year in which the
Participant’s termination of employment with the Company (other than for Cause) is effective, multiplied by a fraction the numerator of which is the
number of full and partial months in the applicable Plan Year through the date of termination of such Participant’s employment, and the denominator of
which is twelve (12).
2. Purpose. The purpose of this Plan is to motivate management and the employees of the Company and its Affiliates who perform services for the
Partnership to collectively produce outstanding results, encourage superior performance, increase productivity, and aid in attracting and retaining key employees.
3. Plan guidelines. The administration of the Plan and any potential awards granted pursuant to the Plan is subject to the determination by the
Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors that the performance goals for the applicable periods have been achieved. The Plan is an
additional compensation program designed to encourage Participants to exceed specified objective performance targets for the designated period. The
Compensation Committee will review the

Partnership’s performance results for the designated performance period, and thereafter will determine whether or not to approve awards under the Plan.
4. Performance Targets.
4.1 Designation of Performance Targets. The Company’s Chief Executive Officer shall recommend, subject to approval by the Company’s Compensation
Committee, the performance measures and performance targets to be used for each Plan Year in determining the bonus amounts to be paid under the Plan.
Performance targets may be based on Partnership, business unit and/or individual achievements, or any combination of these, or on such other factors as
the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, subject to the approval of the Compensation Committee, may determine. Different performance targets may be
established for different participants for any Plan Year. Satisfactory results, as determined by the Company’s Compensation Committee in its sole
discretion, must be achieved in order for an award to be made pursuant to the Plan.
4.2 Equitable Adjustment to Performance Targets. At its discretion, the Compensation Committee may adjust actual performance measure results for
extraordinary events or accounting adjustments resulting from significant asset purchases or dispositions or other events not contemplated or otherwise
considered by the Compensation Committee when the performance measures and targets were set.
5. Participants. The Compensation Committee, in consultation with the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, will designate members of management and
employees of the Company and its Affiliates as eligible to participate in the Plan. Employees so designated shall be referred to as “Participants.”
6. Participation Levels. A Participant’s designated level of participation in the Plan, or target bonus, will be determined under criteria established or
approved by the Compensation Committee for that Plan Year or designated performance period. Levels of participation in the Plan may vary according to a
Participant’s position and the relative impact such Participant can have on the Company’s and/or Affiliates’ operations. Care will be used in communicating to
any participant his performance targets and potential performance amount for a Plan Year. The amount of target bonus a participant may receive for any Plan
Year, if any, will depend upon the performance level achieved (unless waived) for that Plan Year, as determined by the Compensation Committee. No Participant
shall have any claim to be granted any award under the Plan, and there is no obligation for uniformity of treatment of Participants. The terms and conditions of
awards need not be the same respecting each Participant.
7. Award Payout. Awards typically will be determined after the end of the Plan Year or designated performance period. Awards will be paid in cash
annually, unless otherwise determined by the Compensation Committee. The Compensation Committee will have the discretion, by Participant and by grant, to
reduce (but not to increase) some or all of the amount of any award that otherwise would be payable by reason of the satisfaction of the applicable performance
targets. In making any such determination, the Compensation Committee is authorized to take into account any such factor or factors it determines are
appropriate, including but not limited to Company, business unit and individual performance; provided, however, that the exercise of such negative discretion with
respect to one Participant may not be used to increase the amount of any award otherwise payable to another Participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, payment
of awards will be made within two and one-half (2- 1/2) months following the end of the Plan Year.

8. Termination of Employment.
8.1 Voluntary Termination. Except in the event of a Change of Control, if a Participant terminates his or her employment with the Company for any
reason (other than retirement, death, permanent disability, or approved leave of absence), including transfer of employment to Sunoco, Inc. (or any
subsidiary thereof that is not also a subsidiary of the Company) prior to December 31 of any Plan Year, such Participant will not receive payment of the
award for such Plan Year, and will forfeit any right, title or interest in such award, unless and to the extent waived by the Compensation Committee in its
sole discretion; provided, however, that a Participant who is eligible to receive payment of retirement benefits under the Sunoco, Inc. Retirement Plan, and
who terminates voluntarily his or her employment with the Company prior to December 31 of any Plan Year, will be paid a Pro-Rated Bonus Award, as
provided in Section 8.3, hereof.
8.2 Termination for Cause. A Participant will not receive payment of any award for a particular Plan Year if the Participant’s employment with the
Company is terminated for Cause prior to the payment of such award.
8.3 Death, Retirement, Disability, Leaves of Absence, Etc. A Pro-rated Bonus Award, reflecting participation for a portion of the Plan Year, will be
paid to any Participant whose employment status changed during the year as a result of:
(a) death;
(b) permanent disability (as determined by the Committee);
(c) retirement;
(d) voluntary termination, or resignation, of employment by a Participant who, at the time of such voluntary termination or resignation, is
eligible to receive payment of retirement benefits under the Sunoco, Inc. Retirement Plan;
(e) approved leave of absence; or
(f) termination at the Company’s request (other than for Cause), for Participants in salary Grade 11 or above on the employment termination
date.
New hires and part-time employees also will receive a Pro-rated Bonus Award. Unless otherwise required by applicable law, any Pro-rated Bonus Award
payable hereunder will be paid on the date when awards are otherwise payable as provided in the Plan.
8.4 Change of Control. Upon the occurrence of a Change of Control, the terms of this Section 8.4 shall immediately become operative, without further
action or consent by any person or entity, and once operative shall supersede and control over any other provisions of this Plan.:
(a) Acceleration. The CIC Incentive Award shall be payable in cash to all CIC Participants within thirty (30) days following the occurrence of
a Change of Control (or as soon as it is practicable to determine the level of attainment of applicable performance targets under subsection 8.4(a)(1))
, but in no event later than two and one-half (2 1/2) months following the end of the Plan Year in which the Change of Control occurred). Such award
shall be calculated according to the terms of the Plan, except as follows:
(1) the level of attainment of applicable performance targets shall be determined based upon the performance of the Partnership for
completed months from January 1 through the date of the Change of Control.
(2) The amount of the CIC Incentive Award shall be equal to the respective award adjusted to reflect the level of attainment of
applicable

performance targets, multiplied by the number of full and partial months in the CIC Short Period divided by twelve (12).
(3) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, no action taken by the Compensation Committee or the Board of Directors after a
Change of Control, or before, but in connection with, a Change of Control, may: (i) terminate or reduce the CIC Incentive Award or
prospective CIC Incentive Award payable to any Participant in connection with such Change of Control without the express written consent
of such Participant; or (ii) adversely affect a Participant’s rights under subsection 8.4(b) in connection with such Change of Control.
(b) Attorney’s Fees. The Company shall pay all reasonable legal fees and related expenses incurred by or with respect to a Participant during
his lifetime or within ten (10) years after his death in seeking to obtain or enforce payment of the CIC Incentive Award to which such Participant
may be entitled under the Plan after a Change of Control; provided, however, that the Participant (or a Participant’s representative) shall be required
to repay any such amounts to the Company to the extent a court of competent jurisdiction issues a final and non-appealable order setting forth the
determination that the position taken by the Participant (or a Participant’s representative) was frivolous or advanced in bad faith. Reimbursement
shall be made on or before the close of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the expense was incurred. The amount of expenses
eligible for reimbursement under this provision in one calendar year may not affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement under this
provision in any other calendar year.
9. Amendment and Termination. The Company’s Compensation Committee, at its sole discretion, may amend the Plan or terminate the Plan at any time.
(except as otherwise set forth in Section 8.4).
10. Administration. The Compensation Committee may delegate the responsibility for the administration and operation of the Plan to the Chief Executive
Officer (or designee) of the Company or any participating Affiliate. The Compensation Committee (or the person(s) to which administrative authority has been
delegated) shall have the authority to interpret and construe any and all provisions of the Plan, including all performance targets and whether and to what extent
achieved. Any determination made by the Compensation Committee (or the person(s) to which administrative authority has been delegated) shall be final and
conclusive and binding on all persons.
11. Indemnification. Neither the Company, any participating Affiliate, nor the Board of Directors, or any member or any committee thereof, of the
Company or any participating Affiliate, nor any employee of the Company or any participating Affiliate shall be liable for any act, omission, interpretation,
construction or determination made in connection with the Plan in good faith; and the members of the Company’s Board of Directors, the Compensation
Committee and/or the employees of the Company or any participating Affiliate shall be entitled to indemnification and reimbursement by the Company to the
maximum extent permitted by law in respect of any claim, loss, damage or expense (including counsel’s fees) arising from their acts, omission and conduct in
their official capacity with respect to the Plan.
12. General provisions.
12.1 Non-Guarantee of Employment. Nothing contained in this Plan shall be construed as a contract of employment between the Company and/or a
participating Affiliate and a Participant, and nothing in this Plan shall confer upon any Participant any right to continued

employment with the Company or a participating Affiliate, or to interfere with the right of the Company or a participating Affiliate to terminate a
Participant’s employment, with or without cause.
12.2 Interests Not Transferable. No benefits under the Plan shall be subject in any manner to alienation, sale, transfer, assignment, pledge, attachment
or other legal process, or encumbrance of any kind, and any attempt to do so shall be void.
12.3 Facility Payment. Any amounts payable hereunder to any person under legal disability or who, in the judgment of the Compensation Committee
or its designee, is unable to properly manage his or her financial affairs, may be paid to the legal representative of such person, or may be applied for the
benefit of such person in any manner which the Compensation Committee or its designee may select, and each participating Affiliate shall be relieved of
any further liability for payment of such amounts.
12.4 Controlling Law. To the extent not superseded by federal law, the law of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania shall be controlling in all matters
relating to the Plan.
12.5 No Rights to Award. No person shall have any claim to be granted any award under the Plan, and there is no obligation for uniformity of
treatment of participants. The terms and conditions of awards need not be the same with respect to each recipient.
12.6 Severability. If any Plan provision or any award is or becomes or is deemed to be invalid, illegal, or unenforceable in any jurisdiction or as to
any person or award, or would disqualify the Plan or any award under the law deemed applicable by the Compensation Committee, such provision shall be
construed or deemed amended to conform to the applicable laws, or if it cannot be construed or deemed amended without, in the determination of the
Compensation Committee, materially altering the intent of the Plan or the award, such provision shall be stricken as to such jurisdiction, person or award
and the remainder of the Plan and any such award shall remain in full force and effect.
12.7 No Trust or Fund Created. Neither the Plan nor any award shall create or be construed to create a trust or separate fund of any kind or a
fiduciary relationship between the Company or any participating Affiliate and a Participant or any other person. To the extent that any person acquires a
right to receive payments from the Company or any participating Affiliate pursuant to an award, such right shall be no greater than the right of any general
unsecured creditor of the Company or any participating Affiliate.
12.8 Headings. Headings are given to the sections of the Plan solely as a convenience to facilitate reference. Such headings shall not be deemed in
any way material or relevant to the construction or interpretation of the Plan or any provision of it.
12.9 Tax Withholding. The Company and/or any participating Affiliate may deduct from any payment otherwise due under this Plan to a Participant
(or beneficiary) amounts required by law to be withheld for purposes of federal, state or local taxes.
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SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
DIRECTORS’ DEFERRED COMPENSATION PLAN
Amended and restated, effective as of October 20, 2007

ARTICLE I
Definitions
As used in this Plan, the following terms shall have the meanings herein specified:
1.1 Change in Control—shall mean, and shall be deemed to have occurred, upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events:
(a) any sale, lease, exchange or other transfer (in one transaction or a series of related transactions) of all or substantially all of the assets of the
Company or the Partnership to any Person or its Affiliates, other than to Sunoco or any Affiliate of Sunoco;
(b) the consolidation, reorganization, merger or other transaction pursuant to which more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of
the outstanding equity interests in the Company cease to be owned by Sunoco and its Affiliates;
(c) a “Change in Control” of Sunoco, as defined from time to time in the Sunoco stock plans; or
(d) the general partner (whether the Company or any other Person) of the Partnership ceases to be an Affiliate of Sunoco.
1.2 Committee—shall mean the entire board of directors of the Company acting as an administrative committee of the whole, or such other committee of
the Board as may be appointed from time to time for purposes of administering this Plan
1.3 Common Unit—shall mean a common unit, representing a limited partnership interest in the Partnership.
1.4 Company—shall mean Sunoco Partners LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company. The term “Company” shall include any successor to Sunoco
Partners LLC, any subsidiary or affiliate which has adopted the Plan, or an entity that succeeds to the business of Sunoco Partners LLC, or any subsidiary or
affiliate, by merger, consolidation, liquidation or purchase of assets or stock or similar transaction.
1.5 Compensation—shall mean those fees and retainers payable by the Company to a Participant in consideration for service as a Director.
1.6 DER (or Distribution Equivalent Right)—shall mean, with regard to a specific Restricted Unit (whether held in a Voluntary Deferred Compensation
Account or in a Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account), the contingent right to receive an amount in cash equal to the cash distributions made by the
Partnership with respect to a Common Unit during the period such Restricted Unit is outstanding.
1.7 Director—shall mean a member of the Board of Directors of Sunoco Partners LLC.
1.8 Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account—shall mean, with respect to any Participant, the total amount of the Company’s liability for payment of
compensation mandatorily deferred by the Participant under this Plan.

1.9 Mandatory Form of Continuing Deferral—shall mean and refer to the written commitment by a Participant, in the form prescribed by the Committee,
to mandatorily defer the payment of all of the Board Restricted Unit Retainer awarded to such Participant under this Plan pursuant to Article IV hereof.
1.10 Participant—shall mean a Director, or former Director, who either voluntarily has elected to defer, or is required mandatorily to defer, the receipt of
Compensation in accordance with the terms of this Plan.
1.11 Partnership—shall mean Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., a Delaware limited partnership.
1.12 Plan—shall mean this Sunoco Partners LLC Directors’ Deferred Compensation Plan, as it may be amended from time to time.
1.13 Restricted Unit—shall mean a phantom, or notional, unit (equivalent in value and in cash distribution rights to a Common Unit), entered as a credit in
either the Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account, or the Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account of a Participant and which, upon death, retirement or
termination of Board service (for mandatorily deferred compensation) or upon earlier payout under the terms of this Plan (for voluntarily deferred compensation),
entitles the Participant to receive a Common Unit.
1.14 Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account—shall mean, with respect to any Participant, the total amount of the Company’s liability for payment to
the Participant of voluntarily deferred compensation under this Plan, including any payments in respect of DERs.
1.15 Voluntary Deferred Payment Election Form—shall mean and refer to the written election by a Participant, in the form prescribed by the Committee, to
voluntarily defer the payment of all or a portion of such Participant’s Compensation under this Plan pursuant to Article II hereof.
ARTICLE II
Voluntary Deferral of Directors’ Compensation
2.1 Election to Defer. Prior to the beginning of each calendar year beginning after December 31, 2004, a Participant may elect voluntarily to defer in the
form of Restricted Units, all or a portion of the cash-based Compensation attributable to services to be performed by the Participant in the next succeeding
calendar year, by filing a written notice of election with the Committee on the form(s) prescribed by the Committee. Any such voluntary deferral election shall
apply only to cash-based Compensation attributable to services to be performed during the calendar year following the calendar year in which the election is
received by the Secretary of the Company. An election to defer, made in accordance with this Article II shall be irrevocable as of December 31 of the year
preceding the calendar year in which the Participant performs the services to which the cash-based Compensation is attributable. All elections made by Directors
on or before December 31, 2004 with respect to cash-based Compensation attributable to services performed in calendar year 2005, to the extent inconsistent with
the terms of the Plan, shall be limited by and administered in accordance with, the terms of the Plan. A separate election form shall be filed for each calendar year.
The deferral election form(s) also will permit the Participant to specify:
(a) the percentage of cash-based Compensation to be deferred; and

(b) the designation of a beneficiary as set forth in Article V.
2.2 Amount of Deferral. The amount of cash-based Compensation to be voluntarily deferred shall be designated by the Participant as a percentage of such
cash-based Compensation in multiples of five percent (5%) but shall not be less than ten percent (10%).
2.3 Time of Election. An election to defer must be filed and received by the Secretary of the Company by the end of the calendar year preceding the
calendar year in which the services are performed to which the cash-based Compensation is attributable. A new Director also may elect to defer cash-based
Compensation attributable to his or her first year of Board service prior to the commencement of his or her term in office, and such election shall be irrevocable as
of the date immediately preceding such Director’s commencement of his or her term in office.
ARTICLE III
Voluntary Deferred Compensation Accounts
3.1 Creation of Voluntary Deferred Compensation Accounts. Cash-based Compensation voluntarily deferred hereunder shall be credited to a Voluntary
Deferred Compensation Account established by the Company for each Participant. The portion of cash-based Compensation thus voluntarily deferred by the
Participant shall be converted into a number of Restricted Units credited to a Participant’s Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account as set forth in the Plan.
3.2 Crediting Restricted Units. Restricted Units shall be credited to a Participant’s Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account at the time the cash-based
Compensation otherwise would have been paid had no election to defer been made. The number of Restricted Units to be credited to the Voluntary Deferred
Compensation Account shall be determined by dividing the cash-based Compensation by the average closing price for Common Units as published in the Wall
Street Journal under the caption “New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions” for the period of ten (10) trading days immediately prior to the day on
which the cash-based Compensation otherwise would have been paid. Any fractional Restricted Units also shall be credited to a Participant’s Voluntary Deferred
Compensation Account. The number of Restricted Units in a Participant’s Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account shall be adjusted appropriately by the
Committee in the event of changes in the Partnership’s outstanding Common Units by reason of any distribution, re-capitalization, merger, consolidation, split-up,
combination, exchange of units or the like, and such adjustments shall be conclusive. Crediting of Restricted Units to a Participant’s Voluntary Deferred
Compensation Account shall not entitle the Participant to the rights of a limited partner of the Partnership or holder of Partnership Common Units.
3.3 Crediting DERs. For each Restricted Unit in the Participant’s Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account, the Company shall credit such account with
an amount, in respect of DERs, equal to the cash distributions declared on a Common Unit of the Partnership. The crediting shall occur as of the date on which
such cash distributions on the Common Units are paid. The number of Restricted Units to be credited to the Participant’s Voluntary Deferred Compensation
Account shall be calculated by dividing the number of DERs by the average closing price for the Partnership’s Common Units as published in the Wall Street
Journal under the caption “New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions” for the period of ten (10) trading days prior to the day on which the cash
distributions are paid on the Partnership’s Common Units. Any fractional Restricted Units also shall be credited to the Participant’s Voluntary Deferred
Compensation Account.

3.4 Time of Payment. Except as provided in Article VII hereof, all payments of a Participant’s Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account shall be made on
the later of: (a) the first day of the calendar year following the date of the Participant’s separation from Board service, or (b) the first day following the six
(6) month anniversary of the Participant’s separation from Board service. Upon the death of a Participant prior to the final payment of all amounts credited to his
or her Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account, the balance of his or her Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account shall be paid in accordance with Article
V, on the latest of: (c) the first day of the calendar year following the year of death, (d) the first day following the six (6) month anniversary of the Participant’s
separation from Board service, or (e) the date that is thirty (30) days after the Participant’s death. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 3.4,
and except as provided in Article VII, in no event shall any payment or distribution be made within six (6) months of the cash-based Compensation being earned
or awarded.
3.5 Method of Payment. A Participant in this portion of the Plan shall receive payment in a lump sum in cash of all voluntarily deferred cash-based
Compensation credited to such Participant’s Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account. Restricted Units credited to the Participant’s Mandatory Deferred
Compensation Account shall be valued at the average closing price for Common Units as published in the Wall Street Journal under the caption “New York Stock
Exchange Composite Transactions” for the period of ten (10) trading days immediately prior to each new calendar year.
ARTICLE IV
Mandatory Deferred Compensation Accounts
4.1 Creation of Mandatory Deferred Compensation Accounts. Compensation deferred under this Article IV shall be credited, in the form of Restricted
Units, to a Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account established by the Company for each Participant. Payout of such Mandatory Deferred Compensation
Accounts shall commence as provided in Section 4.4.
4.2 Crediting Restricted Units. If the Committee elects to do so, each Participant serving as a director of the Company, but who is not also an employee of
the Company, or any subsidiary or affiliate thereof, will be paid, in quarterly installments, an aggregate annual dollar amount (the “Board Restricted Unit
Retainer”) to be credited to a Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account in the form of Restricted Units. The number of Restricted Units to be
credited quarterly to the Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account shall be determined by dividing the Board Restricted Unit quarterly installment
cash amount by the average closing price for Common Units as published in the Wall Street Journal under the caption “New York Stock Exchange Composite
Transactions” for the period of ten (10) trading days immediately prior to the day on which the quarterly installment payment is due. The number of Restricted
Units in a Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account shall be adjusted appropriately by the Committee in the event of changes in the Partnership’s
outstanding Common Units by reason of any distribution, re-capitalization, merger, consolidation, split-up, combination, exchange of units or the like, and such
adjustments shall be conclusive. Crediting of Restricted Units to a Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account shall not entitle the Participant to the
rights of a limited partner of the Partnership or holder of Partnership Common Units.

4.3 Crediting DERs. For each Restricted Unit in the Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account, the Company shall credit such account with
an amount, in respect of DERs, equal to the cash distributions declared on a Common Unit of the Partnership. The crediting shall occur as of the date on which
such cash distributions on the Common Units are paid. The number of Restricted Units to be credited to the Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation
Account shall be calculated by dividing the number of DERs by the average closing price for the Partnership’s Common Units as published in the Wall Street
Journal under the caption “New York Stock Exchange Composite Transactions” for the period of ten (10) trading days prior to the day on which the cash
distributions are paid on the Partnership’s Common Units. Any fractional Restricted Units also shall be credited to the Participant’s Mandatory Deferred
Compensation Account.
4.4 Time of Payment. Except as provided in Article VII hereof, all payments of a Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account shall be made
on the later of: (a) the first day of the calendar year following the date of the Participant’s separation from Board service, or (b) the first day following the six
(6) month anniversary of the Participant’s separation from Board service. Upon the death of a Participant prior to the final payment of all amounts credited to his
or her Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account, the balance of his or her Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account shall be paid in accordance with Article
V, on the latest of: (c) the first day of the calendar year following the year of death, (d) the first day following the six (6) month anniversary of the Participant’s
separation from Board service, or (e) the date that is thirty (30) days after the Participant’s death. Notwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 4.4,
and except as provided in Article VII, in no event shall any payment or distribution be made within six (6) months of any quarterly installment of the Board
Restricted Unit Retainer being earned.
4.5 Method of Payment. A Participant in this portion of the Plan shall receive payment in a lump sum in cash of all mandatorily deferred Compensation
credited to such Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account. Restricted Units credited to the Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation
Account shall be valued at the average closing price for Common Units as published in the Wall Street Journal under the caption “New York Stock Exchange
Composite Transactions” for the period of ten (10) trading days immediately prior to each new calendar year.
ARTICLE V
Designation of Beneficiaries
5.1 Designation of Beneficiary. The Participant shall name one or more beneficiaries and contingent beneficiaries to receive any payments due Participant
at the time of death. No designation of beneficiaries shall be valid unless in writing signed by the Participant, dated and filed with the Committee during the
lifetime of such Participant. A subsequent beneficiary designation will cancel all beneficiary designations signed and filed earlier under this Plan, and such new
beneficiary designation shall be applied to all amounts previously credited to the Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account (and/or Voluntary
Deferred Compensation Account, as the case may be), as well as to any amounts to be credited to such Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account
(and/or Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account, as the case may be), prospectively. In case of a failure of designation, or the death of the designated
beneficiary without a designated successor, distribution shall be paid in one lump sum to the estate of the Participant.

5.2 Spouse’s Interest. The interest in any amounts hereunder of a spouse who has predeceased the Participant shall automatically pass to the Participant and
shall not be transferable by such spouse in any manner, including but not limited to such spouse’s will, nor shall such interest pass under the laws of intestate
succession.
5.3 Survivor Benefits. Upon the Participant’s death, any balances in the Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account and/or Voluntary
Deferred Compensation Account shall be paid in a lump sum to the designated beneficiary(ies).
ARTICLE VI
Source of Payments
All payments of deferred Compensation shall be paid in cash from the general funds of the Company and the Company shall be under no obligation to
segregate any assets in connection with the maintenance of any Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account or Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account, nor
shall anything contained in this Plan nor any action taken pursuant to the Plan create or be construed to create a trust of any kind, or a fiduciary relationship
between the Company and Participant. Title to the beneficial ownership of any assets, whether cash or investments, that the Company may designate to pay the
amount credited to a Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account or a Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account shall at all times remain in the Company and
Participant shall not have any property interest whatsoever in any specific assets of the Company. Participant’s interest in any Mandatory Deferred Compensation
Account or Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account shall be limited to the right to receive payments pursuant to the terms of this Plan and such rights to
receive shall be no greater than the right of any other unsecured general creditor of the Company.
ARTICLE VII
Change in Control
7.1 Effect of Change in Control on Payment. Anything to the contrary in this Plan notwithstanding, at any time prior to the calendar year in which the
services are performed to which Compensation is attributable, a Participant may make an election (a “Change in Control Election”) (which shall be irrevocable as
of December 31 of the year preceding the calendar year for which it is made) to receive, in a single lump sum payment, upon the occurrence of a Change in
Control (provided that the Change in Control also is a change in control for purposes of IRC Section 409A, as amended, and the regulations issued thereunder),
the balance of such Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account and/or Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account attributable to such
Compensation, determined as of the valuation date immediately preceding the Change in Control. Each such election shall be in writing and in conformity with
such rules as may be prescribed by the Committee.

7.2 Amendment on or after Change in Control. On or after a Change in Control, or before, but in connection with, a Change in Control, no action shall be
taken that would affect adversely the rights of any Participant or the operation of this Article VII with respect to the balance in the Participant’s Accounts
immediately before such action, including, by way of example and not of limitation, the amendment, suspension or termination of the Plan.
7.3 Attorney’s Fees. The Company shall pay all legal fees and related expenses incurred by or with respect to a Participant during his lifetime or within ten
(10) years after his death in seeking to obtain or enforce any payment, benefit or right such Participant may be entitled to under the Plan after a Change in
Control. Reimbursement shall be made on or before the close of the calendar year following the calendar year in which the expense was incurred. The amount of
expenses eligible for reimbursement under this provision in one calendar year may not affect the amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement under this
provision in any other calendar year. The Participant (or the Participant’s representative) shall reimburse the Company for such fees and expenses at such time as
a court of competent jurisdiction, or another independent third party having similar authority, determines that the Participant’s (or the Participant’s
representative’s) claim was frivolously brought without reasonable expectation of success on the merits thereof.
ARTICLE VIII
Miscellaneous
8.1 Nonalienation of Benefits. Participant shall not have the right to sell, assign, transfer or otherwise convey or encumber in whole or in part the right to
receive any payment under this Plan except in accordance with Article V.
8.2 Acceptance of Terms. The terms and conditions of this Plan shall be binding upon the heirs, beneficiaries and other successors in interest of Participant
to the same extent that said terms and conditions are binding upon the Participant.
8.3 Administration of the Plan. The Plan shall be administered by the Committee which may make such rules and regulations and establish such procedures
for the administration of this Plan as it deems appropriate. In the event of any dispute or disagreements as to the interpretation of this Plan or of any rule,
regulation or procedure or as to any questioned right or obligation arising from or related to this Plan, the decision of the Committee shall be final and binding
upon all persons.
8.4 Termination and Amendment. The Plan may be terminated at any time by the Board of Directors of Sunoco Partners LLC, and may be amended at any
time by the Committee; provided, however, that, without the prior written consent of the Participant, no such amendment or termination shall affect adversely the
rights of any Participant or beneficiary of a Participant with respect to amounts credited to such Participant’s Mandatory Deferred Compensation Account and/or
Voluntary Deferred Compensation Account prior to such amendment or termination.
8.5 Severability. In the case any one or more of the provisions contained in this Plan shall be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect the remaining
provisions shall be construed in order to effectuate the purposes hereof and the validity, legality and enforceability of the remaining provisions contained herein
shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby.

8.6 Governing Law. THIS PLAN SHALL BE CONSTRUED IN ACCORDANCE WITH AND GOVERNED BY THE LAWS OF THE
COMMONWEALTH OF PENNSYLVANIA, WITHOUT GIVING EFFECT TO THE CONFLICTS OF LAWS PRINCIPLES THEREOF.
8.7 Amounts Included in Income Under IRC Section 409A. Upon a determination that any amounts deferred under the Plan are included in the gross income
of a Participant pursuant to IRC Section 409A, as amended, and the regulations issued thereunder, such amounts shall be distributed to the Participant.
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SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
SPECIAL EXECUTIVE SEVERANCE PLAN
(Amended and restated as of October 20, 2007)

ARTICLE I
DEFINITIONS
1.1 “Annual Compensation”—shall mean a Participant’s annual base salary as in effect immediately prior to the Change of Control, or, if greater,
immediately prior to the Employment Termination Date, plus the greater of (x) the Participant’s annual guideline (target) bonus as in effect immediately before
the Change of Control or, if higher, the Employment Termination Date, or (y) the highest annual bonus awarded to the Participant with respect to any of the three
years ending before the Change of Control or any subsequent year ending before the Employment Termination Date.
1.2 “Benefit” or “Benefits”—shall mean any or all of the benefits that a Participant is entitled to receive pursuant to Article III of the Plan.
1.3 “Benefit Extension Period”—shall mean:
(a) for the Chief Executive Officer, three years; and
(b) for each other Executive Employee, two years.
1.4 “Cause”—shall mean:
(a) fraud or embezzlement on the part of the Participant;
(b) conviction of or the entry of a plea of nolo contendere by the Participant to any felony;
(c) the willful and continued failure or refusal by the Participant to perform substantially the Participant’s duties with the Company or an affiliate
(other than any such failure resulting from incapacity due to physical or mental illness, or death, or following notice of employment termination by the
Participant pursuant to subsections 1.18(b)(1), (2), (3) or (4)) within thirty (30) days following the delivery of a written demand for substantial performance
to the Participant by the board of directors, or any employee of the Company or an affiliate with supervisory authority over the Participant, that specifically
identifies the manner in which the Company’s board of directors or such supervising employee believes that the Participant has not substantially performed
the Participant’s duties; or
(d) any act of willful misconduct by the Participant which:
(1) is intended to result in substantial personal enrichment of the Participant at the expense of the Partnership, the Company, or any respective
affiliates thereof; or
(2) has a material adverse impact on the business or reputation of the Partnership, the Company, or any respective affiliate thereof (such
determination to be made by the Partnership, the Company, or any such affiliate in the good faith exercise of its reasonable judgment).
Disputes with respect to whether “Cause” exists shall be resolved in accordance with Article V.
1.5 “Change of Control”—shall mean, and shall be deemed to have occurred upon the occurrence of one or more of the following events:
(a) the consolidation, reorganization, merger or other transaction pursuant to which more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of
the outstanding equity interests in the Company cease to be owned by Sunoco, Inc. and its affiliates;

(b) a “Change in Control” of Sunoco, as defined from time to time in the Sunoco stock plans; or
(c) the general partner (whether the Company or any other Person) of the Partnership ceases to be an affiliate of Sunoco.
1.6 “Chief Executive Officer”—shall mean the individual serving as the Chief Executive Officer of Sunoco Partners LLC, as of the date of reference.
1.7 “Committee”—shall mean the administrative committee designated pursuant to Article IV of the Plan to administer the Plan in accordance with its
terms.
1.8 “Company”—shall mean Sunoco Partners LLC, Inc., a Pennsylvania limited liability company, and Sunoco Lease Acquisition & Marketing LLC, a
Delaware limited liability company and subsidiary of Sunoco Partners LLC, and any successors thereto.
1.9 “Company Service”—shall mean, for purposes of determining Benefits available to any Participant in this Plan, the total aggregate recorded length of
such Participant’s service with the Company, including service prior to February 8, 2002 with Sunoco,. Inc., or any affiliate thereof, as predecessor in interest to
operations of the Company. Company Service shall commence with the Participant’s initial date of employment and shall end with such Participant’s death,
retirement, or termination for any reason. Company Service also shall include:
(a) all periods of approved leave of absence (personal, family, medical, or military); provided, however, that the Participant returns to work within the
prescribed time following the leave;
(b) any break in service of thirty (30) days or less; and
(c) any service credited under applicable Company policies with respect to the length of a Participant’s employment by any non-affiliated entity that
is subsequently acquired by, and becomes a part of, the Company’s operations.
1.10 “Compensation Committee”—shall mean the Compensation Committee of Sunoco Partners LLC’s board of directors.
1.11 “Disability”—shall mean any illness, injury or incapacity of such duration and type as to render a Participant eligible to receive long-term disability
benefits under the applicable broad-based long-term disability program of the Company.
1.12 “Employment Termination Date”—shall mean the date on which a Participant separates from service as defined in Section 409A of the Internal
Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) and the regulations issued thereunder; provided, however, that a separation from service as described above shall
not be deemed to have occurred if the Participant subsequently is hired by Sunoco, Inc., or an affiliate thereof, in connection with a Change of Control.
1.13 “ERISA”—shall mean the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended.
1.14 “Executive Employee”—shall mean the Chief Executive Officer; the Chief Financial Officer; the Vice President, Operations; the Vice President,
Business Development; the Vice President, Lease Acquisition and Marketing; the Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary; the Director, Human Resources;
and the Chief Information Officer, together with such other persons as may be designated by the Compensation Committee.
1.15 “Involuntary Plan”—shall mean the applicable involuntary termination plan of the Company.

1.16 “Participant”—shall mean any Executive Employee, employed by the Company on or before the occurrence of any Change of Control, who:
(a) meets the eligibility requirements set forth in Section 2.2 of this Plan; and
(b) is participating in this Plan.
1.17 “Plan”—shall mean the Sunoco Partners LLC Special Executive Severance Plan, as set forth herein, and as the same may from time to time be
amended.
1.18 “Qualifying Termination”—of the employment of a Participant shall mean any of the following:
(a) a termination of employment by the Company within two (2) years after a Change of Control, other than for Cause, death or Disability; or
(b) a termination of employment by the Participant within two (2) years after a Change of Control for one or more of the following reasons:
(1) the assignment to such Participant of any duties inconsistent in a way significantly adverse to such Participant, with such Participant’s
positions, duties, responsibilities and status with the Company immediately prior to the Change of Control, or a significant reduction in the duties
and responsibilities held by the Participant immediately prior to the Change of Control, in each case except in connection with such Participant’s
termination of employment by the Company for Cause; or
(2) with respect to any Participant who is a member of the Company’s board of directors immediately prior to the Change of Control, any
failure of the members of the Company to elect or re-elect, or of the Company to appoint or re-appoint, the Participant as a member of such board of
directors;
(3) a reduction by the Company in either the Participant’s annual base salary or guideline (target) bonus as in effect immediately prior to the
Change of Control; or
(4) the failure of the Company to provide the Participant with employee benefits and incentive compensation opportunities that:
(i) are not less favorable than those provided to other executives who occupy the same grade level at the Company as the Participant, or
if the Company’s grade levels are no longer applicable, to a similar peer group of the executives of the Company; and
(ii) provide the Participant with benefits that are at least as favorable, measured separately for:
(A) incentive compensation opportunities,
(B) savings and retirement benefits,
(C) welfare benefits, and
(D) fringe benefits and vacation,
as the most favorable of each such category of benefit in effect for the Participant at any time during the 120-day period immediately preceding the
Change of Control; or
(5) the Company requires the Participant to be based anywhere other than the Participant’s present work location or a location within thirtyfive (35) miles from the present location; or the Company requires the Participant to travel on Company business to an extent substantially more
burdensome than such Participant’s travel obligations

during the period of twelve (12) consecutive months immediately preceding the Change of Control;
provided, however, that in the case of any such termination of employment by the Participant under this subparagraph (b), such termination shall not be
deemed to be a Qualifying Termination unless the termination occurs within 120 days after the occurrence of the event or events constituting the reason for
the termination; or
(c) before a Change of Control, a termination of employment by the Company, other than a termination for Cause, or a termination of employment by
the Participant for one of the reasons set forth in (b) above, if the affected Participant can demonstrate that such termination or circumstance in (b) above
leading to the termination:
(1) was at the request of a third party with which the Company had entered into negotiations or an agreement with regard to a Change of
Control; or
(2) otherwise occurred in connection with a Change of Control;
provided, however, that in either such case, a Change of Control actually occurs within one (1) year following the Employment Termination Date.
Any good faith determination made by the Participant that the Participant has experienced a Qualifying Termination pursuant to Section 1.18(b) shall be
conclusive. A Participant’s mental or physical incapacity following the occurrence of an event described above in (b) above shall not affect the Participant’s
ability to have a Qualifying Termination. As used in this Section 1.18, a “termination of employment” means a separation from service as defined in Code
Section 409A and the regulations issued thereunder.
1.19 “Retirement Plan”—shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(c).
1.20 “SERP”—shall have the meaning set forth in Section 3.1(c).
1.21 “Specified Employee” shall mean each of the following: the Chief Executive Officer; the Chief Financial Officer; the Vice President, Operations; the
Vice President, Business Development; the Vice President, Lease Acquisition and Marketing; and the Vice President, General Counsel and Secretary (designated
pursuant to the election of an alternative method specified in Treasury Regulation Sections 1.409A-1(i)(5) and 1.409A-1(i)(8)).”
ARTICLE II
PURPOSE, ELIGIBILITY AND TERM
2.1 Purpose. The Company maintains this Plan to provide severance benefits to Executive Employees, whose employment is terminated in connection
with, or following, a Change of Control. This Plan is not intended to be included in the definitions of “employee pension benefit plan” and “pension plan” set
forth under Section 3(2) of ERISA. Rather, this Plan is intended to meet the descriptive requirements of a plan constituting a “severance pay plan” within the
meaning of regulations published by the Secretary of Labor at Title 29, Code of Federal Regulations, Section 2510.3-2(b). Accordingly, the Benefits paid by the
Plan are not deferred compensation.
2.2 Eligibility. Each Executive Employee shall become a Participant upon election by the Board of Directors or appointment by the Company. Except with
respect to the reimbursement for legal expenses, described under Section 3.8, in order to receive a Benefit under this Plan, a Participant’s employment must have
been terminated as a result of a Qualifying Termination. The Committee shall determine whether any termination is a Qualifying Termination.

2.3 Term of the Plan. The Plan will continue until such time as the Compensation Committee, acting in its sole discretion, elects to modify, supersede or
terminate it; provided, however, that no such action taken after a Change of Control, or before, but in connection with, a Change of Control, may terminate or
reduce the Benefits or prospective Benefits of any individual who is a Participant on the date of the action without the express written consent of the Participant.
ARTICLE III
BENEFITS
3.1 Immediate Cash Benefit. In the event of a Qualifying Termination, the cash Benefits to be paid to an eligible Participant shall be paid in a lump sum by
mailing to the last address provided by the Participant to the Company. In general, payment shall be made within fifteen (15) days after the Participant’s
Employment Termination Date but in no event later than thirty (30) days thereafter; provided, however, that payment of any Benefits under any provision of the
Plan that are deferred compensation for purposes of Code Section 409A to any Participant who is a Specified Employee shall be paid in a lump sum on the later
of the date such payments are due or the date six months after the Participant’s Employment Termination Date. In the event the Company should fail to pay when
due the amounts described in Article III (determined without regard to the payment delay to Specified Employees required by Code Section 409A), the
Participant shall also be entitled to receive from the Company an amount representing interest on any unpaid or untimely paid amounts from the due date
(determined without regard to the payment delay to Specified Employees required by Code Section 409A) to the date of payment at a rate equal to the prime rate
of Citibank, N.A. as in effect from time to time after such due date.
The amount of this lump sum shall be equal to the sum of the following:
(a) An amount equal to the Participant’s earned vacation (as determined under the Company’s applicable vacation policy as in effect at the time of the
Change of Control) through his or her Employment Termination Date;
(b) (1) for the Chief Executive Officer, Annual Compensation multiplied by three (3); (2) for each other Executive Employee, Annual Compensation
multiplied by two (2);
(c) An amount equal to the excess of:
(1) the actuarial equivalent of the benefit under the Sunoco, Inc. Retirement Plan or any successor defined benefit pension plan (the
“Retirement Plan”) (utilizing actuarial assumptions no less favorable to the Participant than those in effect under the Retirement Plan immediately
prior to the Change of Control) and any excess or supplemental retirement plan, including, without limitation, the Sunoco, Inc. Executive Retirement
Plan and the Sunoco, Inc. Pension Restoration Plan, in which the Participant participates (collectively, the “SERP”) that the Participant would
receive if the Participant’s employment continued throughout his/her Benefit Extension Period, assuming for this purpose that all accrued benefits
are fully vested and assuming that the Participant’s compensation in each year of his/her Benefit Extension Period is the Annual Compensation; over
(2) the actuarial equivalent of the Participant’s actual benefit (paid or payable), if any, under the Retirement Plan and the SERP as of the
Employment Termination Date (including any additional benefit to which the Participant is entitled under the Retirement Plan or the SERP in
connection with the Change of Control).

3.2 Payments to Beneficiary(ies). Each Executive Employee shall designate a beneficiary(ies) to receive any Benefits due hereunder in the event of the
Participant’s death prior to the receipt of all such Benefits. Such beneficiary designation shall be made in the manner, and at the time, prescribed by the Company
in its sole discretion. In the absence of an effective beneficiary designation hereunder, the Participant’s estate shall be deemed to be his or her designated
beneficiary.
3.3 Executive Severance Benefits. In the event that Benefits are paid under Section 3.1, the Participant shall continue to be entitled, through the end of
his/her Benefit Extension Period, to those employee benefits, based upon the amount of coverage or benefits provided at the Change of Control, listed below:
(a) Death benefits in an amount equal to one (1) times the Participant’s annual base salary at the Employment Termination Date; provided, however,
that any supplemental coverages elected under the Sunoco, Inc. Death Benefits Plan (or any similar plan of any of the following: a subsidiary or affiliate
which has adopted this Plan; a corporation succeeding to the business of Sunoco, Inc.; and/or any subsidiary or affiliate, by merger, consolidation or
liquidation or purchase of assets or stock or similar transaction) will be discontinued under the terms of such plan or plans; and
(b) Medical plan benefits (including dental coverage), with COBRA continuation eligibility beginning as of the end of the Benefit Extension Period,
except as provided hereinbelow at Section 3.4.
In each case, when contributions are required of all Executive Employees at the time of the Participant’s Employment Termination Date, or thereafter, if
required of all other active Executive Employees, the Participant shall continue to be responsible for making the required contributions during the Benefit
Extension Period in order to be eligible for the coverage. The Participant also shall be entitled to reasonable outplacement services during the Benefit Extension
Period, at no cost to the Participant (but only to the extent such services are provided during the period that ends no later than the end of the second calendar year
following the year of the Participant’s Employment Termination Date and are paid for directly by the Company no later than the end of the third calendar year
following the year of the Participant’s Termination Date), from an experienced third-party vendor selected by the Committee.
3.4 Special Medical Benefit. In the event Benefits are paid to the Participant under Section 3.1:
(a) a Participant who, as of his/her Employment Termination Date, is fifty (50) or more years of age and has ten (10) or more years of Company
Service, shall have medical (but not dental) benefits available under the same terms and conditions as other employees not yet eligible for Medicare
coverage who retire under the terms of a Company retirement plan.
(b) a Participant who, as of the Employment Termination Date, is fifty (50) or more years of age but has fewer than ten (10) years of Company
Service, shall be eligible to receive Company medical plan benefits (excluding dental coverage) following the Benefit Extension Period, at a cost to any
such Participant that is equal to the full premium cost of such coverage.
Subject to modification or termination of such medical benefits as generally provided to other employees not yet eligible for Medicare coverage who retire
under the terms of the Company’s retirement plan(s), such benefits shall continue until such time as the Participant becomes first eligible for Medicare, or the
Participant voluntarily cancels coverage, whichever is earlier.
3.5 Retirement and Savings Plans. This Plan shall not govern and shall in no way affect the Participant’s interest in, or entitlement to benefits under, any of
the Company’s “qualified” or

supplemental retirement plans, and, except to the extent specifically provided in Section 3.1(c), payments received under any such plans shall not affect a
Participant’s right to any Benefit hereunder.
3.6 Minimum Benefit; Effect of Executive Involuntary Severance Plan.
(a) Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 3.1, 3.3 and 3.4 hereof, the Benefits available under those Sections of this Plan shall not be less than
those determined in accordance with the provisions of the Sunoco Partners LLC Special Employee Severance Plan. If the Participant determines that the
benefits under the Sunoco Partners LLC Special Employee Severance Plan are more valuable to the Participant than the comparable Benefits set forth in
Sections 3.1, 3.3 and 3.4 of this Plan, then the provisions used to calculate the Benefits available to the Participant under this Plan shall not apply, and the
Benefits available to the Participant under Sections 3.1, 3.3 and 3.4 of this Plan shall be calculated using only Sections 3.3 and 3.4 of the Sunoco Partners
LLC Special Employee Severance Plan, as if such provisions were a part of this Plan.
(b) If a Participant is or becomes entitled to receive severance benefits under both the Involuntary Plan and Sections 3.1, 3.3 and/or 3.4 of this Plan,
then the following rules shall apply, notwithstanding any other provision of this Plan nor any provision of the Involuntary Plan. If and to the extent such
benefits become payable under the Involuntary Plan before such benefits become payable under this Plan, the Participant shall receive benefits under the
Involuntary Plan until the benefits under this Plan become payable, and the benefits under this Plan shall be offset by the comparable benefits previously
paid under the Involuntary Plan. If such benefits under this Plan become payable simultaneously with or before such benefits under the Involuntary Plan,
the Participant shall not be entitled to any benefits under the Involuntary Plan.
3.7 Effect on Other Benefits. There shall not be drawn from the continued provision by the Company of any of the aforementioned Benefits any implication
of continued employment or of continued right to accrual of retirement benefits under the Company’s qualified or supplemental retirement plans, nor shall a
terminated employee, except as otherwise provided under the terms of the Plan, accrue vacation days, paid holidays, paid sick days or other similar benefits
normally associated with employment for any part of the Benefit Extension Period during which benefits are payable under this Plan. A Participant shall have no
duty to mitigate with respect to Benefits under this Plan by seeking or accepting alternative employment. Further, the amount of any payment or benefit provided
for in this Plan shall not be reduced by any compensation earned by the Participant as the result of employment by another employer, by retirement benefits, by
offset against any amount claimed to be owed by the Participant to the Company, or otherwise.
3.8 Legal Fees and Expenses. The Company also shall pay to the Participant (or the Participant’s representative) all legal fees and expenses incurred by or
with respect to the Participant during his lifetime or within ten (10) years after his death:
(a) in disputing in good faith any issue relating to the termination of the Participant’s employment in connection with a Change of Control as a result
of a Qualifying Termination entitling the Participant to Benefits under this Plan (including a termination of employment if the Participant alleges in good
faith that such termination will be or is a Qualifying Termination pursuant to Section 1.18(c)); or
(b) in seeking in good faith to obtain or enforce any benefit or right provided by this Plan (or the payment of any Benefits through any trust
established to fund Benefits under this Plan).
Such payments shall be made as such fees and expenses are incurred by the Participant (or the Participant’s representative), but in no event later than five
(5) business days after delivery of the

Participant’s (or the Participant’s representative’s) written requests for payment accompanied with such evidence of fees and expenses incurred as the Company
reasonably may require. Notwithstanding the forgoing sentence, all such payments shall be made on or before the close of the calendar year following the
calendar year in which the expense was incurred. The amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement under this provision in one calendar year may not affect the
amount of expenses eligible for reimbursement under this provision in any other calendar year. The Participant (or the Participant’s representative) shall
reimburse the Company for such fees and expenses at such time as a court of competent jurisdiction, or another independent third party having similar authority,
determines that the Participant’s (or the Participant’s representative’s) claim was frivolously brought without reasonable expectation of success on the merits
thereof.”
ARTICLE IV
ADMINISTRATION
4.1 Appointment of the Committee. The Committee shall consist of three (3) or more persons appointed by the Compensation Committee. Committee
members may be, but need not be, employees of Sunoco Partners LLC. Following a Change of Control, the individuals most recently so appointed to serve as
members of the Committee before the Change of Control, or successors whom they approve, shall continue to serve as the Committee.
4.2 Tenure of the Committee. Before a Change of Control, Committee members shall serve at the pleasure of the Compensation Committee, and may be
discharged, with or without cause, by the Compensation Committee. Committee members may resign at any time on ten (10) days’ written notice.
4.3 Authority and Duties. It shall be the duty of the Committee, on the basis of information supplied to it by the Company, to determine the eligibility of
each Participant for Benefits under the Plan, to determine the amount of Benefit to which each such Participant may be entitled, and to determine the manner and
time of payment of the Benefit consistent with the provisions hereof. In addition, the exercise of discretion by the Committee need not be uniformly applied to
similarly situated Participants. The Company shall make such payments as are certified to it by the Committee to be due to Participants. The Committee shall
have the full power and authority to construe, interpret and administer the Plan, to correct deficiencies therein, and to supply omissions. Except as provided in
Section 5.8, all decisions, actions and interpretations of the Committee shall be final, binding and conclusive upon the parties.
4.4 Action by the Committee. A majority of the members of the Committee shall constitute a quorum for the transaction of business at a meeting of the
Committee. Any action of the Committee may be taken upon the affirmative vote of a majority of the members of the Committee at a meeting, or at the direction
of the chairperson, without a meeting by mail, telegraph, telephone or electronic communication device; provided, however, that all of the members of the
Committee are informed of their right to vote on the matter before the Committee and of the outcome of the vote thereon.
4.5 Officers of the Committee. The Compensation Committee shall designate one of the members of the Committee to serve as chairperson thereof. The
Compensation Committee shall also designate a person to serve as secretary of the Committee, which person may be, but need not be, a member of the
Committee.
4.6 Compensation of the Committee. Members of the Committee shall receive no compensation for their services as such. However, all reasonable expenses
of the Committee shall be paid or reimbursed by the Company upon proper documentation. The Company shall indemnify members of the Committee against
personal liability for actions taken in good faith in the discharge of their respective

duties as members of the Committee and shall provide coverage to them under the Company’s liability insurance program(s).
4.7 Records, Reporting and Disclosure. The Company shall supply to the Committee all records and information necessary to the performance of the
Committee’s duties. The Committee shall keep all individual and group records relating to Participants and former Participants and all other records necessary for
the proper operation of the Plan. Such records shall be made available to the Company and to each Participant for examination during business hours except that a
Participant shall examine only such records as pertain exclusively to the examining Participant and to the Plan. The Committee shall prepare and shall file as
required by law or regulation all reports, forms, documents and other items required by ERISA, the Internal Revenue Code, and every other relevant statute, each
as amended, and all regulations thereunder (except that the Company, as payor of the Benefits, shall prepare and distribute to the proper recipients all forms
relating to withholding of income or wage taxes, Social Security taxes, and other amounts which may be similarly reportable).
4.8 Payment. The Company shall make payments from its general assets to Participants and shall provide the Benefits described in Article III hereof in
accordance with the terms of the Plan, as directed by the Committee.
4.9 Actions of the Chief Executive Officer. Whenever a determination is required of the Chief Executive Officer under the Plan, such determination shall be
made solely at the discretion of the Chief Executive Officer. In addition, the exercise of discretion by the Chief Executive Officer need not be uniformly applied
to similarly situated Participants and shall be final and binding on each Participant or beneficiary(ies) to whom the determination is directed.
4.10 Bonding. The Committee shall arrange any bonding that may be required by law, but no amount in excess of the amount required by law (if any) shall
be required by the Plan.
ARTICLE V
CLAIMS PROCEDURES
5.1 Application for Benefits. Benefits shall be paid by the Company following an event that qualifies the Participant for Benefits. In the event a Participant
believes himself/herself eligible for Benefits under this Plan and Benefit payments have not been initiated by the Company, the Participant may apply for such
Benefits by requesting payment of Benefits in writing from the Committee.
5.2 Appeals of Denied Claims for Benefits. In the event that any claim for Benefits is denied in whole or in part, the Participant (or beneficiary, if
applicable) whose claim has been so denied shall be notified of such denial in writing by the Committee, within thirty (30) days following submission by the
Participant (or beneficiary, if applicable) of such claim to the Committee. The notice advising of the denial shall specify the reason or reasons for denial, make
specific reference to pertinent Plan provisions, describe any additional material or information necessary for the claimant to perfect the claim (explaining why
such material or information is needed), and shall advise the Participant of the procedure for the appeal of such denial. All appeals shall be made by the following
procedure:
(a) The Participant whose claim has been denied shall file with the Committee a notice of desire to appeal the denial. Such notice shall be filed within
sixty (60) days of notification by the Committee of the claim denial, shall be made in writing, and shall set forth all of the facts upon which the appeal is
based. Appeals not timely filed shall be barred.
(b) The Committee shall, within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Participant’s notice of appeal, establish a hearing date on which the Participant may
make an oral presentation to the

Committee in support of his/her appeal. The Participant shall be given not less than ten (10) days’ notice of the date set for the hearing.
(c) The Committee shall consider the merits of the claimant’s written and oral presentations, the merits of any facts or evidence in support of the
denial of Benefits, and such other facts and circumstances as the Committee shall deem relevant. If the claimant elects not to make an oral presentation,
such election shall not be deemed adverse to his/her interest, and the Committee shall proceed as set forth below as though an oral presentation of the
contents of the claimant’s written presentation has been made.
(d) The Committee shall render a determination upon the appealed claim, within sixty (60) days of the hearing date, which determination shall be
accompanied by a written statement as to the reasons therefor.
ARTICLE VI
MISCELLANEOUS
6.1 Amendment, Suspension and Termination. The Company retains the right, at any time and from time to time, to amend, suspend or terminate the Plan in
whole or in part, for any reason, and without either the consent of or the prior notification to any Participant. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no such action taken
after a Change of Control, or before, but in connection with, a Change of Control, may terminate or reduce the Benefits or prospective Benefits of any Participant
on the date of such action without the express written consent of the Participant. No amendment, suspension or termination shall give the Company the right to
recover any amount paid to a Participant prior to the date of such action or to cause the cessation and discontinuance of payments of Benefits to any person or
persons under the Plan already receiving Benefits.
6.2 Nonalienation of Benefits. None of the payments, Benefits or rights of any Participant shall be subject to any claim of any creditor, and, in particular, to
the fullest extent permitted by law, all such payments, Benefits and rights shall be free from attachment, garnishment, trustee’s process, or any other legal or
equitable process available to any creditor of such Participant. No Participant shall have the right to alienate, anticipate, commute, pledge, encumber or assign any
of the Benefits or payments which he/she may expect to receive, contingently or otherwise, under this Plan.
6.3 No Contract of Employment. Neither the establishment of the Plan, nor any modification thereof, nor the creation of any fund, trust or account, nor the
payment of any Benefits shall be construed as giving any Participant, or any person whosoever, the right to be retained in the service of the Company, and all
Participants shall remain subject to discharge to the same extent as if the Plan had never been adopted.
6.4 Severability of Provisions. If any provision of this Plan shall be held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability shall not affect any
other provisions hereof, and this Plan shall be construed and enforced as if such provisions had not been included.
6.5 Successors, Heirs, Assigns, and Personal Representatives. This Plan shall be binding upon the heirs, executors, administrators, successors and assigns
of the parties, including each Participant.
6.6 Headings and Captions. The headings and captions herein are provided for reference and convenience only, shall not be considered part of the Plan,
and shall not be employed in the construction of the Plan.
6.7 Gender and Number. Except where otherwise clearly indicated by context, the masculine and the neuter shall include the feminine and the neuter, the
singular shall include the plural, and vice-versa.

6.8 Unfunded Plan. The Plan shall not be funded. A Participant’s right to receive Benefits hereunder shall be no greater than the right of any unsecured
creditor of the Company. The Company may, but shall not be required to, set aside or earmark an amount necessary to provide the Benefits specified herein
(including the establishment of trusts). In any event, no Participant shall have any right to, or interest in, any assets of the Company which may be applied by the
Company to the payment of Benefits except as may be provided pursuant to the terms of any trust established by the Company to provide Benefits.
6.9 Payments to Incompetent Persons, Etc. Any Benefit payable to or for the benefit of a minor, an incompetent person or other person incapable of
receipting therefor shall be deemed paid when paid to such person’s guardian or to the party providing, or reasonably appearing to provide for, the care of such
person, and such payment shall fully discharge the Company, the Committee and all other parties with respect thereto.
6.10 Lost Payees. A Benefit shall be deemed forfeited if the Committee is unable to locate a Participant to whom a Benefit is due. Such Benefit shall be
reinstated if application is made by the Participant for the forfeited Benefit while this Plan is in operation.
6.11 Controlling Law. This Plan shall be construed and enforced according to the laws of the Commonwealth of Pennsylvania to the extent not preempted
by federal law.
6.12 Successor Employer. The Company shall require any successor or assignee, whether direct or indirect, by purchase, merger, consolidation or
otherwise, to all or substantially all the business or assets of the Company, expressly and unconditionally to assume and agree to perform the Company’s
obligations under this Plan, in the same manner and to the same extent that the Company would be required to perform if no such succession or assignment had
taken place. In such event, the term “Company,” shall mean the Company and any successor or assignee to the business or assets which by reason hereof becomes
bound by the terms and provisions of this Plan.

Exhibit 10.15
Sunoco Partners LLC
Executive Compensation Summary Sheet
for 2008
The table below presents 2008 summary information for named executive officers of Sunoco Partners LLC, with regard to: base salary.
2008 EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION1
Name and Title

Deborah M. Fretz
President and Chief Executive Officer
Neal E. Murphy.
Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Christopher W. Keene
Vice President, Business Development
Bruce D. Davis, Jr.
Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary
David A. Justin
Vice President, Eastern Operations

2008 Base Salary
($)

$

500,000

$

297,440

$

264,368

$

266,090

$

262,500

Note to table:
(1)

The base salaries shown in the foregoing table were approved at the January 26, 2008 meeting of the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of
Sunoco Partners LLC.

Exhibit 10.16
Sunoco Partners LLC
Independent Director Compensation Summary Sheet
for 2008
Directors who are employees of Sunoco Partners LLC or its affiliates receive no additional compensation for service on the general partner’s board of
directors or any committees of the board. The table below summarizes the 2008 compensation program for independent directors of Sunoco Partners LLC
2008 INDEPENDENT DIRECTOR COMPENSATION SUMMARY
Component

Annual Retainer
Board Meeting Fee
Committee Meeting Fee
Compensation Committee Chair Retainer
Audit/Conflicts Committee Chair Retainer

Amount
($)

Medium of Payment

Timing of Payment

21,000 per year
21,000 per year
1,500 per meeting
1,000 per meeting
3,500 per year
8,000 per year

Restricted Units
Cash
Cash
Cash
Cash
Cash

$5,250 credited quarterly1
$5,250 paid quarterly
Paid quarterly
Paid quarterly
$ 875 paid quarterly
$2,000 paid quarterly

Note to table:
(1)

The fair market value of each quarterly payment of Restricted Units is calculated as of the payment date. The portion of the annual retainer paid in the form
of Restricted Units is required to be deferred, and is credited to each independent director’s account in the Sunoco Partners LLC Directors’ Deferred
Compensation Plan.

In addition to the foregoing, each independent director is reimbursed for out-of-pocket expenses in connection with attending meetings of the board of
directors or committees.

Exhibit 12.1
STATEMENT OF COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
(UNAUDITED)
Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.
Year Ended
December 31, 2007

Fixed Charges:
Interest cost and debt expense
Interest allocable to rental expense (a)
Total
Earnings:
Income before income tax expense
Equity in income of less than 50 percent owned affiliated companies (b)
Dividends received from less than 50 percent owned affiliated companies (b)
Fixed charges
Interest capitalized
Amortization of previously capitalized interest
Total
Ratio of Earnings to Fixed Charges
(a)
(b)

$
$
$

$

39,010
2,201
41,211
120,875
(27,563)
23,866
41,211
(3,419)
214
155,184
3.77

Represents one-third of the total operating lease rental expense which is that portion deemed to be interest.
Reflects amounts attributable to interests in the following corporate joint ventures accounted for under the equity method: 9.4 percent in Explorer Pipeline
Company, 31.5 percent in Wolverine Pipe Line Company, 12.3 percent in West Shore Pipe Line Company, 14.0 percent in Yellowstone Pipe Line Company,
43.8 percent in West Texas Gulf Pipe Line Company and 55.3 percent in Mid-Valley Pipeline Company.

Exhibit 21.1
December 31, 2007
Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.
Subsidiaries of the Registrant
(50.1% or greater ownership)
Legal Entity Name

Sunoco Partners LLC
Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.
Sunoco Logistics Partners GP LLC
Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P.
Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations GP LLC
Sunoco Partners Marketing & Terminals L.P.
Sunoco Pipeline L.P.
Sun Pipe Line Services (Out) LLC
Sunoco Partners Lease Acquisition & Marketing LLC
Sunoco Pipeline Company of Delaware LLC.

Inc./Org./Reg.

Pennsylvania
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Texas
Texas
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware

Exhibit 23.1
Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
We consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-130564) and related Prospectus of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.
pertaining to an aggregate $500,000,000 of equity securities of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (as issuer of common units representing limited partnership
interests) and debt of Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P. (as issuer of debt securities) and in the Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-96897)
pertaining to the Sunoco Partners LLC Long-Term Incentive Plan of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. of our reports dated February 25, 2008, with respect to the
financial statements of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., and the
parent-company-only balance sheet of Sunoco Partners LLC included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2007.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2008

Exhibit 24.1
SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
Power of Attorney
KNOW ALL MEN BY THESE PRESENTS, that:
1.

each of the undersigned individuals, in their capacity as a director or officer, or both, as hereinafter set forth below their signature, of SUNOCO
PARTNERS LLC, a Pennsylvania limited liability company as the general partner of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. (the “Company”), does hereby
constitute and appoint NEAL E. MURPHY his or her true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent, for him or her and in his or her name, place and
stead in his or her respective capacity as a director or officer, or both, of the Company, as hereinafter set forth opposite his or her signature, to sign
and to file the Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. Annual Report to the Securities and Exchange Commission on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
December 31, 2007, and any and all amendments, with all exhibits, thereto and any and all other documents or instruments necessary or incidental in
connection therewith; and

2.

the undersigned Company does hereby constitute and appoint NEAL E. MURPHY its true and lawful attorney-in-fact and agent for it and in its name
and on its behalf to sign and to file said Form 10-K and any and all amendments thereto and any and all instruments necessary or incidental in
connection therewith.

Said attorney-in-fact shall have full power of substitution and re-substitution, and said attorney-in-fact or any substitute appointed by him hereunder shall have
full power and authority to do and perform in the name and on behalf of each of the undersigned, in any and all capacities, every act whatsoever requisite or
necessary to be done in the premises, as fully to all intents and purposes as each of the undersigned might or could do in person, the undersigned hereby ratifying
and approving the acts of said attorneys or any of them or of any such substitute pursuant hereto.
This Power of Attorney may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of which shall be an original and all of which, taken together, shall constitute but one
and the same document.
[COUNTERPART SIGNATURE PAGES FOLLOW]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this instrument, all as of the 26th day of February 2008.
/s/ DEBORAH M. FRETZ
Deborah M. Fretz

President, Chief Executive Officer and Director
(Principal Executive Officer)

/s/ CYNTHIA A. ARCHER
Cynthia A. Archer

Director

/s/ L. WILSON BERRY, JR.
L. Wilson Berry, Jr.

Director

/s/ STEPHEN L. CROPPER
Stephen L. Cropper

Director

/s/ TERENCE P. DELANEY
Terence P. Delaney

Director

/s/ JOHN G. DROSDICK
John G. Drosdick

Director

/s/ GARY W. EDWARDS
Gary W. Edwards

Director

/s/ BRUCE G. FISCHER
Bruce G. Fischer

Director

/s/ PHILIP L. FREDERICKSON
Philip L. Frederickson

Director

/s/ THOMAS W. HOFMANN
Thomas W. Hofmann

Director

/s/ DANIEL D. LEWIS
Daniel D. Lewis
ATTEST:
/s/ BRUCE D. DAVIS. JR.
Bruce D. Davis, Jr.
Vice President,
General Counsel and Secretary

Comptroller
(Principal Accounting Officer)

Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Deborah M. Fretz, President, Chief Executive Officer of Sunoco Partners LLC, the general partner of the registrant Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., hereby
certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated entities, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ DEBORAH M. FRETZ
Name: Deborah M. Fretz
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 26, 2008

Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
I, Neal E. Murphy, Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of Sunoco Partners LLC, the general partner of the registrant Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.,
hereby certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated entities, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.
/s/ NEAL E. MURPHY
Name: Neal E. Murphy
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 26, 2008

Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
We, the undersigned Deborah M. Fretz, being, respectively, the President and Chief Executive Officer and Neal E. Murphy, being respectively, the Vice President
and Chief Financial Officer, of Sunoco Partners LLC, the general partner of the registrant Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P., do each hereby certify that the
registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2007 fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in this annual report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.
Date: February 26, 2008
/s/ DEBORAH M. FRETZ
Name: Deborah M. Fretz
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
Date: February 26, 2008
/s/ NEAL E. MURPHY
Name: Neal E. Murphy
Title: Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
Date: February 26, 2008

Exhibit 99.1
REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM ON FINANCIAL STATEMENT
To the Board of Directors of
Sunoco Partners LLC
We have audited the accompanying parent-company-only balance sheet of Sunoco Partners LLC as of December 31, 2007. The parent-company-only balance
sheet is the responsibility of Sunoco Partners LLC’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on this financial statement based on our audit.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit
to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statement is free of material misstatement. We were not engaged to perform an audit of Sunoco
Partners LLC’s internal control over financial reporting. Our audit included consideration of internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of Sunoco Partners LLC’s internal
control over financial reporting. Accordingly, we express no such opinion. An audit also includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statement, assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, and evaluating the overall
financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, the financial statement referred to above presents fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of Sunoco Partners LLC at December 31,
2007, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.
As discussed in Note 1 to the financial statement, Sunoco Partners LLC changed its method of accounting for uncertain tax positions in 2007.
/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Philadelphia, Pennsylvania
February 25, 2008

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
BALANCE SHEET
December 31,
2007

Assets
Current Assets
Advances to affiliate
Total Current Assets

$360,647,088
360,647,088

Notes receivable from affiliates
Investment in Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P.
Total Assets
Liabilities and Owners’ Equity
Current Liabilities
Accrued liabilities
Total Current Liabilities
Owners’ equity
Total Liabilities and Owner’s Equity

329,777,725
226,732,051
$917,156,864

$ 10,719,992
10,719,992
906,436,872
$917,156,864
(See Accompanying Notes)

SUNOCO PARTNERS LLC
NOTES TO BALANCE SHEET
1. Nature of Operations and Basis of Presentation
Sunoco Partners LLC (the “Company”) is a Pennsylvania limited liability company formed on October 12, 2001 to become the general partner of Sunoco
Logistics Partners L.P. (the “Partnership”). The Company is wholly-owned by subsidiaries of Sunoco, Inc.
The Partnership is a Delaware limited partnership formed by Sunoco, Inc. on October 15, 2001 to acquire, own and operate a substantial portion of Sunoco
Inc.’s logistics business, consisting of refined product pipelines, terminalling and storage assets, crude oil pipelines, and crude oil acquisition and marketing assets
located in the Northeast, Midwest and Southwest Unites States (the “Predecessor”).
On February 8, 2002, Sunoco, Inc., through the Company, contributed the Predecessor to the Partnership in exchange for: (i) a 2 percent general partner
interest in the Partnership; (ii) incentive distribution rights (as defined in the partnership agreement); (iii) 5,633,639 common units; (iv) 11,383,639 subordinated
units; and (v) a special interest representing the right to receive from the Partnership on the closing of the initial public offering (“IPO”) the net proceeds from the
issuance of $250 million aggregate principal amount of ten-year senior notes by Sunoco Logistics Partners Operations L.P., a subsidiary of the Partnership. The
Partnership guarantees these notes. The net proceeds distributed to the Company were $244.8 million. The Partnership concurrently issued 5.75 million common
units (including 750,000 units issued pursuant to the underwriters’ over-allotment option), representing a 24.8 percent limited partnership interest in the
Partnership, in an IPO at a price of $20.25 per unit. Proceeds from the IPO, which totaled $96.5 million net of underwriting discounts and offering expenses, were
used by the Partnership to establish working capital that was not contributed to the Partnership by Sunoco, Inc.
The Company, as general partner, manages the operations and activities of the Partnership and owes a fiduciary duty to the Partnership’s unitholders. Most
of the Partnership’s operations personnel are employees of the Company. The Company is liable, as general partner, for all of the Partnership’s debts (to the extent
not paid from the Partnership’s assets), except for indebtedness or other obligations that are made specifically nonrecourse to the general partners.
The Company does not receive any management fee or other compensation for its management of the Partnership. The Company and its affiliates are
reimbursed for expenses incurred on the Partnership’s behalf. These expenses include the costs of employee, officer, and director compensation and benefits
properly allocable to the Partnership, and all other expenses necessary or appropriate to conduct the business of, and allocable to, the Partnership. The partnership
agreement provides that the Company, as general partner, will determine the expenses that are allocable to the Partnership in any reasonable manner determined
by the Company in its sole discretion.
The accompanying balance sheet of Sunoco Partners LLC is of the parent company only and does not include the accounts of Sunoco Logistics Partners
L.P. or any of its subsidiaries. Sunoco Partners LLC’s investment in the Partnership in the balance sheet is stated at cost plus equity in undistributed earnings of
the Partnership since February 8, 2002, the date of the IPO. The parent-company-only balance sheet should be read in conjunction with the financial statements
and accompanying notes of Sunoco Logistics Partners L.P. as of and for the year ended December 31, 2007, filed in this form 10-K.
Effective January 1, 2007, the Company adopted FASB Interpretation No. 48, “Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes— an interpretation of FASB
Statement No. 109” (“FASB Interpretation No. 48”). This interpretation clarifies the accounting for uncertainty in income taxes recognized in an entity’s financial
statements in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 109, “Accounting for Income Taxes,” by prescribing the minimum recognition
threshold and measurement attribute a tax position taken or expected to be taken on a tax return is required to meet before being recognized in the financial
statements. As a result of the implementation of FASB Interpretation No. 48, the Company recorded a $2.3 million reduction in retained earnings at January 1,
2007 to recognize the cumulative effect of the adoption of this standard. The Company has $2.4 million unrecognized state and local tax benefits and accruals for
interest of $0.3 million at December 31, 2007.
The statute of limitation for examination of the Company’s federal income tax returns by the Internal Revenue Service is open for the years 2004 through
2007. State and local income tax returns are generally subject to examination for a period of three to five years after the filing of the respective returns. The state
impact of any amended federal returns remains subject to examination by various states for a period of up to one year after formal notification of such
amendments to the states. The Company has one local income tax return in the process of examination.

2. Related Party Transactions
Advances to Affiliates
Advances to affiliate reflects the Company’s participation in Sunoco, Inc.’s central cash management program, wherein all of the Company’s cash receipts
are remitted to Sunoco, Inc. and all cash disbursements are funded by Sunoco, Inc. There are no terms of settlement or interest charges attributable to this balance.
Notes receivable from Affiliates
Effective February 8, 2002, the Company loaned $246.7 million to another subsidiary of Sunoco, Inc. The loan, which is evidenced by a note due February
8, 2008, earns interest at an annual rate based on 115 percent of the short-term applicable federal rate established by the Internal Revenue Service. The interest
rate on this note at December 31, 2007 was 5.75 percent. There are no restrictions on the Company’s ability to distribute this note receivable to its owners. It is
management’s intent to renew and extend this note, therefore it has been classified as a non-current asset on the Company’s balance sheet.
On April 7, 2004, the Company loaned $83.1 million to another subsidiary of Sunoco, Inc. The loan earned interest at an annual rate of 1.47 percent.
Effective February 1, 2008, the loan was amended and its maturity date was set for February 1, 2013 with an annual interest rate of 5.75 percent. There are no
restrictions on the Company’s ability to distribute this note receivable to its owners.
License Agreement
The Partnership entered into a license agreement at the closing of the IPO with Sunoco and certain of its affiliates, including the Company, pursuant to
which the Partnership granted to the Company a license to the Partnership’s intellectual property so that the Company can manage the Partnership’s operations
and create intellectual property using the Partnership’s intellectual property. The Company will assign to the Partnership the new intellectual property it creates in
operating the Partnership’s business. The Company has also licensed to the Partnership certain of its own intellectual property for use in the conduct of the
Partnership’s business and the Partnership licensed to the Company certain of the Partnership’s intellectual property for use in the conduct of its business. The
license agreement also grants to the Partnership a license to use the trademarks, trade names, and service marks of Sunoco in the conduct of the Partnership’s
business.

